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In view of the character of the Company as a holding company of research and development
companies (hereafter: “portfolio companies”), and on the backdrop of uncertainty of
success in development of their various medical products and/or their penetration into the
relevant market of the portfolio companies, in the event of failure of the technological
development of the medical products of the portfolio companies and/or failure to attain the
necessary approvals from the official regulatory authorities for marketing and selling their
medical products and/or penetrating into the relevant market of the portfolio companies, the
investment of the Company in the portfolio companies might be lost. Moreover, as a holding
company, the Company requires equity raisings until creating positive cash flows in order to
finance its operations and current expenses.
On February 12, 2014, the Board of Directors of the Company decided to voluntarily adopt all
of the concessions for a “small corporation” included in the amendment to the Securities
Regulations (Periodic and Immediate Reports)-1970, as they are relevant (or will be relevant)
to the Company, commencing from the Periodic Report for the year of 2013.

A. Description of the Company and description
1. Definitions and keys
For convenience, in this chapter, the following abbreviations will have the meaning
recorded alongside them:
“Annual report of the Company
for the year of 2013”

-

The annual report of the Company for the year
of 2013, as published on March 18, 2014
(Document No. 2014-01-017121)

“The Company” or “the Entity”

-

HBL Hadasit Bio-Holdings Ltd.

“The Stock Exchange”

-

The Tel-Aviv Stock Exchange Ltd

“The Companies Law”

-

The Companies Law-1999

“The Investment
Encouragement Law”

-

The Law for the Encouragement of Capital
Investments-1959

“The R&D Encouragement Law” -

The Law for the Encouragement of Industrial
Research and Development-1984

“The Securities Law”

-

The Securities Law-1968

“Date of publishing the Periodic
Report”

-

March 23, 2015

“Date of the Periodic Report” or
“Reporting Date”

-

December 31, 2014

“NIS”

-

Israeli shekel

“Shelf prospectus”

-

Company’s shelf prospectus dated June 24,
2012, as extended on May 14, 2014
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“510(K)” or “510(K) approval
channel”

-

Permit granted by the FDA (see definition
below) for commercial distribution in the United
States of medical products.
The Premarket notification (510K) channel is a
channel for approval of products with an
obligation to inform the Food and Drug
Administration at least 90 days prior to
marketing a new product when there is
concern that the its safety characteristics have
changed in relation to the previous product,
based upon the developed product resting on
recognized and proven physical fundamentals
and/or is similar to previously approved
procedures or products including similar
elements.

“CE”

-

European standard for medical devices which
represents a declaration by the manufacturer
that the device meets the criteria of the various
relevant authorities (such as: health, safety
and environmental quality). For purposes of
examining the compliance of the medical
device with the required standards, its
technical characteristics, the manufacturer’s
system of control, etc. are tested, while at the
end of the process, the manufacturer obtains
this approval for marketing purposes.

“FDA”

-

Food and Drug Administration-the regulatory
authority of the United States, responsible,
inter alia, to observe and arrange development
and registration of medications and medical
devices in the U.S.

“EMA”

-

European Medicines Agency

“CFDA”

-

China Food and Drug Administration

2. General Development of the Company's business
2.1. The Company was founded on September 19, 2005 by Hadasit Medical Research
Services & Development Ltd. ("Hadasit"). As of the reporting date, Hadasit is the
controlling shareholder in the Company and holds approximately 36.43% of the
Company's share capital.
Hadasit is a private company founded in Israel on December 7, 1986 by Hadassah
Medical Organization, a medical institution based in Jerusalem that is international in
its scale and standing and which includes, inter alia, two university hospitals in Ein
Kerem and Har Hatzofim, five schools for medical professions, outpatient clinics,
research centers, and more.
Similarly to the mechanism in place in other scientific institutions, Hadasit is
Hadassah's technology transfer office, and is the entity that acts to raise resources
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and commercialize the scientific discoveries produced by Hadassah's researchers
(mostly doctors who, in parallel to their ordinary work, are also engaged, inter alia,
in clinical research).
It should be stated that, to the best of the Company’s knowledge, Hadasit, the
controlling shareholder of the Company, is not included in the recovery arrangement
given at the request of the Hadassah Medical Organization by the Jerusalem
District Court (hereafter: “recovery arrangement”), except for the lien on the
holdings of Hadasit in the Company in favor of the State of Israel. The Company
believes that the recovery arrangement has no material effect on the Company’s
operations or on the operations of the Company’s portfolio companies (as they are
defined below).
As of the date of the Periodic Report, Hadasit has not sold shares of the Company.
On December 18, 2005, the Company became a public company, as this term is
defined in the Companies Law, and its securities began to be traded on the stock
exchange.
In 2011, the Company began operating Level I Sponsored American Depository
Receipt (ADR). The program allows the purchase of 20 shares tradable on the TelAviv Stock Exchange as one ADR share under the ticker symbol (OTC: HADSY).
2.2. From the date of its formation, and as of the date that the Periodic Report was
published, the Company is engaged in the advancement and enhancement of its
portfolio companies, as detailed below, with the goal of accruing value in the
portfolio companies and, accordingly, maximizing value for the Company’s
shareholders. The above is carried out primarily by means of managerial support
and placing contacts and financing at the disposal of the portfolio companies.
2.3. The Company has holdings in six biotechnology companies: Enlivex Therapeutics
Ltd. (Hereinafter- "Enlivex"), CellCure Neurosciences Ltd. (Hereinafter - “CellCure”),
ProtAb Ltd. (Hereinafter - “ProtAb”), KAHR Medical Ltd. (2005) (Hereinafter “KAHR”), BioMarCare Technologies Inc. (Hereinafter - "BioMarCare"), D-Pharm Inc.
(Hereinafter- "D-Pharm"). (Hereinafter together- "Portfolio companies").
all of which are positioned after proving success in the stage of feasibility , namelyeffctiveness of the medication in a model of animals, with four of them: Enlivex,
CellCure, D-Pharm and Biomarker1 positioned at the stage of clinical trials on
humans. The Company also holds shares in BioLine RX Ltd. (hereafter: “BioLine”),
a public company, but in view of its minimal holdings in BioLine (approximately
0.058% of BioLine’s share capital), it is not considered as a portfolio company.
The portfolio companies are companies which develop medications inr the fields of
cancer, inflammatory diseases and tissue rehabilitation by means of stem cells,
fields in which the Hadassah Hospital has broad knowledge and goodwill as a world
leader.
2.4. The Company is involved, based on its status in the portfolio companies
(proportion of its holdings and representation in the board of directors), in strategic
planning of the portfolio companies. Moreover, to the extent that its situation
permits, the Company takes part in the current support of the management of the

1

As of the date of the report, Biomarker has frozen all of its operations, other than in relation to commercialization
activities. See Section o below for details.
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companies, including, inter alia, guidance in structuring work programs, budgets,
equity raisings and business development.
2.5. Through such involvement, the Company wishes to ensure that its investments are
leveraged in the most beneficial way, and that the portfolio companies advance in a
path which is a basis for the strategy of accruing the Company’s value.
2.6. The Company’s Board of Directors evaluates the investment opportunities in the
portfolio company as well as in additional companies, according to a series of
criteria (all or part of them), including, inter alia, the measure of maturity (business
and clinical) of the product/technology, time for development, size of the potential
market, length of life of the intellectual property at the base of the product and the
presence of a financial or strategic partner. See Section 4 below for further details
concerning the investment policies of the Company.
2.7. The Company strives that the portfolio companies will adopt a strategy of building
value at the end of successful significant clinical trials with humans, so that during
Phase ll of the clinical trials, the portfolio companies (all or some) will hold meetings
with the appropriate factors for purposes of investment in continuing the
development process and/or strategic cooperation (hereafter: “cooperation”).
The Company estimates that In the event that the results produced by such a trial
demonstrate efficacy as well, then the Company and the product it is developing
become even more attractive from the perspective for cooperation
The Company’s aspirations for the strategy of building value and in relation to
the attractiveness of cooperation as mentioned above, are forward looking
information, according to its meaning in the Securities Law, which is
contingent, inter alia, on developments in markets, competition and market
potential. It is clarified that there is no assurance in relation to the strategic
success of building value.
2.8. The strategic and business goals of the Company and the strategy of building
value described above are based on the objectives and aspirations of the Company
as of the date the report is published and they could change pursuant to the passing
of the appropriate decisions by the Company.
2.9. In this report, details are brought, inter alia, with regard to material portfolio
companies held by the Company. From the point of view of the Company,
materiality of the portfolio companies for the Company is evaluated mostly
according to quantitative and qualitative parameters representing a basis for the
determination of materiality of each portfolio company. These parameters include,
inter alia, the scope of the activities, the ownership structure, the quantity of equity
invested in the company, the measure of the influence on the management of the
company by way of presence in its Board of Directors, the type of shares and of the
rights attached to them, the clinical stage at which the company’s developments are
found, the measure of protection over the intellectual property assets of the
company and the status of the scientific development of the Ccompany’s products.
2.10 . Out of the portfolio companies, as of the date of the report, the Company
considers Enlivex, CellCure, ProtAb, and KAHR as companies material to the
Company while D-Pharm and BioMarCare are not considered material.
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2.11 The Group's holding structure (in companies in which the Company is an
interested party2:

1.56%

2

155.6%

69556%

.5.5%

As this term is defined in the Companies Law.
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3.592%

3653%

2.12 The following is quantitative data regarding all the portfolio companies as the date
that the report is published:

Rate of Holding
Company
Name
Undiluted
basis

CellCure

Enlivex

D-Pharm
Ltd. (traded
on the
TASE)

KAHR

ProtAb

BioMarCare
BioLineRx
Ltd. (traded
on the
TASE)

2.12%

22152%

at Full
Dilution

20102%

.2122%

Total
amounts
placed by the
Company for
the benefit of
portfolio
company
over a
cumulative
period until
the date of
the Periodic
Report (NIS
000)

2.411.

.14252

Total
amounts
placed by the
Company for
the benefit of
portfolio
company
over the
period of the
Periodic
Report (from
January 1,
2014 to
December 31,
2014) (NIS
000)

Accounting
method

Fair value

.4701

Affiliated
Company

Investment
account not
presented at fair
value

0

Affiliated
Company

Investment
account not
presented at fair
value

522

Financial
assets
available for
sale

.4521

Subsidiary

Investment
account not
presented at fair
value

.4157

Subsidiary

Investment
account not
presented at fair
value

21

Affiliated
Company

Investment
account not
presented at fair
value

0

Instruments
available for
sale
(NIS 000)

.55

24515 (including
2127%

1515.%

69.54%

121.%

0102%

2122%

12151%

58.9%

121.5%

0102%

investment in
Thrombotech
before the
merger)

.14275

.24110

14222

24271

0

Preservation of the Company’s current holding rate in the Portfolio Companies is
conditional upon dependent on the volume of capital raising and provided both
portfolio, the company's investment strategy, and the financial ability held by and
made possible for the Company, subject to the investment principles of the
Portfolio Companies, for participation in investment rounds for the Portfolio
Companies. It is quite possible that, in additional financial rounds, the Company

11

will not have the required means to maintain its current rate of holdings in the
Portfolio Companies (all or some) and it is also possible that, in these rounds, a
decision will be reached by the Company stating that it would be inappropriate or
unprofitable to participate in such rounds. So far, the company has participated in
most the portfolio companies’ rounds of investment in order to reduce the level of
dilution of its holding in them, but there is no certainty that the company will
continue to do so in the future.
As of the reporting date, parts of the funds provided to the Portfolio Companies by the Company
are done through the provision of convertible loans. In appropriate cases, the loans are converted
as part of the fund raising of the shared external Portfolio Companies, and then the Company
receives, in return, shares under identical terms of the external director and a preferred price
(discount) on the investment cost, all in accordance with the terms of the loan. The Company
considers these loans as an instrument enabling the Portfolio Companies to continue their
activities and move towards the achievement of their goals, while granting the status of creditor to
the Company, with the ability to convert the loan into shares in the event that the Portfolio
Company raises financing from external sources.
3. The Company Areas of Activity
3.1. The company is a holding company of information-rich companies operating in the
field of medical.
The Company manages its holdings while executing investments from time to time, in
order to bring the companies to a point of maturity, to a commercialization
transaction and the accrual of value to investors. The investments are executed and
will be executed after examining feasibility of the investment and commercial
negotiations with the portfolio companies and their shareholders and according to a
decision of the Company’s Board of Directors.
3.2 In the bio-technology industry, value building must take place over time. The portfolio
companies are required to progress and to reach milestones which, in the biotechnology industry, are an indication that there is actuality in technology, in the
clinical development, in the regulatory process and in the remaining elements
connected with the Company’s operations, and which are translated to financial value
to its owners.
3.3 As of the reporting date, Company representatives serve in all of the Portfolio
Companies Board of Directors. It should be noted that the Company does not have
control over all the Portfolio Companies, so that the level of its influence changes
accordingly between different Portfolio Companies.
4. Investment policies of the Company
4.1.

The Company executes investments from time to time, after it has examined, inter
alia, the following criteria, in whole or in part, for purposes of realizing the strategy
of building the value of the Company in the companies in which it has invested.
A. The stage of the Company- the criterion of maturity and the distance of the
Company, both from the business standpoint (potential for a strategic and/or
financial transaction) and also the progress towards clinical trials on humans.
B. Time of development- the time of development and arrival at market is shorter
and the burden of the necessary regulatory approvals is easier, for example,
orphan drugs, medical instrumentation, diagnostics, reformulation (planning and
restructuring) of existing medications and botanical drugs.
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C. Potential markets- the product/technology provide a response to markets whose
business potential, in the opinion of the Company, is great.
D. Scope of holdings- the Company’s ability to provide managerial support. For
that purpose, the Company evaluates for its investments the ability to preserve a
significant rate of holdings.
E. Intellectual property- the length of life of the intellectual property at the basis of
the product,
F. Additional investors- examination of the existence of at least one additional
supporting financial investor.
4.2 See Section 2.7 above for additional details regarding the Company’s strategy for
building value.
5. Tabular detail regarding portfolio companies in which the Company is an interested
party3 as of the date the report is published
Company
Name

Area of activity

Stage in which the
Company is

CellCure

Development of stem
cell based treatment
of the Dry-AMD
disease

Receipt of approval
from the FDA for
carrying out Phase
l/lla clinical trial at
Hadassah Hospital on
patients with macular
degeneration
dependent on age
(Dry-AMD) by means
of the company’s
OpRegen® product

Enlivex

Development of a
system (instrument
and medication)for
treatment of the GvHD
disease in transplants
and inflammatory and
autoimmune diseases

Successfully
terminated the Phase
l/lla clinical trial for the
treatment of the
GvHD disease.
Preparations for the
Phase llb/lll clinical
trial subject to FDA
guidelines and
approval

D-Pharm

Primarily treatment of
diseases of the central
nervous system
(CNS). D-Pharm has 3
principal products
found in advanced
stages of
development: (1) the
THR-18 product,
designated for
improving the safety

1. HR-18-T .The
Phase lla trial ended
successfully. D-Pharm
intends to expand this
trial, and to prepare
for the Phase LLb
trial.
2. DP-VPA-approval
was received from the
CFDA, according to
which the medication

3

As defined in the Companies Law.
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Material as
per
Company
criteria?
Yes.

Company’s right
to appoint
directors

Gov.
support

Seven members
of the Board of
Directors, or
which two are
appointed by the
Company. In
addition, Hadasit
has an observer
on its behalf

Yes, OCS

Yes.

Appointment by
the General
Assembly of
Enlivex, Two
directors serving
on behalf of the
Company out of
eight.

Yes, OCS

No.

As of the date of
the report, one
director serves on
behalf of the
Company out of
five. By force of a
voting agreement
with the
controlling
shareholder
(CBI), valid for as

Yes, OCS

and effectiveness of
treatment with the tPA
medication on patients
with ischemic strokes;
(2) the DP-VPA
product designated for
treatment of epilepsy,
migraines, and mania
depression, and (3)
the DP-b99 product
designated to treat
patients suffering from
acute severe
pancreatitis.
Development of a
protein platform
permitting treatment of
autoimmune diseases
and cancer of different
types. KAHR develops
two products KAHR101 and KAHR-102
for treatment of
different types of
cancer and
autoimmune diseases.

being developed by
D-Pharm in
cooperation with
NHWA, was awarded
with an indication for
the treatment of
epilepsy patients, for
Fast Track status.
3. DP-b99- D-Pharm
intends to expand the
Phase ll trial, subject
to additional financing.

KAHR has met with
the regulatory
authorities in Europe
and Israel in order to
obtain an approval for
an outline of
toxicological trials and
the planned clinical
trial.
It is found in
advanced stages in
the toxicological trials
of KAHR-102 on rats
and monkeys

Yes.

Appointment by
the assembly.
Three directors
serve on behalf of
the Company out
of eight, including
the chairman. The
Company has the
right to appoint an
additional
director. Two
observers serve
on behalf of the
other
shareholders.

Yes, OCS

ProtAb

RA and other
autoimmune diseases

ProTab completed the
execution of preclinical trials for three
new clinical
indications.

Yes.

Appointment by
the general
assembly of
ProTab. Three
directors serve on
behalf of the
Company out of
five,

Yes, OCS

BioMarCare

Development of a kit
for early detection of
colorectal
cancer
blood test.

As of the date the
report was published,
Biomarker has frozen
all of its activities, and
it does not employ
staff, and for the most
part, focuses on
activities to locate
strategic partners and
investors for the
advancement of
development and
commercialization,
without additional
clinical activities.

No.

Appointment by
the general
assembly. The
Company has the
right to appoint
two out of the five
directors. As of
the date of the
report, one out of
three serving
directors serves
on behalf of the
Company.

Yes, OCS
and BIRD
foundation

KAHR
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long as the
Company holds at
least 10% of the
D-Pharm shares
(then CBI will vote
for appointment of
a director on
behalf of HBL).
As of the
reporting date,
the Company
holds 5.57%.

It should be noted that none of the Portfolio Companies have products that have
completed their development process and reached the sales stage.
The descriptions that follow regarding the timeframes in which the Portfolio Companies
are expected to reach milestones, beginning clinical trials and submit appropriate requests
for such, are forward-looking statements within the meaning in the Securities Law. The
aforementioned are only projections and estimations, and there is no measure of certainty
regarding their realization or regarding the date on which they will be actualized. The
existence of these projections and estimations is conditional, inter alia, on the successful
completion of the pre-clinical trials by the Companies, that they will possess sufficient
financial resources in order to begin the clinical trials, and that no new technological
developments will appear that may nullify or uproot the necessity or the developments of
any of the project companies.
See details in Section 26 below for additional details regarding portfolio companies of the
Company.
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6. Investments in the Company’s equity and transaction in its shares
6.1. The following are details regarding investments made in the Company’s equity, as
well as other equity raisings made by the Company during the past two years,
except for private placements of options exercisable into ordinary shares of the
Company with par value of NIS 0.1 each (hereafter: “ordinary shares”):

Date

Substance of the
change

Opening balance as of
31.12.2012

June
2014
(see
section
6.1.1
for
further
details)

Issuance of
ordinary shares
and options
(Series 7 in the
framework of
equity raising by
way of issuance to
public

Ordinary
shares of
the
Company
issued

.2142214.72

Options
not
registered
for trading
which
were
issued

Options
(Series 4)
that were
issued

Options
(Series 6)
that were
issued

Options
(Series 7)
that were
issued

.45154152

545124700

.245524252

0

-

.142254500

240004000

14,258,800

-

July
2014
(see
section
6.1.2
for
further
details)

Issuance of
ordinary shares
and options
(Series 7 in the
framework of
private placement
agreement to
Ciano Investment
Ltd. and
Centarurus
Investment Ltd.

240004000

-

-

-

July
2014
(see
section
6.1.3
for
further
details)

Issuance of option
(Series 7)

-

-

-

-

3,625,000

0

.245524252

Total as of date of publishing Periodic
Report
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1,711,054

0

Scope of
immediate
process
received
(NIS 000)

Total
capital
issued and
paid up (in
shares)

.2142214.72

2,852

100

14,258,800

240004000

Without
consideration

.1247524572

6.1.1. On June 2, 2014, in the framework of an equity raising by way of a public
issuance pursuant to a shelf proposal, the Company issued 14,258,800
ordinary shares of the Company. The immediate proceeds (gross) received
by the Company from this offering totaled approximately NIS 2,852 thousand.
See Immediate Report of the Company dated June 2, 2014 (Document No.
2014-0`1-082311) for details regarding this equity raising.
6.1.2. On July 14, 2014, in the framework of a private placement, to the offerrees,
Ciano Investment Ltd. and Centarurus Investment Ltd., the Company issued
a total quantity of 2,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company at a price of
NIS 0.20 per share, and 2,000,000 options (Series 7), exercisable into
2,000,000 of the Company, against an exercise price of NIS 0,225 per share.
The immediate proceeds (gross) received by the Company from this private
placement totaled approximately NIS 400 thousand. See Immediate Report
of the Company dated September 29, 2014 (Document No. 2014-01-165027)
for details regarding this private placement.
6.1.3. On July 14, 2014, the Company issued a total of 1,711,054 options (Series 7)
of the Company to Poalim I.B.I. Underwriting and Issuance Ltd. and Yair
Capital Ltd., according to the Company’s commitment in the shelf proposal
report published on May 28, 2015. See Immediate Report of the Company
dated July 14, 2014 (Document No. 2014-01-113148) for additional details.
In February 2015, the Board of Directors of the Company approved the
extension of the exercise period of the options (Series 7) that are traded on
the stock exchange so that they will be exercisable until February 26, 2016
instead of February 26, 2015. In March 2015, 17,969,854 of options (Series
7) expired, after the arrangement proceeding made by the Company
according to the provisions of Section 350 of the Companies Law-1999 did
not receive the necessary majority required in assemblies convened by the
court. See Immediate Report of the Company dated March 8, 2015
(Document No. 2015-01-046078) for additional details.
6.1.4. In July 2014, the Board of Directors of the Company approved the extension
of the exercise period of the Company’s options (Series 4) so that they will
be exercisable until February 26, 2015 (instead of August 30, 2014), and also
approved the reduction of the exercise increment so that the exercise
increment for each option will stand at NIS 0.26 (instead of NIS 1.75) During
July 2014, the Company presented a request to the Jerusalem District Court
to approve the changes in the above options.
On September 21, 2014, the court approved the extension of the exercise
period and the reduction of the exercise price according to the request. In
February 2015, 8,843,700 options of the Company expired.
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6.2 The following is detail of the private placements of options exercisable into shares,
which the Company executed during the past two years:
Type of
offerees

Allotment
date

Number
of
offerees

Total
quantity of
options

Exercise
price NIS
oper
option

The proceeds
Other
proceed

Cash 4
proceeds

Fair value on
date of
approval of
options grant
(NIS 000)

CEO,
Mrs.
Tamar Kfir

April 2014

1

.40004000

211.7

No
proceed

.22

Chairman
of the
Board,
Mr. Yigal
Erlich

July 2014

1

7004000

27121

No
proceed

70

Dr. Rafi
Hofstein
(director)

July 2014

1

1004000

27121

No
proceed

10

CPA Liat
Simhayoff
(CFO)

July 2014

1

1004000

27125

No
proceed

10

Employee

November
2014

1

2004000

20

No
proceed

20

4

The calculation of the fair value of options will be made according to the international model.
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Additional details

See Immediate
Report of the
Company dated
April 4, 2014 and a
supplementary
Immediate Report
dated April 8, 2014
(Document
Numbers 2014-01038592 and 201401-042159,
respectively)
See Immediate
Reports of the
Company dated
May 27, 2014 and
July 6, 2014
(Document
Numbers 2014-01075291 and 201401-107976
respectively)
See Immediate
Reports of the
Company dated
May 27, 2014 and
July 6,, 2014
(Document
Numbers 2014-01075291 and 201401-107976
respectively
See Immediate
Reports of the
Company dated
May 27, 2014 and
July 6,, 2014
(Document
Numbers 2014-01075291 and 201401-107976
respectively
See Immediate
Report of the
Company dated
November 25,
2014 (Document
Number 2014-01208356)

6.2.1. To the best of the Company’s knowledge, during the two years prior to the
date that Periodic Report was published, the interested parties of the
Company had not executed any material transactions in the shares of the
Company outside of the stock exchange.
7.

Dividend Distribution
7.1. Since the date of its founding, the Company has not distributed any dividends
7.2. Dividend Distribution Policy
The Company’s dividend distribution policy, as specified in the Company’s Articles of
Incorporation, is that, at any such time as the Company is in possession of a
distributable amount as defined in law, 75% of the amounts determined to be
distributable to shareholders in the Company as dividends will be distributed, on the
condition that the Company will retain a surplus of funds that is sufficient to meet the
payments specified in the management agreement over a period of two years (or
over a shorter period, if the management agreement specifies a shorter validity
period, or in the event that the balance for the period in which the management
agreement was to be valid is less than this time period). It is hereby clarified that, in
subsequent periods, the remainder of the aforementioned amount which remained
undistributed (in other words - 25% of the amount) will not be considered a 2
distributable amount, even if the distribution conditions specified in the Companies
Law are fulfilled, and this amount will be available the Company in accordance with
the decisions reached by the Company’s board of directors (which will also have the
right, following a decision reached on the matter, to order distribution of the amount
to the shareholders). As of the date that the Periodic Report was published, the
management agreement with Hadasit terminated. See Section 22 below.

B. Other information
8. Financial information
See the financial statements as of December 31, 2014, attached in Chapter C to the
Periodic Report, for financial information regarding the Company’s operations.
See the Company’s Directors’ Report, as presented in Chapter B to this report, regarding
an analysis of the principal operating results of the Company.
9. The general environment and the effect of external factors on the Company’s
operations
The following is detail of the major factors influencing the operations and business of the
Company:
9.1

Business results of the portfolio companies- the Company is a holding company.
Therefore its business status, the results of its operations, its equity and cash flow
are affected by the business status of the portfolio companies that it holds, and from
the results of their operations, their cash flows and the changes in their equity.

9.2

Macro economic factors- the business results of the Company and the portfolio
companies are influenced, inter alia, by the political and security conditions, from the
status of the capital markets as well as from the economic conditions in the nation
and in the international markets.
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9.3

Regulation- the sector of life sciences is characterized by its subordination to an
extensive regulatory system. The portfolio companies are required to develop
medications and to receive approval to market them, to pass a series of trials
catalogued according to different stages, beginning from the experiments in the
laboratory on animals and ending in a series of trials on humans. In order to pass
from one stage to the other, it is necessary to comply with criteria of the relevant
health authorities, such as the Ministry of Health in Israel, the FDA, the CFDA, EMA
or any other regulatory authority.

9.4

Sources of financing- the sector of life sciences is characterized by substantial
investments in continuing research and development. Therefore, the portfolio
companies must raise substantial capital in order to meet the goals of the research
and development. Financing as above relies, inter alia, on institutional and other
funds and organizations specializing in investments in the life sciences sector. The
financial condition of these funds and organizations influences the ability of the
portfolio companies to raise funds. Moreover, there is a trend of turning to the stock
exchanges in and outside of Israel for purposes of raising equity. Therefore, the state
of the markets in Israel and outside of Israel has an effect on the financing ability of
the portfolio companies.

9.5

Alternate products- alternate treatments and solutions for part of the medications,
including those that are found in various stages of research and development by the
portfolio companies, exist in the market. Nevertheless, part of the existing
medications in the market has side effects or other shortcomings in connection with
their effectiveness or manner of use. The ability of any medication to compete in this
market is contingent upon its efficacy as well as on the side effects caused as a
result of its use, including in a relative manner to competing medications. The
objectives of the portfolio companies in the development of their products are to
provide a better solution to the needs of the relevant population than the alternatives
existing in the market. Also, the ability of any medication to compete in a market is
conditional on its efficacy vis-à-vis medications under development and its ability to
reach the market before the competitors being developed.

9.6

Intellectual property- the operations of companies in the life sciences sector is
contingent to a great extent on their ability to preserve their intellectual property.

The information appearing in this section is based on information existing in the
Company as of the date of the report, and could include estimates of evaluations
and forecasts of the Company detailed in this section below, including in the matter
of trends in the sector of the operations, based upon assessments of the Company
as of the date of this report, in relation to the effect of the outside factors described
in this section above are considered as forward looking information, according to
its meaning in the Securities Law. There is no assurance that the assessments of
the Company relating to each of the factors detailed below or their effect on the
operations of the Group will be realized.

10. Restrictions, legislation, standards and special constraints
10.1 Legislation in the life sciences sector
All of the portfolio companies are companies engaged in the area of medical and
biotechnological research and development. In view of the above, the portfolio
companies are subject to regulatory approvals required for the development of
medications and medical products.
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General
10.1.1. The approval of medical products for distribution is subjected to stringent
regulations (legislation). Regulation is relatively strict in Israel (by the Ministry
of Health), in the United States, (by the FDA) and in Western Europe (by the
EMEA).
10.1.2. The regulatory requirements differ from country to country, and authorization
provided by one country does not necessarily guarantee authorization by a
different country. However, an authorization given by a regulator which is
considered stricter (such as in the USA or Western Europe) will usually
facilitate the process of receiving authorizations in difference places around
the world. Moreover, the approval given by the EMEA is valid in all of the
countries that are members of the European Union and the European
Economic Community.5
10.1.3. The process of receiving the required regulatory approvals in each of the
countries result in significant expenses, including nominating a local
representative and investing in skilled, professional personnel, and continue
over a relatively long period which may reach several years, especially in
countries where stringent regulations are in place. In contrast, the process may
be significantly shorter in countries with more lenient regulations. The Portfolio
Companies focus on receiving authorization in countries that have the biggest
markets for the products developed by them, especially the USA and
European countries, and obtaining the approval of the Ministry of Health, which
is necessary to perform clinical trials in Israel.
10.1.4. Each groups of products in the field, and at times even a single product,
requires unique development and production facilities that are specifically
designed to meet the regulatory requirements, and must undergo a lengthy
approval process which includes testing of the product's development
processes, testing of the consistency and reliability of the development
processes, and testing of the laboratory. Ethical tests and reviews must also
be passed. Periodic reviews are conducted by the authorities (such as the
Ministry of Health and the FDA) after the product is approved, at a frequency
of once every year or two. These reviews include a review, among others, of
the Company's fulfillment of cGMP principles, as specified below.
10.1.5. For procedures involving the development, manufacturing, storage and
transportation of drugs, the regulatory authorities specify current Good
Manufacturing Practices ("cGMP") in order to ensure that development is
performed in a safe and monitored environment. These principles are updated
from time to time, and include methods for documenting, supervising and
monitoring the manufacturing processes and their supporting systems. The
performance of clinical trials is also subject to a similar system of strict
principles ("GCP").
10.1.6. Similarly, the regulatory authorities specify guidelines for the proper handling
of human cells or tissue intended for grafting, introduction or transfer into
humans (hereinafter: "HCT/P"). Their main purpose is to prevent the spread of
infectious diseases.
5

According to information appearing in the organization’s site.
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10.1.7. The regulatory process, inasmuch as it is relevant to this report, is divided into
several main tracks: the approval of drugs, approval for advanced cell therapy,
approval for gene therapy and the approval of medical devices. Reference is
also made to the approval of HCT/P, in addition to the process required for the
approval of medical devices.
10.1.8. The registration process for drugs includes clinical trials which the Portfolio
Companies must perform (in humans) with the goal of evaluating whether
approval can be given for the treatment of the patient population using the
drug. Prior to the commencement of clinical trials, preliminary trials must be
performed on laboratory animals.
10.2. The Helsinki Committee
10.2.1. Before commencing human clinical trials in all countries signed on the Helsinki
Committee for Human Rights (including Israel), approval must be received
from the entities authorized to approve performance of human clinical trials.
10.2.2. The trials must fulfill the principles of the Helsinki Declaration, and must
receive the approval of the ethics committee of each medical institution in
which they are conducted (the "Institutional Helsinki Committee"). The
doctor and / or committee of doctors with which the company is collaborating
present the trial protocol to the medical institution's ethics committee.
10.2.3. After holding a deliberation in which the committee reviews, inter alia, whether
the trial protocol fulfills all ethics guidelines, a decision is reached regarding
the protocol's approval. Any changes made to the protocol require making an
updated submission to the ethics committee for their approval. As of the
reporting date, all the Portfolio Companies included in this report are required
to obtain, in addition to the approval of the Institutional Helsinki Committee, the
approval of the executive Helsinki committee at the Ministry of Health, for the
purpose of commencing the human clinical trial phase.
10.2.4. The approval of the Helsinki Committee is a condition for the use of cell drugs,
gene treatment and/or by medical devices by the Western health authorities,
including the Israeli Ministry of Health.
10.2.5. In order to conduct human clinical trials in Israel, a permit must be received
based on the research plans (protocol) (hereinafter: the "Permit") from a
committee (named, as noted above, the Helsinki Committee), which acts by
force of the Public Health Regulations (Clinical Trials in Human Subjects),
5741 - 1980 (hereinafter: the "Public Health Regulations"). Permits are granted
subject to the following conditions: that the application for approval be
submitted by a qualified doctor who will be serving as the chief researcher
responsible for the trial; that the researcher participating in the human clinical
trial be possessed of the skills and experience in their field required for
conducting the trial in question; and the trial fulfill the following conditions:
1.

The expected advantages gained by a participant in the trial and by the Company
must justify the risk taken by and discomfort caused to the participant involved in the trial;

2.

Existing medical and scientific knowledge must justify conducting the clinical trial
being requested;

3.

The clinical trial must be planned in a scientific manner which enables it to find an
answer to the issue being tested, and its process must be described in a clear, detailed and
precise manner in the trial protocol;
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4.

The risk to participants in the trial must be as low as possible, due to the use of
proper research methods, and the use, as much as possible, of procedures which have
already been tested on humans or animals; In addition, the monitoring and supervision of
trial participants must be of optimal quality;

5.

The trial participants must be chosen in accordance with inclusion and non-inclusion
guidelines as specified in the trial protocol;

6.

An informed consent form for the trial must be filled out by at least subjects, including
all required details as specified in the policy;

7.

The trial plan must include instructions regarding the methods in place for guarding
the privacy of participants and the confidentiality of information collected;

8.

The trial plan must include an orderly mechanism for supervision of the trial;

9.

The trial initiator must have obtained appropriate insurance coverage for the trial
participants;

10.

The initiator and chief researcher must be capable of allocating the resources
required to properly conduct the trial, including skilled personnel and the required
equipment;

11.

The type of commercial relationship existing between the researcher and with the
institution in which the trial is conducted must not adversely affect the proper performance
of the trial;

12.

To the degree that trial participants, jointly or individually, may be exposed to
pressure or undue influence in order to persuade them to participate in the trial, the
appropriate measures must be taken to prevent such pressure or to minimize the
aforementioned influence.
10.3 The process for the approval of development of medications, cell treatment and gene
treatment:
The development process for a drug is complex, and usually includes the following
main phases in which criteria established by the health authorities must be fulfilled in
order to pass on from one phase to the next, as described below:
10.3.1. Pre-clinical phase
Pre-clinical trials include a laboratory evaluation of the product under
development and animal trials and / or laboratory tests. These trials are
intended to test the product's chances of becoming an effective, safe drug.


Pre IND Meeting- In this phase, meetings are held with expert
representatives of the regulatory authority for the purpose of
presenting the development processes for the drug and the
Company’s plans for continued development and performance of
clinical trials. This phase is desirable but not essential.



IND Submission- This phase involves submitting a program file for
Phase I of clinical trials. This file includes details regarding the preclinical data, product characterization, safety tests conducted, the
study protocol, the locations in which the clinical trials will be
conducted, and information about the manufacturing and clinical
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batch data testing processes (a drug's manufacturing series) that
will be specifically used in the clinical trial in question and an
informed consent form.
10.3.2. Clinical trial phase
During this phase, the experimental drug is given to patients or healthy
individuals under the supervision of a doctor-researcher who is qualified to
supervise human clinical trials. Each clinical trial must pass review testing and
receive the advance approval of the independent Helsinki Committee in the
institution where the trial is being conducted ("Helsinki Committee"), as
described above. The number of subjects in each trial is established in
coordination with the competent licensing authorities.
10.3.2.1.

Phase I- After receiving approval from the regulatory authority for
the commencement of clinical trials, as well as additional approvals
required pursuant to the Helsinki Declaration, the Phase I clinical
trial begins. The trials are for the most part intended to test the
product's safety, and sometimes also to test the drug's dosage
against the amount of the drug present in the subject's body.
Specific biological indicators are also analyzed using blood tests in
order to ascertain the product's safety. The number of patients is
determined, as noted above, by the regulatory authority, and differs
between cases. However, in most cases, this phase includes a
smaller number of subjects in comparison with later phases.

10.3.2.2.

Phase I/II- Some trials are defined as Phase I/II; in these trials, the
drug is given to patients. In this manner, after the trial's success, the
product's safety can be proven, and presented along with data to
support its efficacy.
Post Phase I - IND Amendment Phase - This phase includes a
summary report of the first clinical trial, a summary of development
works, and plans for the Phase II clinical trial.

10.3.2.3.

In the Phase II clinical trial, trials are conducted on a defined
population of patients, and testing is done of the drug's degree of
efficacy for the treatment of a specific indication (disease or
symptom), and of the tolerance of different doses in order to
determine the product's optimal dose. Possible negative side effects
and health risks are also tested. At times, in cases where an
identical drug already exists on the market which has received
approval from the relevant regulatory authority, this phase is not
required, since the required dosage is already known based on the
existing drug.
After conclusion of the Phase II clinical trial, the regulatory authority
is presented with a summary report of the clinical trial, a summary of
development works, and plans for the third phase of the clinical trial Post Phase II IND Amendment.

10.3.2.4.

Phase III -Before commencement of Phase III of the clinical trial, a
preliminary meeting is held with the regulatory authority (Pre Phase
III Meeting), after which the Phase III human clinical trial begins
(Clinical Study Phase III). This phase involves testing of the drug's
efficacy, based on the results of the Phase II clinical trial. The trials
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are conducted on a broader scale, in order to provide additional
proof of the efficacy and safety of the drug in question in a greater
number of patients, and is conducted in a number of different
centers. this phase is usually performed in controlled trials and
double hidden (Randomized double (blind controlled trials).
10.3.2.5.

In the next phase, the regulatory authority is presented with a file
containing a description of all development process, manufacturing
processes and clinical trial results (BLA-Biologics License
Application). After the regulatory authority conducts comprehensive
pre approval inspection, the product is given FDA Approval.

10.3.2.6.

Phase IV- At times a fourth phase of trials is also conducted
subsequent to the drug's approval. In most cases, these are lifesaving drugs for which approval was given in an accelerated
process, and for which the regulatory authority is still interested in
receiving the results of additional clinical trials in order to gather
more information about the treatment results for the approved
indication. In this case, the entity requesting approval must complete
Phase IV trials within a set period of time, with failure to meet one or
more of the conditions of the approval process possibly resulting in
revocation of the drug's license.

It is hereby clarified that there exists no assurance that a drug which is
currently undergoing registration procedures will receive approval within
a set time period, if at all. Moreover, even if approval is granted, it may be
limited or restricted.
10.4. Description of the procedure for obtaining regulatory approval for the distribution of a
medical device:
The Company’s activities in the field of medical devices are subject to various
legislative provisions, including the provisions of the Department of Medical Devices
of the Ministry of Health's Pharmaceutical Division. On the international level, the
company’s activities are subject to international standards, including FDA standards
in the USA, CE standards in Europe, and ISO quality assurance standards.

10.4.1. Procedure for obtaining FDA approval for distribution of a medical
device in the USA:
Foreign companies manufacturing medical devices which they intend to export
to the USA must comply with FDA regulatory requirements prior to exporting
those medical devices, since the FDA does not recognize regulatory
authorizations granted by institutions in other countries. FDA requirements
include, among others, the manufacturing of medical devices in accordance
with quality assurance regulations, the receipt of scientific reports for the
medical devices, the nomination of an American agent, and the provision of
opportunity to FDA representatives to supervise the manufacturing procedures
being used in the plant.
FDA approval for medical devices is given only upon fulfillment of a number of
conditions, depending on the process in question. The Premarket Notification
510 process is a relatively short one, in which the FDA is shown that the
medical devices for which approval is requested are safe and efficacious, are
comparable to other products of various areas which are legally distributed in

24

the USA, are do not require a process of PreMarket Approval (PMA). The
PreMarket Approval process requires, inter alia, performance of clinical trials
at a larger scale, which may prolong the time period until receipt of regulatory
approvals, and may increase the costs required to receive them.
10.4.2. CE Marking:
To the Company’s knowledge, based on public announcements, the CE
Marking is a European product standard which serves as a manufacturer's
declaration stating that the product meets the required criteria and the
technical specifications issued by the relevant authorities, including health,
safety and environmental authorities. The standard guarantees free trade
among EU and EFTA countries (Iceland, Lichtenstein and Norway), and
permits the licensing and customs authorities in Europe to not approve
distribution of similar products which do not bear the CE Marking, in
accordance with the European Conformity guidelines regarding medical
devices. Beginning on June 14, 1998, manufacturers of medical devices are
required to act in accordance with the European Conformity provisions.
Medical devices are defined as equipment or material used in the treatment of
humans, including for the purposes of diagnosis and treatment.
As part of the process of testing medical devices, the European Conformity
reviews the product's technical features and the manufacturer's quality control
system, such that, at the end of the process, the manufacturer receives the
CE Marking and the ISO 14385 standard for the quality control process.
10.4.3. Description of the procedure for obtaining approval from the Ministry of
Health for distribution of a medical device in Israel:
The Company’s activities in Israel are subject to the issuance of a permit by
the Ministry of Health for human clinical trials, requiring the approval of the
Medical Devices Department ("MDD") and the approval of the Helsinki
Committee, as described above and below:
10.4.3.1.

Medical Devices and Accessories (hereinafter: “Medical Devices”):
A Medical Device is defined as a device, chemical material, or
biological or technical product which is used for medical treatment,
or which is required for the operation of a device or tool used in
treatment, and whose main purpose is not to affect the human body
as a medicinal tool. The Medical Devices Department at the Ministry
of Health is the entity responsible for granting import permits of
different kinds for Medical Devices, for monitoring the distribution of
Medical Devices, and for approving clinical trials of Medical Devices.

10.4.3.2.

The Public Health Regulations (Human Clinical Trials), 5741 - 1980
(the "Regulations") and Policy no. 14 of the Ministry of Health's
Pharmaceutical Division - Human Clinical Trials (the "Policy"):
The Regulations and the Policy provide the procedures for approval
of performance of a clinical trial, and for trials of medical devices
defined as special human clinical trials. According to the Policy, all
medical trials are subject to the regulations for human clinical trials,
to the provisions of the policy, to the current Good Clinical Practice
guidelines provided by the International Conference on
Harmonization (research devices), and to the provisions of the
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current standard for human clinical trials of Medical Devices. The
Regulations provide that human clinical trials may not be approved
unless the Helsinki Committee of the hospital which intends to
conduct the trial has approved its performance, and has delivered
notification of it in writing to the medical director of the hospital in
which the trial is being conducted, and that the hospital director has
agreed that the trial is not opposed to the Helsinki Declaration, and
is not in violation of the Regulations. In specific cases specified in
the Regulations, the opinion of the upper Helsinki Committee
(administered by the Ministry of Health) is also required to approve
the performance of human clinical trials.
10.5. Description of the procedure for obtaining regulatory approval for the distribution of
HCT/P:
10.5.1. Description of the procedure for obtaining regulatory approval for
distribution of HCT/P in the USA:
Human cells or tissue intended for grafting, introduction and transfer into
humans are subject to supervision as cells, tissue or human cellular and
tissue-based products, or using the abbreviated term - HCT/P.
To the Company’s knowledge, the Center for Biologics Evaluation and
Research (CBER) supervises HCT/P in accordance with federal regulations.
Examples of tissue that is subject to these Regulations include bones, skin,
cornea of the eye, ligaments, tendons, dura mater, heart valves, and
hematopoietic stems / progenitors produced by peripheral blood, cord blood,
ova and sperm.
The implantation of organs containing blood vessels, such as kidneys, liver,
heart, lungs and pancreas, are subject to the supervision of the Health
Resources and Services Administration (HRSA) and not CBER
In accordance with the provisions of the aforementioned federal regulations,
an institution that handles human tissue must select donors and test them,
must prepare written procedures for the prevention of infectious diseases, and
must act in accordance with those procedures and maintain orderly
registration of its activities.
The American Food and Drug Administration (FDA) have published three final
guidelines which expand the types of products requiring supervision, including
comprehensive requirements to prevent the transfer, infection and spread of
infectious diseases.
The first guideline requires companies to register all of their HCT/P products
with the FDA.
The second guideline requires institutions handling human tissue to evaluate
donors based on selection and testing processes, with the intention of
minimizing the transfer or infectious diseases through the grafting of tissue.
The third guidelines specifies procedures for the handling of human tissue
used in HCT/P.
The new requirements are intended to improve public health protection, while
also minimizing the regulatory burden.
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10.5.2. The procedure for obtaining regulatory approval for the distribution of
HCT/P in Israel is as follows:
10.5.2.1.

Importing of tissue: Circular instruction no. 9/96 issued by the
Director of the Ministry of Health provides precise requirements for
the importing of human tissue. In addition to the regular registration
documents for medical devices, the importer is required, inter alia, to
provide documents which prove the source of the tissue, its storage
conditions, the date of the tissue's handling and the manner in which
it was processed, test results, and other information of this kind.

10.5.2.2.

Production of tissue: In addition to the policy in place for human
clinical trials, the Ministry of Health specifies additional requirements
for trials involving HCT/P in Israel. These requirements specify, inter
alia, the provision of information regarding the product's features, its
operational mechanism, the manner in which it is to be introduced
into the subject's body, a survey of the existing technology on the
issue, information regarding the tissue donor, and more.

10.6. The Encouragement of Industrial Research and Development Law, 5744-1984
(hereinafter: the "R&D Law")
the R&D Law provides that any entity which was given the approval of the Chief
Scientist as noted above will pay the State Treasury royalties from any revenue
arising from a product developed as part of the program or resulting from it,
including accompanying services for the product or involved therein, whether the
revenue was created by the entity that was granted the authorization, or by a related
person or entity.
The rate of royalties specified in R&D Law was set forth in the Regulations
established based upon it. In accordance with the Encouragement of Industrial
Research and Development Regulations, 5756 - 1996, the entity that received the
authorization must pay the State Treasury royalties up to the amount specified in the
Law and the Regulations established based upon it.
As of the reporting date, the following Portfolio Companies have received funds from
the Chief Scientist, subject to the provisions of the R&D Law: (1) ProtAb; (2)
CellCure; (3) Enlivex; (4) Thrombotech and D-Pharm; (5) Verto (dismantled in 2012);
(6) BioMarCare; (7) KAHR Medical (2005) Ltd.
11.

The critical success factors
As a holding company of companies in the sector of the life sciences, the critical success
factors of the Company are influenced by the success factors of the portfolio companies.
Nevertheless, as a holding company, the success of the Company is contingent at times
on the Company’s ability to raise equity for purposes of investment in the portfolio
companies and the building of contacts with strategic partners.

11.1. Following are the critical success factors in the life sciences sector:
11.1.1.

Completion of the clinical trials and success in experiments in a manner that
will prove the safety and effectiveness of the product.
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11.1.2.

11.1.3.

11.2.

Receipt of regulatory approvals necessary for the development and
marketing of the products.
Development of the products.

11.1.4.

Success in marketing and sale of the products in material volumes by
means of strategic partnerships and/or licensing agreements.

11.1.5.

Receipt of insurance indemnification from medical insurers, to the extent that
it exists for solutions proposed by the portfolio companies.

Following are the critical success factors in the sector of the Company’s operations
11.2.1. The ability of accruing value –as a holding company, the Company is
measured by the ability of accruing economic value and maximization of profits
to its shareholders.
11.2.2. Equity raising by the Company for purposes of achieving the goals described
above, and also partnerships with strategic entities.

12. Major entry barriers to the sector
The major entry barriers affecting the ability of the Company and companies in the life
sciences sector are as follows:
12.1
Equity raising- substantial equity is necessary for purposes of development of the
products. The absence of financing for purposes of carrying out the research and the
development could lead to delay or failure in developing the products.
12.2
Patents and intellectual property rights –products in the life sciences sector are, for
the most, part, based upon original technologies, which are mainly protected by patents
throughout the world. The protection of the intellectual property represents a barrier to
use of the above technologies and to the development of products similar to these
products.
12.3
The necessity for development of know how and technological infrastructures in
the operating sector of a company operating in the sector of life sciences-the research
and development of each product of a company operating in the life sciences sector
continues for many years and comprises development personnel at a high level in all of
the fields. Each project of product development contains many scientific and engineering
complexities, and broad clinical knowledge is required for the development of a product.
Therefore, each potential competitor must invest great efforts in developing the
knowledge, the technologies and the unique elements. The absence of clinical,
technological and business knowledge and the absence of appropriate technological
infrastructures could lead to delay or failure of product development.
12.4
Regulatory limitations- attainment of approvals necessary for purposes of carrying
out clinical trials on humans as well as approvals to manufacture and market products in
the life sciences sector, and compliance with various standards according to the nation
in which the relevant activities are executed. A company turning to development of the
products, manufacture and marketing of a new product will, for the most part, be
required to invest significant resources, in time and in money, in order to receive the
required regulatory approvals.
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12.5
Technological risk- penetration into the area of the life sciences involves
uncertainty and risk that after investing substantial amounts of money and much time,
the development company will fail to develop the products, manufacture of the products
and attainment of the necessary approvals.
12.6
Extended penetration time- penetration into the operating sector requires much
time, inter alia, as the result of regulatory restrictions, development and research
procedures extending for long periods, shortage of skilled manpower and additional
entry barriers as described above.
12.7
Skilled manpower- development, licensing and manufacture of products in the
Company’s operating sector demands professional and skilled manpower. A company
beginning to operate in the sector is required to recruit appropriate manpower and it is
possible that it will have difficulty in recruiting due to an absence of adequate supply of
sufficient skilled and professional personnel.
13.

Competition

The Company is not aware of any direct and immediate competition in its area of operation,
other than competition with additional entities which invest, and intend to invest, in the
Portfolio Companies areas of operation.
Several additional groups which are active as holding groups for companies / projects in the
field of life sciences are traded on the Israeli stock exchange (Biolight, Capital Point, Clal
biotechnology and others). The Company believes that its uniqueness results from its method
of operation, the types of companies operating in collaboration with it, and its unique
connection with Hadassah hospitals as a source for intellectual property, and for research
and development expertise and infrastructure.
In the Company’s opinion, these characteristics provide it with a significant advantage over
other holding companies in the field of biotechnology. This advantage is practically expressed
in a large number of manners in the daily operation of the Company, such as in its long and
short term strategies: the Hadassah doctors and researchers as a source of innovate
intellectual property for existing portfolio companies, Hadasit and Hadassah as a source of
exposure and new investment opportunities and new Portfolio Companies, access to
Hadassah specialists as consultants and testers of the potential investments within and
outside of Hadassah, access to advanced industries in the field of research, production,
animal trials, clinical trials, etc.
Moreover, there are a large number of holding companies and private foundations around the
world in the biomedical field which constitute an investment alternative for investors looking to
invest in this field.
14.

Fixed assets and facilities
14.1 As of the date the Periodic Report was published, most of the Company’s operations
are carried out in its offices in Hadassah Ein Kerem, Jerusalem.
14.2 On February 5, 2008, a rental agreement was signed between the Company and
another company (hereafter: “the other company”) for rental of 860 square meters
in the biotechnological park in Hadassah Ein Kerem in Jerusalem, for a period of 5
years with an option for an additional five years (hereafter; “the rental agreement”).
In the context of the rental agreement, it was determined, inter alia, that the
Company will pay monthly rental fees and management fees in the amount of NIS 64
per square meter, linked to the CPI. In addition, for the length of the rental period and
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the option period, the Company will pay an amount of NIS 43 per square meter
(linked to the CPI) with respect to modification works made to the leasehold by the
other company.
In November 2013, the Company notified the other company of its wish to terminate
the rental agreement without exercising the above option. In August 2014, the
Company signed an addendum to the rental agreement according to which the
Company will rent offices from the other company with space of 63 square meters,
for a period of 36 months, namely until May 31, 2017, in consideration of monthly
rental payments of approximately NIS 6,600. Moreover, the parties agreed to the
spreading of the payments of the modification works of approximately NIS 2,359
thousand (linked to the CPI). During 2014, the Company paid the amount of NIS 900
thousand in the framework of spreading of the payments of the modification works as
stated, and as of the balance sheet date, the debt is in the amount of NIS 1,464
thousand.
15. Research and Development
15.1.

The company's portfolio companies are engaged in the field of medical and
biotechnological research.

15.2.

The main area of operations in which the Company is engaged, through the
Portfolio Companies, and in which it intends to continue to engage, is research and
development in the field of medical and biotechnological research and / or
production and distribution of the results of the research and development done in
these areas.

15.3.

See details of each company separately for additional details regarding the stage
of research and development in relation to each of the companies of the portfolio
companies.

16. Intangible assets
For details regarding intangible assets of the portfolio companies, see in relation to each
company below.
17. Human resources
As of the date of the report, the Company is managed by Ms. Tamar Kfir, the Company’s
CEO, Liat Hadad Simhayoff, CPA, the Company’s CFO and Mr. Yoram Azulai, the
Company’s Manager of Investments.
Additionally, from the date of the conversion of the company to a public company and up
to the date of the Periodic Report, the Company had a management agreement with its
controlling shareholder, the Hadasit Company. As of the date that the Periodic Report was
published, this management agreement terminated. See Section 22.1 for further details
regarding the management agreement.
As of the year end of 2014 and as of the reporting date, the Company does employ 5
employees, two of which are Ms. Tamar Kfir who serves as the CEO of the Company, Ms.
Liat Hadad who is the Company CFO.
See Regulation 26A in Chapter D to the Periodic Report for details of the education,
professional and business experience of the members of the Company’s management.
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The Company has no material dependence on a specific employee.
17.1 Employment agreements
The Company generally enters into employment agreements or agreements to
render services (as the case may be) with employees and service providers on a
basis of monthly compensation which can be ended early by each of the parties
while giving advance notice. The employment terms generally include, inter alia,
pension fund or manager’s insurance, professional advancement fund, disability
insurance, rights to vacation and recreation pay. These employment agreements
include the employment terms of the employees, and among others- a obligation to
preserve confidentiality and intellectual property. The Company’s obligations for
termination of employee employer relations are covered by current payments of
management insurance premiums and/or payments to pension funds, which
represent an alternative to the legal liability of the Company to pay severance pay, if
required, according to Section 19 of the Severance Pay Law-1963.
See Regulation 21 in Chapter D of the Periodic Report for details regarding the
employment agreements of the officers.
17.2 Insurance, exemption and indemnification of officers of the Company
The Company has contracted in a policy for liability insurance of the Company’s
directors and officers in relation to all of the Company’s directors and officers, as
they will exist from time to time.
See Regulation 29A in Chapter D of the Periodic Report for information regarding the
undertaking of the Company in these insurance policies.
Moreover, the Company granted documents of exemption and indemnification to the
directors and officers of the Company in a maximum indemnification amount for all of
the directors and officers not to exceed an amount equivalent to 25% of the
Company’s shareholders’ equity according to its financial statements to be approved
and published prior to the date of payment of the indemnification amount. Moreover,
the Company committed to exempt the members of the Board of Directors and most
of the above officers from all liability vis-à-vis the Company due to any damage
caused to it due to a breach the obligation of caution towards it (except for the
breach of the obligation for caution in distribution as this term is defined in the
Companies Law) due to their actions in good faith and by force of their being officers
of the Company.
See Regulation 29A in Chapter D of the Periodic Report for additional details
regarding the documents of exemption and indemnification.
17.3 Compensation programs for employees and consultants
As of the date of this report, there are 3,625,000 options not registered on the stock
exchange which were granted in the framework of compensation programs to
employees of the Company, employees of Hadasit and directors of the Company.
17.4 Compensation policies for an officer of the Company
On November 17, 2014, the General Assembly of Shareholders of the Company,
after approval of the Company’s Board of Directors and Compensation Committee,
approved compensation policies in the matter of conditions of tenure and
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employment of officers of the Company pursuant to Section 267A of the Companies
Law (hereafter; “compensation policies”).
See the Immediate Report of the Company concerning convening of the General
Assembly dated October 13, 2014 (Document Number 2014-01-175374) for
additional of the Company’s compensation policy.
17.5 Employment agreements for executive officers and employees of the Company
See Regulation 21 in Chapter D of the Periodic Report.

17.6 Payment of fees to directors and outside directors of the Company
See Regulation 21 in Chapter D of the Periodic Report for detail regarding fees paid
to directors of the Company, including outside directors of the Company.
18. Working capital
As of December 31, 2014, the Company’s working capital amounted to NIS 1,695
thousand as compared with NIS 6,475 thousand as of December 31, 2013.
1. Financing
19.1 The Company finances its operations mostly by means of shareholders’ equity
derived from equity raisings during the years of its operations.
19.2 As of the date of publishing the Periodic Report, the Company has no credit from
banks.
19.3 As of December 31, 2014, the Company had liquid resources (cash and cash
equivalents together with short term investments) in an amount of approximately NIS
2,820 thousand, in comparison to December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 at
which liquid resources stood at the disposal of the Company in a scope of
approximately NIS 7,359 thousand and approximately NIS 12,752 thousand,
respectively.
19.4 The Company estimates that during the coming year, it will be required to raise
additional sources of fund in order to implement the goals of the Company, as
detailed in Section 24 below, and therefore, the Company will act immediately to
raise additional funds.
The Company’s assessment regarding the raising of additional sources of
funds, brought above in this section, includes forward looking information, as
defined in the Securities Law. Changes in investments in portfolio companies
and the results of the portfolio companies could change the plans detailed
above and the information mentioned.
2. Taxation
See Note 26 in Chapter C of the Periodic Report, the financial statements of the
Company as of December 31, 2014, for details regarding the accounting policies
applied by the Company as regards the presentation of the subject of taxation. See
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Note 26 to the above chapter for details of the tax laws applying to the Company, tax
assessments and accumulated losses of the Company.
3. Environmental risks and the means of managing them
As of the date that the Periodic Report was published, to the best of the knowledge
of the Company, the Company is not exposed to environmental risks and costs.
22. Material Agreements
Management agreement with Hadasit
From the date the Company became a public company until today, a management
agreement has been in effect between the Company and its controlling shareholder,
Hadasit Medical Research Services and Development Ltd. (hereafter: "Hadasit"). As of the
date that the Periodic Report was published and as specified below, the management
agreement was terminated.
On February 27, 2011, the General Assembly of the Company’s Shareholders approved
the Company’s undertaking in a management agreement between the Company and
Hadasit (hereafter: “the previous management agreement”). According to the terms of
the previous management agreement, the period of the management agreement was for
four years, starting on January 1, 2011 and ending on December 31, 2014. In view of the
transitional provisions stipulated in the Companies Law (Amendment No.16) -2011
(hereafter: “Amendment No. 16”), as well as in view of Amendment No. 16 to the
Companies Law which prescribes, inter alia, that agreements between the Company and
its controlling shareholder must be approved every three years, on November 17, 2014,
the General Assembly of the Shareholders of the Company approved the undertaking of
the Company in a new management agreement with Hadasit for a period of 10 months
which began on February 26, 2014 and ends on December 31, 2014, pursuant to the
terms determined by in the previous management agreement, and as they were approved
in the Shareholders’ Assembly dated February 27, 2011, except in relation to management
fees which were reduced to an annual payment of NIS 430 thousand, commencing from
January 1, 2014, whose main points are detailed below (hereafter: “the management
agreement”).
22.1.

Management services: During the term of the management agreement, Hadasit will
provide the Company, through its employees and consultants, ongoing
management services to facilitate the Company’s operations and activities in the
field. In all matters relating to the provision of the aforementioned management
services, the operations of Hadasit will be done in accordance with, and under the
supervision of, the Company’s management and board of directors. The
management services will include the following services:

22.1.1. Administrative services to assist with the Company’s current and regular
operations granted during 2014 which include, among others, secretarial
services, office costs, CEO office rental, worth NIS 20,000 annually, as well as
rental costs on common areas worth NIS 20,000 annually.
22.1.2. consulting services to facilitate the Company’s investments in the Portfolio
Companies, and in other companies in the field (whose sources are either in
Hadassah or outside it), in which the Company will review investment
opportunities worth 43,000 annually;
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22.1.3. provide the Company, through employees possessed of expertise in the field,
with consulting services in the field of the intellectual property and legal advice
worth 11,000 annually;
22.1.4. At the Company’s request, and in accordance with the personnel available at
Hadasit, Hadasit will nominate, pursuant to the provisions of the law, directors
in the Company and / or in the Portfolio Companies from among Hadasit's
managers and employees. The services of the Board of Directors which were
provided to the Company by Hadasit during 2014 include the directors’ services
itemized below, according to the following division: director’s service of Mr.
Yigal Ehrlich commencing from January 2014 until the end of the month of
August 2014 (annual fee relative to the period and fee per meeting) at a value
of NIS 66,000, director’s services of Dr. Tami Raz for the Company and KAHR
Ltd., a subsidiary of the Company, commencing from May 2014 until the end of
2014 (annual fee relative to the period and fee per meeting) at a value of NIS
78,000, director’s services of Prof. Yaakov Naparstek for the Company,
commencing from March 2014 until the end of 2014 (annual fee relative to the
period and fee per meeting) and ProtAb Ltd., a subsidiary of the Company (for
the entire year of 2014), at a value of NIS 86,000, participation of the above
directors in meetings in Israel and abroad which are not meetings of the Board
of Directors at a total annual value of NIS 20,000.
22.1.5. In addition to the consulting services provided by its manager and employees,
and subject to the above terms, Hadasit will have the right, at such time as it
deems necessary, to arrange for external professional consulting services for
the Company and / or for the Portfolio Companies, for the purpose of fulfilling
its responsibilities. The Company will bear these costs, inasmuch as Hadasit
will deem them necessary for the Company’s operations.
22.1.6. Within the framework of the provision of services, Hadasit has committed to
invest its best efforts in order to provide the Company access to leading
doctors and scientists employed at Hadassah, and who have bearing on the
area of operation of one of the Portfolio Companies, or of a different new
company in which the Company may consider performance of a new
investment. Hadasit will invest its best efforts to create a situation whereby the
Company receives consulting and accompaniment services from those senior
doctors and scientists, and, if necessary, will assist the Company in conducting
negotiations with those doctors and scientists for the purpose of involving them
in the new Portfolio Company, or for the purpose of arranging terms whereby
services can be provided by them for the purpose requested by the Company.
22.1.7. The value of the services itemized above granted by Hadassah to the
Company is at an annual value of NIS 86,000.
22.2.

Consideration: In consideration of the provision of management services, the
Company paid Hadasit an annual payment for 2014 in the amount of 430,000 NIS
(plus VAT as per law).
See the Immediate Report of the Company dated January 17, 2011 (Document No.
2011-01 019713) for further details regarding the terms of the previous
management agreement.

23. Legal Proceedings
As of the date that the Periodic Report was published, the Company is not party to any
legal proceedings.
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24. Goals and business strategy and forecasted developments for the coming year
24.1.

Business strategy

24.1.1. As a holding company operating in the biomed sector, which invests in
companies found in stages of research and development, the central goal of
the Company, as of the date that the report was published, is to advance the
companies, all or in part, in order to accrue value for the companies. For this
purpose, the Company supports the portfolio companies to achieve milestones
and goals, including, among others: entry into the stage of clinical trials on
humans, completing the proving of the initial clinical feasibility in the framework
of the trials and entering into strategic and financial cooperation agreements.
24.1.2. The business strategy of the Company includes striving to preserve the variety
of holdings of the portfolio companies found in different stages of development
of their products. Moreover, the Company aspires to act to locate and execute
new investments and to evaluate additional investments in its sector of
operations, subject to its financial position, to realize the business potential
incorporated in the investee companies and to act to advance and assist the
investee companies.
24.1.3. Strategy of building value:
The intention is that, at the end of Phase I, and during the preparations for
Phase II, the Portfolio Companies (all or some) will hold meetings with entities
deemed to be appropriate for the purpose of strategic collaborations, especially
multi-national pharmaceutical companies. This model has been proven as
effective in part of the companies; however, in other case the Company found
that these potential partners now demand more data and a higher level of
security before entering the planned partnership.
In accordance with the Company’s experience in the relevant field,
multinational pharmaceutical companies repeatedly emphasize, in meetings
held with them, that the presentation of Phase I/II clinical trial data (in other
words, the presentation of safety and the beginning of efficacy in humans) is
the optimal stage for the creation of a strategic relationship between
pharmaceutical companies and development companies. As stated, the
joining stage with a strategic partner varies depending on the market that the
Portfolio Company acts in, the product being developed and the need of the
partner to complete, as stated, its product line.
There are a number of well-known methods of actualizing the
aforementioned collaborative relationships, including granting a license for
usage and distribution, merger, acquisition of operations, etc.
As of the date of publishing the report, the Board of Directors of the
Company aspires to implement a strategy of building value in light of the
progress by the portfolio companies and according to changes in the
business and industrial environment.
The strategy could change in accordance with the appropriate decisions
taken by the Company.
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24.2 Forecast of developments during the year
The forecast is that during the coming year, the portfolio companies will advance in
realizing their development programs as specified below. Realization of these
programs is primarily dependent on the ability of the Company to raise the
necessary equity.
The Company will evaluate the feasibility of its participation in the rounds of raising
equity by the portfolio companies according to the criteria itemized in Section 4
above. The ability of the Company to realize its decisions and to participate in the
equity raising rounds will be determined according to the equity raisings of the
Company.
The information brought in this section in relation to the goals and strategy of
the Company and the forecast of developments in the coming year, as
detailed above, include forward looking information, as defined in the
Securities Law. The failure to raise the required resources for purposes of
continuation of the operations of the portfolio companies, entry/success of
the clinical trials of the portfolio companies, lack of success in development
of the product of the portfolio companies and/or decisions of the Company to
direct the resources according to the business developments which it will
encounter, could change the plans itemized above.
24.3.

Summary of the Company’s Forecasts for Expected Developments in the Portfolio
Companies During 2015

Company Name
CellCure
Enlivex
D-Pharm

KAHR

ProtAb
BioMarCare

The Company's estimate for 2015
Carrying out Phase l/lla clinical trial on Drt-AMD patients
Preparations for advanced clinical trial in the US for the GvHD
disease
See Immediate Report of D-Pharm dated February 15, 2015
(Document Number: 2015-01-031003) for details regarding the
work program published by D-Pharm.
Completion of the preclinical program for the KAHR-102
molecule, filing of an application for recognition of KAHR-102
for the avenue of an orphan drug for R/R-DLBCL lymphoma
patients, as well as filing of an application for purposes of entry
into a clinical trial for lymphoma patients in Israel
Analysis of the pre-clinical results and continuation of
development of the Froseomab antibody in the preclinical
stages
Continued efforts for commercialization of technology

The information as to the Company’s forecast in relation to the anticipated
developments by the Company’s portfolio companies brought in the above
table is solely a forecast and there is no certainty that it will be realized and it
is considered to be forward looking information, as defined in the Securities
Law. The failure of the clinical trials and/or delay in development of the
products, and/or difficulty in raising resources for the development of the
products, could change the forecasts and the information specified above.
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25. Risk Factors
Take note of the connection to the preface to Chapter A above regarding the nature
of the Company’s operations and the risk incorporated into these operations.
The investment in shares of the Company involves risks characterizing investment in startup companies engaged in development of medications and medical devices. To be
brought below are risk factors connected to and derived from the operating sector of the
Company and which could have material influence on the Company’s business results:
25.1

Risk factors

A.

Economic, political and security situation- the economic slowdown in Israel and
throughout the world and/or the deterioration of the political and security situation in
Israel and the world could have a negative effect on the condition of companies
operating in Israel. This, inter alia, as a result of the apprehensions of foreign
investors from investing in Israeli companies or from the concern of international
companies from entering into agreements with Israeli companies. Moreover,
circumstances could cause the failure of representatives of representatives of foreign
supervisory authorities to arrive for an examination of enterprises of companies
which have invested in Israel for purposes of carrying out the tests necessary for the
receipt of the regulatory approvals required for the marketing of their products in the
various nations.

B.

Grants and benefits from government agencies- the portfolio companies of the
Company benefit from budgets of government agencies, such as the Office of the
Chief Scientist which provides grants for research and development activities. These
grants and benefits limit the activities of the recipient companies (such as –limitations
on manufacture abroad and the sale of knowhow to foreign entities) Breach of the
limitations imposed on portfolio companies of the Company, which enjoy the grants
and benefits as stated according to the relevant letters of approval and laws, could
cause various sanctions to be imposed on them including financial sanctions and
criminal sanctions Moreover, changes in budgets of the above government agencies,
in a manner that will prevent or reduce the grants and/or the benefits that the
portfolio companies might receive in the future could materially affect the operations
and results of these companies. In addition, investments of foreign entities are
influenced, inter alia, by the continuation of the encouragement of foreign
investments by regulatory bodies in Israel, including in the area of taxation. In a case
in which this encouragement of foreign investments will be stopped and/or limited,
this could cause damage to investments in the Company’s portfolio companies by
foreign entities, and accordingly, cause damage to their business results and to the
business results of the Company.

C.

Changes in the capital markets in Israel and abroad- the state of the capital
markets in Israel and abroad could negatively affect the Company’s business results,
asset value, ability to realize the assets it holds and to affect the ability of the
Company to generate capital gain from realization of its holdings and carry out
issuances on the stock exchanges in and outside of Israel.

D.

Limitations on realization of holdings- legal restrictions (including the blockage
rules according to the Securities Law) and contractual restrictions apply to the
Company, which could limit the possibilities of realizing the holdings of the Company
in the portfolio companies. These limitations include, inter alia, proving a right of first
refusal and/or a right of joining an acquisition of a “bring along” right and/ or a veto
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right to part of the shareholders of those companies, including in relation to the
transfer of shares.
E.

Exposure to financial risks- changes in interest rates and foreign currency rates in
Israel and the world could affect the business results of the Company and the
portfolio companies, as well as the feasibility of the investment in the Company and
the portfolio companies.

25.2.

Sectoral risk factors

A. Uncertainty regarding obtaining patents and protecting intellectual propertyThe main assets held by the Portfolio Companies are the intellectual property,
knowledge and research in their possession and which can for the most part be
protected by the registration of patents. Any delay, completion, assault on legality,
or claims of breach of existing patents, or patents for which a patent registration
application has already been submitted by any of the Project Companies, may have
a negative impact on the position of that Portfolio Company, and on the Company’s
position.
B. Investment in high risk companies- The investment in the Portfolio Companies is
a high risk investment, which at times may be completely lost, due to the possibility
that all or some of the Project Companies may not reach their predefined targets,
including due to difficulties in recruiting the appropriate personnel, in raising the
required financing, due to the eventual non-development of products or devices
which they are engaged in developing, or due to such development encountering
difficulties or delays which incur additional costs whose scope cannot be estimated,
due to technical difficulties encountered during the development process, due to a
discovery resulting in the impossibility of developing the technology, due to a
discovery that it will not be possible to commercialize, distribute or sell the
developments, due to a limited ability to recruit appropriate patients for the purpose
of performing the clinical trials, or due to failure during the clinical trial phase.
C. Dependence on researchers- Since the Portfolio Companies were generally
founded on the basis of knowledge and studies performed by Researchers within
Hadassah, the Portfolio Companies are dependent, for the purpose of their
continued operation, both on the continued collaboration with those researchers,
and on their collaboration with Hadassah. Any loss of collaboration with a
researcher who is significant to the continued research and development of the
product may adversely affect the position of the relevant Portfolio Company, and of
the Company.
D. Raising resources and financing- the portfolio companies are found in stages of
research and development. The Company has no source of income from sale of
products or as the result of the research and development activities and this forces
it to continue to recurrently raise equity in order to enhance the portfolio.
E. Technological changes- Technical changes are possible which may result in the
economical or technological unfeasibility of completing development of the
products, or which may result in the developments becoming archaic. Future
developments in the medical and biotechnological products field are not
predictable, although there does exist certainty of the fact that various entities
around the world are attempting to develop solutions for the diseases and needs for
which the Portfolio Companies are attempting to create treatments. Competition in
the field of the Project Companies' developments may result in the Portfolio
Companies' developments becoming redundant, due to the priority of technologies
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developed by competitors, or to the competitors' developments being cheaper to
distribute or easier to commercialize.
F. Lack of marketability- Investment in the securities of Portfolio Companies is, for
the most part, investment in securities that are unregistered for trading on the stock
exchange or in an orderly market. For this reason, difficulties may be encountered
in selling these securities, or in realizing them by other means. Furthermore,
investment in the Portfolio Companies is an investment in companies which
generally do not distribute dividends, but instead usually have a Strategy of building
value. The Company’s success depends on its ability to enter into agreements with
manufactures and distributors for the purpose of manufacturing the developments,
and with large pharmaceutical companies for the purpose of completing clinical
trials and commercialization of the developments.
G. Direction of operations of the portfolio companies- as mentioned above, the
holdings of the Company in its investee companies do not, at times, provide it with
control and the ability to direct its activities. As a result, the Company may
sometimes run into difficulties in relation to the receipt of information and current
updates, including updated and current information on the financial position of the
companies that it holds, information on the progress of the companies, etc. The
present rate of holdings of the Company in the portfolio companies do not generally
provide the Company with the ability to direct the operations of the portfolio
companies or to interfere in their management and to have access to information
concerning these companies. This situation could affect the manner of making
decisions by the Company as to investments in these companies or in realizing
holdings in the companies, as well as to impair the disclosure obligations applying
to the Company.
H. Financial statements- due to the inability at times of the Company to control the
operations of the companies held by the Company in relation to their obligations to
prepare financial statements and in relation to the accuracy of the data in these
financial statements, there is concern that the above financial statements will not
fully reflect the consolidated financial position of the Company or of the investee
companies on an independent basis, something that might cause correction to the
Company’s financial statements as a result of a correction made by the investee
companies to its financial statements.
I.

25.3.

Subjection to regulation- The products of the Project Companies, inasmuch as
these may pass the research and development phases, are subject to the
regulations of the health authorities in the target countries, resulting in the
possibility that regulatory developments or changes in standardization may present
difficulty for the Portfolio Companies in completing their developments and in the
marketing of a drug or medical product. Changes in the regulatory environment
relating to the marketing of drugs, including changes made to the Portfolio
Companies, or to any manufacturer of theirs, or to any other entity working on their
behalf, may impose various restrictions upon the activities of the Portfolio
Companies, including failure to obtain approval for their products.
Factors specific to the Company

A. Capital raising- Due to limited financial sources, it is possible that
investment rounds performed by the Portfolio Companies (especially
rounds dealing with large amounts), the Company may not have, even
to participate in the rounds, the required means to preserve its rate of
some or all of the Portfolio Companies.
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investment
if it intends
holdings in

B.
Capital Raising of Portfolio Companies- The Company is largely
dependent on its ability to raise financing from external sources for the purpose of
financing the research and development activities (including performance of the trials)
done by the Project Companies. Due to the severe global economic crisis and the
economic deceleration it caused, the various financing sources available to the
Company have been significantly reduced, as well as other financing avenues,
including financing through capital markets (by issuance of convertible bonds, etc.),
which were also adversely affected by the worldwide economic crisis, and which cannot
be effectively utilized. Sources of financing are the raw material used by the Project
Companies, and without providing the flow of the financing required by the Portfolio
Companies, it will not be possible to complete their developments, especially within
their planned time frames.
The following are the risks as they were rated in accordance with the Company’s
assessment, according to their effect on the Company’s business as a whole, large effect,
moderate effect, slight effect.
Measure of effect of the risk factor on the Company’s
business as a whole
High influence

Medium
influence

Low influence

Macro risks
+

Economic, political and security situation
Grants and benefits from government
agencies

+

Changes in the capital markets in Israel and
abroad-

+

Limitations on realization of holdings

+

Exposure to financial risks

+

Sectoral risks
Uncertainty regarding obtaining patents and
protecting intellectual property

+

Investment in high risk companies

+

Dependence on researchers

+

Raising resources and financing

+
+

Technological changes
Lack of marketability

+

Direction of operations of the portfolio
companies

+
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+

Financial statements
+

Subjection to regulation

Risks unique to the Company
Capital raising

+

Capital Raising of Portfolio Companies

+
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C. Description of the material portfolio companies
26. CellCure Neurosciences Ltd. (hereinafter - “CellCure”)
For convenience, in this chapter, the following abbreviations will have the meaning
recorded alongside them:

-

A series of diseases in which one of the critical cell
types of the central nervous system is damaged or
dead. Examples: Parkinson’s, ALS, multiple sclerosis,
and Alzheimer’s.

Parkinson’s Disease

-

A disease in which the nervous cells the brain that are
responsible for dopamine production, among other
things, die. The disease is characterized by shaking in
various parts of the body and can lead to death.

Pigment Cells or RPE Cells
(Retinal Pigmented
Ephithelium Cells)

-

Cells in the back of the retina that provide nutrients and
remove waste from the cells that absorb light in the
eye.

Embryonic Stem Cells

-

A unique cell that has the ability to breed and develop
each of the 220 cell types in the human body.

Dividing Father Cells

-

Part of the stem cells that are in the initial development
stage.

Dopaminergic Neurons

-

Cells that are part of the central nervous system that
produce the chemical dopamine.

-

The degeneration and death of cells which are located
in the center of the retina (which has the highest
concentration of vision cells) and which are responsible
for distinguishing details (macula). As a result of this,
the patient suffers from blurriness in the central field of
vision

“Dry-AMD”

-

A disease in which there is retina degeneration in the
central vision caused as the result of degeneration of
RPE cells, followed by degeneration of photoreceptor
cells in control of vision

“OpRegen®”

-

The first product developed by CellCure to treat retinal
degeneration, including macular degeneration, based
on the RPE cells in suspension.

“OpRegen Plus®”

-

A product for the treatment of retinal degeneration,
including macular degeneration, which is based on the
RPE cells in the membrane.

Neurodegenerative
Diseases

Macular Degeneration or
AMD (Age Related Macular
Degeneration) -
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26.1.

Description of CellCure’s Activities and the Technology Developed by it

26.1.1.CellCure Neuroscience Ltd. was incorporated November 2005 and started
operations January 2006. When it was incorporated, CellCure was under
the complete control of the Singapore company known as ES Cell
International Pte Ltd. (hereinafter - “ESI”).

26.1.2. In the second quarter of 2010, ESI was acquired by American stock
exchange company, BIOTIME INC. (hereinafter - "BioTime") (BTX.AMEX).

26.1.3. From the date of its establishment as of the date of publishing the Periodic
Report CellCure engages in research and development in the treatment of
neurodegenerative diseases by way of replacing cells, with its primary goal
being the development of a product to treat degeneration of the retina,
including macular degeneration (AMD), based on RPE cells in suspension
named OpRegen ® (hereinafter - "OpRegen ®").
The main cause of the Dry-AMD illness is the demise of the pigment cells
found below the retinas and supporting it. The treatment offered by
CellCure to heal dry-AMD is a transplant of Retinal Pigment Epithelial cells,
RPE cells derived from embryonic stem cells (OpRegen ®). The treatment
is a process in which RPE cells are injected in order to renew and replace
the RPE cells which are atrophying in the patient’s eye, and to stop the
progression of the disease. As of the date that the Periodic Report was
published, there is no approved medical treatment for the macular
degeneration disease of the “dry” type. Embryonic stem cells are a source
which allow for an amount of RPE cells. The research groups of Prof.
Reubinoff and Prof. Benin of the Hadassah Hospital have developed a
method for directed differentiation of human embryonic stem cells to RPE
cells which can provide a sufficient amount of RPE cells for the treatment of
all existing and future dry-AMD patients in the world.
The transplantation of these pigment cells in patients with dry AMD will
prevent the continued degeneration of the retina resulting from the
dysfunction of pigment cells of patients. The healing efficiency of these cells
was proven in an animal model with dry AMD disease.
The Company’s assessment with relation to the prevention of the
continuation of retina degeneration by the implantation of these
pigment cells in Dry AMD patients represents forward looking
information, as per its meaning in the Securities Law, that is
conditional, inter alia, on the results of the clinical experiments of
CellCure.

26.1.4. CellCure is developing two products: one is RPE cell suspension
(OpRegen®), and RPE cells attached to a biological membrane (OpRegen
Plus®). Both products are designed to move transplanted cells under the
retina which act as a replacement for the dead cells.

26.1.5. In 2009, CellCure began research in the field of healing the dry type of
AMD disease using human embryonic stem cells. During that year,
CellCure began developing methods to produce RPE cells under cGMP
conditions. CellCure’s goal was to reach a level of embryonic stem cell
production under cGMP conditions (sterile conditions) in order to perform
clinical trials on humans.
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26.1.6. During 2010, the development of the above methods was completed and
the production began of RPE cells under cGMP conditions intended for use
in clinical trials. During 2011, CellCure completed the production of cells
under cGMP conditions. The Company developed the cells with a xeno-free
method (without use animal derived materials). As of the date of publishing
the Periodic Report, there is no other entity that has succeeded in
producing the cells at the level of cGMP and xeno-free.

26.1.7.During 2012, CellCure conducted over 10 pilot studies in animals
demonstrating the safety and efficacy of these cells In order to attain
regulatory approvals for human trials. in the end of 2012 CellCure began
safety tests on the product in accordance with the FDA recommendations in
external GLP labs (CRO). These experiments continued during 2013 and
ended successfully during the third quarter of 2014. See the Company’s
Immediate Report dated September 17, 2014 (Document No. 2045-01159270) for additional details regarding the results of these experiments.

26.1.8. In addition, In November 2013, the Company held a pre-IND meeting with
the FDA in which the product safety and characterization plan and the preclinical trial plan were approved.

26.1.9. On October 31, 2014, CellCure received approval for medical trials on
humans (IND) from the FDA, in light of the success of CellCure in the preclinical series of experiments, carried out according to the guidelines of the
FDA and by the clinical research companies (CRO’s). See the Company’s
Immediate Report dated September 17, 2014 (Document No. 2045-01159270) for additional details.

26.1.10.

On February 17, 2015, the Company announced that CellCure
received final approval from the Helsinki Committee for beginning the
Phase l/lla clinical trial at the Hadassah Ein Kerem Medical Center in
Jerusalem, while after treatment of the first nine patients, it is anticipated to
obtain interim results to be presented to Hadassah as a condition for
continuing the experiment. See the Company’s Immediate Report dated
February 17, 2015 (Document No. 2015-01-032644) for additional details.
This information is brought by way of reference.
According to the above, as of the date that the Periodic Report is published,
CellCure began the clinical trial. In the Company’s assessment, CellCure
will begin treatment of the first patient during the second quarter of 2015.
The aforementioned in relation to the Company’s assessment of the
start of the treatment on the first patient represents forward looking
information, as per its meaning in the Securities Law, that is
conditional, inter alia, on recruiting the first patient.
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26.2.

Loans and Investments in CellCure's Share Capital

Following are details regarding investments made by the Company in the equity of
CellCure during the past two years:

Date

Substance of change

Options Volume of
Total
Total
Ordinary
not
immediate
issued
issued
shares of
registered proceeds and paid
and paid
the
for
received up capital up capital
Company
trading
(in NIS
(in
fully
issued
issued
000)
shares)
diluted

2124127

25.4212

574252

574257

1224020

1754525

Opening balance as of 31.12.2012

In 2013

On February 29, 2013, an
investment agreement with
BioTime, in whose context
BioTime will invest the
amount of $ 3.5 million and
will acquire 87,456 ordinary
shares of CellCure, in
exchange for which BioTime
will issue 906,735 ordinary
shares of BioTime to
CellCure,

574252

Holding of
tradable
shares of
BioTime

In 2014

Total as of the date of the Periodic Report

26.2.1. During 2012, CellCure signed a funding agreement with BioTime (which is
a parent company of CellCure) at a value of 15.2 million dollars (pre-money
value). Under the agreement, BioTime issued quoted BioTime shares to
CellCure totaling 3.5 million dollars for 9% of CellCure's shares and has
increased its holding to 62.6% in the company shares. On 2.3.2013, the
investment transaction was completed. The shares were received by
CellCure and the company began selling them according to plan. As of the
date of the Periodic Report, CellCure has sold approximately 87% of the
quantity of the BioTime shares issued to CellCure.
During May, June, July and August 2013, in view of the decrease in the
tradability of BioTime shares, CellCure entered into loan agreements with
BioTime, in whose framework, BioTime granted bridge loans to the
Company in the amounts of $ 350 thousand, $ 265 thousand, $ 700
thousand and $ 500 thousand, respectively (hereafter: “the loan
agreements”). Under the loan agreements, it was determined that the loans
do not carry interest and CellCure will repay each of the loans within three
business days after it raises funds, from the sale of BioTime shares and/r
any other source, except for grants received from the OCS and any other
loan received from BioTime, from receipt of 800 thousand dollars, 1,150
thousand dollars, 1,850 thousand dollars, and 2,350 thousand dollars,
respectively.
As of the date of the Periodic Report, CellCure repaid the first two loans in a
total amount of $ 615 thousand. The last two loans in a total of $ 1,200
thousand stand for immediate repayment pursuant to the above terms.
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BioTime notified CellCure that it will not demand the return of the loan in the
amount of $ 1,200 thousand until the end of Phase l/lla.

26.2.2. At the meeting of the Board of Directors held on April 30, 2014, it was
decided that CellCure would suggest that its shareholders raise equity by
means of convertible loans in a total amount of $ 4,200 thousand (“the
fund”). The amount of the fund would be transferred in two stages,
according to the company’s request, on a “need” basis, with the
understanding that the second stage will be at the discretion of the
participating shareholder and the fund will bear interest at the rate of 3% per
annum (loan principal together with the interest will be known below: “the
loan”), as follows:
The first stage: the loan in the amount of $ 2,200 thousand. Subject to the
written notice by the shareholder and/or the decision of the company, the
company will convert any part of the loan as yet unpaid and specified, to
ordinary shares of the company. The part of the loan not converted to
ordinary shares of the company at the request of the shareholder and/or the
request of the company within 3 years will be returned to the shareholder.
As of the date of the Periodic Report, CellCure had received convertible
loans as follows: from BioTime, the amount of $ 1,634 thousand, from the
Company, the amount of $ 466 thousand and from a shareholder of
CellCure, the amount of $5 thousand. In view of the above, the first stage
ended.
The second stage- in the framework of the second stage, Bio Time
transferred the amount of $ 700 thousand to CellCure by means of
convertible loans, Additionally, the Company committed to transfer the
amount of $ 188 thousand, representing the Company’s share in the above
convertible loans. This amount has not yet been transferred.
On February 12, 2015, BioTime transferred a letter of intent to CellCure
according to which it becomes obligated to invest an amount in addition to
the above amount in CellCure, in a volume of $ 2,200 thousand for
purposes of completing Phase l/lla.

26.3.

Dividends

Since its establishment, and as of the date of the report, CellCure has not distributed
dividends. As of the date of the report, CellCure has no dividend distribution policies.
26.4.

Financial information

See the financial statements of CellCure as of December 31, 2014 attached as a separate
appendix to the Periodic Report for financial information regarding CellCure’s operations.
26.5.

Restrictions and supervision
26.5.1. The company is engaged in development of production of medical products
which are subject to regulatory requirements, drawn out approval
procedures and compliance with proper manufacturing procedures. See
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Section 10.1 for details regarding restrictions and supervision applying the
operations of CellCure due to its being a company developing medications.
26.5.2. Supervision in the company’s laboratory- companies manufacturing medical
products are required to comply with standards and guidelines in connection
with quality control during the processes of manufacturing medications and
medical products. These standards and guidelines are issued by the
regulatory authorities, such as the FDA. CellCure acts to preserve the
compliance with such standards and carries out experiments and the use of
materials meeting these standards where required.
26.6.

Critical success factors in the operating sector and changes taking place in them
See Section 11.1 above for details of critical success factors.

26.7.

The Relevant Potential Market
AMD market potential
In the United States there are about 7.3 million patients with the Dry-AMD in at least
one eye. about 1.75 million people have an advanced stage of the disease and this
number is expected to grow by the year 2020 to about 2.95 million patients. Out of
the total patients with AMD in the United States, about 973,000 of them are in the
geographic atrophy stage and are suitable to receive the treatment that CellCure
will offer in the future, as long as its research and experiments are successful and it
has the necessary financial resources for the commercialization and development
of the product6. CellCure's developed treatment for Dry-AMD with geographic
atrophy patients is estimated on potential global market of $ 5 billion 7.

26.8.

Competition
The company’s success is affected by competition in the development and
marketing area of products for the treatment of degeneration of the retina of the eye
based on RPE cells. As of the date of this report, the company is aware of three
competitors. To the best of the company’s knowledge, the first company is OcataACT which develops a product for the treatment of the degeneration of the retina of
the eye based on RPE cells, whose source is live and not embryonic cells. To the
best of the company’s knowledge, Ocata-ACT is in more advanced development
stages than the company. Nevertheless, the product developed by the company
possesses a real advantage due to its being generated from embryonic stem cells,
something assuring a higher quality of the cells.
Two additional competitors of the company are the academic group of Prof. Peter
Coffey from the College University, London, as well as the group receiving funding
from the State of California (CIRM), headed by Prof. Kellog. These groups, to the
best of CellCure’s knowledge, are developing a solution based upon a RPE cell of a
membrane which is appropriate for use in situations in which there is damage to the

6

http://articles.chicagotribune.com/2013-08-27/lifestyle/sns-rt-us-roche-eyedrug-20130827_1_eye-drugsgenentech-vision-loss
7

http://articles.chicagotribune.com/2013-08-27/lifestyle/sns-rt-us-roche-eyedrug-20130827_1_eye-drugsgenentech-vision-loss
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Bruch’s membrane of the retina. Nevertheless, the execution of such a process
demands special talents of the surgeon and use of a special surgical instrument.

The following is a tabular description regarding the competitors of CellCure
CellCure's medical Competing product Competing product Competing product
product
A
B
C

Product
characteristics

Advantages and
disadvantages of
the solution of
CellCure in relation
to competitive
medical products ,
to the best of
CellCure’s
knowledge

Development of a
cellular product for
treating retinal
degeneration based
on RPE cells. The
drug is administered
via a single injection
in the retina by a
doctor. Cost of the
drug is about
$20,000. This cost is
based on the cost of
Lucentis treatment of
Wet AMD disease.
Risks of using this
drug are retinal
detachment following
the surgical
procedure

CellCure's product
advantages:
"Xeno free" cells high quality at low
costs

Ocata-ACT produces
RPE cells

A product of a RPE
cell from a membrane
of Prof. Peter Coffey
from College
University, London.
To the best of the
company’s
knowledge, the
product will enter the
stage of clinical trials
in 2015.

A product of a RPE
cell from a membrane
of Regenerative
Platform
Technologies Inc.
(RPI). To the best of
CellCure’s
knowledge, the
product will enter the
stage of clinical trials
in 2015

Advantages of the
competitor: reached
the clinical trial stage
earlier.
Disadvantages of the
competitor; the cells
that were in use in
Study ½ phase were
not of Xeno Free
quality.

Advantages of the
competitor:
appropriate for use in
situations with
damage to the
Bruch’s membrane of
the retina. In addition,
appropriate for
situations in which
there are problems
with the survivability
of the RPE cell.
Disadvantages:
demands special
talents of the surgeon
and use of a special
surgical instrument.

Advantages of the
competitor:
appropriate for use in
situations with
damage to Bruch’s
membrane of the
retina. In addition,
appropriate for
situations in which
there are problems
with the survivability
of the RPE cell.
Disadvantages:
demands special
talents of the surgeon
and use of a special
surgical instrument

The estimates of the Company and CellCure detailed above are considered to be
forward looking information, according to its meaning in the Securities Law, based
on knowledge held by the Company and CellCure as of the date of the report. These
estimates could change from time to time.
26.9. Production capacity
CellCure produces in appropriate facilities in the Hadassah Hospital. As of the date of the
report, there are no restrictions on the production capacity required by CellCure.
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26.10. Fixed assets
The company has net fixed assets after depreciation in the amount of NIS 1,686 thousand,
of which NIS 1,296 thousand is laboratory equipment and the balance furniture and
equipment, leasehold improvements and computer equipment and software.
26.11. Research and Development
26.11.1. Investments in R&D
During the three years preceding the date of the periodic report, a total of
32,896 thousand NIS was invested in CellCure's R&D, according to the
following table (in thousand NIS):
Period

2012

2013

2014

Total

Investments in R&D before the
Scientist’s participation completed in
CellCure

54.02

2.4225

.74100

174511

)14520(

)24522(

.14515

.142.5

..4212

224551

Terms for
retuning the
grants,
including
time table

Special
stipulations
determined
in
connection
with the
grants of the
terms for
returning
them

Excluding the Scientist’s participation,
)14272(
net
Investments in R&D, net

14522

26.11.2. Chief Scientist grants
Name of
medical
products for
which the
grant was
received

Development
of hESC
derived
neural and
RPE cells

Amount of
grant during
reporting
period

Amount of
Amount of
grant in 2013 grant in 2012

Total grants
as of date of
report

(NIS 000)

14252

24212

14.25

224225

According to According to
the R&D
the R&D
law.
law.

In 2008, CellCure began a joint engagement under the ESNATS program- a
program affiliated with a framework R&D program of the European Union
(EP7). The program comprises approximately 30 academic research groups
and companies from the field of researching stem cells, which examines
ways of using embryonic stem cells for purposes of development of
medications. The joint engagement ended in 2013, while in 2014, the final
grant was received for the project. In total as of the date of the Periodic
Report, CellCure received approximately NIS 900 thousand with respect to
this program.
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26.11.3. Research and Development - Clinical Trials
The following is a table detailing the current and planned clinical trials by CellCure during the years of 2015 and 2016:
Trial
No.

Trial name Developme
nt stage in
which the
trial is
included

CCN_C OpRegen
T02
P1/2

Clinical

Has an
IND or IDE
been
opened
for the
trial

Is it
compliant
with a
regulatory
authority or
ICH

Yes

Yes

Goal
and
nature
of trial

Safety
and
efficacy

Planned
no. of
tested in
context
of trial

No. of
tested
joining
trial as
of date
of issue
of
report

No. of
sites at
which
trial is
being
performe
d

Geographic
location of
sites at which
trial is being
performed

15

0

1

Israel

Nature
and
status
of trial

Equity
raising
has
begun

Trial
time
table

Estimate of
anticipated
total costs
of trial

20.2- 1,400
20.7 thousand
USD

Cumulative
cost
from
date of
clinical
trial start
to report
date
80
thousand
USD

The information included in the above table includes forward looking information, as defined in the Securities Law.
Research and development activities involve great uncertainty and it is, therefore possible that the time table and/ or the
substance of the experiments well be substantially changed from the above estimate. The factors that might cause a
delay in the program of experiments might include demands of various regulatory authorities to perform experiments
on a larger number of those being tested and/or a large number of medical centers, demands for retesting, etc.
Moreover, it is emphasized that there is no assurance that the experiments will be successful, and lack of success of
experiments might necessitate an update of the program of experiments.
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26.12. Intellectual Property - Licenses and R&D Agreements
26.12.1. ESI license agreement
On November 20, 2005, an agreement was signed between CellCure, the
Company and ESI, according to which ESI committed to grant CellCure an
exclusive global license to intellectual property found in its possession at
that time in the field of treatment of neurodegenerative diseases, based on
cell replacement therapy in humans, and including the granting of sub
licenses to a third party, subject to certain conditions, as is acceptable
(hereafter: the ESI license”). Granting the ESI license and its scope were
subject to investments in the company and/or recruiting external funding for
CellCure, terms which were completely met. The ESI license was granted to
the company per the agreement on 3.22.06 (hereafter: "ESI license
agreement").
The ESI license requires CellCure to pay royalties to ESI at a rate of 10.75%
of revenues derived from granting sub licenses.
In accordance with the License Agreement with ESI, CellCure was awarded
an exclusive license regarding, inter alia, a number of patent applications
and patents owned by ESI. These patent and applications for the
registration of patents, as stated, relate to: (1) embryonic stem cells and
dividing father cells derived from them; (2) improved methods for growing
cultures with embryonic stem cells; and (3) embryonic stem cells that
dopamenergic neurons are derived from.
The Company estimates that the abovementioned technology is a
breakthrough in the treatment of central nervous disease (CNS) neurodegenerative diseases, and is an important step in developing technology
based on the ability of stem cells to become desired target cells and to be
reproduced in a controlled manner, so that in practice, damages caused by
the disease can be repaired. The ESI License also applies to this patent.
26.12.2. Hadasit license agreement
In August 2009, CellCure received an exclusive intellectual property license from
Hadasit related to the Directed Differentiation of embryonic stem cells to RPE cells.
On October 7, 2010, in the context of an investment round, a new
agreement was signed between the Company and Hadasit (hereafter: “the
2010 Hadasit license agreement”). The 2010 Hadasit license agreement
redefined the business conditions for granting a license by Hadasit to use
certain inventions developed by researchers from Hadassah Hospital, in the
field of development and utilization of embryonic stem cells and RPE cells
whose source is embryonic stem cells for purposes of treatment in
neurodegenerative diseases of the retina by way of cell replacement. The
commercial terms include, among other things, royalties, milestone
payments, bearing of expenses, etc. Moreover, in the 2010 Hadasit license
agreement, special conditions were stipulated for granting a sub license to
Teva Pharmaceutical Industries Ltd. (hereafter: “Teva” and “the special
conditions”).
In a letter dated May 13, 2014, it was determined that the special conditions
will also apply to each strategic partner equivalent to Teva to which CellCure
will grant a sub license, in the case that Teva decides not to exercise its

51

option under the Teva option agreement) as detailed in Section 26.12.3
below) under the following conditions: (1) the minimum payments due to
Hadasit with respect to amounts representing royalties based upon sales of
products under license (as they are defined in the 2010 Hadasit license
agreement) by the owner of the sub license, its partners of the owner of its
sub license, will not be less than 1.2% of the basic net sales (as they are
defined in the 2010 Hadasit license agreement); (2) the right of CellCure to
grant a sub license as above is subject to compliance of the owner of the
sub license and of CellCure with the terms of the 2010 Hadasit license
agreement. Moreover, it was agreed that the 2010 Hadasit license
agreement will become effective if and when ESI will sign an amendment to
the ESI license agreement, according to which the milestone that the IND or
its European equivalent for clinical tests of a licensed product will be
deferred until March 31, 2015. As of the date of the Periodic Report, ESI
signed an amendment to this license agreement, and, therefore, the 2010
Hadasit license agreement became effective.
26.12.3. Research agreement and option to an exclusive license with Teva
On October 7, 2010, a research agreement and option to an exclusive
license was signed between CellCure and Teva (hereinafter - "option
agreement with Teva"), in which Teva was granted the option to receive an
exclusive international license that carries royalties (with the right to grant
sub-licenses) for the development and commercialization of OpRegen®. The
option was in effect commencing from October 18, 2010 and until 60 days
after the IND approval with this product. Teva was also granted to option to
receive a license under the same terms, for the development and
commercialization of a product to treat retina degeneration, including
macular degeneration, and based on the RPE cells which are placed on a
membrane named OpRegen Plus®. The option agreement with Teva
determines the amounts that will be paid to CellCure by Teva for the
realization of the option and the royalty rates that will be paid to CellCure in
the event of product sales with the license and the time frame in which the
royalty payments are obligatory.
Under the option agreement with Teva, it has been agreed that in the event
that Teva chooses to realize the option to receive the licenses in question,
from that point forward Teva will be liable for the research and development
expenses of the license object.
On November 29, 2011, CellCure approved to amend the option agreement
with Teva, following Teva's request to be released from its obligation to fund
expenses beyond the original development budget until the IND is valid, so
that CellCure will fund the excess aforementioned costs, however if the
company's financial resources are exhausted before submission, Teva will
be required to fund up to 300,000 dollars, if Teva wishes to maintain the
option to receive a license.
On July 8, 2012, CellCure and Teva signed an amendment to the option
agreement with Teva.
On January 1, 2015, the Company announced that CellCure approved
amendment of the Teva option agreement so that the option period will be
extended by 30 days and will expire in 90 days after the IND becomes
effective.
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On January 30, 2015, CellCure and Teva agreed to extend the option period
until February 15, 2015, while on February 16, 2015, the company
announced the expiration of the Teva option.
26.12.4. Immaterial Assets
26.12.4.1. Approved material patents
Patent
number

Patent description*

Patent rights

Predicted
patent
expiration

7,604,992

US

2003229132
108144

Approved
countries

Australia
GENERATION OF NEURAL STEM CELLS FROM
UNDIFFERENTIATED HUMAN EMBRYONIC STEM
CELLS

2019

Singapore

2407821

UK

2427616

UK

142748

EMBRYONIC STEM CELLS

2015

2001265704
93380
4,795,616
153,095

Israel
Australia
Singapore

METHOD OF CONTROLLING DIFFERENTIATION
OF EMBRYONIC STEM (ES) CELLS BY
CULTURING ES CELLS IN THE PRESENCE OF
BMP-2 PATHWAY ANTAGONISTS

2017

Japan
Israel

7,112,437

USA
Exclusive
License

779694

2017

Australia

2005200148

2017

Australia

2002301347

2018

Australia

151170

EMBRYONIC STEM CELLS AND NEURAL
PROGENITOR CELLS DERIVED THEREFROM

Israel

90819

Singapore
2017

7,504,257

USA

7,947,498

USA

7,011,828

MPLANTING NEURAL PROGENITOR CELLS
DERIVED FOR HUMAN EMBRYONIC STEM CELLS

2017

USA

8,137,969

NEURAL PROGENITOR CELLS DERIVED FROM
EMBRYONIC STEM CELLS

2017

USA

200206039-0

EMBRYONIC STEM CELLS AND NEURAL
PROGENITOR CELLS DERIVED THEREFROM

2018

Singapore

5,395,058

STEM CELL-DERIVED RETINAL PIGMENT
EPITHELIAL CELLS

2025

Japan
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26.12.5. Applications to register material patents
Patent
application name

Patent description

Expected patent
rights (as listed)

Priority
date

Application
date

Applied
countries

61/592,635

methods of isolating RPE
cells

Co-License with
Hadasit

31-Jan2012

31 -Jan-2012
PRO

USA

12/134,521

06-Jun-2008

USA

2009213101

05-Jun-2003

Australia

03-Dec-2004

Canada

23-Dec-2004

EU

28-Nov-2011

Hong
Kong

29-Sep-2010

EU

17-Dec-2002

Canada

17-Jan-2003

EU

14-Sep-2011

Hong
Kong

30-Jan-2009

USA

12/450,943

27-Apr-2008

USA

08738258.6

18-Nov-2009

EU

10107017.2

20-Jul-2010

Hong
Kong

2008242106

17-Nov-2009

Australia

16-Oct-2009

Canada

18-Oct-2009

Israel

200880020748.0

18-Dec-2009

China

6790/CHENP/2009

18-Nov-2009

India

2,403,000

13-Sep-2002

Canada

01911277.0

13-Dec-2001

EU

204766

25-Mar-2010

Israel

Allowed

Japan

28-Apr-2011

USA

2,488,429
03724662.6

GENERATION OF NEURAL
STEM CELLS FROM
UNDIFFERENTIATED
HUMAN EMBRYONIC STEM
CELLS

05-Jun2002

11112871.6
Exclusive License

10011875.1
2,411,914
01942909.1
11109691.0
12/363,194

2,684,460
201600

2001-567299
13/095,961

METHOD OF
CONTROLLING
DIFFERENTIATION OF
EMBRYONIC STEM (ES)
CELLS BY CULTURING ES
CELLS IN THE PRESENCE
OF BMP-2 PATHWAY
ANTAGONISTS

STEM CELL-DERIVED
RETINAL PIGMENT
EPITHELIAL CELLS

EMRYONIC STEM CELLS
AND NEURAL
PROGENITOR CELLS

20-Jun2000

Exclusive License

Exclusive License

2,406,610

18-Apr2007

14-Mar2000

03-Oct-2002
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26.13. Human Capital
26.13.1 CellCure is managed By Dr. Charles Irving, who has experience in biomedical and bio-technological management.
26.13.2 In April 2012, Dr. Osnat Buchna Kashtan joined CellCure, serving as a R&D
director. In July 2012, Dr. Nir Nezer joined CellCure, having formerly served
as the pre-clinical trial director and presently serving as the company’s
operating director.
26.13.3 Activity at CellCure is based on the research and continued development of
Professor Reubinoff from Hadassah Ein Kerem Hospital.
As of the date of the report, CellCure is assisted by the services of Prof.
Reubinoff and Prof. Benin in the stages of research and development in the
clinical trials. Pursuant to the above, CellCure entered into research and
development agreements and a consulting agreement with Hadasit, detailed
below, for purposes of the continued involvement of Prof. Reubinoff and
Prof. Benin in CellCure’s operations.
26.13.4 As of the date of the report, CellCure employs 15 personnel, of which 12
are engaged in research and development. Moreover, 5 are employed by
way of a research agreement with Hadasit, described below. The research
and development personnel are employed under the professional guidance
of Prof. Reubinoff and Prof. Benin.
26.13.5. Following is detail regarding research and development agreements
with Hadasit
26.13.5.1. Research agreement
On August 1, 2006, CellCure entered into an agreement with Hadasit
for the performance of research and development works. In the
context of the agreement, it was determined that Hadasit will grant
services to CellCure, as will be determined by the parties from time
to time, which include manpower services and use of animals and
materials, as requested by CellCure. In consideration for granting
these services, CellCure will pay an agreed amount (hereafter: “the
payment”) to Hadasit. The agreement will be in effect at any time
that the research is being performed. The two parties may terminate
the agreement at any time by giving advance notice of 30 days.
26.13.5.2. Consulting agreement and allotment of options to researchers
In 2010, Cellcure entered into a consulting services agreement with
Hadasit for the rendering of consulting services on the subject of
development of the OpRegen® product by the Hadassah
researchers, Prof. Rubinoff and Prof. Eyal Benin (hereafter jointly:
“the researchers”). As part of the consideration under the research
services agreement, CellCure will pay Hadasit a monthly amount of
NIS 26,600. Moreover, Hadasit and the researchers received options
to acquire the shares of CellCure at a rate of 5% of the issued capital
of CellCure on the date of the closing of the investment agreement.
In October 2010, CellCure allotted these options to Hadasit and to
the researchers.
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26.13.5.3. Agreement to provide research services
On March 13, 2012, the Company and Hadasit signed a new
research agreement, which revises the 2010 research agreement
(hereafter: “the research agreement”).. The provisions of the
research agreement stipulate that the amount of $ 300 thousand is
to be transferred by CellCure, so that $ 150 thousand will be
transferred immediately upon signing the research agreement (i.e.,
on March 13, 2012) and the balance will be transferred in three
equal quarterly installments commencing on May 1, 2012 with
respect to the 2010 agreement. In addition it was agreed that the
remainder of the payments for additional research, as stipulated by
the research agreement, were be deferred until the earlier of: (a)
June 1, 2013; (b) the raising of funds by the Company, not including
funding from the OCS or loans which are not convertible into
securities, other than a convertible loan from current company
shareholders provided in connection with the completion of the RPE
Project; or (c) the exercise of the Teva option pursuant to the
Research and Exclusive License Option Agreement between the
company and Teva, signed on October 7, 2010, as amended on
July 8, 2012. See Section 26.12.3 regarding details of the
agreement with Teva.
As of the date of the report, CellCure is negotiating with Hadasit in
connection with the balance of the payments to Hadasit for the
research agreement, standing at $ 525 thousand.
26.13.6. In addition to above, CellCure has undertaken with additional consultants
and scientists in consulting agreements, according to the company’s
needs.
26.13.7. The Right to Appoint Directors
According to the by-laws of incorporation of CellCure, the directors of
CellCure are appointed by the General Assembly of the Shareholders by
a majority of the shareholders. As of the date of the Periodic Report,
seven directors serve in CellCure, with two of them serving on behalf of
the Company.
26.14. Materials and suppliers
The main raw materials of the company are stem cells from an embryonic source.
CellCure has an agreement with Hadasit to supply a source of embryonic stem cells
(Master Bank) while CellCure produces the raw materials by itself. CellCure has no
dependence on Hadasit.
26.15. Working capital
As of the date of the report, CellCure has positive working capital of NIS 3,568 thousand.
26.16. Financing
As of the date of the report, CellCure has not yet begun to make sales, and is, therefore,
dependent on raising funds from existing and new investors for financing its operations.
CellCure finances its operations from equity raisings and from loans from shareholders and
grants from the Chief Scientist in the Ministry of the Economy.
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26.17 Taxation
The tax laws in Israel apply to CellCure.
26.18 Material agreements
See the agreements specified above for details regarding CellCure’s material agreements.
26.19 Legal proceedings
As of the date of the report, the company is not party to material legal proceedings.
26.20 Goals and business strategy and forecast of developments in the coming year as
notified to the Company by CellCure
Medical
product
OpRegen ®

OpRegen
Plus ®

Current status

2015

2015-2016

Start of Phase l/ll
trial

Improvement of
production process.
Improvement of
formulation. Continued
development of methods
for product specification.
Validation of methods for
product specification.
Establishment of GMP
facility. Planning of
production for Phase ll.
Filing of application with
European regulatory
authorities.

Termination of Phase l/lla.
Continuation of
improvement of
production process.
Production for Phase ll.
Start of Phase ll stage.
Continued development of
methods for product
specification. Validation of
methods for product
specification.

Basic research

Continuing preclinical
research and proving
the products
effectiveness on
animals.

Continuing the preclinical stage and
submitting the IND to
the FDA.

The information brought in this section as to the forecast of developments for the
coming year includes forward looking information, as it is defined in the Securities
Law, whose realization is contingent, inter alia, on the results of the clinical trials,
obtaining regulatory approvals and raising resources for purposes of completing the
aforementioned objectives.
26.21. Risk factors
See Section 25 above for details regarding macro-economic risk factors and sectoral risk
factors.
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27.

Enlivex Ltd. (hereinafter - “Enlivex”)
For convenience, in this chapter, the following abbreviations will have the meaning
recorded alongside them:

-

Inflammation is the immune system’s reaction against
injury, certain stimuli, and against contaminants that
invade the human body or a life form.

-

A severe disease that causes abnormal formation of
blood cells in bone marrow. At first, the cells behave
almost normally, but with time displace the white and
red blood cells and platelets. The cancer is divided into
two types: chronic leukemia and acute leukemia.

-

Programmed cell death. Unlike necrosis - which is a
traumatic death of cells after an infection or injury - the
process of apoptosis is gradual, orderly, and consistent.

Autoimmune Disease

-

Autoimmune disease is characterized by cells of the
immune system which lose immunotolerance and attack
the body’s own cells and tissue. A typical expression of
these diseases is the death of cells and the destruction
of body tissue that occurs anywhere in the body without
a clear cause. Examples of these types of diseases are
multiple sclerosis and arthritis.

Hematopoietic Diseases

-

Diseases characterized by a defect in the production of
blood components.

-

The immune system can distinguish between "self” and
"foreign”, i.e. between molecules and cells belonging to
the body itself, and between molecules and cells from a
foreign source in a manner that ensures that the
immune response is only achieved against a foreign
body. The distinction between "self” and "foreign” is
called immunotolerance and is an essential mechanism
that prevents damage to the body. When there is a
defect or flaw in the immunotolerance system,
autoimmune system diseases may be developed in
which the immune system attacks the body’s own
components.

-

Bone marrow is spongy tissue located in the bones
which creates cells in the blood system - red blood
cells, white blood cells and platelets. Bone marrow
transplantation is now an accepted medical approach to
approximately 100 different diseases that affect the
system that produces blood cells and that damage the
immune system (diseases of the neoplasm such as
leukemia, and conditions such as bone marrow
deficiency that are congenital or acquired).

Inflammation

Leukemia (Blood Cancer)

Apoptosis

Immunotolerance

Bone Marrow Transplant
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Allogenic Bone Marrow
Transplant

Graft-versus-Host Disease

Immunosuppression

Stem Cells

-

A condition in which the patient receives stem cells from
his brother, sister, or parent. A non-relative of the
patient may also be suitable for allogenic
transplantation. This is unlike autologous bone marrow
.1.2
transplantation, in which the patient receives ת
his own
stem cells.
י

-

א
Transplanted stem cells may cause adverse reactions
within the body. This phenomenon is called וgraftversus-host disease (GvHD) and may appear up to six
ר
months after transplantation.

-

An act that reduces the activation of the immune
פ
system. Particular sections and specific responses of
ע
the immune system may cause immunosuppression
of
other parts of the immune system itself. Targeted
י
immunosuppression is performed in order to weaken
the immune system, to prevent or reduce aלgraft
rejection response, anti-graft disease and against
ו
autoimmune diseases.

-

ת
Cells found in bone marrow that can produceהvarious
kinds of blood cells in the body.

ש
27.1. Description of Enlivex’s Activities and the Technology Developed by it

27.1.1. Enlivex is a private company incorporated in Israel under the name Tolarex
Ltd. which commenced business activity in September, 2005.
Enlivex is developing an innovative drug called ApoCell for the treatment of
graft-versus-host disease in bone marrow transplantation, Crohn's disease
and other autoimmune diseases by inducing immunotolerance, as a
substitute for conventional immunosuppression.
The development is based on discoveries made by Prof. Dror Mevorach
and his laboratory at Hadassah Ein Kerem Hospital.
Transplantation of bone marrow or stem cells donated by non-relatives (a
procedure known as allogeneic) is a treatment given in cases of
hematopoietic diseases, such as cancer of the blood - leukemia, multiple
myeloma, etc. In 30% - 70% of transplants (depending on the disease and
circumstances of the case), patients develop a disease called graft-versushost disease (GvHD) in various degrees of severity, in which the newly
implanted cells attack the transplanted tissue (the "host”). GvHD is
manifested by rashes, diarrhea, skin problems, liver dysfunction, and is
sometimes even life-threatening. There is currently no specific and
particular treatment for GvHD and it is a significant barrier in successful
allogeneic bone marrow transplants.
Enlivex is developing a drug to treat autoimmune diseases, while focusing
on the first stage of GvHD (actute GvHD). The system treats the blood
taken from the patient (or donor in a case of GvHD), by inducing controlled
cell death, and then returns the blood to the patient. These cells have antiinflammatory properties and reduce inflammation and autoimmune
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processes, and leave immunotolerance in the patient’s body in a natural
and physiological way. The treatment developed by Enlivex is apparently
safe, and not expected to cause any side effects because the intended use
is only for cells taken from the patient (or from the donor, who in any case is
donating bone marrow cells to the patient). This treatment is tailored to the
patient (adjustment of the tissue in a case of GvHD, or cells of the patient
himself in other diseases such as Crohn’s). In addition to ApoCell, the
cellular technology, Enlivex has also identified and begun to isolate
molecules that have escaped during the programmed cell death procedure
(apoptosis). Based on Professor Mevorach’s research, these molecules
also may have an effect of inducing immunotolerance when combined with
ApoCell or as an independent treatment.

27.1.2. In January 2014, an article was published in the official journal of the
Biology of Bone and Marrow Transplantation (BBMT), which summarizes
the results of the Phase I/II 8clinical trial that Enlivex conducted, and
examines the safety and initial efficiency of ApoCell in 13 GvHD patients.
Four groups of increasing dosage were treated in the trial with ApoCell as
were 13 patients who underwent a transplant of bone marrow from a family
member. The results of the trial indicated a good safety profile, and no
serious side effect was attributed to the ApoCell. From the standpoint of
efficacy-a 23% incidence rate of implant disease was observed versus
acute stores of levels 2-4 with in all cases, the incidence being in the two
low dosage groups, which are in Enlivex’s perception a sub-dose of the
treatment, while in the active dosages, not even one case of implant
disease was observed versus acute stores with a 2-4 level.
Following the treatment of these patients, the Company may determine
whether to recruit six additional patients for the dosage found to be optimal
in order to expand the trial and strengthen its findings. A decision for the
recruitment of 6 additional patients as mentioned has not yet been taken.

27.1.3. On March 18, 2013, the Company received approval from the FDA
following its request that ApoCell be recognized as an orphan drug for the
treatment of GvHD.

27.1.4.On December 12, 2014, a positive decision by the EMA was received to
approve a status for ApoCell of an orphan drug as preventive treatment for
GVHD in Europe.

8

http://www.bbmt.org/article/S1083-8791(13)00458-8/fulltext
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27.2. Loans and Investments Enlivex's Share Capital.
The following are details regarding investments made in the share capital of Enlivex during
the past two years:

Date

Ordinary
shares of
the
Company
issued

Substance of charge

Options not
registered
for trading
issued

Opening balance as of 31.12.2012
In 2013

In 2014

-

An investment transaction
with the Novik group in
February 2014, as detailed
in Section 27.2.1

Volume of
Total
immediate
issued
proceeds and paid
received up capital
(in NIS
(in
000)
shares)

Total
issued and
paid up
capital fully
diluted

10,011,000

10,765,328

754,328
-

-

-

-

-

52,979,389

30,492,144
(to
employees,
consultants
and directors,
without
consideration)

151

52,979,389

83,471,533

62,990,389

94,236,861

Total as of the date of the Periodic Report

27.2.1. Convertible investment agreement of February 2014
In February 2014, Enlivex entered into a transaction with a business group
led by Shai Novik (hereafter: “the Novik group”) whose purpose, at the
initial stage, was to provide a right to the Novik group, limited in time, to
invest and/or raise a sum on behalf of Enlivex that is no less than $3.5
million (and up to $ 8 million) (hereafter: “the investment”) by receipt of a
convertible loan document; and at the second stage, converting Enlivex into
a public company traded in the United States (hereafter: “the transaction”).
The undertaking in the transaction consisted of: (1) a term sheet between
the Novik group and Enlivex to provide sources of financing; (2) a
convertible loan agreement between the Novik group and Enlivex; (3) an
agreement between the Enlivex shareholders.
The following are the principal terms of the convertible agreement, as
agreed to by the parties:
27.2.1.1.

Upon approval of the transaction by Enlivex, a convertible loan
of NIS 151 thousand was transferred to Enlivex by the Novik
group, against receipt of a convertible loan document and a
quantity of shares reflecting 72.87% of the issued and paid up
share capital of Enlivex at that time.
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Pursuant to the terms of the convertible loan document, it was
determined that, at the time of closing the investment, the loan
would be converted to ordinary shares of Enlivex.
On May 18, 2014, the investment in the amount of $ 7,326
thousand was closed by way of a convertible loan, on the
following terms:
A. In the event that Enlivex will become a public company by
February 28, 2016, whether by way of allotment to the public
or by merger into a public company, the investors’ loans will
be converted to ordinary shares of Enlivex immediately prior
to completion of the transaction in whose context it will
become public;
B. In the event that Enlivex will not become a public company
by February 28, 2016, the investors’ loans will be converted
to Type A preferred shares to be allotted by Enlivex. The
preferred shares will entitle their owners to preference upon
distribution in liquidation, to protection against dilution and
additional rights.
The conversion ratio at the time of the conversion of the
investors’ loans will be at the ratio of 0.2%: namely $ 1,000
for each $1,000 of the loan amount at the time of the
conversion, the investors will receive a number of shares
reflecting 0.02% of the shares of Enlivex on the issued and
paid up basis.
27.2.1.2.

Also, upon completion of the transaction, the following
convertible loans were converted:
A. The convertible loans provided during the years 2007-2013
by the Company for the benefit of Enlivex in an amount of
NIS 16,600 thousand (including interest) were converted into
7,079,722 ordinary shares of Enlivex.
B. The convertible loan provided by the Novik group to Enlivex
in the amount of NIS 151 thousand was converted into
45,899,677 ordinary shares of Enlivex.

27.2.1.3

Additionally, the undertaking also included a shareholders’
agreement for Enlivex, in whose context anti-dilution protection
was granted to its shareholders, including the Company,
according to which they will be entitled to protection against
dilution should one of the following events occur: (a) an
investment in the equity of Enlivex up to an amount of $ 5
million; and (b) an allotment of shares without consideration in
the framework of a transaction in which Enlivex becomes public
(including a transaction in which Enlivex merges into a stock
exchange shell company). This protection ensures that the
above events will not cause, of themselves, the holdings of the
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shareholders to decline below a threshold of 25% of the shares
of the company, or, in the case that the percentage at the
occurrence of one of the events is already lower than 25%, that
these events will not, of themselves, cause additional dilution.

27.3.

Dividends

Since its establishment, and as of the date of the report, Enlivex has not distributed
dividends. As of the date of the report, Enlivex has no dividend distribution policies.
27.4.

Financial information

See the separate financial statements of Enlivex as of December 31, 2014 attached as a
separate appendix to the Periodic Report for financial information regarding Enlivex’s
operations.
27.5.

Restrictions and supervision

Enlivex is engaged in development of production of medical products which are subject to
regulatory requirements, drawn out approval procedures and compliance with proper
manufacturing procedures. See Section 10.1 for details regarding restrictions and
supervision applying the operations of Enlivex due to its being a company developing
medications.
27.6.

Critical success factors in the operating sector and changes taking place in them

See Section 11.1 above for details of critical success factors.
27.7.

The Relevant Potential Market

The global market for GvHD is estimated at approximately $300 million each year10, and
Enlivex sees an opening to the greater market of autoimmune diseases.
27.8.

Competition

As of the date of this report, Enlivex is unaware of specific treatments approved by the FDA
against GvHD. To the best of Enlivex’s knowledge, as told to the Company, the current
treatments are based on immunosuppression with drugs such as Methotrexate and
Cyclosporine as a standard prophylactic steroidal treatment for complementary care in
case of an outbreak.
In the field of treatment for apoptotic cells (undergoing programmed cell death), the
Therakos Company (Johnson & Johnson) uses in vitro photopheresis9, which is a cellular
treatment that causes, inter alia, programmed cell death (apoptosis) in white blood cells. As
of the date of this report, the Therakos Company is in Phase III of the clinical trials to treat
acute GvHD.
Athersys is developing a mutlistem drug as treatment for GvHD. To the best of Enlivex's
knowledge, Athersys has completed a phase I/II trial and according to its publications it is
preparing for the continued development of the product.
9

Treating the patient’s blood by giving a photoactive drug, taking a blood sample rich with white blood cells,
exposure to harmful ultraviolet radiation and returning the blood cells will stimulate an immune response where
beneficial.
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Osiris Therapeutics in Baltimore, Maryland has completed in 2009 a Phase III of the clinical
research of its leading product (Prochymal) - a drug based on the technology of human
stem cells which is used to treat GvHD, and has reported completing its experimentation
while not achieving the primary objective of the clinical trials. In 2012, Osiris Therapeutics
received an approval to market their drug in Canada for children that do not respond to
steroid treatments, and then approved drug similar indication in New Zealand. This
represents a very small part of the market potential and according to Enlivex’s opinion
doesn’t present a real competition to ApoCell if approved for adult patients at risk for
GvHD.
A medication known as ATG was approved during 2014 in Germany as preventive
treatment for GVHD.
Athersys is developing a product known as Multistem based on human stem cells for the
treatment of GvHD. This treatment is in the Phase I/II clinical trial stage.
Additional technologies found in various development stages include the reVax of
Regimmune and Caspacl De of Ballicum. Moreover trials are being carried out on existing
approved medications of different types, not approved for GVHD, but being tested as a
treatment for GVHD, for the most part with other medications.
Other than the treatment of GvHD, Enlivex believes that the technology in its possession
may adjust the treatment of other autoimmune and inflammatory diseases such as
preventing or reducing the effect of transplanted organ rejection, treatment of Crohn’s
disease and other diseases. Parallel to the clinical development of ApoCell for the
treatment of GvHD, Enlivex is investigating the effect of ApoCell’s treatment on these
additional diseases in animal models and will consider an expansion of ApoCell’s
development for these diseases as well.

64

The following is a tabular description regarding the competitors of Enlivex

Product
characteristics

The corporation's
medical product

Competing product A

Competing product
B

Competing product C

Competing product D

Competing product E

ApoCell for treating
GVHD (in development,
send of phase 1/2).
Goal preventing/diminishing
the disease.
Administered via
injection. For use with
the assistance of a
medical staff. Dosage –
TBD, Different dosages
are being tested. Side
effects - no known
significant side effects
at this point. Drug cost
– TBD. Insurance
returns – TBD.

Methotraxate,
Cyclosporine.
Goal: preventive
treatment. Administered
orally or via injections.
Dosage: changes
according to treatment
protocol.
Side effects: ulcers,
damage to the white cell
count and exposure to
problems involving
immunosuppression,
teratogenic issues (cause
of mutation and defects in
the cells).
Drug cost: between $100$200.
Insurance returns:
approved.
Cyclosporine.
Goal: preventive
treatment.
Administered orally or via
injections.
Dosage: 14-18 mg per
kilogram.
Side effects: problems
involving
immunosuppression such
as infections and
development of cancer.
Drug cost: between $100$200.

Corticosteroids.
Goal: cure/prevent
deterioration.
Administered orally,
via injection,
inhalation.
Dosage: changes
according to the
type of medication
and treatment
protocol.
Side effects: trivial
when used short
term.
Cost: less than
$100.
Insurance returns:
approved

Prochymal by Osiris (in
development - end of
phase 3 approved in
Canada for children
unresponsive to
treatment).
Goal: treating the
disease.
Administered via
injection.
For use with the
assistance of a medical
staff.
Dosage: TBD. Different
dosages are being
tested.
Side effects: unknown.
Has yet to be approved
as a drug. Cost: TBD.
Insurance returns:
Undecided

Multistem by Athersys
(in development - end
of phase 1/2).
Goal:
preventing/lessening
the disease.
Administered via
injection.
For use with the
assistance of a medical
staff.
Dosage – TBD.
Different dosages are
being tested.
Side effects: Unknown.
Has yet to be approved
as a drug.
Cost: TBD.
Insurance returns:
undecided

Extracorporeal
Photopheresis (ECP)
by Therakos.
A device to which the
patient's blood is
flowed and undergoes
radiation in order to
neutralize cells
activating the disease.
Method of use noninvasive
Side effects:
insignificant.
Treatment time: 3-4
hours.

65

Insurance returns:
approved.

Advantages and
disadvantages of the
medical product in
relation to competing
medical products
(existing or under
development) to the
best of the
corporation's
knowledge

Advantages:
Inducing immune
tolerance, natural
physiological
mechanism to prevent
the inflammation
process, matching
tissues between donor
and patient reduces the
risk of an immune
response against the
medication.
Disadvantages:
Producing a batch
specific to each patient.

Not approved for GVHD
labeling but used as an
accepted preventive
treatment in transplants.
Reduces transplant
rejection problems but is
considered limited in its
efficiency and causes
harm because of the
mechanism that works by
suppressing the immune
system.

Advantages:

Advantages:

Advantages:

quick affect on the
autoimmune
response.

Allogeneic product
(does not require a
match between donor
and recipient).

Allogeneic product
(does not require a
match between donor
and recipient).

Disadvantages:

Disadvantages:

failed in experiments
phase 3 for GVHD.

Based on
Mesenchymal cells
similar to prochymal.

Disadvantages:
when used long
term may cause
hormonal
disruption, damage
to the immune
system, weight
gain, rise in blood
pressure and heart
diseases.
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Technology that was
originally developed to
treat skin cancer and
was not approved for
GVHD. The level of
efficiency in treating
GVHD is debatable.

27.9.

Fixed assets

The company has net fixed assets in the amount of NIS 64 thousand.
27.10. Research and Development
27.10.1. Investments in R&D and OCS grants
During the three years previous to the date of the Periodic Report, the amount
of NIS 7,425 thousand and NIS 4,717 thousand was invested by Enlivex in
research and development, prior to participation of the OCS and less
participation of the OCS, respectively, according to the following detail (in NIS
000):

Period

2012

2013

2014

Total

Investment in R&D before the participation of
the Scientist completed in Enlivex

24222

.4570

24202

74122

Minus the participation of the Scientist, net

).4012(

)252(

).407.(

)24705(

Investment in R&D, net

.42..

.4272

24.2.

147.7

27.10.2. Grants Received by Enlivex Up to the Reporting Date
Name of
medical
products for
which the
grant was
received

Developing
ApoCell for
GVHD.

Amount of
grant during
reporting
period

Amount of
grant in 2013

Amount of
grant in 2012

Total grants
as of date of
report

127

.4212

.04227

(NIS 000)

.4220

Terms for
retuning the
grants,
including
time table

Special
stipulations
determined
in connection
with the
grants of the
terms for
returning
them

According to According to
the R&D law. the R&D law.

27.10.2.1. As of the date of the report, Enlivex has received
approximately NIS 10,357 thousand from the Chief Scientist
in consideration for royalties to be paid to the Chief Scientist
from sales of the product.
27.10.2.2. On October 1, 2013, Enlivex filed an application with the
Office of the Chief Scientist for support according to the
R&D Law (for Enlivex, this is a program being filed for the
sixth year). The program was approved by the Office of the
Chief Scientist during the month of December 2013, with a
budget of NIS 3.33 million until September 30, 2014, with
support of 60% of the approved budget. The program was
extended until December 31, 2014 without change in the
scope
of
the
requested
budget.
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27.10.3 Research and development-clinical trials
27.10.3.1 The following is a table detailing the clinical trials carried out by Enlivex during the three years preceding the date that
the Periodic Report was published:
Trial name

Development
stage in
which
the trial
is
included

Apocell for
treating
GVHD

Phase
1/2

Has an
IND or
IDE been
opened
for the
trial

Is it
compliant
with a
regulatory
authority
or ICH

Goal and
nature of
trial

IND filed Trial under Main goal
but
ICH
safety;
cancelled
secondary
for
goal
purposes
incidence
of
of GVHD
executing
research
in Israel.
The trial
was
conformed
with the
Ministry of
Health of
Israel.

Planned
No. of
No. of
Geographic
no. of
tested
sites at
location of
tested
joining
which trial
sites at
in
trial as of
is being
which trial
context
date of
performed
is being
of trial
issue of
performed
report

12-18

13

3
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Israel

Nature and
status of
trial

Trial time
table

Estimate of Cumul- Interim
anticipated
ative
result
total costs
cost
/final
of trial
from
results
date of
clinical
trial
start to
report
date
Development Completed Trial ended.
Total
Trial
trial has
Total cost
cost
results
ended,
until now-$
until
published
Recruitment
1.5 million
nowin an
of patients
$1.5
article in
(not including
million BBMT in
expansion of
October
trial).
2013
Patients
treated by
standard of
care

27.10.3.2

Trial
name

Development
stage in which
the trial is
included

Has an
IND or
IDE
been
opened
for the
trial

ApoCell
for
treating
GVHD

Phase 2/3

IND
opened

The following is a table detailing the current and planned clinical trials by Enlivex during the years of 2015 and 2016:

Is it
Goal and
compliant nature of
with a
trial
regulatory
authority or
ICH

No

Planned
no. of
tested in
context
of trial

No. of
tested
joining
trial as
of date
of
issue
of
report

No. of sites
at which
trial is
being
performed

Geographic
location of
sites at
which trial is
being
performed

Nature and
status of
trial

Trial
time
table

Main goal About 220
incidence
of GVHD
and
safety;
secondary
goals
aspects
connected
to
incidence
of GVHD

Not yet
begun

15

Israel, U.S,,
possibly also
Europe

Not yet
Start
decided.
of trialConsidered: end of
controlled
2015
trial,
random
double
blind. In
planning

Estimate of
anticipated
total costs
of trial

About
20-30 million
$

Cumulative
cost
from
date of
clinical
trial
start to
report
date
NA

The information included in the above table includes forward looking information, as defined in the Securities Law. Research
and development activities involve great uncertainty and it is, therefore possible that the time table and/ or the substance of
the experiments well be substantially changed from the above estimate. The factors that might cause a delay in the program of
experiments might include demands of various regulatory authorities to perform experiments on a larger number of those
being tested and/or a large number of medical centers, demands for retesting, etc. Moreover, it is emphasized that there is no
assurance that the experiments will be successful, and lack of success of experiments might necessitate an update of the
program
of
experiments.
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Interim
result
/final
results

NA

27.11. Intellectual Property
27.11.1. Licenses and R&D Agreements
27.11.1.1. License agreement with Hadasit and Yissum
In July 2006, Enlivex signed an agreement with Hadasit and
Yissum Research and Development Company of the
Hebrew University Ltd. (“Yissum”) in whose context Enlivex
was given an exclusive license for a patent application filed
in the United states and in Europe, which is owned by
Hadasit and Yissum (an application filed in 2005). The
application deals with a method for control of immune
reaction of patients with various diseases, including
immunological illnesses and cancer, by way of activities on
specific cellular target sites.
In return for Yissum granting the license, Enlivex has
allocated 6.25% of its allocated shares to Yissum.
27.11.1.2. In the framework of expansion of the intellectual property, in
April 2008, a license agreement was signed between
Enlivex and Tolaren Ltd. (“Tolaren”), held 96.5% by the
Company, whose sole activity is holding shares of Enlivex,
in whose framework Tolaren granted Enlivex an exclusive
global license, free of the obligation for the payment of
royalties, for development, marketing and manufacturing of
intellectual property developed by Tolaren, owned by
Tolaren or found in the possession of Tolaren by force of
license agreements. The agreement states that all
development, concepts, methods, etc. developed by Enlivex
which are related to the intellectual property that Tolaren
has provided a license for, shall be owned solely by Enlivex.
Enlivex undertook to incur patent-protection costs for which
it was awarded with the abovementioned licenses.
In return for granting the license, and soon after signing the
agreement, Enlivex allocated 50,050 regular shares to
Tolaren which gives Tolaren a retention rate of 50% of
Enlivex. With such, the company owns around 91.99% of
ownership of Enlivex.
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27.11.2. Immaterial Assets
27.11.2.1. Applications for material patents:
Patent Application
Name

Description of
Requested Patent

Expected Patent
Rights (as listed)

Priority
Date

Application
Date

States in
Which the
Application
was Submitted

INDUCTION OF
TOLERANCE BY
APOPTOTIC AND/OR
NECROTIC CELLS

A method to induce
immune tolerance
against antigens in
a patient with an
autoimmune
disease through
immune modulation
of the independent
apoptotic cells

Ownership

1.1.2001

2.8.2004

Canada

DISEASE THERAPY
USING DYING OR
DEAD CELLS

A method to treat
the disease by
providing the right
dosage of dead or
dying cells
(apoptosis) that
suppress the
infection process

Ownership

Between United States,
September
Europe,
1.1.2001
and
Canada,
December Japan, India,
2007
Israel

IMMUNE DISEASE
MEDICAMENT
COMPRISING A
MODULATOR OF THE
BINDING BETWEEN A
HEPARIN BINDING
DOMAIN OF
THROMBOSPONDIN-1
AND A BETA1
INTEGRIN
THERAPEUTIC
APOPTOTIC CELL
PREPARATIONS,
METHOD FOR

Exclusive usage
rights unlimited in
17.8.2009
time.
20.6.2005
18.1.2008
Patent owned by
Hadasit

ApoCell production
methods

Ownership

5.12.2012 5.12.2013

United States,
Europe.

PCT

PRODUCING SAME
AND USES THEREOF

Patent applications are in prosecution processes in
different countries. In some of the countries office action
applications were submitted by the relevant patent registrar
and the case is under discussion in the patent registrar.
27.11.2.2. On March 18, 2013, the Company received approval from
the FDA for its application that the ApoCell medication be
recognized as an orphan drug for treatment of GVHD.
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On December 12, 2014, a positive decision was received
from EMA to approve the status of an orphan drug for
ApoCell for the preventive treatment of GVHD in Europe.
Recognition as an orphan drug by the European Drug
Agency provides exclusive marketing of 10 years in the
European Union from the date of receiving an approval to
market the medication and until competitors in the market
will be able to market the same medication. Also, the
recognition of the medication as an orphan drug could
provide concessions from regulatory requirements during
the development and assistance in development and
licensing of the medication.
27.12. Human Capital
27.12.1. As of June 2007, Mr. Alon Moran (former CEO BioMass Ltd.) has
acted as the CEO of Enlivex.
27.12.2. Enlivex is based on the research of Professor Dror Mevorach of
Hadassah Ein Kerem Hospital and continues to be developed by him.
Enlivex is dependent on the continuous involvement of Professor
Mevorach in the early stages of the rest of his research.
27.12.3. As of the date of the report, Enlivex employs 7 personnel. Moreover,
Enlivex contracts from time to time with consultants, according to the
needs of Enlivex.
27.12.4. Right to Appoint Directors
According to the by-laws of incorporation of Enlivex, as amended by
the investment agreement with the investor group led by Shai Novik (as
detailed in Section 27.2.1), the Novik group has the right to appoint five
directors. Two directors are appointed by the Company’s shareholders
and one director is to be an industrial expert to be appointed by
agreement of the other directors. As of the date of the Periodic Report,
8 directors serve in Enlivex, with 2 of them serving on behalf of the
Company.
27.13. Materials and suppliers
The main raw materials of Enlivex are cells gathered from donors and reagents
purchased in a competitive market. Therefore, there is no dependence on a supplier.
27.14. Working capital
As of the date of the report, Enlivex has positive working capital of NIS 25,577
thousand.
27.15. Financing
As of the date of the report, Enlivex has not yet begun to make sales, and is,
therefore, dependent on raising funds from existing and new investors for financing
its operations. Enlivex finances its operations from equity raisings and from loans
from shareholders and grants from the Chief Scientist in the Ministry of the Economy.
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27.16. Taxation
The tax laws in Israel apply to Enlivex.
27.17. Environmental risks
For purposes of Enlivex’s laboratory activities in the Hadassah Hospital, Enlivex
must comply with the standard requirements demanded from Biotech companies.
27.18. Material agreements
See the agreements specified above for details regarding Enlivex’s material
agreements.
27.19. Legal proceedings
As of the date of the report, Enlivex is not party to material legal proceedings.
27.20. Goals and business strategy and forecast of developments in the coming year as
notified to the Company by Enlivex
Medical
Product

Current Stats

2015

2016

ApoCell for
treating
GVHD

End of
recruitment of
patients for
phase 1/2

Meeting with the
European authority +one
or two nations of the
Union, an application was
filed for Phase l/ll clinical
trial, preparations for
multicenter Phase ll/lll
clinical trials. .

patient recruitments.

ApoCell for
the treatment
of another
disease
(possibly
Crohn's)

Results in
preclinical
models

Meeting with the FDA
for pre-IND planning
the phase 1/2 clinical
trial.

Submitting a request,
starting the clinical trial
and analyzing results.

The information brought in the above table includes forward looking
information, as it is defined in the Securities Law, and is contingent, inter alia,
on receiving the results of the trials, decisions of the board of directors and
obtaining the necessary financing.
27.21. Risk factors
See Section 25 above for details regarding macro-economic risk factors and sectoral
risk factors.
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28. D-Pharm Inc (hereinafter- "D-Pharm")
28.1.

Description of the operations of D-Pharm and the changes made in D-Pharm
during the reporting period
28.1.1. D-Pharm was incorporated as a company limited in shares on April 4,
1993 under Dr. Alex Cusack's initiative. As of the date of this report, Dr.
Alex Cusack is the president and CEO of D-Pharm. On August, 2009,
D-Pharm completed their IPO (herein thereafter: "IPO") and became a
public company with shares traded on the stock market.
28.1.2. D-Pharm is a biopharmaceutical company, with technologies aimed at
treating mostly diseases in the central nervous system (CNS).
28.1.3 In July 2012, a merger agreement was approved between D-Pharm
and Thrombotech Ltd. (hereafter: “Thrombotech”), so that after it was
completed, D-Pharm had absorbed Thrombotech in a transaction of
exchange of shares.
28.1.4 The business of Thrombotech was the development of medications
designated to dissolve blood clots for the treatment of a stroke, heart
attack, deep vein thrombosis and similar occurrences. Thrombotech
developed a medication known as THR-18, intended to improve the
safety and the efficiency of treatment with the tPA medication.
Thrombotech used as a basis the research of Prof. Hijazi of the
Hadassah Hospital.
After it received approval in February 2010 to enter the stage of
clinical trials on humans and completed the clinical trial (Phase lSafety) carried out at the Hadassah Hospital, in July 2011, it entered
an additional trial (Phase ll-Efficacy), and in February 2012, it received
approval from the FDA to expand the experiment to clinical centers in
the United States (IND) (hereafter: “the clinical trial”).
28.1.5 After the above merger, D-Pharm continued the operations of
Thrombotech in relation to the THR-18 product.
28.1.6 On November 4, 2014, D-Pharm announced the end of the Phase lla
clinical trial on patients who had suffered an ischemic stroke and been
treated ny means of tPA in combination with the experimental
medication of the company, THR-18 (hereafter: “the medication” and
“the experiment”, respectively). According to the company’s reports,
the experiment met its goals from the standpoint of discovering the
maximum dosage and from the standpoint of the effect of the
medication on brain edema and on bleeding in the brain.
28.1.7 On January 21, 2015, D-Pharm issued rights according to a shelf
proposal report published on December 25, 2014. As a result of this
rights issuance, the holdings of the Company in D-Pharm declined to
a rate of 5.57%, and the Company lost its right to appoint a director in
D-Pharm, despite that, as of the date of this report, the Company has
the representation of one director in the board of directors of D-Pharm.
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See the Immediate Report of the Company dated January 21, 2015
(Document No.:2015-01-016156) for further details regarding the
above rights issuance.
28.1.8 For details regarding the D-Pharm products and their stages of
development, as well as details with regard to a “going concern”
comment in the financial statements of D-Pharm as of December 31,
2014, one can refer to the annual reports of D-Pharm and the
consolidated financial statements of D-Pharm as of December 31,
2014, as they were published on February 15, 2015 (Document No.
2105-01-031069), This information is brought by way of reference.
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29. KAHR Medical Ltd. (2005) (hereinafter - “KAHR”)
For convenience, in this chapter, the following abbreviations will have the meaning
recorded alongside them:
Chimera Protein

-

a protein consisting of parts of proteins from different sources that are
adjoined by using genetic engineering techniques

SCP: Signal
Converter Proteins

-

modern and complex chimera proteins comprised of Type I and Type II
receptors. This structure enables, for the first time, the creation of proteins
with two biologically functional ends.

“Lymphatic
leukemia”

-

Cancer is a general name for a large number of illnesses in which the
control mechanism which rules the division of cells in the body is disrupted,
something which causes to an uncontrollable increase of body cells and
the creation of cancerous growths. Lymphoma is cancer causing growths
in the lymph glands.

Autoimmune
Diseases

-

a series of very common diseases (5% of the population) in which the
immune system attacks the body’s own tissues. As in various cancers,
autoimmune diseases also begin by a malfunction in the body’s cells, in
this case in the immune system. The difference between the various
autoimmune diseases is the tissue that the disease is attacking.

Psoriasis

-

a chronic skin disease which creates layers of red skin covered in thick
scales which become a silvery color when they dry on the elbows, knees,
scalp, and sometimes other parts of the body. The rash is usually
symmetrical. The cause is known. The disease is hereditary and may erupt
in situations of anxiety. It is most common in children and adolescents.
Sometimes it is related to arthritis. There is no specific cure and existing
treatments are for relief.

Multiple Sclerosis

-

- a chronic disease of the nervous system affecting adults and youth.
Damage is caused to the myelin surrounding the nerves in the brain and
spinal cord which affects the functioning of these nerves. The disease is
characterized by intermittent seizure attacks. Symptoms include unstable
walking, shaking movement of the limbs (ataxia), involuntary movements of
the eye (nystagmus), and speech disturbances and weakness. Cause of
the disease is unknown.

Myelin

-

a fatty substance that surrounds the axons of specific neurons, which
provides them with protection and isolation. Nerves with myelin sheaths
allow neural signals to be transmitted more quickly than those without the
myelin surrounding.

Axon

-

a projection from the neuron that conducts electrical impulses away from
the neuron’s cell body.

“Lymphoma of the
R-DLBCL type”

-

Defuse Large B-Cell Lymphoma (DLBCL) is the most widely spread type of
Lymphoma. Approximately 60% of the patients who do not react well to the
existing treatments (refractory) or patients in which the illness returns after
treatment (relapsed), and which are known as R/R-DRBCL, are the most
difficult to treat and there is at present, no pharmacological solution for
these patients.
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29.1.

Description of KAHR's Activities and the Technology Developed by it
29.1.1. KAHR is a private company incorporated in Israel which commenced
business activity in September, 2005.
29.1.2. KAHR is developing innovative treatments for cancer and autoimmune
diseases, which are based, inter alia, on the discoveries of Dr. Michal
Dranitzky Elhalel at her laboratory at Hadassah Ein Kerem Hospital
and Professor Mark Tykocinski, formerly of University of Pennsylvania
in the US (in this section "the Foreign Inventor”).
29.1.3. KAHR was founded in order to develop leading technology invented by
the Foreign Inventor based on the creation of new protein molecules to
treat various types of cancer and autoimmune diseases. This
technology is based on chimera proteins that may block, activate or
change a number of inter-cell signals in the same time and place, and
cause modulation (changes intended to make planned improvements)
of the immune system. These activities can be used for the treatment
of various types of cancer and autoimmune diseases, diseases in
which the body activates the immune system against itself, such as
multiple sclerosis, psoriasis, or rheumatoid arthritis.
29.1.4. Unlike conventional biological medicines, which contain one active
site, SCP proteins are chimera proteins containing two active sites on
both sides of the protein. The advantage is that it allows molecules to
bind to two target sites simultaneously, thereby changing the standard
signal transmitted between the cells - such as changing a signal that
would usually activate the immune system cells to a signal that would
suppress or change the signal which usually encourages the growth of
cancer cells to a signal which causes their death. The medical
potential of such molecules has been demonstrated in the last decade
through numerous scientific articles by researchers at Hadassah and
the Foreign Inventor. Up to now, approximately 16 scientific articles
have been published on DSP SCP proteins. (These articles may be
found on the site of the KAHR company).
29.1.5. After extensive investigation, KAHR has chosen two potential SCP
products for the company’s development line. These two
developments are molecules that are candidates to be drugs that treat
various types of cancer and immune system disorders such as
multiple sclerosis and chronic arthritis. The products, called KAHR-101
and KAHR-102 have been selected for immediate development for
clinical trials and production processes of the products are being
developed by Cobra Bio in Sweden (hereinafter - “Cobra”). The KAHR102 product was chosen to be the leading product.

29.1.6. During 2008 and through 2013, KAHR was focused on the
development of two of the first products, KAHR-101 and KAHR-102:

77

29.1.6.1.

KAHR-102
This product is KAHR’s leading product. Until 2011, the
Company completed the development of the cell line for the
production of the product and various tests that indicated
significant activity in the laboratory for both the cell lines of
various types of cancers in addition to the indications as
well as to the previously released immunological
indications.
In May 2011, after Sanofi selected this product in the
framework of their right to primary negotiation, the
Company decided to focus on the KAHR-102 product for
further self-development. During 2011 and 2012, a process
was developed for the production and initial cleaning of the
product and a significant amount of the product was
produced and tested successfully in a number of lab
experiments and animal models for lymphatic cancer in
mice.
During 2012, an agreement was signed for the
development of a production method for clinical use, with
Cobra. The agreement details the various development
stages required to release a clinical batch and possible
prices for the various stages of development.
In 2013, the Company completed the development of the
product's production process and met with the E.U.
regulatory authorities regarding clinical trials in blood
cancer patients with KAHR-102.
During the year of 2014, the Company created the
toxicological batch and began the toxicological trials on rats
and monkeys.

29.1.6.2.

KAHR-101
This product is the second product in the development
pipeline of the company.
The Company completed the development of the cell line to
product the product as well as the process to create and
clean the molecule. A significant amount of the KAHR- 101
product was manufactured and the material was tested and
is active in a large number of laboratory experiments and
mouse models of liver cancer, kidney cancer, multiple
sclerosis and rheumatoid arthritis. The experiments have
shown significant clinical activity in the animal models and
the correlation between the dose and the clinical activity.
In May, 2011, after the company’s decision to select KAHR102 as the leading product, the Company decided to
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search for a strategic partner for the continued
development of the KAHR-101 product, while as of the date
of the report, the company continues to act to locate a
strategic partner.
29.2.

Date

Loans and Investments KAHR's Share Capital

Substance of charge

Ordinary
shares of
the
Company
issued

Volume of
Total
immediat
Options not
issued
e
registered
and paid
proceeds
for trading
up capital
received
issued
(in
(in NIS
shares)
000)

Total
issued
and paid
up capital
fully
diluted

24212451.

24212451.

541.5

1154.72

147224011

No
proceeds

-

147554502

142.24022

147554502

Opening balance as of 31.12.2012

In 2013

An investment transaction
in September 2013, as
detailed in Section 29.2.4

649,172
(preferred
A)

174525

In 2014

Total as of the date of the Periodic Report

29.2.1 Investment agreement with the Sanofi Company
In April 2011, an investment agreement was signed between KAHR
and the Sanofi Company, the sixth largest pharmaceutical company in
the world. Under the agreement, about five and a half million dollars
were invested in KAHR - Sanofi invested two million dollars in cash
and the Company invested one dollar in cash and converted to shares
about two million dollars of convertible loans. The agreement signed
between the parties grants Sanofi a right to carry on initial negotiations
in relation to the leading product of the company. Sanofi and KAHR
selected the KAHR-102 product to be the leading product
29.2.2 Investment agreement with Flerie Invest AB
In 2012, KAHR undertook with Flerie Invest AB (hereafter in this
subsection: “the investor”), the owner of holdings in the Cobra
production company. In the context of the agreement, it was
determined that the investor will invest the amount of NIS 8 million in
the company, to serve mainly for payments to Cobra which will
manufacture the product for KAHR, subject to a professional
examination by a third party.
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29.2.3 Investment agreement with Mr. Thomas Eldered
In July 2012, KAHR signed an investment agreement with Mr.
Thomas Eldered, who, to the best of the Company’s knowledge, is a
partial owner of the Swedish company, Recipharm (one of the
largest production contractors of drugs in Europe). Under the
agreement, KAHR has raised over 10 million NIS with Mr. Thomas
Eldered has invested about 8 million NIS in KAHR; Sanofi has kept
its relative share in KAHR through the investment of about an
additional 2 million NIS; and the Company has invested about 400
thousand NIS.
29.2.4 Investment agreement with the existing shareholders
In September 2013, KAHR completed an additional investment round
of the existing investors according to a company value of $ 13 million
(before the money) (hereafter: “the investment agreement”). Under
the agreement, KAHR raised over 8 million NIS. Mr. Thomas Eldred
has invested about 6 million NIS, Sanofi has kept its relative share in
KAHR through an investment of about an additional 1.8 million NIS;
and the Company invested about 700 thousand NIS.
After completion of the investment agreement, as of the date of the
Periodic Report, Thomas Eldered holds approximately 25%, Sanofi
approximately 20% and the Company approximately 49% of the
issued and paid up share capital of KAHR.
29.3.

Dividends

Since its establishment, and as of the date of the report, KAHR has not distributed
dividends. As of the date of the report, KAHR has no dividend distribution policies.
29.4.

Financial information

See the separate financial statements of KAHR as of December 31, 2014 attached
as a separate appendix to the Periodic Report for financial information regarding
KAHR’s operations.
29.5.

Restrictions and supervision

KAHR is engaged in development of production of medical products which are subject
to regulatory requirements, drawn out approval procedures and compliance with
proper manufacturing procedures. See Section 10.1 for details regarding restrictions
and supervision applying the operations of KAHR due to its being a company
developing medications.
29.6.

Critical success factors in the operating sector and changes taking place in them

See Section 11.1 above for details of critical success factors.

29.7.

The Relevant Potential Market
The market for the cancer drugs and the market of the autoimmune drugs are
enormous in size. The direct market for cancer drugs is estimated at
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approximately $ 60 billion10 and the market for drugs for autoimmune illnesses is
estimated at over $ 40 billion in 2014.11 These markets continued to grow in
developed countries mostly in light of the lack of sufficient medical treatment.
Biological drugs (proteins, similar to SCP products) fit perfectly in these markets
and today most of the sale of drugs, both for cancer and auto immune diseases
are protein drugs such as Remicaid, Enbrel, Rituxin, Herceptin, Avastin, Humira,
each of which has sold billions of dollars each year.
The two products being developed by KAHR Medical (KAHR-101 and KAHR102) are innovative drugs which have application to cancer as well as to
autoimmune diseases.
Kahr plans that KAHR -102 will obtain an initial regulatory approval for
treatment of type R/R-DLBCL lymphoma patients which currently has no
appropriate treatment. This indication had in the past received approval as an
Orphan Drug. After approval of this indication, Kahr assumes that the product
may conform to additional indications of lymphoma, and subsequently, to the
market of autoimmune diseases which are difficult to treat.
The assessment of Kahr relative to obtaining the regulatory approval
represents forward looking information as defined in the Securities Law.
Dependent, inter alia, on success of a number of clinical trials.

10

http://www.prnewswire.com/news-releases/biological-therapies-for-cancer-technologies-and-globalmarkets-300048449.html
11

http://www.prnewswire.com/news-releases/autoimmune-disorders-therapeutics-market-to-2017---launchof-gilenya-and-benlysta-to-drive-the-growth-of-multiple-sclerosis-and-systemic-lupus-erythematosustherapeutic-segments-150909385.html
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29.8.

Competition
Corporation's Medical
Product

Product
characteristics

Advantages and
disadvantages of
the medical
product compared
to competing
medical product
(already in
existence or in
development) to
the best of the
corporation's
knowledge

Kahr-102 for treatment of
lymphoma and autoimmune
diseases patients.
Appropriate for lymphoma
patients who express the 7B
and FASR receptors in
cancerous growths and
severe patients with
autoimmune diseases. The
product can penetrate the
lymphoma market by way of
the orphan indications RRDLBCL.

Competing Product
A

Competing Product
B

Ibrutinib, a product of
J&J. A small molecule
Roaccutane, an antibody
that inhibits the enzyme
to CD20 receptor found
Bruton’s tyrosine (BTK)
on B cells. A medication
kinase. Approved in 2014
of Roche and Biojohn
for use for two types of
used for treatment of
lymphoma. The product
lymphoma patients and
acts by blockage of the
patients with autoimmune
receptor of the B cells
diseases.
which causes apoptosis
of these cells.

Competing Product
C

Competing Product
D

Idelalisib. A product of
Gilead A small molecule
that acts by inhibiting a
kinase known as P1108.
The medication was
approved in 2014 for use
for two types of
lymphoma.

Obinutuzumab. A product
of BioJohn and Roche,
and Ofatumumab, a
product of GSK. Two new
antibodies for CD 20
which are candidates to
replace Roaccutane.

Advantages: technology
acting in a completely
Advantages: is found in
Advantages: small
different manner from the
the market for many
molecule and convenient
competitors. The product has
years. One of the most
for oral use. Has shown
Advantages: small
Advantages: antibodies
shown efficacy in models of
sold medications in the
excellent activities in
molecule and convenient
for a known purpose
animals and has passed
world. Considered as a
lymphoma mantle
for oral use. Has shown
which has proven itself
toxicology trials successfully.
good medication with
patients and is being
excellent activities in CLL
(CD 20).
Acts on different types of
relatively low toxicity.
tested on indications of
patients and is being
Disadvantages: it is not
lymphoma as well as on
Disadvantages: the
other lymphoma.
tested on indications of yet clear whether the new
different types of cells of the
activities of the
Disadvantages: activities
other lymphoma.
antibodies have better
immune system which
medication are limited
of the medication are
Disadvantages: relatively
activities than that of
underwent activation.
since the medication acts
limited because the
high toxicity.
Roaccutane.
Disadvantages: the product is
on B cells alone. The
medication acts only on B
in the preclinical stage and
patents protecting it will
cells and its toxicity is
the level of its toxicity or its
terminate before long.
relatively high.
efficacy/ activities on humans
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29.9.

Production capacity

KAHR does not have a production facility. KAHR manufactures its products at the
Cobra Company. See Section 29.1.6.1 for details of the undertaking with Cobra.
29.10. Fixed assets
KAHR has net fixed assets in the amount of NIS 392 thousand, of which NIS 194
thousand is equipment and machinery and the balance is leasehold improvements
and computer equipment.
29.11. Research and Development
29.11.1.

Investments in R&D
During the three years previous to the date of the Periodic Report, the
amount of NIS 24,917 thousand and NIS 19,940 thousand was
invested by KAHR in research and development, prior to participation
of the OCS and less participation of the OCS, respectively, according
to the following detail (in NIS 000):

Period

2012

2013

2014

Total

Investments in R&D before the Scientist’s
participation completed in KAHR

7,219

7,894

54501

2145.7

Excluding the Scientist’s participation, net

(778)

(1,324)

)24571(

)14575(

Investments in R&D, net

1411.

1427.

14525

.54510
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29.11.2.

Chief Scientist grants
As of the date of the Periodic Report, KAHR has received
approximately NIS 6,991 thousand from the Chief Scientist, in
consideration of royalties that will be paid to the Chief Scientist from
sales of the product.

Name of
medical
products for
which the
grant was
received

Pre clinical
development
and initial
clinical trial
for the KAHR101 product.
Pre clinical
development
and initial
clinical trial
for the KAHR101 product
and SCPbased
development
of
therapeutics.
Development
of SCPbased
therapeutics

Amount of
grant
during
reporting
period
(NIS 000)

Amount of
grant in
2013 (NIS
000)

Amount of
grant in
2012 (NIS
000)

Total
grants as
of date of
report
(NIS 000)

Terms for
retuning
the grants,
including
time table

According to According to
the R&D law the R&D law

760

Pre clinical
development
and initial
clinical trial
for the
KAHR-101
product and
SCP-based
development
of
therapeutics.

1,969

2,909

1455.
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Special
stipulations
determined
in
connection
with the
grants of
the terms
for
returning
them

29.11.3.

Research and development-clinical trials
The following is a table detailing the clinical trials carried out by KAHR during 2015:

Trial
name

Development
stage in
which the
trial is
included

Phase
I/IIa

Clinical trial

Has an
Is it
IND or
compliant
IDE
with a
been
regulatory
opened
authority
for the
or ICH
trial

-

-

Goal
and
nature
of trial

No. of
tested
Planned
No. of
joining
no. of
sites at
trial as
tested in
which trial
of date
context
is being
of issue
of trial
preformed
of
report

Safety
and
efficacy

About 30
patients

-

3

Geographic
location of
sites at
which trial
is being
preformed

Nature
and
status
of trial

Trial
time
table

Estimate
of
anticipated
total costs
of trial

Israel

Has not
yet
begun

End of
2015

-

Cumulative
cost from
Interim
date of
results /
clinical
final
trial start
results
to report
date

-

The information included in the above table includes forward looking information, as defined in the Securities Law. Research
and development activities involve great uncertainty and it is, therefore possible that the time table and/ or the substance of
the experiments well be substantially changed from the above estimate. The factors that might cause a delay in the program of
experiments might include demands of various regulatory authorities to perform experiments on a larger number of those
being tested and/or a large number of medical centers, demands for retesting, etc. Moreover, it is emphasized that there is no
assurance that the experiments will be successful, and lack of success of experiments might necessitate an update of the
program of experiments.
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-

29.12. Intellectual Property- Licenses and R&D Agreements
29.12.1.

Licenses and research and development agreements

29.12.1.1. License agreement with the University of Pennsylvania
In December 2008, KAHR entered into a license agreement with
the University of Pennsylvania (hereafter: “the university”) for the
receipt of an exclusive and global license unlimited in time for the
use of patents and the providing of sub-licenses, for a number of
patents from the university known as Signal Converter Proteins
(SCP), which, in the opinion of KAHR, is a technological
breakthrough.
In the context of the license agreement, KAHR committed to meet
a reasonable rate of development and to pay royalties to the
University of Pennsylvania from the sale of the products.
29.12.1.2. License agreement with Hadasit
In September 2010, KAHR filed an application for a new patent to
protect the KAHR-102 and KAHR-103 products for treatment of
types of lymphoma. The patent belongs to KAHR and Hadasit in
equal shares (hereafter in this subsection; “the patent”).
In July 2011, an agreement was signed between KAHR and
Hadasit in whose framework Hadasit granted to KAHR an exclusive
license for a patent without the right for royalties.
29.12.2.

Immaterial Assets

29.12.2.1. Approved material patents
Patent
number

Patent
description

Patent rights

Predicted
patent
expiration

7,569,663

The original
patent Protects
KAHR 102 and
other
combinations

The patent belongs to the
university of Pennsylvania.
KAHR company has an
exclusive international
license.

212020

8,039,437

The original
patent protects
KAHR- 101

The patent belongs to the
university of Pennsylvania.
KAHR company has an
exclusive international
license.

112025
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Approved
countries

29.12.2.2. Applications to register material patents
Patent
application
name

Patent
description

Patent rights

COMPOSITIONS
AND METHODS
FOR TREATMENT
OF
HEMATOLOGICAL
MALIGNANCIES

Protects the use
of products KAHR
102 and 103 in
lymphatic cancer

The patent
belongs to KAHR
and Hadasit
equally. Hadasit
gave KAHR an
exclusive patent
license - royalty
free

Stable Form Of
Signal Converting
Protein Fusion
Proteins, And
Methods Of Use
And Preparation
Thereof

Protects
production and
usage methods of
KAHR-102 as a
hexametric
molecule and 148
other hexametric
combinations

The patent
belongs to the
KAHR company

Predicted
patent
expiration

Application
date

512020

5120.0

1.2033

1.2013

29.12.2.3. Applications to register non-material patents

Patent number

7,569,663

8,039,437

Patent
description

Patent rights

Predicted
patent
expiration

Approved
countries

The original
patent Protects
KAHR 102 and
other
combinations

The patent
belongs to
KAHR and
Hadasit equally.
Hadasit gave
KAHR an
exclusive patent
license - royalty
free

212020

USA, EU,
Japan, Canada
and Israel

The original
patent protects
KAHR- 101

The patent
belongs to the
university of
Pennsylvania.
KAHR company
has an exclusive
international
license.

112025

USA, EU,
Canada, Japan,
Singapore and
Australia
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29.13. Human Capital
29.13.1. From June 2007 and until the date of the report, Dr. Noam Shani
(formerly deputy CEO for Research and Development of Biogenics and of
Compugen) serves as CEO of KAHR.
29.13.2. In July 2014, Dr Moshe Bero was recruited to serve as Deputy CEO for
Development of KAHR (formerly CEO of the Omri Company)
29.13.3. As of the date of the report, KAHR employs 6 personnel, of which 5 are
research and development personnel. (In addition, 2 personnel are
employed by way of Hadasit in the context of the research agreement
detailed below).
29.13.4. KAHR is developing innovative treatments for cancer and autoimmune
diseases based, inter alia, on Dr. Michal Elhalel Dranitsky's discovery in
her lab at the Hadassah Ein Kerem hospital, and Professor Mark
Tikochinsky's discovery (from the University of Pennsylvania in the U.S.).
Dr. Elhalel Dranitzky currently serves in the role of chief scientist of the
company. The operations of KAHR are not dependent of the activity of Dr.
Elhalel or Prof. Tikochinsky.
29.13.5. Following is detail of the research and development agreements
with Hadasit:
29.13.5.1. Service and consulting agreement with Hadasit
In January 2009, KAHR entered into in an agreement with Hadasit
to perform research and development works commencing from
January 2009. During the years, KAHR signed a number of
extensions of this agreement, while in September 2014, KAHR
signed an additional extension, according to which that agreement
would be extended until December 2016. In the context of the
agreement, it was determined that the services to be granted to
KAHR will be as determined from time to time by the parties,
including manpower and consulting services.
29.13.5.2. Consulting agreement with Dr. Elhalel
During July 2011, KAHR entered into a consulting agreement with
Dr. Elhalel for a period of six years, namely until July 2017.
According to the consulting agreement, as it was changed in
October 2013, it was agreed that Dr. Elhalel would grant KAHR
scientific consulting in consideration of a monthly payment in the
amount of $ 3,000.
29.13.6.

The Right to Appoint Directors

As of the date of the report, it was determined that the board of directors
of KAHR would consist of no more than eight members of the board of
directors. The Company will be permitted to appoint a director for as long
as it holds 12% of the equity of KAHR. As of the date of the report, the
board of directors of KAHR consists of five members and two observers,
of which three were appointed by the Company (including the chairman of
the board of directors). The Company also has the right to appoint an
additional director.
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29.14. Materials and suppliers
KAHR has no fundamental raw material. The medications of KAHR are proteins
produced by cells that grow in a culture and are isolated by the production process.
KAHR has an agreement with the Cobra Company which supplies products and
services in the field of the bio-medical research and the clinical trials and the
production for purposes of executing the production of the material. The undertaking
with Cobra was determined in the context of an agreement dated October 19, 2007.
This supplier is connected with an interested party, Mr. Thomas Eldered, and
therefore, the financial commitment with the supplier undergoes examination by a
third party professional entity. KAHR is dependent on Cobra.
29.15. Working capital
As of the date of the report, KAHR has positive working capital of NIS 4,854
thousand.
29.16. Financing
As of the date of the report, KAHR has not yet begun to make sales, and is,
therefore, dependent on raising funds from existing and new investors for financing
its operations. KAHR finances its operations from equity raisings and from loans from
shareholders and grants from the Chief Scientist in the Ministry of the Economy.
29.17. Taxation
The tax laws in Israel apply to KAHR
29.18.

Environmental risks

KAHR rents research laboratories in the Hadassah Hospital. To the best of the
knowledge of KAHR, the hospital complies with the requirements of environmental
quality.
29.19. Material agreements
See Sections 29.1.6.1, 29.2.1, 29.2.2 and 29.12.1.1 above for details regarding
KAHR’s material agreements.
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29.20. Legal proceedings
As of the date of the report, KAHR is not party to material legal proceedings.
29.21. Goals and business strategy and forecasted developments for the coming year
as notified to the company by KAHR
Medical
product

KAHR-101

KAHR-102

Current status

2015

2016

2017

Pre-clinical
development

Obtaining a
strategic
partner and
completing the
development of
the production
process.

End of preclinical
development

Beginning of
initial clinical trial
on cancer
patients or Lupus
patients.

Initial clinical trial
in Israel on
lymphoma
cancer patients

End of initial
clinical trial in
Israel on
lymphoma
cancer patients

Beginning of
second and
international trial
on lymphoma
patients of the
R/R-DLBCL
type.

In the process of
the toxicology
trial and clinical
production.

The information brought in the above table includes forward looking
information, as it is defined in the Securities Law, and is contingent, inter alia,
on receiving the results of the trials, decisions of the board of directors and
obtaining the necessary financing.

29.22. Risk factors
See Section 24 above for details regarding macro-economic risk factors and sectoral
risk factors.
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ProtAb Ltd. (Hereinafter - “ProtAb”)

30.

For convenience, in this chapter, the following abbreviations will have the meaning
recorded alongside them:
Biologics Biological
Materials

- A wide range of medicinal products such as vaccines, blood and
blood components, allergenics, somatic cells, gene therapy,
tissues, and recombinant therapeutic proteins, such as antibodies,
created by biological processes (non-chemical).

Immunological
Treatments

- Treatments designed to suppress over-activity in the body’
immune system.

Antigen

- any foreign substance, that when penetrating the human body,
stimulates an immune system response

Humanization of
Antibodies

- chemically modified antibodies designed to be suitable for use in
humans

Passive
Immunization

- a type of vaccination achieved by injecting prepared antibodies
taken from humans or animals that have been vaccinated against
a particular antigen, and have been processed in preparation for
injection

Active Immunization

- A type of vaccination that causes the body to produce its own
antibodies by injecting an antigen which stimulates a reaction that
produces antibodies in the human body.

Protein

- An organic compound built of folded chains of amino acids
connected by polypeptides. Proteins are among the most
important compounds that make up the organism and are found in
all living cells.

HSP Proteins

- A group of unique proteins called HSP - Heat Shock Proteins,
which protect the three-dimensional structure of proteins in the
cell, thereby insuring the proper functioning under conditions of
stress. These HSP proteins exist in cells of all organisms,
including humans.

Autoimmune
Disorders

- Diseases characterized by immune system cells losing their
immunotolerance and attacking the body’s own tissue and cells.

Inflammatory Bowel
Disease

- A group of diseases and inflammatory conditions of the colon and
sometimes even of the small intestine.

Segments

- In this context, it is an antigenic determinant (also known as an
epitope). It is a specific part of the antigen molecule which causes
an immune response. Antigens usually include many epitopes,
each of which triggers a response, or activates T lymphocytes, of
a different kind. The immune system is triggered by segments.
The body identifies them as non-self (foreign), and different cells
participate in an immune system response and begin to act
against them.

Antibodies

- Protein molecules belonging to the immune system. The role of
antibodies is to bind to antigens - molecules found on the surface
of potentially harmful pathogens invading the body. The
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connection between the antibody and the antigen allows for the
elimination of the invading pathogen in a number of ways.
Human Antibodies
(Humanized)

- An antibody based on an artificial protein engineered using
molecular biology from a number of DNA sequences belonging to
genes coded to a number of different proteins, engineered to be fit
for human use.

Monoclonal
Antibodies
(Monospecific)

- Antibodies that are identical, as they were produced by the same
type of immune system cells which originated in one cell and have
created clones. Monoclonal antibodies may be artificially created
with particular affinities (affinity, binding capacity) for almost all
materials. In medicine, monoclonal antibodies are used for
diagnostic and treatment purposes.

Diabetes

- Diabetes is a metabolic disease which is characterized by a high
concentration of glucose in blood and urine.

Type 1 Diabetes
(“Juvenile
Diabetes”)

- Approximately 10% of diabetes patients suffer from this type. It
appears mostly in patients under the age of 30, particularly
immediately before the age of schooling and again in adolescents.

Cytokines

- Small proteins that form the basis for communications between
immune system cells and between cells belonging to the body’s
tissue.

Receptors

- Proteins found on the cell membrane or cytoplasm, which respond
to ligands - molecules that bind to them and initiate a response.
There are several types of receptors, including immune system
receptors, which respond to cytokines and chemokines

TNF-Alpha (Tumor
Necrosis Factor)

- Cytokines secreted by white blood cells. A delay in the secretion of
these materials allows for a decrease in the inflammatory process.
These cytokines are able to activate various inflammatory cells
and complex systems found in them. Similarly, they are able to
modify these cells to particularly violent cells. These cytokines can
recruit additional inflammatory cells and transport them to the
inflammation site, and are also able to activate cells that may
dissolve functioning bone, which could harm use of the joint. The
use of antibodies against TNF is part of the currently recognized
therapy process used against arthritis of this type.

30.1.

Description of ProtAb’s Activities and the Technology Developed by it
30.1.1. ProtAb is a private company incorporated in Israel which commenced
business activity in August, 2005.
30.1.2. ProtAb is developing a novel therapeutic approach for the treatment of
inflammatory bowel disease (including Crohn’s disease, and ulcerative
colitis) and other autoimmune diseases. The development is based on
discoveries made by Professor Yaakov Naparstek from the Hadassah Ein
Kerem Hospital.
30.1.3. Inflammatory bowel illnesses and additional illnesses which cause
damage to the immune system are chronic illnesses belonging to the
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group of the autoimmune diseases, in which the body activates the
immune system against itself. Inflammatory bowel illnesses, for example,
are created when the immune system attacks the bowels, causes
inflammation and destroys the healthy tissue. In a normal inflammatory
process, there is a need for a balance between the signs encouraging the
inflammatory process (pro-inflammatory signs) and the signs which
suppress the inflammatory process (anti-inflammatory signs). Imbalance
between these signals can lead to an uncontrolled inflammatory process
and subsequent development of the disease.
30.1.4. ProtAb develops an innovative treatment approach based on regulation of
the balance of the pro-inflammatory signs and the anti-inflammatory signs
by means of a humanized monoclonal. According to the theory of ProTab,
for patients with certain autoimmune diseases, there is no production of
antibodies against individual segments of the HSP65 (Haet Shock Protein
65), and the balance between the pro-inflammatory signs and the antiinflammatory signs is damaged. As a result, an uncontrollable
inflammation is caused which develops into an autoimmune disease.
The researchers at ProtAb have seemingly proven that active
immunization with a segment of HSP, known peptide 6, and passive
vaccination with antibodies against peptide 6, suppress arthritis and
inflammatory bowel disease in animal models, and suppress diabetes in
experimental models of type 1 diabetes. Additionally, the researchers
have seemingly shown that the blood of rheumatoid arthritis and juvenile
diabetes patients contains a low level of these antibodies.
Providing the passive vaccination in models of arthritis in animals led to
the increase in the level of a material known as Cytokine IL-10 which is an
anti-inflammatory sign. Moreover, these antibodies also caused an
increase in the provision of IL-10 from white cells of healthy human
patients.
30.1.5. In view of the findings of the research, ProtAb is developing a humanized
monoclonal antibody against Peptide 6, known as Froseomab, as an
immunological treatment, for the purpose of improving the regulation of
the pro-inflammatory and the anti-inflammatory signs in patients with
autoimmune diseases. This antibody causes the suppression of arthritis
and inflammatory bowel illnesses in models of inflammation in animals.
Additionally, the addition of Froseomab to white cells of healthy human
patients causes a rise in the level of IL-10 and a decline in the level of proinflammatory signs such as Interferon Gama in similar cells, which
underwent activation.
30.1.6. In order to develop the humanized monoclonal antibodies against peptide
6, the antibodies must be “translated” from their animal-based structure to
a humanized structure, suitable for use in humans, through a process
called humanization. The humanization process is a crucial process in
ProtAb’s preparations for clinical trials with its leading product (a
monoclonal antibody against peptide 6). Accordingly, ProtAb has entered
into a research and development agreement, with the possibility of
attaining a future license, with a British company known as Antitope Ltd. a leading company engaged in carrying out humanization of antibodies
through a unique and patent-protected technology.
The
stage
of
humanization ended successfully and the humanized antibody known as
Froseomab is the product that ProtAb is developing towards clinical trials
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in humans. Following this, a license agreement was signed between
ProtAb and Antitope in June 2013, which includes definitions of royalties
payments to be paid to Antitope at the time of sales of Froseomab in the
future. See Section 30.12.2.2 below for details regarding this agreement.
30.1.7. Up to now, the team at ProtAb has attained a variety of important
milestones in the development of Froseomab towards clinical trials in
humans. Pre-clinical tests have been made that show activity of
Froseomab in various models of inflammatory bowel illness in animals.
Additional complex processes of production have been developed in the
framework of a contract with Xcellerex in the United States (presently GE
Healthcare) and these processes have undergone up-scaling and
adjustment towards production in good manufacturing practices. A
humanization pilot engineering run was created which served for preclinical and toxicological trials, and toxicological trials were executed on
rodents under good laboratory practice conditions. The trials have ended
successfully without indications of toxicity of the antibody in repeat high
and moderate dosage.
30.1.8. After the creation of the humanization pilot, broad tests and consultation
were carried out in order to verify that the antibody indeed preserves its
functional attributes after up-scaling the production processes, something
which caused a certain delay in the development program of Froseomab
towards clinical trials on humans. At the end of the process of the tests
and consultation, which also included development of analytical methods
for characterization of the functional attributes of the antibody, ProtAb held
an advance meeting (Pre-IND) with the FDA, which confirmed that the
new analytical methods for characterization of the functional attributes of
the antibody indeed conform to the regulatory requirements for clinical
trials in human.
30.1.9. Concurrent with the progress in the development timeline, ProtAb also
advanced with research on the subject of deciphering the operating
mechanism of Froseomab. Over the years, the work on the subject of
deciphering the operating mechanism was carried out by the R&D team of
ProtAb and by subcontractors abroad with specific expertise and
experience in the matter. This focusing bore fruit and ProtAb attained an
important milestone with the discovery of the Heat Shock Protein 60 HSP
60 of Froseomab. This discovery is essential towards the continued
development, production under GMP conditions and entry into final preclinical and clinical trials.
30.1.10. Additionally, the progress in the research work was accompanied by
business development efforts with future potential partners, and also with
a variety of venture capital funds for purposes of executing an investment
in ProtAb to permit it to progress and perform the initial clinical trials with
Froseomab. During 2014, ProtAb examined the receipt of financing from
its existing shareholders for purposes of performing additional pre-clinical
trials for the evaluation of the efficacy of Froseomab in models with
animals for new clinical indications, part of which represent indications for
development of orphan drugs. The purpose of performing these preclinical trials is to arrive at results which will allow a decision on focusing
on the leading indication for clinical development of Froseomab. Following
this, and after raising funds in the third quarter of 2014, ProtAb began to
perform pre-clinical trials with Froseomab in the last quarter of 2014 with
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three new clinical indications, part of which are indications of development
of an orphan drug. In this context, during 2014, ProtAb signed an
agreement with the National Institute of Health (NIH) in the United States
for the performance of feasibility studies with Froseomab in models with
rats for Behcet Disease, a rare autoimmune disease causing chronic
inflammation of the blood vessels. The feasibility studies began in the last
quarter of 2014 and are anticipated to end in the second quarter of 2015.
30.1.11. During the month of October 2012, ProtAb’s Board of Directors
decided to reduce its level of activity, including reducing salaries and
officers’ employment percentages, including agreements with Hadasit for
consulting and services which was extended until July, 2014, and a
reduction in company’s space in the biotechnology park. Moreover, the
company has conducted streamlining procedures and reduced its activity
in the last quarter of 2012, in order to focus its efforts in researching the
mechanism of action of its lead antibody with foreign subcontractors with
expertise in the field. ProtAb management changed the company
structure and the underlying costs to allow focus on this mission with its
limited budget.
30.1.12. During the first half of 2014, ProtAb reduced its operations. Among
other Kerem. Moreover, the consulting agreement with Hadasit was
extended through July 2015, in the framework of which, ProtAb will
receive monthly consultation from Prof. Yaakov Naparstek in connection
with development of the Company’s leading product, Froseomab.
30.1.13. As of the date of the report, ProtAb is holding contacts with a variety of
venture capital funds for purposes of executing an investment in ProtAb to
permit it to perform the clinical tests, simultaneously with evaluating the
possibilities of cooperation with Pharma companies.
30.1.14. ProtAb has not yet reached the stage of sales and, accordingly, ProtAb
is still dependent on raising funds from existing and new investors for
financing its operations. Accordingly, the financial statements of ProtAb
have included a reference with regard to the ability of ProtAb to continue
to exist as a “going concern”.
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30.2.

Loans and Investments in ProtAb's Share Capital

Following are details regarding investments made by the company in the equity of
ProtAb during the past two years:

Date

Substance of
change

Ordinary
shares of
the
Company
issued

Options
not
registered
for trading
issued

Opening balance as of
31.12.2012

Volume of
immediate
proceeds
received
(in NIS
000)

Total
Total
issued and
issued and
paid up
paid up
capital
capital (in
fully
shares)
diluted
2714251

2214512

In 2013

-

-

In 2014

-

-

2714251

2214512

Total as of the date of the Periodic Report

30.2.1. Agreement with the Pontifax Fund, Clal Biotecghnology and the
existing shareholders of ProtAb
On April 12, 2010, ProtAb entered into an agreement for the issuance of
preferred A shares with the Pontifax Fund and Clal Biotecghnology
(hereafter: “the new investors”), and the existing shareholders of ProtAb
on the date of this investment agreement, at a company value of $ 4
million (before the money). During the investment round that the Company
participated in, the Company converted convertible loans available to
ProtAb to preferred "A" shares. The new investors transferred 3 million $
to ProtAb, the company transferred 1 million $ and converted loans
totaling 1.9 million $.
As part of the agreement, ProtAb updated its bylaws. In the update, it was
stipulated, inter alia, that certain actions enumerated in the bylaws would
require the consent of all preferred A shareholders holding more than
7.5% of ProtAb’s share capital, after issuing the shares.
30.2.2. Convertible loan agreement between the Company and ProtAb
In July 2012, a convertible loan agreement was signed between ProtAb
and the Company for the amount of $ 250 thousand (hereafter in this
subsection: “the loan”). The loan was provided by the Company in order
to serve ProtAb to continue its operations.
The loan bears interest at LIBOR +3%, and it will be repaid, unless
converted into ProtAb shares on January 1, 2014.
Also determined that, if ProtAb offers securities at a total amount of at
least $500 thousand, the loan (plus accrued interest) will automatically be
converted into shares, at a discount rate of 20% of the share price in the
same assignment. If the future equity investment will be lower than the
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$500 thousand, the Company may give ProtAb written notice of the
conversion of the loan into shares at the same conditions.
In January, 2014, an agreement was signed to extend the loan repayment
date to May 1, 2014.
In the framework of the financing agreement signed between ProtAb and
the Company in September 2014, detailed below, the date of repayment
of the loan was extended until September 22, 2017.
30.2.3. Convertible loan agreement between ProtAb and its shareholders
In December 2012 ProtAb signed an agreement with its shareholders for
a convertible loan totaling $435 thousand; each shareholder transferred
his share in December 2012 in the amount of $145 thousand. Convertible
loan is intended to support the continued operations of ProtAb.
The loan bears interest at LIBOR + 3% and will be repaid, unless
converted into shares on 1 May 2014.
Also determined that, if ProtAb offers securities at a total amount of at
least $500 thousand, the loan (plus accrued interest) will automatically be
converted into shares, at a discount rate of 20% of the share price in the
same assignment. If the future equity investment will be lower than the
$500 thousand, the debt holders may give ProtAb written notice of the
conversion of the loan into shares.
In August 2014, Protab signed a financing agreement with the Company.
In this context, the Company placed the amount of $ 460 thousand at the
disposal of ProtAb (hereafter; “the financing agreement”).
30.2.4. Financing agreement between the Company and ProtAb
In September 2014, ProtAb signed a financing agreement with the
Company. In this context, the Company placed the amount of $ 460
thousand at the disposal of ProtAb (hereafter: “the financing
agreement”).
The above amount of $ 460 thousand was provided as a loan convertible
into shares, at annual cumulative interest of 5%.
The amount of the loan and accrued interest (hereafter: “the loan
balance”) will be converted into shares at the time of a future investment
in ProtAb in an amount of at least one million dollars, at a price reflecting
a discount of 35% in relation to the price per share to be paid by the
investors in the next investment round. Nevertheless, the Company is
permitted to convert the loan balance under these terms also if the
amount of the future investment is lower than one million dollars, and is
also permitted to convert the loan balance at any time at a price of $ 36
per preferred B share.
The loan balance will be repayable on a date which is the earlier of a
“default” event or 12 months from the date of completing the transaction.
The loan balance represents the most senior debt of ProtAb, against
which ProtAb has pledged all of its assets, including intellectual property,
in a first ranked floating lien in favor of the Company.
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In the context of the transaction, ProtAb changed its bylaws so that they
include, inter alia, provisions according to which the Company will have a
majority of the board of directors of ProtAb, and the veto rights that
existed in the prior bylaws was cancelled.
30.3.

Dividends
Since its establishment, and as of the date of the report, ProtAb has not
distributed dividends. As of the date of the report, ProtAb has no dividend
distribution policies.

30.4.

Financial information
See the separate financial statements of ProtAb as of December 31, 2014
attached as a separate appendix to the Periodic Report for financial information
regarding ProtAb’s operations.

30.5.

Restrictions and supervision
Production of medical products is subject to regulatory requirements, drawn out
approval procedures and compliance with proper manufacturing procedures. See
Section 10.1 for details regarding restrictions and supervision applying the
operations of ProtAb due to its being a company developing medications.

30.6.

Critical success factors in the operating sector and changes taking place in them
See Section 11.1 above for details of critical success factors.

30.7.

Relevant Potential Market
In the estimation of ProtAb, the treatment of autoimmune diseases is and will
remain one of the most profitable sectors of the drug industry. Inflammatory
bowel diseases (IBD) are prevalent autoimmune illnesses which have market
potential for ProtAb.12
In 2010, close to 1.4 million people in the United States were affected by
inflammatory bowel disease. The global market value for drugs treating IBD is
estimated at $10 billion in 201713. The medications marketed at present, including
the biological treatments, provide a partial response and there is a real need for
new medications (unmet clinical need), which act according to unique and
innovative operating mechanisms. In the assessment of ProtAb, the potential
market for treatment such as Froseomab is enormous, whether it is used as a
single material or whether it is used as a catalyst for another treatment
substance. Among the other biological materials found in various stages of
research, ProtAb is not aware of competitive products with an innovative
mechanism
like
Froseomab.

12

The data with respect to inflammatory bowel diseases (IBD) was taken from

13

Visiongain Market Report “Inflammatory Bowel Diseases: World Drug Market 2113-2123”, published in 2113
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30.8.

Competition
The following is a tabular description regarding the competitors of ProtAb:
The
corporation's
medical
product

Prozumab for
Product
treatment of
characteristics inflammatory bowel
diseases

Advantages
and
disadvantages
of the medical
product in
relation to
competing
medical
products
(already in
existence and
those in the
development
process), to
the best of the
corporation's
knowledge

Competing
product A

Remicade of J&J/
Schering Plough
with sales of $ 2.4
billion in 2010

Advantages: acts
in an innovative
operating
mechanism that
could provide
treatment for
patients not
responding or who
develop resistance
to existing
biological
medications;
expected to have a
high safety profile
relative to
competitors
Disadvantages:
likely to be
provided every two
weeks by injection
as opposed to less
frequent injection

Competing
product B

Competing
product C

Competing
product D

Competing
product E

Competing
product F

Competing
product G

Entyvio of
Millenium/Takeda
which received
approval for
marketing in the
US in 2014

There are a variety
of biological
medications under
development in
various phases,
including products
taken orally

Humira of Abbott
with sales of $ 1.96
billion in 2010

Cimzia of UCB
Pharma with sales
of $ 79 million in
2010

Simponi of
Tysabri of Elan/
Janssen Biotech
Biogen Idec, which
Inc. which received
received approval
approval for
for marketing in the
marketing in the
US in 2008
US in 2013

Advantages: acts
in an innovative
operating
mechanism that
could provide
treatment for
patients not
responding or who
develop resistance
to existing
biological
medications;
expected to have a
high safety profile
relative to
competitors

Advantages: acts
in an innovative
operating
mechanism that
could provide
treatment for
patients not
responding or who
develop resistance
to existing
biological
medications;
expected to have a
high safety profile
relative to
competitors

Advantages: acts
in an innovative
operating
mechanism that
could provide
treatment for
patients not
responding or who
develop resistance
to existing
biological
medications;
expected to have a
high safety profile
relative to
competitors

Advantages: acts
in an innovative
operating
mechanism that
could provide
treatment for
patients not
responding or who
develop resistance
to existing
biological
medications;
expected to have a
high safety profile
relative to
competitors

Advantages: acts
in an innovative
operating
mechanism that
could provide
treatment for
patients not
responding or who
develop resistance
to existing
biological
medications;
expected to have a
high safety profile
relative to
competitors

Disadvantages:
likely to be
provided every two
weeks by injection
as opposed to less
frequent injection

Disadvantages:
likely to be
provided every two
weeks by injection
as opposed to less
frequent injection

Disadvantages:
likely to be
provided every two
weeks by injection
as opposed to less
frequent injection

Disadvantages:
likely to be
provided every two
weeks by injection
as opposed to less
frequent injection

Disadvantages:
likely to be
provided every two
weeks by injection
as opposed to less
frequent injection
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Advantages: acts
in an innovative
operating
mechanism that
could provide
treatment for
patients not
responding or who
develop resistance
to existing
biological
medications;
expected to have a
high safety profile
relative to
competitors
Disadvantages:
likely to be
provided every two
weeks by injection
as opposed to
orally or less
frequent injection

30.9.

Production capacity
ProtAb does not have a production facility. The production is done by means of
subcontractors abroad. As of the day of the report, and for purposes of continuing
development and transition to the next stage of development, ProtAb has no limitation on the
productive capacity required as above.

30.10. Fixed assets
ProtAb has net fixed assets after depreciation in the amount of NIS 83 thousand, most of
which is laboratory equipment.
30.11. Research and Development
30.11.1.

Investments in R&D
During the three years previous to the date of the Periodic Report, the amount of
NIS 7,710 thousand and NIS 5,665 thousand was invested in ProtAb in research
and development, prior to participation of the OCS and less participation of the
OCS, respectively, according to the following detail (in NIS 000):
Period

2012

Excluding participation by the Scientist, net
Investment in R&D, net

Name of
medical
products for
which the
grant was
received

proximab, a
humanized
monoclonal
antibody for
ra &amp; ibd
prozumab

Total

2,180

.4202

747.0

(1,281)

(158)

)101(

)24012(

3,047

2,022

251

24112

Chief Scientist

Amount of
grant during
reporting
period
(NIS 000)

94

2014

4,328

Investment in R&D before the Scientist’s
participation completed at ProtAb

30.11.2.

2013

Amount of
grant in 2013
(NIS 000)

Amount of
grant in 2012
(NIS 000)

Total grants
as of date of
report
(NIS 000)

1,265

1,434

8,384

Terms for
retuning the
grants,
including
time table

Special
stipulations
determined in
connection
with the
grants of the
terms for
returning
them

According to
the R&D law

According to
the R&D law

As of the date of the report, ProtAb has received approximately NIS 8,384
thousand from the Chief Scientist in consideration for royalties to be paid to the
Chief Scientist from sales of the product.
ProtAb filed and received approval for a continuing support grant from the Chief
Scientist for its research and development activities. The continuing grant from the
Chief Scientist is according to a budget of NIS 1.9 million at a weighted rate of
participation of 30% for research and development abroad. The grant was received
for purposes of research on the subject of Froseomab-a monocular antibody for
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treatment of autoimmune illnesses for a period of the months 8.12-7.13. Moreover,
an approval was received from the Office of the Chief Scientist to extend the R&D
period until the month of September 2013.
In August 2011, ProtAb’s application for support from the Jerusalem Development
Authority in the amount of NIS 120 thousand was approved. During the month of
December 2012, ProtAb’s request for support for an additional year was approved.
30.11.3. During the years 2011-2014, the company received grants from the Jerusalem
Development Authority in a total amount of NIS 204 thousand linked to the CPI. On
December 31, 2013, a liability to return the grant at a rate of royalties of 4% per year
was presented, capitalized at a capitalization rate of 45%, and in accordance of an
estimate of the anticipated revenues. On December 31, 2014, due to non compliance
with the terms of the grant, the grant was classified as a short term liability and
presented at a value of NIS 210 thousand in the context of other current liabilities.
30.12. Intellectual Property
30.12.1.

Licenses and research and development agreements
30.12.1.1. Hadasit license agreement
ProtAb has entered into an exclusive license agreement with Hadasit for
use of patents and applications for patents owned by Hadasit, for
peptides for treatment of autoimmune diseases. This exclusive license is
for a group of patents and applications for patents in the field of
innovative amino acid sequences, their antibodies and the use of them..
The group of patents and the applications for patents protects both the
innovative protein parts, as well as the antibodies against them, and the
use of all of them in the treatment of autoimmune disease patients, in
general, and in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis, in particular. This
exclusive license includes twenty two patents received in the U.S., in
Australia, in Israel, in Japan, in Canada and in countries in Europe, and
one patent application in Israel.
30.12.2.2. Agreement with Antitope Limited
In July 2013, the company entered into a license agreement with
Antitope Limited regarding the monoclonal human antibody, Froseomab,
in which future payments of royalties were specified to be paid to
Antitope at the time of future sales of Froseomab.

The flowing is tabular disclosure of the material cooperation agreements according to
which ProtAb is obligated for the payment of royalties to third parties:
Identity of
royalties recipient
Antitope Limitedaccording to a
license agreement
between the
company and
Antitope dated
11.6.13 (“the
agreement’)

Reason for
eligibility for
royalties
Providing license to
company for use of
Antitope’s
technology.
Including
technology for
which patents have
been registered

Type of payment

Range of
consideration

Comments

Royalties for sales
of “licensed
products” (as
defined in the
agreement).

Rate of up to 1% of
sales of the
company of
licensed products

The royalties rate
could stop after the
patent expires and
as detailed in the
agreement.
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30.12.2.

Intangible Assets
30.12.2.1. Approved Material Assets

Patent Number

PCT/IL1999/000595
NOVEL AMINO,
ACID
SEQUENCES, DNA
ENCODING, THE
AMINO ACID
SEQUENCES,
ANTIBODIES
DIRECTED
AGAINST SUCH
SEQUENCES AND
THE DIFFERENT
USES

Patent
Description

Patent Rights

Patent on the
molecule and
use of the
molecule

Patent's
Expected
Expiration Date

Approved
Countries

4.11.2019

United States (4
patents),
Australia, Israel
(primary patent
accepted and
application
distribution prior
to being
accepted),
Japan, Canada
and European
countries
(Austria,
Belgium,
Switzerland,
Germany, Spain,
France, Britain,
Ireland, Italy,
Holland,
Sweden,
Denmark,
Finland)

Under the
ownership of a
third party; the
company has
exclusive usage
rights for an
unlimited
amount of time

30.12.2.2. Application Requests for Material Assets
Patent
Application
Name

Description
of Requested
Patent

Patent
Rights (if
listed)

Priority Date

Application
Date

Applied
Countries

6.9.2010

United States
(patent approved
and a request to
continue has
been submitted)
, Australia,
Israel, China,
India, Russia,
Mexico, Korea,
Brazil, Japan,
Canada, and
Europe

PCT/IL2010/000731
HUMANIZED
ANTIBODIES
SPECIFIC FOR
HSP65-DERIVED
PEPTIDE-6
METHODS AND
USES THEREOF

Patent of the
molecule and
use of the
molecule

Ownership

6.9.2009
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30.12.2.3. Application Requests for Non-Material Assets
Patent
Application
Name

Description
of Requested
Patent

Patent
Rights (if
listed)

Priority Date

Application
Date

Applied
Countries

21.3.2010

United States
(patent
approved),
Australia (patent
neglected), Israel
(patent
neglected),
China (patent
neglected),
Japan (patent
neglected),
Canada (patent
neglected) and
Europe

CT/IL2010/000231
ADENYLYL
CYCLASEASSOCIATED
PROTEIN (CAP1)
AND USES
THEREOF AS A
TARGET FOR
IMMUNOMODULATION

Patent of the
molecule and
use of the
molecule

Ownership

30.3.2009

30.13. Human Capital
30.13.1. ProtAb is managed from 2007 by Ms. Shira Yair, possessor of wide experience in
managerial roles in the biotechnological industry in Israel.
30.13.2. ProtAb is based on the research of Professor Yaakov Naparstek from the
Hadassah Ein Kerem Hospital. ProtAb is dependent on the continuous involvement of
Professor Naparstek in the early stages of the continued research and development.
30.13.3. In 2005 ProtAb expanded its research team and recruited a Vice President of
Research and Development who has a great deal of industry experience in various
fields, including the development of antibody based drugs and analytical methods in
the field of antibodies.
30.13.4.

As of the date of the report, ProtAb employs 3 personnel.

30.13.5.

Consulting agreement
During 2007, ProtAb entered into a consulting agreement with Hadasit which was
extended during 2014 until July 31, 2015. According to the license agreement,
Hadasit will grant monthly consultation by Dr, Yaakov Naparstek to ProtAb in
connection with development of the leading product of ProtAb, in consideration of
a monthly amount of NIS 4,200 and ProtAb will also make an additional payment
to Hadasit in an amount of 25% for overhead.

30.13.6.

The right to appoint directors
According to the bylaws of ProtAb, the directors of ProtAb are appointed by the
general assembly by a regular majority of the shareholders. .As of the date of the
report, three directors serve in ProtAb, all three of which serve on behalf of the
company.

30.14. Materials and suppliers
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The raw materials of the company are varied and numerous and arrive from an assortment
of suppliers. The subcontractor engaged in manufacturing takes care in most cases of
purchasing them. The company has an agreement with GE Healthcare (formerly XCellerex).
As of the date of the report, ProtAb has no dependence on any of its suppliers.

30.15. Working capital
As of the date of the report, ProtAb has negative working capital of NIS 805 thousand.
30.16. Financing
As of the date of the report, ProtAb has not yet begun to make sales, and is, therefore,
dependent on raising funds from existing and new investors for financing its operations.
ProtAb finances its operations from equity raisings and from loans from shareholders and
grants from the Chief Scientist in the Ministry of the Economy.
30.17. Taxation
The tax laws in Israel apply to ProtAb
30.18. Material agreements
The material agreements of ProtAb are the agreements connected with intellectual property. See
Section 30.12 for details regarding these agreements.

30.19. Legal proceedings
As of the date of the report, ProtAb is not party to material legal proceedings.
30.20. Goals and business strategy and forecasted developments for the coming year as notified to
the company by ProtAb

Medical
Product
Prozumab

Current Status

2015

End of preAdvanced
clinical
trials with
preclinical; after
new
indications
a pre-IND
and selection of
meeting with
a clinical
the FDA

2016

End of
toxicological preclinical on
monkeys and
filings with
indication to
regulatory
continue
authorities in Israel
development,
for the receipt of
fund raising,
approval to start
production of
clinical trials.
GMP and start of
Performance of
toxicological pre- clinical trial Phase
clinical on
l on healthy
monkeys;
volunteers and
continued
start of Phase l/lla
development
clinical trial on
subject to
patients with the
attaining
clinical indication
additional
selected;
financing.
development
subject to attaining
additional
financing

2017
End of Phase
l/lla clinical trial
on patients with
the clinical
indication
selected;
development
subject to
attaining
additional
financing.
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The information brought in the above table includes forward looking information, as it is
defined in the Securities Law, and is contingent, inter alia, on receiving the results of the
trials, decisions of the board of directors and obtaining the necessary financing.

30.21. . Risk factors
See Section 25 above for details regarding macro-economic risk factors and sectoral risk factors.
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31.

BioMarCare Technologies Inc. (hereinafter - BioMarCare")
30.1.

Description of BioMarCare's Operations and the Technology Developed by it
As of the date of the Periodic Report, BioMarCare has frozen all of its activities.
Also, as of the date of publishing the Periodic Report, the company does not
employ personnel and team members. Commencing from March 2014, BioMarCare
principally focuses on activities of locating strategic partners and investors to
advance development and commercialization, without additional clinical activities.
In light of the above, BioMarCare is not material to the Company.
30.1.1. BioMarCare, previously named InCure Inc., is a private company founded in Israel
that has begun its business activities in August 2002. In October 2009, the
company renewed activities under its new name, BioMarCare Technologies Inc.
30.1.2. BioMarCare have a number of products that have not completed the development
for clinical diagnosis of cancer, based on advanced biological markers, which are
aimed at early detection of cancer, monitoring, and/or personalized medicine and
are expected to increase treatment efficiency and reduce the side effects that
come along with it.
30.1.3. Beginning from March 2014, and as of the date of the Periodic Report,
BioMarCare has frozen all of its activities, except for commercialization activities
as specified below.. Also, as of the date of publishing the Periodic Report, the
company does not employ personnel and team members. Commencing from
March 2014, BioMarCare principally focuses on activities of locating strategic
partners and investors to promote development and commercialization, without
additional clinical activities.
During the second quarter of 2014, BioMarCare signed an agreement with an
outside consultant in the United States for the purpose of promoting technological
commercialization. As of the date of the Periodic Report, BioMarCare terminated
the commitment with this outside consultant.
30.1.4. Update in relation to a project for the development of a mCRC-Strat test
intended to extend the effectiveness of the medication treatment of patients
with colon cancer at the metastatic stage which was supported (in the past)
by the BIRD Foundation:
In view of the notification by the BIRD Foundation to BioMarCare and Ariadne
(hereafter: “the companies”) that it has decided not to approve the application of
the companies for a new work program, the companies ended the cooperation
between them. As of the date of the Periodic Report, BioMarCare presented
summary reports to the BIRD Foundation and is waiting to receive a final
accounting from the BIRD Foundation.. Moreover, the companies are expected to
cancel the cooperation agreement between them which will become effective upon
receipt of the confirmation from the BIRD Foundation as to this final accounting.
30.1.5. Update in relation to the Colon-MarCarePlex project, dealing with a method
of diagnosing molecular biomarkers in the blood (plasma):
In the framework of the Colon-MarCarePlex project, BioMarCare was engaged in
development of a method for diagnosing molecular biomarkers in the blood
(plasma), considered to be a high technological challenge and barrier.
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On April 10, 2014, BioMarCare filed a patent application with the American Patent
Bureau for an instrument for clinical diagnosis of colon cancer, including diagnosis
of malignancy or pre cancerous lesions (polyps) by means of identification of
molecular signs in the blood. Concurrently to filing the patent, during the second
quarter of 2014, BioMarCare focused on analysis of the statistical results as well
as on business development activities, primarily to find strategic partners and
investors to promote development and commercialization of the product for which
the patent was filed, this without additional clinical activity.
On August 3, 2014, BioMarCare received a payment demand in the amount of
approximately NIS 106 thousand from the Docor Foundation in connection with a
loan agreement dated August 25, 2005 (hereafter: “2005 loan”) between
BioMarCare, Hadasit Medical Research and Development Services Ltd., Docor
and the Jerusalem Development Authority. During October 2014, BioMarCare paid
the debt to the Docor Foundation with respect to the 2005 loan.

32.

BioLine RX Ltd. (hereinafter - “BioLine”)

As of the date of the report, in view of the rate and value of the Company’s holding in BioLine,
BioLine is not material to the Company.
BioLine RX Ltd. is an Israeli company traded on the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange and the NASDAC.
BioLine is engaged in the development of drugs and products in various fields, including cardiology,
psychiatry, and oncology.
In January 2007, the Company participated in the tender phase of a public offering of BioLine. The
Company also participated in the tender stage of issuing of BioLine’s IPO. In total, the Company has
invested 2,274,000 NIS in BioLine. The Company holds 308,750 ordinary shares of BioLine. Since
acquiring the shares in BioLine, the Company has not sold, whether in the Stock Exchange or out of
it, any shares of BioLine.
As of March 22, 2015, the value on the Tel Aviv Stock exchange of the BioLine shares held by the
Company stands at approximately NIS 266 thousand.
The Company has no ability to influence BioLine’s activities or direct its business in any manner. As
of the date of this report, the Company’s board of directors considers the BioLine holdings to be
financial holdings
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HBL-Hadasit Bio-Holdings Ltd.

Directors’ Report on the Condition of the Company’s Affairs
For the period ended December 31, 2014

The notes accompanying the financial statements constitute an integral part thereof
..

The Board of Directors of HBL-Hadasit Bio-Holdings Ltd. (hereafter: “the Company”) respectfully present a review
of the condition of the Company’s affairs, as of December 31, 2114 (hereafter: “the date of the Directors’
Report”) and the financial results of the Company for a period of three months ended December 31, 2114 and for
a cumulative period of twelve months ended on December 31, 2114 (hereafter: “the reporting period”).
The consolidated reports contain the operating results of the Company, and of the Company’s subsidiary Kahr
Medical Ltd. In addition, the Company has three affiliated companies: CellCure Ltd., Enlivex Therapeutics Ltd.
(which was consolidated in the accounts of the Company up to May 18, 2014 and commencing from that date is
an affiliated company) and ProtAb Ltd., an affiliated company until the end of the third quarter of 2014, and
consolidated commencing from the fourth quarter of 2014, as well as an additional affiliated company, Biomarker
Technologies Ltd., whose financial statements are not attached to this Periodic Report, since after the adoption
by the Company of all of the concessions included in the amendment to the Securities Regulations (Periodic and
Immediate Reports)-1970, Biomarker Technologies Ltd. does not comply with the qualitative tests requiring the
attachment of its financial statements to the Company’s financial statements for the fourth quarter of 2114.
In the context of the Directors’ report, reference was not included to matters not related to the Company or that,
in the opinion of the Company, are not material, or that nothing in their absence would impair the understanding
of the condition of the Company’s affairs.
On February 19, 2014, the Board of Directors of the Company decided to voluntarily adopt all of
the concessions for a “small corporation” included in the amendment to the Securities
Regulations (Periodic and Immediate Reports”-1970, to the extent that they are relevant (or will
be relevant) to the Company, commencing from the Periodic Report for the year of 2014.
Accordingly, the Company is not making public the report of the outside independent auditors on
the internal control in this Periodic Report, and has published a concise managers’ declaration,
used the materiality threshold approved for small corporations in connection with the
attachment of evaluations and the attachment of reports of affiliated companies, and also
details regarding exposure to market risks.

A.

Directors’ explanations in relation to the condition of the Company’s affairs

1.

Condensed description of the Company and its business environment
The Company was established and incorporated in Israel on September 19, 2005 and, on December 10,
2005, the Company was converted to a public company, as this term is defined in the Companies Law-1999
(hereafter: “the Companies Law”), and its securities began to be traded on the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange
(hereafter: “the stock exchange").
During the year of 2011, the Company began to activate Level I Sponsored American Depository Receipts
(ADR)4 which permit the purchase of 20 marketable shares on the Over The Counter (OTC) in the United
States as one ADR unit under the symbol (OTC:HADCY).
From its establishment and as of March 23, 2115 (hereafter: “issuance date of the Directors’ Report”), the
Company is engaged in the advancement and the enhancement of the portfolio companies of the Company,
as detailed below, with the goal of maximizing value to the shareholders of the Company, mostly by means
of managerial support, and providing contacts and financing for the portfolio companies. The Company
coordinates six biotechnological companies (hereafter- “the portfolio companies”), all of which are
positioned after demonstrating success at the level of feasibility, namely-the efficiency of the medications
on a model of animals, with four of them found in the stage of clinical trials on human beings. The portfolio
companies of the Company are companies which develop medications for the categories of cancer,
inflammatory illnesses and rehabilitation of tissues by means of stem cells, areas in which the Hadassah
Hospital has great knowledge and goodwill as a world leader.
The Company is actively involved in the strategic planning of part of the portfolio companies, inter alia, by
means of active participation in the board of directors of the portfolio companies and by means of current
guidance of the management of the companies. The management of the Company takes an active part in
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the structuring of work programs and budgets, raising capital, business development of part of the portfolio
companies, etc. in which it has holdings, inter alia, by means of providing sources of funds necessary for
purposes of the research and development of the science, the technology and the products existing as the
basis of the portfolio companies. The biotechnological industry requires the building of value over an
extended period of time. The portfolio companies must advance and attain clear milestones, which in the
bio-technological industry, serve as an indication that there is validity in research, clinical development, the
regulatory process, business development and the other elements connected with the Company’s
operations, which are translated into monetary value for its owners. This value is assembled over
continuous periods of time and involves the investment of substantial financial and managerial inputs.
By means of this involvement, the Company seeks to assure that the resources which it provides are utilized
in the optimal manner and that the companies progress towards clinical trials that will be the basis of the
strategy of creating value for the Company. It should be noted that the Company is not the controlling party
in all of its Portfolio Companies; hence its involvement varies from one Portfolio Company to another, as a
function of the extent of it holdings. As of the date of the report, representatives of the Company are
serving on the board of directors of all of the Portfolio Companies. See Section 2 below for additional
details regarding the Company’s holdings in the portfolio companies as well as details regarding the stages
in which the portfolio companies are situated.
The Board of Directors of the Company examines the company’s existing in the Portfolio and the new
investment opportunities based on a number of criteria, including the maturity of the product/technology,
the potential market size, the life span of the intellectual property that the product is based on, the
existence of an additional financial partner to fund the company, and more.
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2. Rate of Holdings of the Company in the Portfolio Companies ,the area of operations and the stage
in which the portfolio companies are positioned
For details, see Section 1.13 in Chapter A to the Periodic Report.
and for the operations of the portfolio companies.
3. Events after the date of the report
3.1

On January 1, 2015, the Company published an Immediate Report regarding the extension of the option
period of the Teva Company in the context of a license agreement with CellCure Neurosciences Ltd.
(hereafter: “CellCure”), a company held by 21.2% by the Company, which extended the option period
by an additional thirty days through January 31, 2115, See the Company’s Immediate Report dated
January 1, 2015 (Document No. 2015-01-000100) for additional details.

3.2

On January 21, 2015, the Company announced that D-Pharm Ltd. (hereafter: “D-Pharm”) published
results of an issuance of rights according to a shelf proposal report which was issued on December 25,
2014. The immediate gross proceeds received by D-Pharm with respect to the rights issued in the
framework of the rights issuance totaled NIS 12,775 thousand. See the Company’s Immediate Report
dated January 21, 2015 (Document No. 2015-01-016156) for additional details.

3.3

On January 22, 2015, the Company announced that the leading product of the subsidiary, Enlivex
Therapeutics Ltd (hereafter: “Enlivex”, held 25.83% by the Company), received approval of the status of
an Orphan Drug for the ApoCell product in Europe. This recognition could provide Enlivex with
concessions from the regulatory requirements during development, and assistance in development and
registration of the medication. See the Company’s Immediate Report dated January 22, 2115
(Document No. 2015-01-016990) for additional details.

3.4

On January 31, 2015, the Company announced that, in continuation of the Immediate Report dated
January 1, 2015, CellCure and Teva have decided to once again extend the option period, through
February 15, 2015. See the Company’s Immediate Reports dated January 1, 2115 and January 22, 2115
(Documents No. 2015-01-000100, 2015-01-0121730, respectively) for additional details.

3.5

On February 1, 2115, the Company’s Compensation Committee and Board of Directors approved a
liability insurance policy for the Company for directors and officers, as they will exist from time to time,
including officers who are controlling shareholders of the Company, pursuant to the terms of the
Company’s compensation policies. See the Company’s Immediate Report dated February 1, 2015
(Document No. 2015-01-022672) for additional details.

3.6

On February 2, 2015, the Company published an Immediate Report regarding the last date for
exercising the Company’s options (Series 4). See the Company’s Immediate Report dated February 2,
2015 (Document No. 2015-01-023152) for additional details.

3.7

On February 2, 2015, the Company published an Immediate Report concerning the last date for
exercising the Company’s options (Series 7). See the Company’s Immediate Report dated February 2,
2015 (Document No. 2015-01-023152) for additional details.

3.8

On February 2, 2015, the Company published an Immediate Report concerning the decision of the
Company’s Board of Directors concerning deferral of the last exercise date of the options (Series 7) until
February 26, 2115. See the Company’s Immediate Report dated February 2, 2115 (Document No. 211501-023233) for additional details.

3.9

On February 4, 2015, the Company petitioned the Jerusalem District Court to approve a proceeding
pursuant to Section 350 of the Companies Law, for the extension of the exercise period of the
Company’s options (Series 7) by 12 additional months, so that each option (Series 7) of the Company
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will be exercisable until February 26, 2016 (inclusive), instead of until February 26, 2015 (inclusive)
(hereafter: “the proposed arrangement”). See the Company’s Immediate Report dated February 4,
2015 (Document No. 2015-01-025231) for additional details.
In addition, on February 4, 2015, the Company petitioned the Jerusalem District Court with an urgent
request on the part of the Company (ex parte) to provide temporary relief in the context of a
proceeding for the change of the terms of the Company’s options (Series 7), pursuant to the proposed
arrangement. See the Company’s Immediate Report dated February 4, 2115 (Document No. 2115-01025231) for additional details.
3.10 On February 5, 2015, the Company announced that the court had approved the request for temporary
relief for the extension of the exercise period of the Company’s options (Series 7) until the earlier of
February 26, 2116 (inclusive) or when until another ruling is given. See the Company’s Immediate
Report dated February 5, 2015 (Document No. 2015-01-026167) for additional details.
3.11 On February 8, 2015, the Company announced that it had signed a non-binding agreement in principle
for a convertible loan to the KAHR Medical (2115) Ltd. company (hereafter: “KAHR”), a subsidiary held
49% (not fully diluted) of the Company, together with the Flerie Invest AB company (hereafter: Flerie”),
a shareholder in KAHR. Pursuant to the agreement in principle, on the date of signing the loan
agreement (hereafter: “the determining date”), Flerie is obligated to transfer $ 511 thousand to KAHR,
out of a total loan of one million dollars. In the event that the Company will communicate an
announcement in writing within 21 days of the determining date that it intends to lend the balance of
the loan amount, or part of it, the Company will transfer this amount to KAHR within 30 days of the
determining date. In any event, Flerie will supplement any deficiency in the amount of the loan not
transferred by the Company and/or the other shareholders, so that the total loan amount will stand at
one million dollars (hereafter; “terms of the agreement in principle”). See the Company’s Immediate
Report dated February 8, 2015 (Document No. 2015-01-026794) for additional details.
3.12 On February 8, 2015, the Company announced that the court had approved the convening of a General
Assembly of holders of the Company’s options (Series 7) for purposes of approving the proposed
arrangement. See the Company’s Immediate Reports dated February 8, 2115 (Document Nos. 2115-01025219 and 2015-01-026797, respectively) for additional details.
3.13 On February 8, 2015, the Company petitioned the court with a request for a clarification in connection
with the court’s decision of January 5, 2115, as announced by the Company on February 8, 2115
(Document No. 2015-01-126797). See the Company’s Immediate Report dated February 8, 2015
(Document No. 2015-01-027001) for additional details.
3.14 On February 8, 2115, the Company announced that the court consented to the Company’s request to
provide clarification following the Company’s application for the proposed arrangement pursuant to
Section 351 of the Companies Law for extending the exercise period of the Company’s options (Series
7). See the Company’s Immediate Report dated February 8, 2115 (Document No. 2115-01-027697) for
additional details.
3.15 On February 9, 2015, the Company petitioned the court with a written request according to which the
Securities Authority approached the Company and claimed that its position is that the proposed
arrangement should be approved, inter alia, pursuant to the provisions of Section 275 of the Companies
Law, namely, to bring up the proposed arrangement to a vote at the assembly of the Company’s
shareholders. See the Company’s Immediate Report dated February 9, 2115 (Document No. 2115-01028357) for additional details.
3.16 On February 9, 2015, the Company announced that the court requested, inter alia, that, in addition to
convening an assembly of the owners of the options (Series 7), the Company should convene a General
Assembly of the Company’s shareholders for purposes of approving the proposed arrangement. See the
Company’s Immediate Report dated February 9, 2115 (Document No. 2115-01-028363) for additional
details.
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In continuation of the above decision of the court, on February 11, 2015, the Company convened a
General Assembly of the holders of the Company’s options (Series 7), and a General Assembly of the
Company’s shareholders, on whose agenda is approval of the proposed arrangement pursuant to
Section 350 and Section 275 of the Companies Law. See the Company’s Immediate Report dated
February 9, 2015 (Document No. 2015-01-029947) for additional details.
3.17 On February 12, 2015, the Company announced that it had signed a convertible loan agreement of one
million dollars to KAHR, together with Flerie, a shareholder in KAHR, pursuant to the terms of the
agreement in principle as specified in paragraph 3.11 above. See the Company’s Immediate Report
dated February 11, 2015 (Document No. 2015-01-030793) for additional details.
3.18 On February 15, 2015, the Company announced that D-Pharm held discussions on approving its working
program for 2015, in view of the issuance of rights that it completed, with a volume of proceeds of
approximately NIS 12.8 million (gross). See the Company’s Immediate Report dated February 15, 2015
(Document No. 2015-01-031099) for additional details.
3.19 On February 16, 2015, the Company announced expiration of the option of Teva by force of the license
agreement with CellCure, by which CellCure had granted an option to Teva to obtain a world-wide
exclusive license to develop and commercialize CellCure’s OpRegen® product. See the Company’s
Immediate Report dated February 15, 2015 (Document No. 2015-01-031918) for additional details.
3.20 On February 17, 2015, the Company announced that CellCure received Helsinki approval for beginning
the Phase l/lla clinical trial, and, therefore, the Company gave notice of the opening of the clinical trial
at the Hadassah Ein Kerem Medical Center in Jerusalem. The principal goal of the clinical trial is proof of
the safety, tolerance and assessment of effectiveness of the OpRegen® product. The secondary goal of
the experiment is the evaluation of the ability of the OpRegen® product to slow down the progress of
the illness. See the Company’s Immediate Report dated February 17, 2015 (Document No. 2015-01032644) for additional details.
3.21 On February 17, 2015, the Company announced that CellCure received approval to register a patent in
the United States. The patent is owned by Hadasit Research and Development Services Ltd which
granted CellCure an exclusive license to use the patent. See the Company’s Immediate Report dated
February 17, 2015 (Document No. 2015-01-032809) for additional details.
3.22 On February 20, 2015, the Company published a presentation regarding the Company. See the
Company’s Immediate Report dated February 21, 2115 (Document No. 2115-01-035428) for additional
details.
3.23 On March 4, 2115, the Company convened assemblies of holders of the Company’s options (Series 7)
and an assembly of the Company’s shareholders for purposes of approving the proposed arrangement.
The proposed arrangement was not approved by the shareholders’ assembly and therefore was not
approved. See the Company’s Immediate Reports dated March 4, 2115 (Document Nos. 2015-01044077 and 2015-01-044137) for additional details.
3.24 On March 4, 2015, the Company announced that it had received a notification from the stock exchange
according to which, in light of results of the shareholders’ assembly, there is ambiguity regarding the
last date to exercise the Company’s options (Series 7). Following this, trading of the options (Series 7)
was stopped.
3.25 Following the results of the above assemblies, on March 4, 2015, the Company approached the court to
present a notice of the results of the assembly of the option holders and the assembly of shareholders
of the Company. In light of the results of the assemblies, the court was instructed to order the
expiration of the options. See the Company’s Immediate Report dated March 4, 2015 (Document No.
2015-01-044555) for additional details.
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3.26 On March 5, 2115, the Company announced that an amendment had been signed to KAHR’s convertible
loan agreement, as detailed in paragraph 3.17 above, according to which the times were extended in
relation to the right of the Company to participate in the balance of the amount or part of it and the
period for submitting the notice by the Company regarding its intention to lend KAHR the balance or
the loan or part of it in an amount of up to NIS 511 thousand. See the Company’s Immediate Report
dated March 5, 2015 (Document No. 2015-01-044797) for additional details.
3.27 On March 8, 2015, the Company announced that the court had instructed that, since the assembly did
not approve the extension of the exercise date in relation to the Company’s options (Series 7), the
temporary injunction that it had given was revoked. See the Company’s Immediate Report dated March
8, 2015 (Document No. 2015-01-045808) for additional details.
3.28 On March 8, 2115, the Company gave notice of the expiration of the Company’s options (Series 7). See
the Company’s Immediate Report dated March 8, 2115 (Document No. 2115-01-046078) for additional
details.
3.29 See the Company’s Immediate Report dated March 8, 2015 (Document No. 2015-01-045931) for details
regarding the registry of the Company’s shareholders. This information is brought by way of reference.
3.30 See the Company’s Immediate Report dated March 1, 2115 (Document No. 2115-01-046024) for details
of the holdings of interested parties and executive officers. This information is brought by way of
reference.

B.

The Company’s financial position (consolidated)
Following is a summary of the statements of operations for the reporting period (in NIS 000):
2014
Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Total

Research and development
expenses, net

)120(

).4151(

)24121(

)24025(

)74105(

General and administrative
expenses

).4.1.(

).4.50(

).4.77(

).455.(

)24155(

Other income

)22.(

14225

24221

)51(

24517

Operating loss

)2,,,2(

,,5,2

),,3,5(

)5,,25(

),,757(

121

-

-

151

.4220

Financing expenses

).51(

)225(

).5(

)502(

).4117(

Company’s share in losses of
investee companies

)7.7(

)112(

)772(

).425.(

)24222(

)2,3,,(

,,,

)2,,,2(

)2,,,3(

),7,,,2(

-

-

-

-

-

)2,3,,(

,,,

)2,,,2(

)2,,,3(

),7,,,2(

Financing income

Income (loss) before taxes on
income
Taxes on income
Net income for period
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December 31,
2014 (NIS
000)
% of total
balance sheet

December 31,
2013
(NIS 000)
% of total
balance sheet

Company’s explanation

.2405.
10%

224512
15%

22.
.11%
14025
.5%

211
.12%
.24757
27%

Balance of cash and
cash equivalents
and marketable
securities of
parent company
Investment in
marketable
securities and
deposits
Financial assets
available for sale

24520
.1%

74225
.512%

24750
5%

14715
.5%

24022
1%

.4211
112%

Balance of
investment in
affiliated
companies

2475.

54011
21%

Most of the decrease in the reporting period derives from use of
cash by the Company and subsidiaries and realization of
marketable secutities by the Company, offset by equity raisings
executed by the Company on June 2, 2014 and July 14, 2014. . See
the Company’s Immediate Reports dated May 28, 2114 (Document
Nos. 2014-01-082311 and 2014-01-113148) for additional details
(hereafter: “the equity raisings”).
Most of the decrease in the reporting period derives from current
depreciation.
Most of the decrease in the reporting period derives from use of
cash by the Company and subsidiaries, realization of marketable
securities by the Company and investment in the affiliated
company CellCure, offset by equity raisings of the Company.
Most of the change in the reporting period derives from use of cash
and realization of marketable securities by Company for purposes
of the current operations and investment in two affiliated
companies (ProtAb and CellCure), offset by equity raisings by
Company
The decrease in the reporting period derives from realization of
marketable securities by the Company for purposes of current
operations and investment in two affiliated companies (ProtAb and
CellCure).
Most of the change in the reporting period derives from an
additional investment by the Company is shares of D-Pharm as part
of the issuance of rights executed by D-Pharm, offset by a decline in
value of the shares.
Most of the decrease in the reporting period derives from
withdrawal of equity losses of affiliated companies and impairment
of affiliated company, and entry into consolidation of ProtAb, and,
on the other hand, exit from consolidation of Enlivex and its
inclusion in this section as an affiliated company.

Total assets

32,,,,

3,,,5,

Current liabilities

24710
.2%

24212
.1%

Non-current
liabilities

14211
20%

14205
.2%

Total liabilities

,7,372

1,,,,

Company equity
attributed to
owners of
Company’s equity
rights

.240.5

.74521

Assets
Current assets

Fixed assets, net
Balance of cash and
cash equivalents

5%

Most of the decrease in the reporting period derives from a decline
in liabilities with respect to leasehold improvements and exit of
Enlivex from consolidation
Most of the change in the reporting period derives, on the one
hand, from exit of Enlivex from consolidation and, on the other
hand, from entry into consolidation of ProtAb, and from
recognition of loans received from the minority of ProtAb in
consolidated report and also from long term liabilities with respect
to leasehold improvements

Most of the change in the reporting period derives from equity
raising, increase of minority rights as a result of the entry into
consolidation of ProtAb
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C. Results of operations of the Company
2014

2013

2012

Company’s explanation
The research and development expenses during
the reporting period include the research and
development expenses of KAHR, Enlivex which
was consolidated until May 18, 2014, and ProtAb
which was consolidated starting from September
30, 2014. See Section E. below for further details.
General and administrative expenses for the
reporting period include general and
administrative expenses of the Company, KAHR,
Enlivex which was consolidated until May 18,
2014, and ProtAb which was consolidated starting
from September 30, 2014
The recognition of other income is as the result of
the recognition of capital gain derived from the
exit from consolidation of Enlivex and from the
entry into consolidation of ProtAb, as well as from
loss due to a provision for impairment of
Biomarker.

R&D expenses, net
)74105(

(7,945)

)74117(

)24155)

(5,103)

)24175(

24517

2,824

14517

Profit (loss)

)74020(

(10,224)

)24575(

Net income (loss)
for period

).04152(

General and
administrative
expenses

Other income, net

).54172(

).141.0(

D. Sources of Funds and cash flows
2014
Cash flows from
operating
activities

2013

2012

).24212(

)..41..(

).24.11(

111

24075

24022

Cash flows from
(to) investment
activities

Cash flows from
financing
activities

14227

54211

.14555

Company’s explanation
Cash flows from operating activities for the
reporting period represents principally the cash
serving current operations of the Company and
KAHR, as well as the cash serving current
operations of ProtAb for the fourth quarter of
2014.
Cash flows from investment activities for the
reporting period represent mostly realization of
marketable securities and the Company’s
investment in ProtAb in the fourth quarter of
2014.
Cash flows from financing activities for the
reporting period represents mostly the equity
raised by the Company and funds received from
the OCS by the subsidiaries

1. Sources of Funds
The major sources of financing of the Company are raising equity. The Company is dependent on
external sources of financing to finance its activities.
2.

Cross reference of the outside independent auditors in the opinion
In the opinion of the outside independent auditors to the Company’s shareholders as of March 23,
2015, the outside independent auditors stated as follows:
“Without qualifying our opinion, we wish to draw attention to the contents of Note 1.B. to the
financial statements as of December 31, 2014. The Company (in its separate reports) has losses in the
amount of approximately NIS 106,891 thousand, and negative cash flows from operating activities in
the amount of NIS 3,748 thousand for the period ended on that same date. Moreover, as of the
balance sheet date, the Company (in its separate reports) has cash and cash equivalents and
marketable securities in the amount of NIS 2,820 thousand which, according to the estimation of the
Company’s management in its forecast of cash flows, will permit the continuation of its operations in
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the coming months. The Company must obtain additional financing for purposes of continuing its
operations.
These factors raise significant doubts concerning the continued existence of the Company as a “going
concern”. No adjustments were included in the financial statements with respect to the values and
classification of the assets and liabilities that it is possible will be necessary, should the Company not
be able to continue and operate as a “going concern”."

E. R&D expenses in the portfolio companies
1. The table below lists R&D expenses net (after deducting the influence of loans from the
Chief Scientist) by the Portfolio Companies:

Enlivex14
ProtAb15
KAHR
Total, consolidated companies
CellCure
Enlivex
ProtAb
BioMarCare
Total, affiliated companies
Total R&D Expenses

For the period ended December 31 (in thousands)
2014
2013
Consolidated Companies
46
1,374
504
0
6,858
6,571
7,408
7,945
11,753
2,085
92
849
14,779
22,187

16,519
0
2,022
2,067
20,608
28,553

The Company’s investments in the companies in which it has a stake serve, mostly, to finance the
companies’ regular R&D activities. In addition, these investments allow the companies to raise additional
capital, notably subventions from the office of the Chief Scientist of the Ministry of Industry and Trade.
Note that this external funding does not dilute the Company’s holdings in the Portfolio Companies and
may reach 60% of all of their research and development expenses.

F. Report on the exposure to main market risks and their management
1. The person responsible for risk management
The person responsible for market risk management in the Company is Me. Tamar Kfir, the Company’s
CEO. See detail of Regulation 26A in Chapter D of the Periodic Report for details regarding the education
and experience of Ms. Tamar Kfir.
2. Description of market risks
2.1. Economic Exposures
Economic slowdown has had a substantial influence on the Company’s ability to raise financial
resources. Without appropriate financial resources the Portfolio Companies cannot acquire the
inputs they need to conduct research and development and to commence and advance human
clinical trials.

14

consolidated company until May 2014, affiliate company to the date1

15

consolidated company from September 2014, affiliated company as of December 2013.
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2.2

Fluctuations in securities prices
The Company is exposed to fluctuations in the prices of securities in Israel and abroad with respect
to holdings of cash and cash equivalents in a liquid deposit of the Beta Mercury type. Moreover, the
Company holds shares of BioLine and shares of D-Pharm. Other than the aforesaid, the Company
does not hold investments of financial instruments which have high sensitivity to market risks.

3. Policies of the Company in market risk management
4. Means of supervision and carrying out the policies
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A. Aspects of corporate governance
1. Compensation of Senior Officials of the Company
At the meeting of the Company’s Board of Directors on March 23, 2115, at which the Periodic Report was
approved, the Company’s Board of Directors examined the compensation terms of the five executive
officers in 2014, including the reasonableness of these compensation terms and the connection between
them and the contribution of each officer to the Company in 2014, and reached the conclusion that the
compensation terms of those executive officers for 2114 conform to the Company’s compensation policies.
See Regulation 21 in Chapter D of the Periodic Report for additional details concerning the compensation
terms of the officers. See the Company’s Immediate Report dated October 13, 2114 (Document No.: 211401-175374) for additional information concerning the Company’s compensation policies.

2. Charitable Contributions
As of the date of the report, the Company had not yet adopted a policy concerning charitable
contributions, and during the report period a contribution was not granted by the company.

3. Report on Directors with Accounting and Financial Expertise
The board of directors resolved that the minimum number of directors with accounting and financial
expertise will be two. As of the date of the Directors’ Report, five directors with accounting and financial
expertise serve the Company:
Mr. Yigal Erlich, Chairman of the Board, Dr. Rafi Hofstein, Mrs. Michal Sapir, Mr. Doron Birger and Mr.
Yaron Kulas.

4. Report on Independent Directors
As of the date of the Directors Report, the Company has not yet adopted in its bylaws the provision with
regard to the proportion of the independent directors (as this term is defined in Section 1 of the
Companies Law). Nevertheless, the Company has classified Mr. Doron Birger as an independent director.

5. Disclosure regarding the Company's internal auditor
5.1 Name-Boaz Barzilay, CPA (Attorney), the internal auditor was appointed in light of his broad
experience in internal audit and pursuant to the approval of the Board of Directors as of May 16,
2006.
5.2 Date tenure began- May 16, 2006.
5.3 Is he a Company employee-the internal auditor is not an employee of the Company but grants it
internal audit services and consultation on the subject of I-SOX by outsourcing.
5.4 Is he an interested party- to the best of the Company’s knowledge, the internal auditor complies
with the provisions of Section 146(b) of the Companies Law and is therefore, not an interested party
of the Company, is not a relative of any of the interested parties in the Company or of the
independent outside auditor or anyone on his behalf. Also, to the best of the Company’s knowledge,
the internal auditor complies with the provisions of Section 8 of the Internal Auditor Law-1992 and,
therefore, does not fill a position outside of the Company that creates or could create a conflict of
interest with his function as the Company’s internal auditor. The internal auditor is not an officer of
the Company (over and above his role as internal auditor).
5.5 Audit program and its scope- the annual audit program of the Company and its scope were
determined in consideration of the size of the Company, the scope and complexity of its business
operations and in reliance on a risks survey performed in 2011. The audit scope for the reporting
period totaled approximately 135 hours. The audit program was presented by the internal auditor to
the Company’s Board of Directors, which approved this program on May 12, 2014.
5.6 Audit program for 2015-the audit program for 2015 was presented by the internal auditor to the
Board of Directors which approved it on December 14, 2014 according to the recommendation of the
Audit Committee of December 11, 2014.
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5.7 Compensation of the internal auditor- the compensation of the internal auditor was determined in
advance as an agreed fee per working hour and he is not compensated by the grant of securities of
the Company. In the assessment of the Company’s Board of Directors, this compensation structure
does not influence his professional judgment. To the best of the Company’s knowledge, the internal
auditor does not hold securities of the Company. The fee of the internal auditor with respect to his
services during the reporting period totaled approximately NIS 33 thousand.
5.8 Professional standards according to which the audit was performed- according to his notification, the
internal auditor performs the internal audit according to accepted professional standards as stated in
Section 4(b) of the Internal Audit Law-1992
5.9 The organizational function in charge of the internal auditor- the Chairman of the Board of
Directors.
5.10 Access to information- the internal auditor has free access, as stated in Section 9 of the Internal
Audit Law-1992, including constant access to the information system of the Company and the
subsidiary, including financial data.
5.11 Internal auditor’s report- the internal auditor’s report for the reporting period, which was presented
in writing, included an examination concerning the management processes and the preservation of
the research-engineering information of the subsidiaries: KAHR Medical Ltd. and CellCure
Neurosciences Ltd.
5.12 Assessment by the Board of Directors of the internal auditor’s activities- the Company’s Board of
Directors believes that the nature and continuity of the activities of the internal auditor and his work
program are reasonable in consideration of the Company, the scope and complexity of the Company
and its business, and the activities of the internal auditor and his work program to achieve the goals
of the internal audit in the company.

6. Disclosure regarding salary accountant auditor
NameWork
hours
Total for audit services,
services connected with
audit and current tax
services
Total for related services
Total

2014
Fees ( in
NIS 000)

Work
hours

2013
Fees ( in
NIS 000)

.4152

.12

.4220

.12

25

.5

-

-

.47.0

.52

.4220

.12

The fee of the outside independent auditor is determined according to the value of the service given as is
accepted in the market in which the Company operates and pursuant to the scope of the service given.
The fee of the outside independent auditor was approved by the Company’s Board of Directors.

7. Disclosure regarding the Process of Approval of the Financial Reports
The officers in charge of overall control are the CEO of the Company-Ms. Tamar Kfir and the Chairman of
the Board of Directors- Mr. Yigal Ehrlich. See detail in Regulation 26A in Chapter D of the Periodic Report
for details concerning the education and experience of Ms. Kfir and Mr. Yigal Ehrlich.
The Company established a Committee for the Examination of the Financial Statements of the Company
(hereafter, in this subsection: “the Committee”), designated to thoroughly examine the Company’s
financial statements, and accordingly, to recommend to the Company’s Board of Directors regarding
approval of the financial statements. The Committee members are Mr. Yaron Kulas, Chairman of the
Committee (an outside director), Ms. Michal Sapir (an outside director) and Mr. Doron Birger (an
independent director). All of the Committee members possess accounting and financial expertise, as
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defined in Regulation 1 of the Companies Regulations (Conditions and Tests for a Director Possessing
Accounting and Financial Expertise and a Director Possessing Professional Competence)-2005. See
Regulation 26 of Chapter D to the Directors Report regarding the qualifications and education of the
Committee members. The Committee members were appointed after qualifying examinations and filling
out proper declarations, as required by law.
The Company’s financial statements for the year of 2114 were discussed in a meeting of the Committee
held on March 18, 2015 and in a follow-up meeting on March 19, 2015. In the context of the discussion,
Mr. Yaron Kulas, Chairman of the Committee, Ms. Michal Sapir (an outside director) and Mr. Doron Birger
(an independent director) attended. For purposes of presenting the data and providing explanations,
present at the meeting were Liat Simhayoff, CPA, CFO of the Company, a representative of the Company’s
independent outside auditor, (Shai Nagor, CPA, of the Deloitte firm) and a representative on behalf of the
Company’s legal counsel (Attorney Eran Ben-David and Attorney Reut Alfiah from the firm of Zysman,
Aharoni, Gayer & Co., attorneys). Prior to the meeting, drafts of the financial statements for the reporting
period, a draft Directors’ Report and a presentation including details of profit and loss and research and
development expenses as well as evaluations that served for purposes of the reports and which are
material evaluations attached to this report, were sent to the Committee members. During the meeting,
inter alia, the following subjects were discussed: (1) the accounting policies adopted and the accounting
treatment implemented for material matters; (2) estimates and assessments made in connection with the
financial statements; (3) evaluations, including the assumptions and estimates on which the financial
statements relied; (4) the internal audits connected with the financial reporting; (5) data of the
Company’s financial statements for the reporting period. The CFO displayed a presentation that included
information related to the data included in the financial statements. The Committee members asked
questions connected with the above subjects and received answers to their questions.
The recommendations of the Committee in relation to sections 1-6 above were transmitted to the
members of the Board of Directors on March 20, 2015. The financial statements for the reporting period
were transferred to the members of the Board of Directors on March 20, 2015, that is, 3 days prior to the
date of the meeting of the Board of Directors at which the financial statements were discussed. In view of
the scope and complexity of the recommendations, the Board of Directors determined that three days
prior to the date of the meeting of the Company’s Board of Directors is a reasonable period of time in the
circumstances for transferring the recommendations.
The financial statements of the Company were discussed and approved at a meeting of the Company’s
Board of Directors held on March 22, 2115, after these reports and the Directors’ Report were sent to the
members of the Board of Directors. In the context of the meeting of the Board of Directors, the
recommendations of the Committee were brought before the members of the Board of Directors, and
also a review and analysis was given by the Company’s CEO and CFO, who presented in detail the
principal parts of the financial statements, including the operating results, cash flows and the financial
position of the Company. The following directors participated at the meeting of the Board of Directors:
The Chairman of the Board of Directors, Mr. Yigal Ehrlich, Dr. Rafi Hofstein, Mr. Doron Birger, Ms. Michal
Sapir, Ms Meirav Kay, Mr. Yaron Kulas, Prof. Yaakov Naparstek and Dr. Tamar Raz. For purposes of
presenting the data and providing explanations, Ms. Tamar Kfir, CEO of the Company, Liat Simhayoff, CFO
of the Company, Mr. Yoram Azulai, Director of Investments of the Company, a representative of the
Company’s independent outside auditor, (Shai Nagor, CPA, of the Deloitte firm) and a representative on
behalf of the Company’s legal counsel (Attorney Eran Ben-David and Attorney Reut Alfiah from the firm of
Zysman, Aharoni, Gayer & Co., attorneys), were invited and were present at the discussion. After approval
of the financial statements for the reporting period by the Board of Directors as mentioned above, the
managers of the Company were authorized to sign the financial statements and the Directors’ Report in
the name of the Board of Directors.

B. Disclosure provisions in connection with the Company’s financial reporting
1.

Disclosure regarding events subsequent to the reporting date
As detailed in Part A of the Directors’ Report

2.

Disclosure regarding critical accounting estimates
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See Note 3 to Chapter C of the Periodic Report for critical accounting estimates of the Company.
3.

Disclosure regarding material evaluations
See the evaluations attached to this Periodic Report as well as detail according to Regulation 8B in
Chapter D to this Periodic Report for data presenting the very material evaluations, as this term is
defined in the Securities Regulations (Periodic and Immediate Reports)-1970, which served as the basis
for determining the value of data in the financial statements for the reporting period.

Tamar Kfir

Yigal Erlich

CEO

Chairman of the Board

Date: 22.3.2015
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IMPORTANT
This document is an unofficial translation of the Hebrew original
“Consolidated Financial Statements”, dated
December 31, 2014 from the financial statements of Hadasit Bio-Holdings
Ltd. that was submitted to the Tel-Aviv Stock Exchange ("TASE") and the
Israeli Securities Authority on March 23, 2015.
The Hebrew version submitted to the TASE and the Israeli Securities
Authority shall be the sole binding legal version. This translation is for
the convenience of English readers.
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HBL- Hadasit Bio-Holdings, Ltd
Statements of Financial Position

Note
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Investment in marketable securities
Restricted cash
Financial assets available for sale
Other accounts receivable
Non-current assets
Convertible loans to investee companies
Investments in affiliated companies
Fixed assets, net
Lease fees receivables
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

5
5

5

Total assets
Current liabilities
Bank credit
Trade accounts payable
Other accounts payable
Lease fees receivables

6

Long- term liabilities
Liabilities over assets in investees
Lease fees payables

6

Share-holders' Equity
Ordinary share capital
Additional paid-in capital
Equity reserve from operations with controlling shareholder
Warrants
Equity settled employee benefits reserve
Capital reserve from financial assets available for sale
Accumulated deficit
Total Shareholders' equity (deficiency)
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity

As of December 31
201,
2013
NIS Thousands
Audited
20
24750
24022
200
24.72

610
14715
)*( 110
.4211
24011
..4127

2407.
54.0.
21
.72
.4755
.24.55

.54.52
.04222
11
254722

.74272

25450.

2.
252
222
722
.4122

171
2.1
24555
2415.

732
732

.54251
.54251

.4125
..14722
754
24125
155
)222(
).01455.(
.240.5

.4212
..24575
721
24012
.4512
..5
).0.42.7(
.74521

.74272

25450.

March 23, 2015
Date of approval of

Yigal Erlich

Tamar Kfir

Liat Simhayoff

Financial statements

Chairman of the Board
of Directors

CEO

CFO

(*) Reclassified
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HBL- Hadasit Bio-Holdings, Ltd
Statements of Comprehensive Loss

For the year ended December 31
27,,
27,3
27,2
NIS Thousand
Audited

Note

)14051(
24517
.471.

)24275(
24521
)721(

)24752(
14517
24.72

Financing income
Financing expenses
Financing (income) expenses, net

755
)10(
715

110
)251(
.71

.4.25
)2.1(
1.2

Loss after financing

242.0

)250(

24750

Company's share in the losses of its affiliated
companies

)54.51(

).141.0(

).1412.(

Loss for the period

)24171(

).24.50(

).0451.(

Income (loss) gain on financial assets
available for sale

)11.(

211

)212(

Comprehensive loss for the period

)14..2(

).14521(

)..4201(

General and administrative expenses
Other income, net
Loss from regular activities

Other comprehensive loss

The notes to the condensed financial statements constitute an inseparable part thereof.
HBL: Hadasit Bio-Holdings, Ltd
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Condensed Interim Statements of Cash Flows
For the year ended December 31
27,,
27,3
27,2
NIS Thousand
Audited
Cash flows - operating activities
Loss for the period

(5,674)

(15,190)

(10,861)

1,926

11,637

6,823

(3,748)

(3,553)

(4,038)

10

242

478

Convertible loans to investee companies

(3,535)

(1,126)

(3,379)

Investment in marketable securities

(3,800)

(5,170)

-

Realization of marketable securities

7,817

7,360

6,179

I Investment in affiliate companies

(932)

(721)

(1,727)

Purchase of fixed assets

(55)

(9)

(10)

Restricted cash repayment

440

-

-

Net cash provided by investing activities

(55)

576

1,541

Cash flows from financing activities
Interest payments and bank fees

(4)

(17)

(8)

3,140

-

4,849

51

-

-

-

-

22

3,187

(17)

4,863

36

4

(5)

(580)

(2,990)

2,361

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period

610

3,600

1,239

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period

30

610

3,600

Adjustments required to reconcile cash flows for operating
activities (Appendix A)
Net cash used in operating activities
Cash flows - investing activities
Interest receipts

Issuance of shares capital and warrants, net
Bank credit
Option exercise
Net cash provided by financing activities
Effect of exchange rates changes on balance of cash and
cash equivalents hold in foreign currencies

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

The notes to the financial statements constitute an inseparable part thereof
HBL: Hadasit Bio-Holdings, Ltd
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Statements of Cash Flows
Appendix A - Adjustments Required to Present Cash Flows from Operating Activities
For the year ended December 31
27,,
27,3
27,2
NIS Thousand
Audited

Expenses not related to cash flows:
Company's share in the losses of affiliated companies
Capital loss (gain) from realization of affiliated companies
Depreciation
Financing expenses
Financing income
Share-based payment
Loss from impairment of financial assets available for sale

54.52
)24517(
11
10
)755(
15
-

.141.0
)1411.(
77
251
)110(
21
.41.7

.1412.
)14517(
71
2.1
).4.25(
51
-

Changes in assets and liabilities items:
Decrease (increase) in other accounts receivable
Increase (decrease) in trade accounts payable
Decrease (increase) in other accounts payable
Increase (decrease) in leas fees payables
Increase (decrease) in leas fees payables long term

.4250
).52(
.20
)24022(
722

).27(
.05
2.1
24101
)24710(

175
)170(
2
)125(

.4521

..4127

14522

Notes to the Separate Interim Financial Statements

The notes accompanying the financial statements constitute an integral part thereof
2.

Note 1 - General
A. The separate interim financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with Regulation
9C and the Tenth Addendum to the Securities Law Regulations (Periodic and Immediate Reports) - 1970.

As of December 31, 2014, the Company had losses of NIS 106,891 thousand and negative cash flows from
current operations of NIS 3,748 thousand. Furthermore, as of the balance sheet date, the Company has cash
and cash equivalents and marketable securities in the amount of NIS 2,820 thousand which according to the
estimate by the Company’s management of its cash flows forecast will permit its continued operations during
the coming months. The Company must obtain additional financing for purposes of its continued operations.
The Company's management is acting in order to raise additional financing from existing and/or new investors
and it is able, if necessary, to realize financial assets available for sale that are in its possession in the amount
of approximately NIS 2,055 as of the balance sheet date.
These factors raise significant doubts regarding the continued existence of the Company as a “going
concern”. In the financial statements, adjustments have not been included at all with respect to the values of
the assets and liabilities and their classification which it is possible will be required if the Company will be
unable to continue to operate as a “going concern”

B.

Definitions:
The Company -

HBL -

Hadasit Bio-Holdings Limited.

Subsidiaries and other companies - as defined in Note 1 of the Consolidated
Statements of the Company as of December 31, 2014.

Financial

C. Accounting Policies:
The separate financial information were prepared in accordance with the policies set out in Note
B of the Consolidated financial statements of the Company as of December 31, 2014, and for
the year then ended on that date.
The financial information of the Company has been prepared according to the accounting policies
detailed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements of the Company, other than the amounts
of the assets, the liabilities, the revenues, the expenses and the cash flows with respect to investee
companies, as specified below:
).(

The assets and the liabilities are presented at the amount of their value in the
consolidated reports that are related to the Company itself as a parent company, except
for investments in investee companies.

)2(

Investments in the investee companies are presented as a net amount of the total assets
less the amount of the liabilities which present financial information with respect to the
investee companies, including goodwill, in the consolidated reports of the Company.

)2(

The amounts of the revenues and the expenses reflect the revenues and the expenses
included in the consolidated reports that are related to the Company itself as a parent
company, broken down between profit and loss and between other comprehensive
income, except for the amounts of the revenues and expenses with respect to investee
companies.

)1(

The share of the Company in the results of investee companies is presented as a net
amount of the total revenues less the total expenses which present the operating results
with respect to investee companies in the consolidated reports of the Company, including
impairment or cancellation of goodwill, broken down between profit and loss and between
other comprehensive income.

)2(

The amounts of the cash flows reflect the amounts included in the consolidated reports
that are related to the Company itself as a parent company, except for the amounts of the
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cash flows with respect to investee companies.
)1(

Loans given to investee companies are presented to the extent of the amount related to
the Company itself as a parent company

)7(

Balances of income and expenses with respect to transactions with investee companies,
which were eliminated in the framework of the consolidated reports, have been measured
and presented in the context of the relevant sections in the data on the financial position
and on the comprehensive income and loss, in the same manner as if these transactions
would have been measured and presented, had they been carried out vis-à-vis third
parties. Net deferred gains (losses) are presented as a deduction (addition) from the
sections of the Company’s share in earnings (losses) of investee companies and
investments in investee companies

Note 18 - Financial Assets and Liabilities
A.

Management of Liquidity Risk
The Company manages the liquidity risk by conserving appropriate funds, bank sources and loan sources, by
continuous supervision over the actual cash flows and those anticipated, and matching the redemption aspects of
financial assets and liabilities.

(1) Financial Liabilities that are not Derivatives
The tables below provide details of the company's outstanding contractual repayment dates on account of
financial liabilities that are not derivatives. The tables were drawn up based on the uncapitalized cash flows
of the financial liabilities and the earliest date at which the company may be asked to repay them. The table
includes cash flows on account of interest and on account of principal.
Up to one year
NIS thousands

1-5 years
NIS thousands

Total
NIS thousands

.4220

722

24222

24111

-

24111

2014
That do not bear interest

2013
That do not bear interest

(2) Financial Assets that Are Not Derivatives
The tables below list the expected redemption dates of the company's financial assets that are not
derivatives. The tables were drawn up on the basis of the uncapitalized anticipated redemption dates of the
financial assets, including interest that may be produced by these assets, except for cases in which the
company anticipates that the cash flow will take place in a different period. The tables were prepared based
on cash payments/receipts for derivatives that are settled on a net basis and uncapitalized gross cash
receipts/payments for derivatives that require a net settlement.

Up to one year
NIS thousands

1-5 years
NIS thousands

Total
NIS thousands
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2014
Cash and cash equivalents
Financial assets at fair
value through profit and
loss
Investment in marketable
securities
Salable financial assets
measured at fair value
Shares
Convertible loans to
investee companies
others receivables

20

-

20

24750

-

24750

24022

-

24022

.4015
2.1
14.27

570
.72
.4.12

24025
251
74255

Up to one year
NIS thousands

1-5 years
NIS thousands

Total
NIS thousands

1.0
110

-

1.0
110

14715

-

14715

.4211

-

.4211

.24222
5514.
224550

24112
24112

.54.52
.4551
254202

Note 18 - Financial Assets and Liabilities (con)
Management of Liquidity Risk (con)

2013
Cash and cash equivalents
(including pledged cash)
Restricted cash
Government bonds and other
bonds
Salable financial assets
measured at fair value
Shares
Convertible loans to
investee companies
others receivables

NOTE 3

-

FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

A. Details regarding amounts of investments in other companies

Amounts of loans
provided in favor of
investee company
As of December 31
27,,
27,3

Name of company

ProtAb Ltd.
CellCure
Enlivex Therapeutics Ltd. (*)

3,765
1,798
5,563

1,458
16,737
18,195

(*) In the framework of the transaction completed in May 2014, all of the convertible loans were converted. See
Note 6.C. for details.

B. Details regarding other expenses (income) recognized with respect to holdings in other
companies
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For the year ended December 31
27,,
27,3
27,2
NIS Thousand

Name of company
Thrombotech (1)
BioMarCare Ltd. (5) (6)
ProtAb Ltd. (2)
CellCure (3)
Enlivex Therapeutics Ltd. (4)

)24227(
24227
24527
24517

225
14.51
14112

1,779
24.55
14517

(1) Capital gain as result of merger of Trombotech into D-Pharm. See Note 8 to the consolidated reports for
details.
(2) Capital gain created as result of increase in rate of holding and entry into consolidation on September 22,
2014. See Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2014 for details.
(3) Capital gain as result of decrease in rate of holding due to a transaction in January 2013 with the
controlling shareholder of CellCure. See Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements as of December
31, 2014 for details.
(4) Capital gain as result of decrease in rate of holding and exit from consolidation on May 18, 2014. See also
Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2014 for details.
(5) Capital gain as result of decrease in rate of holding and loss of control of BioMarCare due to an
investment transaction of Micromedic Ltd in April 2014. See also Note 8 to the consolidated financial
statements as of December 31, 2014 for details.
(6) Due to indications of impairment of investment, the Company created a provision for impairment in its
accounts so that the investment in BioMarCare in its financial statements became zero. Capital gain as
result of decrease in rate of holding and loss of control of BioMarCare due to an investment transaction of
Micromedic Ltd in April 2014. See also Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements as of December
31, 2014 for details.
(7) Due to indications of impairment of investment, the Company created a provision for impairment in its
accounts so that the investment in BioMarCare in its financial statements became zero.
NOTE 4

NOTE 5

-

-

INCOME TAXES
A.

In view of losses for tax purposes, accumulated by the Company and the investee companies, and due to
the lack of expectation of taxable income in the foreseeable future, the Company and the investee
companies do not record deferred taxes payable with respect to losses carried forward for tax purposes
and with respect to temporary differences in the values of assets and liabilities between the financial
reporting and the reporting for tax purposes.

B.

The Company has accumulated losses for tax purposes in the amount of approximately NIS 23.9 million
as of December 31, 2013.

C.

As of the date of approval of the financial statements, the Company has an assessment considered as
final with respect to the 2010 tax year.

SIGNIFICANT TRANSACTIOND DURING THE REPORTING PERIOD
A.

KAHR Medical (2005) Ltd.
In June 2012, KAHR signed an investment agreement (hereafter-"the 2012 investment round") with a new
investor, Flerie Invest AB and existing investors for the allotment of preferred A shares.
In the 2012 investment round, KAHR raised $ 2,600 thousand at a pre-money company value of $ 10,600
thousand. The new investor, Flerie Invest AB, invested $ 2,000 thousand in KAHR and holds approximately
15% of KAHR’s share capital. In addition, Sanofi Aventis maintained its relative share in KAHR
(approximately 20%) by means of an additional investment of $ 500 thousand. In the framework of the 2012
investment round, the Company invested $ 100 thousand KAHR, so that its rate of holdings, after the 2012
investment round, stand at approximately 56% (53% fully diluted).
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As a result of this transaction, the Company recognized a capital reserve with respect to a transaction with
the minority in the amount of NIS 4,140 thousand. This amount was recorded to retained earnings. See also
Note 2.H.(2)
In the context of the 2012 investment round, it was stipulated that the Board of Directors of KAHR would not
exceed eight members.
Each shareholder owning 12% of KAHR’s equity is permitted to appoint a director to the Board of Directors,
in addition to the understandings determined between the parties with respect to the composition of the
Board of Directors and the identity of the members of KAHR's Board of Directors.
In September 2013, KAHR signed an investment agreement (hereafter: “the 2013 investment round”) with
the existing shareholders for the allotment of preferred A shares.
In the 2013 investment round, KAHR raised $ 2,350 thousand at a Company value of $ 13,189 thousand
before the money. Out of the amount of the total investment, the Company invested $ 200 thousand, Sanofi
Aventis invested $ 500 thousand and Flerie Invest AB invested $ 1,650 thousand.
In addition, during the 12 months after the agreement was closed, the Company and Flerie Invest AB
(hereafter: “the owners of the option”) will be given an option to add a total additional amount of $ 150
thousand to their investment (out of which the Company is given the option to invest $ 50 thousand). After
completion of the investment, the rate of holding of the Company will be 49% (43% fully diluted).
The owners of the option did not exercise the option in their possession and it expired in September 2014.
Despite the decline in the rate of holding, in view of the rates of the holdings of the shareholders of KAHR as
of the closing date, the Company will have the right to appoint the majority of the members of the board of
directors of KAHR. Moreover, as of the balance sheet date, the Company has a right to appoint the
chairman of the board of directors who will have the decisive right in a case of deadlock of votes (since in
full dilution, the Company will have the right to appoint half of the members of the board of directors).
As a result of this transaction, the Company recognized a capital reserve with respect to a transaction with
the minority in the amount of NIS 2,876 thousand. This amount was recorded to retained earnings. See also
Note 2.H.(2) to the consolidated reports.
In February 2015, KAHR entered into an agreement with its shareholders to provide a convertible loan in the
amount of $ 1,000 thousand. See also Note 28.D. to the consolidated reports.
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B.

ProtAb Ltd. (herafter: “ProtAb”)
(1) In July 2012, December 2012 and August 2014, ProtAb entered into an agreement with its
shareholders for convertible loans in the amounts of $ 250 thousand (the full amount was transferred
by the Company), $ 435 thousand ($145 thousand by the Company and $ 290 thousand by two
other shareholders of ProtAb) and the amount of $ 9 thousand (the entire amount transferred by the
Company), respectively.
The loans are linked to the dollar and bear annual interest at the rate of LIBOR+3%, and they will be
repaid on September 22, 2017, except if they will be converted to shares of ProtAb.
In the case that ProtAb will offer securities in an offering with a total amount of at least $ 500,000, the
shareholders will be permitted to convert the loans (with the addition of accrued interest) to shares of
ProtAb with a discount rate of 20% from the value of the shares in that allotment. In the case that an
investment will be carried out in the equity of ProtAb in an amount below $ 500,000, the
shareholders will be permitted to give ProtAb a written notification of the conversion of the loans to
shares at a company value of $ 500,000 (before the money).
(2) On September 22, 2014, a financing transaction (hereafter-“the transaction”) between ProtAb and
the Company was completed. In this context, the Company placed a convertible loan in the amount
of $ 460 thousand at the disposal of ProtAb, as described below:

To the extent that the amount of the cumulative investment in ProtAb will stand at $ 760 thousand
within 30 days from closing the transaction, the Company will receive preferred B shares of ProtAb.
To the extent that the cumulative investment will be lower than $ 760 thousand until that date, the
above amount of $ 460 will be a loan convertible into shares, at annual cumulative interest of 5%.
The amount of the loan and accrued interest (hereafter: “the loan balance”) will be converted into
shares at the time of a future investment in ProtAb in an amount of at least one million dollars, at a
price reflecting a discount of 35% in relation to the price per share to be paid by the investors in the
next investment round. Nevertheless, the Company is also permitted to convert the loan balance
under these terms if the amount of the future investment is lower than one million dollars at a price
reflecting a discount of 35% in relation to the share price to be paid by the investors in the next
investment round, and is also permitted to convert the loan balance at any time at a price of $ 36 per
preferred B share.
The loan balance will be repayable on a date which is the earlier of a “default” event (as defined in
the convertible loans agreement) or 12 months from the date of completing the transaction.
The loan balance represents the most senior debt of ProtAb, against which ProtAb has pledged all of
its assets, including intellectual property, in a first ranked floating lien in favor of the Company.
The preferred B shares have been provided with protection from dilution of the full ratchet type in the
event of allotment of securities at a price lower than $ 36. Moreover, in the bylaws of ProtAb the
preferred B shares have been granted identical rights to those existing for the preferred A shares,
but their rights take precedence over those of the preferred A shares.
In the context of this transaction, the terms of the existing loans (provided by the shareholders in the
past) of ProtAb were amended so that their balance will be positioned for repayment on the earliest
date between a “default” event or 36 months from the date of closing the transaction. Moreover, it
was clarified that to the extent that they are converted in connection with the allotment of preferred B
shares according to the terms specified above, they will be converted at the same price ($ 36 per
share) and will not be eligible for a discount in relation to the price of the allotment of these preferred
B shares.
In the context of the transaction, ProtAb changed its bylaws so that they include, inter alia, provisions
according to which the Company will have a majority of the board of directors of ProtAb, and the veto
rights were cancelled. Therefore, commencing from the date of the transaction, the Company
consolidates ProtAb in its financial statements.

The notes accompanying the financial statements constitute an integral part thereof
27

Gain from entry into consolidation of investee company:
NIS 000
(Unaudited)
Investment according to the equity method
Net assets consolidated
Rights not providing control
Excess cost created
Gain from entry into consolidation

)147.5(
)24.52(
)24522(
.24520
24227
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C.

D-Pharm Ltd. (during 2012, Thrombotech Ltd. was merged into D-Pharm Ltd.)
Thrombotech was incorporated in Israel and began business operations in September 2000. The sector
of the business of Thrombotech is the development of medications designated to dissolve blood clots for
the treatment of a stroke, heart attack, deep vein thrombosis and similar occurrences. The leading
product of Thrombotech is THR-18. Thrombotech has ownership and an exclusive license for the use of a
variety of patent applications and patents.
In January 2012, Thrombotech signed an investment agreement with existing investors in which it was
stipulated that in consideration for an investment of $ 1,400,000, Thrombotech would issue 25,927
preferred B shares to them at a share price of $54.
Most of the proceeds of the investment were designated to finance the performance of the Phase lla
clinical trial on stroke patients in three medical centers in Israel as well as in centers in Europe and India.
Out of the total amount of the investment, the Company invested its relative share in an amount of
approximately $ 350 thousand, and preserved its relative share in the holdings of Thrombotech
(approximately 24.8% of issued capital and approximately 22% of the equity fully diluted).
In May 2012, an agreement for the sale of shares and an investment agreement were signed between
Thrombotech and D-Pharm Ltd. (a public company whose securities are registered for trading on the Tel
Aviv Stock Exchange Ltd.) (hereafter-“D-Pharm”) for the acquisition of Thrombotech by D-Pharm.
According to the signed agreement, D-Pharm acquired all of the issued equity of Thrombotech (actual
and fully diluted) from Thrombotech and the remaining shareholders of Thrombotech in consideration of a
private placement of ordinary shares of D-Pharm on the basis of a share price of D-Pharm of NIS 0.85
and a share price of Thrombotech of NIS 216. On the date of completion of the transaction, after the
allotment of the shares of the private placement, the shares of the private placement represented 60% of
the issued and paid up share capital and of the voting rights of D-Pharm (not including options granted to
employees, officers and service providers of Thrombotech) and approximately 58.03% fully diluted
(including options granted to employees, officers and service providers of Thrombotech and not including
shares allotted in the framework of an additional investment as detailed below).
In July 2012, the suspended conditions were fulfilled and the transaction of the acquisition of
Thrombotech by D-Pharm was completed.
After completion of the transaction, the Company held approximately 14.9% of the issued and paid-up
capital and the voting rights of D-Pharm (approximately 14.4% fully diluted). Moreover, the Company
appointed a representative to the board of directors of D-Pharm.
In light of the aforesaid, on the date of the transaction, the Company deducted the investment in
Thrombotech and recognized a financial asset available for sale with respect to an investment in DPharm in the amount of NIS 2,787 thousand and capital gain of NIS 1,779 thousand.
The leading product of Thrombotech, THR-18, is progressing through a development program in the
framework of D-Pharm and even entered an additional clinical trial. In March 2014, D-Pharm reported
successful interim results in a PHASE lla trial of the THR-18 product.
On March 12, 2014, D-Pharm published a shelf proposal report for an issuance by way of rights, and on
March 31, 2014, the Company utilized all of the rights pursuant to the shelf proposal report. The
investment of the Company with respect to the utilization of the rights amounted to approximately NIS
932 thousand, in consideration of which the Company received 5,175,654 ordinary shares of D-Pharm.
The rate of holding of the Company in D-Pharm after the issuance of the rights is 12.9%.
In December 2014, D-Pharm published a shelf proposal report for an issuance by way of rights. On
January 21, 2015, D-Pharm published the results of the issuance of the rights. The gross immediate
proceeds totaled approximately NIS 12,775 thousand. The Company did not participate in the issuance of
rights and the rate of holding of the Company in D-Pharm after the issuance of the rights is 5.57%.
As of the balance sheet date, the balance of the investment in D-Pharm is presented at its fair value and
stands at the amount of approximately NIS 1,856 thousand.
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D.

CellCure Neurosciences Ltd. (hereafter-”CellCure”)

(1)

On November 1, 2012, an investment agreement was signed between CellCure and Bio-Time Inc., the
controlling shareholder of the Company, pursuant to which BioTime committed to invest a total amount of $
3.5 million (hereafter: "2012 investment agreement"). The 2012 investment agreement was signed
according to a company value of $ 15.1 million (before the money).
Pursuant to the 2012 investment agreement, BioTime invested a total amount of $ 3.5 million in
consideration for 87,456 ordinary shares of CellCure, in exchange for which BioTime issued 906,735
ordinary shares of BioTime, registered (on NYSE:MKT) and freely tradable, to CellCure at a value of $ 3.86
per share.
The value was set by the average price of BioTime shares on the NYSE:AMEX during 10 days of trading
prior to signing the agreement.
In the event that the average value of the BioTime shares will decline or rise by more than 15% below or
above $ 3.86 during 10 trading days commencing on May 1, 2013, an adjustment will be made (by the
issuance of additional shares of CellCure to BioTime or the issuance of additional BioTime shares to
CellCure, as the case may be), but this adjustment will only apply to the relative part of the shares of
BioTime which have remained in the possession of CellCure at that time, and, in any case, this adjustment
will not exceed 33%.
BioTime shares to be issued to the Company are not protected by a lock-up period. Any decision to sell
BioTime shares must be approved by a committee of the board of directors of CellCure (in consultation with
the CEO and the CFO of CellCure). CellCure will appoint a professional entity to be responsible for the sale
of the shares with the intention that this entity will coordinate all of the sales of BioTime shares on behalf of
other companies belonging to the BioTime group, and will divide the offerings and the proceeds from the
sale of the shares on a relative basis among them, according to the average price received for them in the
event that more than one company wishes to offer BioTime stock for sale on that day.
In addition, in the framework of the 2012 investment agreement, and as a condition of completing the 2012
investment agreement, a fourth amendment was signed between CellCure and ES Cell International Pte.
Ltd. (hereafter-“ESI”) to the exclusive license agreement between CellCure and ESI dated March 22, 2006,
as amended and revised.
Upon completion of the 2012 investment agreement, the Company’s holding in CellCure is 21.20% (20.05%
on a fully diluted basis), of BioTime 42.27% (39.99% on a fully diluted basis), of ESI 20.26% (19.17% on a
fully diluted basis) and of Teva 16.06% (15.20% on a fully diluted basis). It should be stated that upon
closing the 2012 investment agreement, ESI and its parent company, BioTime, together hold 62.53% of the
issued and paid up capital of CellCure (and 59.16% fully diluted).
The 2012 investment agreement was subject to the fulfillment of suspended conditions which were fulfilled
in January 2013 and during February 2013, CellCure began the sale of BioTime shares.
As of the balance sheet date, CellCure has sold 790,267 shares (approximately 87% of the issued shares)
for a total approximately $ 3 million, and holds shares at a value of approximately $ 435 thousand (NIS
1,689 thousand) which have been classified as financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss
in CellCure’s financial statements.

(2)

Loans from controlling shareholder of CellCure:
During May, June, July and August 2013, in view of discontinuing the sale of BioTime shares, CellCure
entered into loan agreements with BioTime, in whose framework, BioTime granted bridge loans to the
Company of $ 350 thousand, $ 265 thousand, $ 700 thousand and $ 500 thousand, respectively. The loan
agreements stipulated that these loans will not bear interest and that CellCure will repay each loan within
three business days after it will raise the amount of $ 800 thousand, $ 1,150 thousand, $ 1,850 thousand
and $ 2,350 thousand, respectively, from the sale of BioTime shares and/or from any other source,
exclusive of any amounts that it will receive from the OCS and any other loan that it will receive from
BioTime. In May 2014, BioTime confirmed by letter that the balance of the bridge loans transferred to
CellCure will be repaid solely from the sale of BioTime shares held by CellCure and not from any other
source.
On the date of initial recognition, these loans were classified as equity, since the repayment of the loans is
conditional on a future event under CellCure’s control, so that CellCure has an unconditional right to avoid
payment of the loan in cash. See also Note 2.O.(1) of the consolidated reports as to classification as a
financial liability or as an equity instrument.
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During 2013, CellCure repaid the first two loans in a total amount of $ 615 thousand, and as of the balance
sheet date, the last two loans in a total of $ 1,200 thousand stand for immediate repayment pursuant to the
above terms, and therefore, they were classified from equity to liabilities in the accounts of CellCure.
At the meeting of the board of directors held on April 30, 2014, it was decided that CellCure would suggest
that its shareholders raise financing by means of convertible loans in a total amount of $ 4,200 thousand
(“the fund”). The amount of the fund would be transferred in two stages, according to CellCure’s request, on
a “need” basis, with the understanding that the second stage will be at the discretion of the participating
shareholder. The first stage will be in the amount of $ 2,200 thousand (“the first stage”), and the second
stage will be in the amount of $ 2,000 thousand (“the second stage”). The fund will bear interest at the rate
of 3% per annum (jointly with the fund, “the loan”). Each part of the loan as yet unpaid and not converted to
ordinary shares of CellCure, as specified below, will be paid by CellCure within 3 years from the date of the
relevant transfer. At any time prior to the relevant transfer date, subject to written notice by the shareholder,
the Company will convert any part of the loan as yet unpaid and specified in the above notice, to ordinary
shares of CellCure.
CellCure has designated the convertible loans (the hybrid instrument) in their entirety as a financial liability
at fair value through profit or loss. Any gain or loss resulting from a change in the fair value is recognized in
profit or loss, except for the difference between the fair value on the date of initial recognition and the value
of the consideration (“deferred difference”). The deferred difference will be spread in a straight line over the
length of life of the loan and will be recorded to profit or loss.
As of the balance sheet date, CellCure had received convertible loans from BioTime in the amount of $
1,634 thousand, from the Company in the amount of $ 466 thousand and from Ms. Naomii Zak (a
shareholder of the Company) in the amount of $5 thousand.
In September 2014, the Company transferred the above amount to CellCure and it is presented in the
framework of the section of financial assets at fair value through profit and loss in an amount of NIS 1,798
thousand.
On February 12, 2015 BioTime transferred a letter of intent to CellCure according to which BioTime
committed to invest another $ 2 million in the Company up to the end of PHASE l/ll.
In addition, BioTime will not demand the return of the bridge loan in the amount of $ 1,200 thousand given
to CellCure in 2013 until the finish of PHASE l/ll..
On February 13, 2015, BioTime transferred $ 95 thousand and accordingly completed the first stage of the
convertible loan. BioTime transferred $ 700 thousand as part of the second stage of the convertible loan.
The Company committed to transfer the amount of $ 188 thousand, reflecting the share of the Company in
the above convertible loans. This amount has not yet been transferred.

E.

Enlivex Therapeutics Ltd. (hereafter- “Enlivex”)

The notes accompanying the financial statements constitute an integral part thereof
1.

In February 2014, Enlivex Therapeutics Ltd (hereafter-“Enlivex”) entered into a transaction with a business group
led by Shai Novik (hereafter: “the Novik group”) whose purpose, at the initial stage, was to provide a right to the
Novik group, limited in time, to invest and/or raise a sum on behalf of Enlivex that is no less than $3.5 million (and
up to $ 8 million) (hereafter: “the investment”) by receipt of a convertible loan document; and at the second
stage, converting Enlivex into a public company traded in the United States. The undertaking in the transaction
consisted of: (1) a term sheet between the Novik group and Enlivex to provide sources of financing; (2) a
convertible loan agreement between the Novik group and Enlivex; (3) an agreement between the Enlivex
shareholders.
Within the framework of this transaction, in February 2014, Enlivex received a convertible loan of NIS 151
thousand from the Novik group, bearing annual interest of 8%.
In May 2014, Enlivex completed the elicitation of the convertible loan from the Novik group in the amount of NIS
7,051 thousand. Upon completing the transaction, the convertible loans were converted as following:
(1)

The convertible loans that the Company provided to Enlivex between the years of 2007-2013 in an amount
of approximately NIS 16,600 thousand (including interest) were converted into 7,079,722 ordinary shares of
Enlivex.

(2) The convertible loans that the Novik Group provided to Enlivex in an amount of NIS 151 thousand were
converted into 45,899,677 ordinary shares of Enlivex.
During the months of June and July 2014, the Novik group transferred a convertible loan of $ 275 thousand, in
the context of the same raising of financing and under the same terms.
Upon completion of the transaction, the rate of holding of the Company declined to 25.6% (approximately 19%
fully diluted) Since the Company has the right to appoint two out of the eight members of the board of directors
of Enlivex, the Company has significant influence in Enlivex.

In December 2014, an additional agreement in the framework of the transaction was signed in the amount of $
674 thousand so that the funds raised from the Novik group totaled $ 8,000 thousand. As of the balance sheet
date, the funds with respect to the additional agreement signed in December have not yet been transferred to
Enlivex

As a result of the decline in the rate of holding as above, the Company recorded a capital gain of approximately
NIS 5,857 thousand in the section of other income.

F.

BioMarCare Technologies Ltd. (hereafter-“ BioMarCare”)
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On March 26, 2012, an investment agreement was signed between BioMarCare and Micromedic. In the context
of the investment agreement, Micromedic became obligated to invest the amount of $ 1,000 thousand in
BioMarCare against an allotment of ordinary shares of BioMarCare (hereafter-“the investment shares”) which will
represent approximately 33% of the issued and paid up capital of BioMarCare (fully diluted).
Moreover, Micromedic was granted an option to execute an additional investment in BioMarCare in a total
amount of US$ 1,000,000 (hereafter-“the option”) against an additional allotment of ordinary shares which,
immediately after the exercise of the option, and together with the investment shares, will represent
approximately 53% of the issued and paid up capital of BioMarCare (fully diluted). The option, in whole or in part,
was exercisable beginning from the date on which the last of the deferred payments will be paid, as detailed
below, and until the earlier of (1) the passage of 30 months from the date the transaction is completed; (2) a
breach of payment made by Micromedic; or (3) a liquidation event, as specified in the investment agreement. The
option expired in October 2014.
Following the completion of the investment agreement, Micromedic is entitled to appoint the majority of the
members of the board of directors of BioMarCare.
The bylaws of BioMarCare, which became effective concurrently with the signing of the investment agreement,
stipulated a number of matters for which a special majority will be required in order to approve resolutions,
including, inter alia, for purposes of approving a change in the bylaws, for approval of transactions with interested
parties and for the purpose of allotment of securities with preferred rights to those of the ordinary shares (“the
special majority”).
It was stipulated in the investment agreement that the amount of the investment will be transferred by Micromedic
to BioMarCare in four payments against the transfer of the investment shares in installments, linked with each
and every payment. On the date of completion of the agreement, and against receipt of the first payment of the
amount of the investment, BioMarCare allotted the first segment of the investment shares to Micromedic. The
balance of the investment shares were allotted to an agreed-upon trustee (“the trust shares”) on the date of
completing the agreement which determined that they will be held in trust and transferred to Micromedic linked
and subject to each and every payment by Micromedic (“the deferred payments”). Also, the parties agreed that
Micromedic will be entitled, subject to the fulfillment of certain conditions, to endorse its right for the transfer of
the deferred payments to a third party.
The completion of the investment agreement was subject to fulfillment of a number of suspended conditions, inter
alia, the conversion of convertible loans given in the past to BioMarCare by shareholders (those existing and
those which existed) (including the amount of NIS 5176 thousand of loans provided by the Company.). The
suspended conditions for the fulfillment of the transaction were completed on April 3, 2012, inter alia, in the
framework of a document known as the closing memorandum, which included new understandings and
adjustments in connection with the suspended conditions detailed in the investment agreement.
As a result of the investment agreement, the Company lost control of BioMarCare. Therefore in the statement of
financial position, the investment in BioMarCare is presented according to the equity method, and capital gain
was recorded in 2012 and 2013 in the statement of comprehensive loss in the amounts of NIS 5,188 thousand
and NIS 257 thousand, respectively.
In the context of the investment agreement, Hadasit Medical Research and Development Services Ltd. converted
the loan that it had provided to BioMarCare in 2005 to 10,000 shares, and loans of Docor and the Jerusalem
Development Authority in the amount of NIS 108 thousand (hereafter-“the fund”), with the addition of annual
interest (compound) at the rate of 8% (hereafter- “the 2005 loan”), remained in effect, and at the time of a
demand for repayment of the loans, the Company will be responsible for repayment of these loans against its
right to receive the shares pursuant to the 2005 loan agreement. During the third quarter of 2013, BioMarCare
entered into an agreement with Docor and the Authority for the deferral of the repayment date of the 2005 loan
from July 1, 2013 to July 1, 2014.
On August 3, 2014, BioMarCare received a payment demand from the Docor Foundation in the amount of
approximately NIS 108 thousand in connection with the 2005 loan. During October 2014, the Company repaid the
BioMarCare debt vis-à-vis the Docor Foundation with respect to the 2005 loan, but shares have not yet been
allotted to it with respect to repayment of the loan.
The loan from the Jerusalem Development Authority has not yet been repaid and is presented in the Company’s
accounts as a current liability of approximately NIS 111 thousand in the framework of the other current liabilities
section.
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MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS DURING THE REPORTING PERIOD
A.

On May 28, 2014, the Company published a shelf proposal for the issuance to the public of shares and
options for shares by means of a tender on the unit price. The offer consisted of an issue of up to 20,000,000
ordinary shares and 20,000,000 options (Series 7) exercisable into ordinary shares of NIS 0.01 par value
each.
The securities being tendered were offered to the public in 200,000 parcels, with the composition of each
parcel being 100 ordinary shares at a price of NIS 0.20 per share and 100 Series 7 options without
consideration, namely a minimum price of NIS 20 per parcel.
On June 2, 2014, the Company received notifications of the acquisition of 142,588 parcels for the purchase of
14,258,800 ordinary shares of NIS 0.01 par value each and 14,258,800 options (Series 7) of the Company,
representing approximately 71.29% of the total eligible units, for proceeds in the amount of NIS 2,852
thousand (gross). The proceeds, net of the issuance costs, amounted to NIS 2,725 thousand.

B.

In July 2014, the Company’s Board of Directors approved an increase in the Company’s authorized capital of
75,000,000 ordinary shares of NIS 0.01 par value each, so that the authorized capital of the Company after
the increase stood at 275,000,000 ordinary shares.

C.

In July 2014, the Board of Directors of the Company approved the extension of the exercise period of the
Company’s options (Series 4) traded on the stock exchange, so that they will be exercisable until February
26, 2015 (instead of August 30, 2014), and also approved the reduction of the exercise increment so that the
exercise increment for each option will stand at NIS 0.26 (instead of NIS 1.75) During July, the Company
presented a request to the Jerusalem District Court to approve the changes in the options as above.
On September 21, 2014, the court approved the extension of the exercise period and the reduction of the
exercise price according to the request. In February 2015, 8,843,700 options of the Company expired.

D.

In July 2014, the Board of Directors of the Company approved a private placement to Poalim IBI Underwriting
and Issuance Ltd. and Yair Capital Ltd. (hereafter: “the offerees”) of 1,711,054 Series 7 options (1,078,156 and
632,898 warrants, respectively), exercisable into 1,711,054 ordinary shares of the Company with NIS 0.01 par
value each at an exercise price of NIS 0.225 per share. This private placement is in accordance with a
commitment of the Company in a shelf proposal report published on May 28, 2014, to allot to the offerees a
quantity equivalent to 8% of the quantity of shares and options actually issued to the public according to the
shelf proposal. The above options are being granted to the offerees as part of the consideration paid to them
for the services provided to the Company in order to execute the shelf proposal.

E.

In February 2015, the Audit Committee of the Company, and, subsequently, the Board of Directors of the
Company, approved the extension of the exercise period of the options (Series 7) that are traded on the stock
exchange so that they will be exercisable until February 26, 2016 instead of February 26, 2015. In March
2015, 17,969,854 of options (Series 7) expired, after the arrangement proceeding made by the Company
according to the provisions of Section 350 of the Companies Law-1999 did not receive the necessary majority
required in assemblies convened by the court.

F.

In August 2014, the Company signed an addendum to the lease agreement (dated February 5, 2008)
according to which it was agreed, inter alia, to spread the payments for the modification works totaling
approximately NIS 2,359 thousand.
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Note 7 - Contracts and Pending Liabilities
set out in Note 1.C of the consolidated financial statements of the Company as of December 31, 2014

Note 8 - Noncash Transactions
A. In April 2012, convertible loans in the amount of NIS 5,167 thousand were converted to shares of Biomarcare
Technologies Ltd. (an investee company(
B. In May 2014, convertible loans in the amount of NIS 16,600 thousand were converted to shares of Enlivex
Therapeutics Ltd. (an investee company)

NOTE 9 -

SHARE BASED PAYMENT
See Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements of the Company as of December 31, 2014.

Note 10 - Events after the Balance Sheet Date
A.

On February 4, 2015, the Company approached the Jerusalem District Court in writing to convene a general
assembly of the holders of the Series 7 options and to extend the exercise period of the options until February
26, 2016.
On February 5, 2015, the district court approved temporary relief for the extension of the exercise period of
the Series 7 options until February 26, 2016

B.

In February 2015, a convertible loan agreement was signed between KAHR and the Company and an
additional investor in the amount of one million dollars.
Pursuant to the loan agreement, the additional investor will transfer NIS 500 thousand to KAHR and the
Company will have the right to participate in the balance of the amount or part of it, and, in any event, the
additional investor will supplement any deficiency in the amount of the loan which will not be transferred by
the Company, so that the total loan amount will stand at one million dollars.
It was also agreed that a conversion event will be transaction or a number of transactions in a cumulative
amount of $ 3 million (including the amount of the above loan) in the following manner:
(1) A commitment to invest or to provide a loan to the Company or a commitment by a strategic partner to
pay, subject to conditions which have been fulfilled or which will be fulfilled until the coming round of
raising financing.
(2) According to the loan agreement, should a conversion event will take place prior to April 30, 2015, the
lenders, on the date of conversion, will be granted a discount at the rate of 5% of the share price. Should
a conversion event take place during the period between May 1, 2015 and December 31, 2015, the
lenders, on the date of the conversion, will be granted a discount at the rate of 10% of the share price,
and should the conversion event not take place prior to December 31, 2015, the Company will repay the
amount of the loan and the accrued interest, or alternatively, and, in its discretion, the amount will be
converted at a discount of 50% of the share price.

C.

In February 2015, 8,843,700 options Series 4 expired.

D. In March 2015, 17,969,854 of options (Series 7) expired, after the arrangement proceeding made by the
Company according to the provisions of Section 350 of the Companies Law-1999 did not receive the
necessary majority required in assemblies convened by the court.
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IMPORTANT
This document is an unofficial translation of the Hebrew original
“Consolidated Financial Statements”, dated
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HBL: Hadasit Bio-Holdings, Ltd.
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position

Note
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term deposit
Investments in negotiable securities
Pledged cash
Receivables and debit balances
Tradable financial assets

5
6
7
9

Non-current assets
Pledged cash
Rent receivable
Prepaid expenses
Financial asset at fair value through profit and loss
Investments in affiliated companies
Fixed assets, net
Intangible assets, net

16
19
8
10
11

Total Assets
Current Liabilities
Overdraft
Options for investors
Vendors and service-providers
Payables and credit balances

12(a)
12(b)

Non-current Liabilities
Expenses payable
Convertible loan from outside shareholders
Liabilities for employee benefits
Royalties payable

16(b)
12(c)
15

Equity
Share capital
Premium on shares
Options
Capital fund from activities with controlling party
Capital fund on account of share-based payment transaction
Capital fund on account of marketable financial assets

14
14
13
14
9

Loss Balance
Total equity imputed to the owners of the parent Company
Nonvoting rights
Total equity
Total Liabilities and Equity

As of December 31
2014
2013
NIS thousands NIS thousands
6,038
504
2,790
1,694
2,055
13,081

12,797
6,749
440(*)
2,295
1,564
23,845

172
18
1,798
2,791
531
14,027
19,337
32,418

-(*)
22
9,046
546
1,299
10,913
34,758

51
1,834
1,875
3,760

70
1,701
3,791
5,562

732
1,263
39
4,512
6,546

31
4,278
4,309

1,428
116,722
2,639
754
689
(323)
121,909
(106,891)
15,018
7,094
22,112

1,265
112,979
2,065
754
1,962
118
119,143
(101,217)
17,926
6,961
24,887

32,418

34,758

(*) Reclassified

March 23, 2015
Date of approval of

Yigal Erlich

Tamar Kfir

Liat Simhayoff

Financial statements

Chairman of the Board
of Directors

CEO

CFO
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HBL: Hadasit Bio-Holdings, Ltd.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Profit (Loss)

Research and development expenses, net
Management and general expenses
Other income, net

Note
20
21
22

2014
NIS thousands
)74105(
)24155(
24517

As of December 31
2013
2012
NIS thousands NIS thousands
)74512(
)*( )74117(
)24.02(
)*( )24175(
24521
14517

)74020(

).04221(

)24575(

.4220
).4117(

217
).4127(

117
)247.1(

)57(

).4270(

)24017(

)74.17(
)24222(

)..4251(
)74575(

)54011(
)14211(

).04152(

).54172(

).141.0(

)11.(

211

)212(

Total comprehensive loss for the year

).04522(

).54.05(

).14522(

Loss for the year imputed to:
Owners of the parent company
Non-voting rights

)24171(
)14505(

).24.50(
)14252(

).0451.(
)24715(

).04152(

).54172(

).141.0(

)14..2(
)14505(

).14521(
)14252(

)..4201(
)24715(

).04522(

).54.05(

).14522(

)0101(

)01.2(

)01..(

.224212

.214221

574275

Loss from regular operations
Financing income
Financing expenses

23
24

Financing Loss, net
Loss after financing
Company's share in the losses of its Portfolio
Companies

8

Loss for the year
Amounts which will be classified as profit or
loss in the future
Other comprehensive loss
Profit (loss) from adjusting the fair value of
marketable financial assets

Total comprehensive loss for the year
imputed to:
Owners of the parent company
Non-voting rights

Loss per regular share par value 0.01 NIS per
share
Basic and diluted loss per share (in NIS)

26

Number of shares used in the above calculation
(in thousands) (**)
(*) Re-classification.
(**) See note 26.
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HBL: Hadasit Bio-Holdings, Ltd.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Profit (Loss)
Capital Fund
from
Activities with
Controlling
Party

Capital Fund
on account of
Share-based
Payment
Transactions

Capital Fund
on account of
Marketable
Financial
Instruments

NIS thousand

NIS thousand

NIS thousand

721

24.21

52

NIS
thousand
)524.52(

-

-

-

)21.(

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Write-off of loans from the minority in a subsidiary

-

-

-

Share-based payment

-

-

-

Capital
Stock

Premium
on
shares

Options

NIS
thousand
572

NIS
thousand
554212

NIS
thousand
.04502

Fair value adjustment of financial assets available for sale

-

-

Investment in subsidiary - transaction with minority

-

Share-based payment in subsidiaries

-

Exit of subsidiary from consolidation

Balance as of January 1, 2012

Expiration of options to employees
Exercise of options

Loss
Balance

Total
imputed
to owners of
parent
Company

Nonvoting
Rights

Total
Equity

2.4522

NIS
thousand
24177

NIS
thousand
2241.2

-

)21.(

-

)21.(

-

14.10

14.10

24725

54515

-

-

-

125

125

-

-

-

-

)271(

)271(

-

-

-

-

-

2.1

2.1

-

51

-

-

51

-

51

NIS thousand

-

251

-

-

)251(

-

-

-

-

-

)*( -

21

)1(

-

-

-

-

22

-

22

-

54255

)54255(

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

250
.4212

14001
..24575

122
24012

721

.4521

)211(

(10,861)
)554502(

14515
(10,861)
254510

(3,749)
14022

14515
(14,610)
224512

Investment in subsidiary - transaction with minority

-

-

-

-

-

-

24571

24571

1415.

74227

Fair value adjustment of financial assets available for sale

-

-

-

-

-

211

-

211

-

211

Investment in subsidiary - transaction with minority

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

210

210

Share based payments

-

-

-

-

21

-

-

21

-

21

Loss for year

-

-

-

-

-

-

(15,190)

(15,190)

(4,282)

(19,472)

Expiration of marketable options
Issuance of shares and options, net
Loss for the year
Balance as of Dec. 31, 2012

.4212

..24575

24012

721

.4512

..5

).0.42.7(

.74521

1451.

214557

Fair value adjustment of financial assets available for sale

-

-

-

-

-

)11.(

-

)11.(

-

)11.(

Payment based on shares in consolidated companies

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

386

386

Share-based payment

-

-

-

-

150

-

-

150

-

150

Expiration of options to employees

-

1,340

-

-

).4210(

-

-

-

-

-

Forfeiture of options to employees

-

-

-

-

(83)

-

-

(83)

-

(83)

Entry of affiliated company into consolidation

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

24522

24522

Exit of subsidiary from consolidation

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

732

732

Issuance of shares and options, net

163

24102

271

-

-

-

-

24.10

-

24.10

-

-

-

-

-

-

(5,674)

(5,674)

(4,808)

(10,482)

1,428

116,722

2,639

754

689

(323)

106,891

15,018

7,094

22,112

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2013

Loss for the year
Balance as of Dec. 31, 2014

(*) Indicates a sum lower than 1,000 NIS
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HBL: Hadasit Bio-Holdings, Ltd.
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
For the year ended December 31
2014
NIS
thousands

2013
NIS
thousands

2012
NIS
thousands

).04152(

).54172(

).141.0(

).471.(

7451.

.4111

).24212(

)..41..(

).24.11(

20

222

2.1

)14200(

)24.70(

-

Realization of negotiable securities

745.7

74210

14.75

Investment in securities available for sale

)522(

-

-

).4511(

-

)24575(

)7.2(

-

)110(

Entry of affiliated company into consolidation (Appendix C)

221

-

-

Removal from pledge

110

-

-

Acquisition of fixed assets

)51(

)217(

).21(

Net cash produced by investment activities

111

24075

24022

24.10

-

14515

).7(

)21(

)21(

5.2

727

255

-

74227

54712

51

-

-

Issuance of options to investors

-

51

-

Exercise of marketable options

-

-

22

Receipt of loans from investors

.2.

-

-

14227

54211

.14555

102

)252(

)215(

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

)14725(

).4721(

14257

Balance of cash and cash equivalents at the start of the
year

.24757

.1422.

.04.21

Balance of cash and cash equivalents at the end of the
year

14025

.24757

.1422.

Cash flows for current operations
Loss for the year
Adjustments required to display cash flows for current
operations (Appendix A)
Net cash used for regular operations
Cash flows from (for) investment activities
Interest income
Investment in negotiable securities and deposits

Investment in Portfolio Companies
Deconsolidation of consolidated company (Appendix B)

Cash flows from (for) financing activities
Issues of Company shares and warrants, net
Payments of bank fees and interest
Loans from the Chief Scientist
Minority investment in consolidated Company
Bank credit

Net cash produced by financing activities
Influence of exchange-rate changes on cash and cashequivalents on hand
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Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
APPENDIX A - ADJUSTMENTS REQUIRED TO DISPLAY CASH FLOWS FOR CURRENT OPERATIONS

For the year ended December 31
2014
2013
2012
NIS
NIS
NIS
thousands
thousands
thousands
Expenses that do not involve cash flows
Share in losses of Portfolio Companies
Gain from exit from consolidation of investee company
Gain from entry into consolidation of investee company
Gain from changes in rates of holding of investee company
Loss from impairment of investment in investee company
Depreciation and amortization
Financing expenses
Financing income
Share-based payment
decrease in liabilities on account of employee benefits
Share-based based in affiliates
Loss from impairment of financial asset available for sale
Changes in asset and obligation lines
Decrease (increase) in receivables and debit balances
Increase (decrease) in payables, credit balances, and other
liabilities
Decrease in payables
Increase (decrease) in royalties payable
Increase (decrease) in vendors and service-providers

24222
)24527(
)24227(
24227
102
.4117
).4220(
17
)5(
251
-

74575
)1411.(
.5
1.2
.4127
)217(
21
).0(
210
.4255

14211
)14150(
)24257(
257
247.1
)117(
51
)21(
125
-

122
).4527(

)225(
24212

).27(
252

722
221
).471.(

)24771(
.4020
7451.

)127(
.1
)522(
.4111

APPENDIX B - DECONSOLIDATION OF CONSOLIDATED COMPANY

For the year ended December 31
2014
2013
2012
NIS
NIS
NIS
thousands
thousands
thousands
Receivables and debit balances
Investment according to equity method
Fixed assets, net
Vendors and service-providers
Creditors and credit balances
Accrued expenses - long term
Obligation for royalties payable
Deferred income
Obligation for termination of employment
Non-voting rights
Gain from exit from consolidation
Cash and cash equivalents

105
)24517(
54
)222(
)157(
)24112(
)2.(
722
24527

-

.4007
)14257(
.1.
)20.(
)172(
).52(
)111(
(109)
)271(
1415.

)7.2(

-

)110(
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HBL: Hadasit Bio-Holdings, Ltd.
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position

APPENDIX C – ENTRY OF AFFILIATED COMPANY INTO CONSOLIDATION

For the year ended December 31
2014
2013
2012
NIS
NIS
NIS
thousands
thousands
thousands
Receivables and debit balances
Investment according to equity method
Fixed assets, net
Intangible assets
Vendors and service-providers
Creditors and credit balances
Royalties payable
Obligations for employees’ benefits
Convertible loan from outside shareholders
Non-voting rights
Gain from entry into consolidation
Cash and cash equivalents

(96)
4,727
(102)
(12,975)
205
228
1,254
51
912
3,823
2,227

-

-

254

-

-
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HBL: Hadasit Bio-Holdings, Ltd.
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
Note 1. General
A.

General Description of the Company and its Activity:
HBL - Hadasit Bio-Holdings, Ltd. (hereinafter: “the Company”), was incorporated in Israel on September
19, 2005, by Hadasit Medical Research Services and Development, Ltd. (hereinafter: “Hadasit”). The
Company’s main offices are located in Jerusalem.
The Company, through companies in which it has holdings, engages in research and development in the
medical and biotechnology fields.
In September 2005, an agreement was signed between Hadasit and the Company.
Following this step, in January 2006, Hadasit transferred to the Company its holdings in a number of hightech companies engaged in medical and biotechnology research and development (hereinafter: “the R&D
companies”). The transfer of the holdings was implemented to make it possible to raise funds from the
public by means of a public offering of securities and their registration on the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange
(hereinafter: “the TASE”).
Hadasit is fully owned and controlled by the Hadassah Medical Organization (hereinafter: “Hadassah”).
Hadassah is a medical institution that includes two hospitals in Jerusalem, Hadassah Ein Kerem and
Hadassah Mount Scopus, professional schools for medical disciplines, and research centers. Hadasit is
Hadassah’s technology transfer company. Discoveries and developments made by physicians at
Hadassah (hereinafter: “the researchers”) are transferred for development by Hadasit, whose role is to
safeguard the intellectual property, mobilize resources, and commercialize the scientific discovery.
Hadasit implements the commercialization of the scientific ideas and mobilization of resources by setting
up Portfolio Companies to which it extends a usage license in the intellectual property and which then work
to commercialize the scientific discoveries developed at Hadassah. This is how Hadasit established the
R&D companies.
The company made an initial public offering of shares and options on the TASE in January 2006.
As of the date of the report, the Company holds 6 portfolio companies with different rates of holdings. See
Note 8 for details.

B. Business condition of the Company
As of December 31, 2014, the Company (in its separate financial statements) had losses of NIS 106,891
thousand and negative cash flows from current operations of NIS 3,748 thousand for the period of ended
on that date. Furthermore, as of the balance sheet date, the Company (in its separate financial statements)
has cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities in the amount of NIS 2,820 thousand which
according to the estimate by the Company’s management of its cash flows forecast will permit its continued
operations during the coming months. The Company must obtain additional financing for purposes of its
continued operations.
The Company's management is acting in order to raise additional financing from existing and/or new
investors and it is able, if necessary, to realize financial assets available for sale that are in its possession
in the amount of approximately NIS 2,055 as of the balance sheet date.
These factors raise significant doubts regarding the continued existence of the Company as a “going
concern”. In the financial statements, adjustments have not been included at all with respect to the values
of the assets and liabilities and their classification which it is possible will be required if the Company will be
unable to continue to operate as a “going concern”.
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C.

Definitions:
The Company - HBL - Hadasit Bio-Holdings Ltd.
The Group - The Company and its Portfolio Companies (the R&D companies).
Related parties - As defined in IAS24.
Controlling parties - As defined in the Securities Regulations (Annual Financial Statements) 5770-2010.
Principals - As defined in the Securities Law 5728-1968, with its amendments.
Index - The consumer price index, as published by the Central Bureau of Statistics.
Dollar - The United States dollar
Consolidated companies - Companies directly or indirectly controlled by the Company (as defined in
IFRS 10) whose financial reports are fully consolidated with those of the Company.
Affiliated companies - Companies in which the Group has a material influence.
Portfolio Companies - Consolidated companies and affiliated companies.
Other companies - Companies in which the Company holds a stake but does not have control, joint
control, or material influence.

Note 2. Main Principles of the Accounting Policy
A. Statement of the Application of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS):
The Group’s consolidated financial reports were drawn up in keeping with International Financial Reporting
Standards and the Q&As to them published by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). The
main principles of the accounting policy, as described below, were applied consistently throughout all of the
reporting periods covered in these consolidated financial reports.
B. The financial statements were prepared pursuant to the Securities Regulations (Annual Financial
Statements) 5770-2010 (hereinafter: “Financial Report Regulations”).
C. Format of the Statement of Financial Position:
In its Statement of Financial Position, the Group breaks down its assets and liabilities into current and noncurrent items.
D. Format of the Analysis of Expenses recognized as Profit or Loss:
On the Profit and Loss Statement, the Group breaks down its assets and liabilities on the basis of the
nature of the activity to which the expense applies. In the Group’s estimation, and in light of the Group’s
organizational structure, classifying expenses in this way provides reliable and relevant information.
E. Foreign Exchange:
(1) Operating Currency and Reporting Currency
The financial statements of each of the companies in the Group are drawn up in the currency of the
main economic environment in which it operates (hereinafter: “the operating currency”). In order to
consolidate the financial reports, the results and financial positions of each of the companies of the
Group are displayed in New Israeli Shekels, which is the operating currency of the Company.
(2) Translation of Transactions Not in the Operating Currency
In the financial statements for each of the companies of the Group, transactions that were conducted in
currencies other than the operating currency for that company (hereinafter: “foreign currency”) were
recorded at the exchange rate in force on the dates of the transactions. At each balance period,
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monetary items denominated in foreign currency are translated using the exchange-rate in force at that
date; nonmonetary items that are measured at fair value and denominated in foreign currency are
translated according to the exchange rate for the date when the fair value was set; non-monetary items
measured in terms of historical cost are translated according to the exchange rates in force on the date
when the transaction related to the nonmonetary item took place.
(3) Recording of Exchange-Rate Differentials
Exchange-rate differentials are recognized in the Profit and Loss Statement for the period in which they
were accrued.
F. Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, including both demand deposits and fixed-term deposits on which there is no
restriction on their use and whose maturity date, at the time of the investment, does not exceed three
months.
Deposits which are restricted regarding their use and deposits with a redemption date as that exceeds a
period of three months of the date that the investment was made in them are classified in the framework of
short term deposits.
G.

Interest Received or Paid
Cash flows from interest received are classified on the Cash Flow Statement under investment activity.
Cash flows for interest paid are classified on the Cash Flow Statement under Financing Activity.

H. Consolidated Financial Statements
(1) General:
The Group’s consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company
and of entities, including "consolidated structured entities", controlled by the Company, directly or
indirectly. An investing company controls an invested company when it is exposed or has rights to
variable returns from its holding in the invested company, and when it has the ability to influence
those returns through use of force on the investee. The principle applies to all investees, including
structured entities.
Potential voting rights are considered substantial when the Group has the ability to exercise them.
When substantial potential voting rights exist, such as: convertible instruments, options and
forward contracts with the investee held by the Company or other parties holding an investment,
the realization of which will increase/decrease the voting rights of the held entity, the Group
determines if the existence of substantial potential voting rights together with other voting rights
which exist in the investee, lead to the existence of control.
The results of the activities of subsidiaries that were acquired or realized during the period of the
report are included in the Company’s Consolidated Profit and Loss Statements, starting on the
date when such control was acquired or until the date when this control was terminated, as
appropriate.
For the purposes of consolidation, all transactions, balances, and inter-Company income and
expenses are canceled out in full.
(2) Nonvoting Rights:
The share of nonvoting rights in the net assets, other than good will, of consolidated subsidiaries is
displayed separately under the Group’s equity. Nonvoting rights include the total sum of such
rights on the date when the transactions are aggregated (see below) as well as the share of the
nonvoting rights in changes that took place in the equity of the consolidated company after the date
of the aggregation of the transaction.
Losses by the consolidated companies that relate to nonvoting rights and that exceed nonvoting
rights in the equity of the consolidated companies are allocated to nonvoting rights, ignoring the
obligations and ability of those same rights owners to make additional investments in the
consolidated companies.
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The results of transactions with the holders of nonvoting rights that related to realization of part of
the Group’s investment in the consolidated company, when control of the latter is maintained, are
imputed to the equity ascribed to the owners of the parent company within the framework of the
“Net Loss” section.
(3) Loss of Control:
At the time of the loss of control of a consolidated company, the company recognizes the amount
of the difference between the aggregate value of the compensation received and the fair value of
any investment whatsoever that remains in the formerly consolidated company, and the book value
of the assets, liabilities, and nonvoting rights of the former consolidated company, as profit or loss.
Any remaining investment in the formerly consolidated company is considered to be the fair value
at that date with regard to the initial impact of the application of IAS 27 (amended).
(4) Business combinations:

The acquisition of operations and subsidiaries is measured by use of the purchase method. The
cost of the business combination is measured at the cumulative fair value (as of the exchange
date) of the assets given, liabilities incurred and equity instruments issued by the Group in
consideration for attaining the control of the acquired, the fair value of the holdings of the Group in
the acquired entity prior to the business combination, as well as the incremental value derived from
the exchange of share based payment arrangements attributed to the cost of the business
combination.
Transaction costs, connected directly to the business combination, are recorded to profit or loss as
incurred.
The identifiable assets of the entity acquired, the liabilities and the contingent liabilities recognized,
meeting the conditions for recognition pursuant to IFRS 3 "Business Combinations"(amended), are
recognized as per the provisions of the relevant standards.
Goodwill resulting from a business combination is measured to the extent of the excess acquisition
cost, with the addition of the fair value of the rights not providing control, over the net fair value of
the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the subsidiary, or are measured to the
extent of the excess acquisition cost over the Company’s share in the net fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the subsidiary, recognized on the
acquisition date. If, after reevaluation, the amount of Group rights in the net fair value of the
recognized identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeds the cost of the business
combination, the excess is recognized immediately in profit or loss.
Rights not providing control in the acquired company are measured initially as of the business
combination date to the extent of their share in the fair value of the assets, including goodwill,
liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquired entity, except for their share in good will.
Rights not providing control, which do not provide current ownership rights, such as options and
the equity element of debentures convertible into shares of the acquired company are presented at
fair value, except for share based payments of the acquired company that are measured on the
date of the business combination as stated in Note 2.Q. with regard to share based payments. See
Note 2.H.(2) regarding the accounting policies regarding the rights not providing control.
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I. Investments in Affiliated Companies:
An affiliated company is an entity in which the Group has a material influence, but it is not a subsidiary,
rights in a joint venture, or an entity under joint control. Material influence is the ability to take part in
making decisions relevant to the financial and operating policy of the Portfolio Company, but is not control
or shared control of such policy. With regard to the existence of material influence, account is taken of
potential voting rights that may be realized or converted immediately into shares of the Portfolio Company.
When potential voting rights which are immediately exercisable exist, such as warrants/options/equity
instruments which can be converted or exercised and can increase the Group's voting rights in another
entity, or alternatively, reduce the voting rights of other parties in another entity, the Group takes into
consideration these instruments when determining whether it has significant influence in another entity.
Equity instruments are not considered immediately convertible or exercisable of, for example, they cannot
be exercised until a certain future date or until a certain future event.
When determining whether certain potential voting rights can be immediately exercised, management's
intentions and the Group's financial ability to exercise or convert said rights are not taken into account.
Affiliated companies’ results, assets, and liabilities are included in these financial statements using the
book-value method. According to the book-value method, investments in affiliated companies are included
in the consolidated statement of financial position at a cost that is adjusted to the changes that took place,
after the purchase, in the Group’s share of net assets, including capital funds, less decreases, where such
exist, in the value of the affiliated company. For information concerning the assessment of an impairment of
an investment in an affiliated company, see Note 2.10.
Any excess of the acquisition cost of an affiliated company over the Group’s share of the fair value of
identified assets, liabilities, and dependent liabilities of the affiliated company that were recognized at the
time of purchase are recognized as good will. Good will is included at the book value of the investment in
the affiliated company and is inspected for a loss of value as part of the investment. Any excess of the
Group’s share of the net fair value of identified assets, liabilities, and dependent liabilities over the
acquisition cost of the affiliated company, after revaluation, are recognized immediately in the Profit and
Loss Statement.
Profits or losses created by transactions between the Company and/or a consolidated company and a
company affiliated with the Group, are canceled out in proportion to the Group’s share of the rights in the
relevant affiliated company.
The Group stops using the equity method from the date that the investment ceases to be an affiliated
company or a joint venture (or when the investment is classified as held for sale, whichever is earlier). At
the time of loss of significant influence, any investment remaining after the realization is measured at fair
value. The difference between the book value of the investment and its fair value is recorded to profit and
loss. Moreover, the amounts recognized in other comprehensive income in relation to that same
investment are treated in the same manner that would have been required, had the investee entity itself
realized the related assets and the related liabilities.
J. Impairment of investments handled in accordance with book value:
The Group is examining the existing of signs of an impairment in investments handled in accordance with
the equity method. An impairment occurs when there is objective evidence that expected future cash flows
from an investment have been adversely affected.
Determining the impairment of an investment is done for the entire investment. Accordingly, recognized
impairment loss from the investment is not attributable to assets comprising the investment account,
including goodwill, but is attributed to the investment as a whole, and therefore the Group recognizes the
reversal of loss recognized from investments accounted for using the equity method, when there is a rise in
a recoverable amount.
In order to determine the amount of loss due to an impairment, if any, an estimation is performed of the
recoverable amount of the investment. A recoverable amount is the higher of the investment's fair value
minus the disposal cost and the value in its use. By determining the investments value in use, the Group
estimates its share in the present value of estimated future cash flows from the Company's operations, or
the present value of the estimated future cash flows which are expected to be derived from dividends
received from the investment and its final disposal.
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K. Fixed assets:
A fixed asset is a tangible item that is held for use to provide services and which is expected to be used
during more than one period. The Group displays its fixed asset items in the following manner:
The cost model - Fixed asset items are displayed on the financial statement according to their cost, less
cumulative depreciation. The cost includes the acquisition cost of the assets as well as costs that can be
directly attributed to bringing the asset to the location and condition required for its use in the manner
intended by management.
Fixed assets are depreciated separately for each component of depreciable fixed assets that has a
significant cost relative to the total cost of the item. The depreciation is implemented systematically by the
straight-line method over the anticipated useful life of the components of the item, from the date when the
asset is ready for its intended use, taking account of the expected residual value at the end of its useful life.
The useful life and depreciation rate used to compute depreciation are as follows:
Depreciation rate

Useful life

%

(years)

6-33

3-17

20

5

Computers, furniture, and office equipment
Improvements to leasehold

The residual values, depreciation method, and useful life of the asset are evaluated by the Group’s
management at the end of each financial year. Changes are treated as changes of estimate from this time
forward.
L. Intangible Assets, Excluding Good Will:
(1) Intangible assets are identifiable non monetary assets without physical substance. Intangible assets
with an indefinable useful life are not amortized and are examined for purposes of evaluating
impairment of value once each year or when there is a sign indicating that impairment in value may
have taken place under the provisions of IAS 36. The estimate of the useful life of intangible assets
with an indefinable useful life is evaluated at the end of each reporting year. A change in estimate of
the useful life of an intangible asset converting it from indefinable to definable is treated prospectively.
(2) Intangible assets with a defined useful life are straight-line depreciated over their anticipated useful
life, subject to an assessment of the decline in value. A change in the estimated useful life of an
intangible asset with a defined life is treated as being from this time forward.
The depreciation rates used for depreciating intangible assets with a defined useful life are as follows:
License for intellectual property- 10 years.
(3) Intangible assets acquired in the framework of business combinations are identified and recognized
separately from goodwill when they comply with the definition of an intangible asset and their fair
value can be measured in a reliable manner. Intangible assets are identifiable when they are
inseparable or are derived from contractual or other legal rights. Intangible assets such as these are
recognized at their fair value on the date of the business combination.
In periods subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
presented at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated losses from impairment of value.
Amortization of intangible assets with a defined useful life is calculated in accordance with the straight
line method over its estimated useful life. The estimation of useful life and amortization methods are
reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being
accounted for on a prospective basis.
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(4) Intangible Assets Created Internally - Research and Development Costs:
Costs on account of research activities are imputed to the Profit and Loss Statement at the time of
their creation, less grants and participation.
An intangible asset created internally by the Group’s research activities are recognized, less grants
and participation, only if all of the following conditions pertain:


It is technically feasible to develop the asset in such a way that it will be available for use or sale.



The Group intends to develop the asset and to use it or sell it.



The Group has the ability to develop the asset and to use it or sell it.



It can be expected that the asset will produce future economic benefits.



The Group possesses the technical, financial, and other available resources to complete
development and to use or sell the asset.



The costs that will be incurred during the course of development and that can be ascribed to the
asset can be measured reliably.
When an intangible asset created internally cannot be recognized, the development costs are imputed
to the Profit and Loss Statement at the time of their creation.
As of the date of the financial statements, the conditions for the recognition of such an asset did not
exist.
For the manner of treatment of grants received from the Chief Scientist and royalties paid on account
of them, see Note 2.16.
M. Decline in the Value of Investments and Tangible and Intangible Assets, Excluding Good Will:
At the end of each reporting period, the Group examines the book value of its tangible and intangible
assets with the goal of determining whether there are any indications whatsoever of a decline in the value
of these assets. Should such indications be noted, the recoverable value of the asset is estimated in order
to determine the magnitude of the loss from the decline in value, if any. When it is impossible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cashgenerating unit to which the asset belongs.
N. Financial Assets:
(1) General
Financial assets are recognized on the Statement of financial position when the Group becomes a
party to the contractual terms of the instrument. Where the purchase or sale of an investment is
pursuant to a contract whose terms require transferring the investment within the accepted time frame
of the reference market, the investment is recognized or deducted at the time of the transaction (the
date on which the Group committed itself to purchase or sell the asset).
Investments in financial assets are first recognized according to the comprehensive costs of the
transaction, except for those financial assets that are classified at fair value through profit or loss,
which are first recognized at their fair value.
When the estimate of the fair value of financial assets that are not traded in an active market includes
assumptions not supported by anticipated market prices and values, the instrument is initially
recognized at the transaction price, incorporating deferred gain or loss derived from the difference
between the estimated fair value and the consideration paid or received. In succeeding periods, the
deferred gain or loss is recorded to profit or loss only if changes have taken place in the variables
which market participants take into account at the time of costing financial assets.
Financial assets are classed in the categories listed below. This classification depends on the nature
and goal of the holding of the financial asset and is set at the date of first recognition of the financial
asset or in subsequent reporting periods, if the financial assets can be reclassified:
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Financial assets at their fair value through profit or loss.



Loans and receivables;



Tradable financial assets;

(2) Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss
Financial assets are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss when those assets
are held for trading or when, at the time of their first recognition, they were listed as financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss.
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are displayed at fair value. Any profit or loss that
stems from a change in the fair value, including those whose sources is a change in exchange rates, is
recognized in the Profit and Loss Statement for the period in which the change took place. The net
profit or loss recognized in the Profit and Loss Statement incorporates any dividend or interest
produced on account of the financial asset.
The Company has investments in marketable securities which it has designated on the date of initial
recognition at fair value through profit or loss, since they are held for trading purposes. Moreover, the
Company has a convertible loan provided to the CellCure Company, an affiliated company. See Note 4.C.
(3) Loans and Receivables
Deposits and other receivables with payments that are fixed or that can be fixed, and which are not
quoted on an active market, are classified as Loans and Receivables. Loans and Receivables are
measured at depreciated cost, using the effective interest method, less any decline in value, if there is
one. Interest income is recognized using the effective interest method, except for short-term
receivables, where the amount of interest to be recognized is not significant.
(4) Marketable Financial Assets
Investments in negotiable and non-negotiable capital instruments, other than derivatives, and that were
not classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss or as Loans and Receivables are
classified as Marketable Financial Assets. Investments in capital instruments traded on an active
market are displayed at their fair value as of the date of the balance sheet. Profits or losses that stem
from changes in the fair value are directly imputed to owners’ equity under the heading “Equity on
account of Marketable Financial Assets,” except for losses from a decline in value, which are
recognized directly in the Profit or Loss Statement.
When the investments in these financial assets are realized, or when they show a decline in value, the
cumulative profits or losses as of the date of the realization or decline in value, as appropriate, and that
were imputed to the Capital Fund, are included in the Profit or Loss Statement for the period in which
the realization or decline in value took place.
(5) Decline in the Value of Financial Assets
Financial assets, aside for those classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, are
examined at every financial reporting date in order to identify signs of a decline in value. Such a decline
in value occurs when there is objectives evidence that, as a result of one or more events that took
place after the date when the financial asset was first recognized, the expected future cash flows of the
investment have been adversely affected.
Investments in equity instruments classified as available for sale, a significant or prolonged decline in
the fair value below their cost, is an indication of impairment.
For other financial instruments, indications of a decline in value may include the following:


Significant financial difficulties exhibited by the issuer or debtor



A failure to make current payments on principal or interest



A forecast that the debtor will file for bankruptcy or reorganization
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With regard to a salable financial asset, when there is objective evidence of a decline in value, the
cumulative loss that was directly recognized in owners’ equity as a result of the decline in the fair value
of the financial asset is reclassified to the Profit or Loss Statement. Losses from a decline in value that
were recognized, as stated, in the Profit or Loss Statement on account of an investment in a capital
instrument classified as salable, are not cancelled through profit or loss. Any increase in the fair value
of investments in capital instruments classified as salable in the period after the period when the loss
from the decline in value was recognized are imputed to Other Comprehensive Profit.
O. Financial Liabilities and Capital Instruments issued by the Group:
(1) Classification as Financial Obligation or Capital Instrument
Financial instruments that are not derivatives are classified as financial liabilities or capital instruments,
as a function of the nature of their underlying contracts.
A capital instrument is any contract that attests to a residual right in the assets of the Group after
deduction of all liabilities. Financial instruments issued by the Group are recorded according to the
return for their issue, fewer expenses related directly to the issue of these instruments.
Financial liabilities are displayed and measured under the following classifications:


Other financial liabilities



Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

(2) Options to Purchase Shares in the Group


Proceeds on account of an issue of options to purchase shares in the Group, of a type that grants
their holder a right to purchase a fixed number of regular shares in the Company in return for a
fixed cash sum, are displayed under Equity on the “Options line”. For this purpose, the realization
amount, which varies as a function of the date of realization, but whose realization price at any
possible realization date can be stated already at the date of issuance, is computed as a fixed
amount.



Proceeds on account of an issue of options to purchase shares in the Company, of a type that
grants their holder a right to purchase a fixed number of regular shares in the Company in return
for a variable cash sum, are displayed under Non-Current Liabilities and categorized as liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss. For this purpose, the realization sum, linked to the consumer price
index or to foreign currency, is considered to be a variable amount.

(3) Other Financial Liabilities
Other financial liabilities, such as Vendors, Payables, and Payable Royalties are first recognized at fair
value after deduction of transaction costs. After the date of first recognition, other financial liabilities are
measured at depreciated cost, using the effective interest method.
The effective interest method is a method for computing the depreciated cost of a financial obligation
and of allocating interest expenses over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
precisely discounts the expected future cash flows over the expected life of the financial obligation to
its book value, or over a shorter period, where appropriate.
(4) Splitting up the Proceeds from a Securities Package Issue
The proceeds from the issue of a package of securities are attributed to the various components of the
package. The proceeds are first attributed to financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or
loss and to other financial liabilities, which are measured at fair value only on the date when they are
first recognized, while the balance is attributed to capital instruments. When mixed financial
instruments are included in the package of securities, the other financial liabilities are recognized as
the amount of the difference between the fair value of the comprehensive mixed instrument and the fair
value of the financial liabilities that are measured by fair value through profit or loss. When a number of
capital instruments are issued as part of a package of securities, the proceeds for the package are
attributed proportional to their relative fair values. The fair value of each component of the package
measured at fair value, as stated, is set in accordance with the market prices of the securities

The notes accompanying the financial statements constitute an integral part thereof
12

immediately after their issuance. The issuance costs are allotted to each of the component, prorated to
the value set for each of the components issued. The costs of the issue that were allotted to financial
liabilities measured by fair value through profit or loss are imputed to profit and loss as of the date of
the issue. The issue costs that were allocated to other financial liabilities are displayed less the
liabilities and imputed to profit and loss using the effective interest method. Interest costs allocated to
capital instruments are displayed less owners’ equity.
P. Government Grants and Grants by the Chief Scientist
(1) Government Grants
Government grants are systematically recognized as income for all reporting periods when a matching
entry is created on account of the costs borne by the Group in order to be entitled to the grants.
Government grants and grants from other foundations and agencies, which the Group is entitled to
receive as compensation for expenses or losses created or for the purpose of immediate financial
support, with no ascribed future costs, are recognized in the Profit and Loss Statement for the period in
which the right to them was created.
(2) Grants by the Chief Scientist
Grants from the Chief Scientist that the Group will have to repay with interest when prescribed
conditions exist, and that are not loans that can be forgiven are recognized at the time of first
recognition, as a financial obligation, at fair value, based on the present value of the expected cash
flows for repaying the grant, discounted at a rate of 35%-45% capitalization that reflects the level of risk
of the research and development project. This rate of capitalization is based on research data
published in public sources, which normalizes the position of the Group and the stage of development
at which it stands. The difference between the amount of the grant and the fair value will be treated as
a government grant.
In subsequent periods, the obligation is measured at depreciated cost, using the effective interest
method.
Grants by the Chief Scientist are considered to be those that are not loans that can be forgiven, taking
account of the Group’s position and of management’s expectations of the prospects for the success of
the development (based on the current stage of the Group’s development and management’s
assessments).
Q. Share-based Payments
Share-based payments to employees and others who provide similar services that are paid by means of
capital instruments of the Group, are measured at their fair value at the time when granted. At the time of
the grant, the Group measures the fair value of the capital instruments that are vested by means of the
Black-Scholes Model. When the capital instruments that have been vested do not mature until those
employees complete a defined period of service, or as a function of the existence of defined market
conditions, the Group recognizes the share-based payment arrangements in its financial statements over
the maturation period against an increase in owners’ equity, under the heading “Capital Fund on account
of Share-based Payment Transactions.” At every balance sheet date, the Group estimates how many
capital instruments can be expected to come to maturity. A change in the estimate for previous periods is
recognized in the Profit and Loss Statement over the balance of the maturation period.
R. Income Tax
In light of the losses for tax purposes that the Company and its Portfolio Companies have accumulated,
and given the expectation that there will be no taxable income in the foreseeable income, the Company
and the Portfolio Companies do not impute deferred taxes to be received on account of losses to be
carried forward for tax purposes and for provisional allowances for the value of assets and liabilities,
between the financial statement and the tax return.
In addition, the taxes that would have been incurred in the event of the realization of the investment in
Portfolio Companies are not taken into account, because the Group intends to hold on to these
investments and to develop them. In addition, deferred taxes on account of distribution of profits by these
companies are not taken into account, because the dividends are not taxable.
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S. Profit per Share
The Group computes the amount of the basic profit per share for profit or loss, as attributed to the Group’s
shareholders, by dividing the profit or loss that is attributed to regular shareholders in the Group by a
weighted average of the number of regular shares outstanding during the reporting period. In order to
compute the diluted profit per share, the Group adjusts the profit or loss attributed to the regular
shareholders and the weighted number of the number of shares outstanding to reflect the influence of all
potential diluting shares.
T. Exchange rates and Linkage Basis
(1) Balances in foreign currency or that are linked to foreign currency are included in the financial
statement according to the representative exchange rates published by the Bank of Israel and in force
on the day of the end of the reporting period.
(2) Balances linked to the Consumer Price Index are displayed as per the last known index on the end of
the reporting period (the index for the month proceeding the month of the financial statement) or as per
the index for the last month of the reporting period (the monthly index for the month of the date of the
financial statement), as a function of the terms of the transaction.
(3) Data on the dollar exchange rate and Consumer Price Index are displayed below:

Representative
dollar
exchange-rate
NIS to the dollar
Financial statements as of:
December 31, 2014

2155

Index in Israel(*)
Known
Index
Actual Index
Points
Points

.21122

.21122

.21112

.21127

%

%

%

Change from the period ending:
December 31, 2014

.2101

)01.0(

)0120(

December 31, 2013

)7102(

.15.

.152

December 31, 2012

)2121(

.111

.111

2117
December 31, 2013

(*) Based on the 2002 average.
Note 3. New Financial Reporting Regulations and Interpretations
A. Amendments to Standards that Influence the Current Period and/or Previous Reporting Period:
(1) Amendment to IFRS 3 “Business Combinations’ (Regarding the Accounting Treatment of
Contingent Consideration in Business Combinations)
The amendment makes it clear that contingent consideration that is not classified as equity will be
measured in succeeding periods at fair value through profit and loss, whether it represents a financial
instrument or not. The amendment applies in a prospective manner with respect to business
combinations occurring after July 1, 2014.
(2) Amendment IFRS 2 "Share-Based Payment" (concerning establishment of vesting terms)
The amendment states that a "performance term" is a vesting term that requires that the counterparty
complete a specified service period (directly or indirectly) and there will be defined performance goals
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for that period of service. In addition, the amendment defines "service term" as a vesting term that
requires that the counterparty complete a defined service period. If the counterparty, for whatever
reason, stopped supplying the service during the vesting period, the counterparty has failed to meet the
term. The service term does not require that the performance goal be met. The amendment will be
applied "prospectively" for programs granted after July 1, 2014. Early application is possible.
(3) Amendment to IFRS 13 “Fair Value Measurement” (Extent of the Application of the Exception to
Net Measurement)
The amendment expands the application of the possibility of fair value measurement of a portfolio of
financial assets and financial liabilities on the basis of a net position, to other contracts to which IAS 39
or IFRS 9 applies as well. The amendment will be implemented prospectively from the beginning of the
annual reporting period in which IFRS 13 was initially implemented for annual periods commencing on
July 1, 2014 or thereafter. Early implementation is possible with appropriate disclosure.
(4) Amendment IAS 36 "Impairment of Assets"(concerning disclosures about a recoverable
amount)
The amendment clarifies the extent and scope of the disclosure requirements for assets (including
goodwill) or cash-generating units for which an impairment has been recognized (or canceled), and
determines that the required disclosure for assets of cash-generating units with a recoverable amount
based on their fair value, will be similar in essence to disclosure required for measuring fair value in
accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standard IFRS 13 "Fair Value Measurement".
The amendment will be applied retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or after January 1,
2014.
B. Standards, published interpretations, and amendments to standards, that are not valid and have
not been early adopted by the Group, which will or is expected to have an influence on future
periods:
IFRS 9 "Financial Instruments
IFRS 9 (2014) “Financial Instruments” (hereafter: “the standard”) is the final standard of the financial instruments
project. The standard revokes the previous stages of IFRS 9, issued during the years 2009, 2010 and 2013. The
final standard includes instructions for classification and measurement of financial assets, as was published at
the first stage in 2009, and also includes instructions for classification and measurement of financial liabilities as
they were issued in the second stage in 2010, proposes a more updated and principle-based model for hedge
accounting and presents a new model for the evaluation of a forecasted impairment loss as detailed below. In
addition, the standard revokes the interpretation in IFRIC 9 “Reevaluation of Embedded Derivatives”.


Debt instruments will be classified and measured after initial recognition according to the amortized
cost or fair value through profit or loss. Determining the measurement model will be considering
the entity's business model concerning the management of financial assets and in accordance with
the characteristics of predicted cash flow derived from those same financial assets.



A debt instrument which, according to the tests, has been measured at an amortized cost of fair
value through profit or loss can be designated only if the designation eliminates inconsistency in
recognition and measurement that would have been created if the asset had been measured at an
amortized cost. Equity instruments will be measured at fair value through profit or loss.



Embedded derivatives will not be separated from a host contract that is within the scope of the
standard. Instead, mixed contracts will be measured as a whole at an amortized cost or fair value,
in accordance with the business model tests and predicted cash flows.



Debt instruments will be reclassified at an amortized cost to fair value and vice versa only when the
entity changes its business model for managing financial assets.



Investments in equity instruments that do not have a quoted price in an active market, including
derivatives of these instruments, will always be measured by fair value. An alternative to
measurement by cost under certain circumstances has been canceled. In addition, the standard
states that under specific circumstances, the cost may be an appropriate estimate of fair value.
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The standard further stipulates the following provisions with regard to financial obligations:


A change in the fair value of a financial obligation marked at the time of first recognition at fair
value through profit and loss, and attributed to changes in the credit risk of the obligation, will be
imputed directly to Other Comprehensive Profit, unless such imputation creates or increases an
accounting mismatch.



When the financial liability is paid or retired, amounts credited to Other Comprehensive Profit will
not be classified to profit or loss.



All of the derivates, whether assets or liabilities, will be measured in fair value through profit or
loss, including a derivative financial instrument which constitutes a liability related to an unquoted
equity instrument for which the fair value cannot be measured reliably.

Impairment
The new impairment model based on anticipated credit losses will be applied to debt instruments measured at
amortized cost or at fair value though other comprehensive income, receivables with respect to a lease,
contractual assets recognized according to IFRS 15 and written obligations to provide loans and financial
guarantee contracts.
The provision for impairment will be with respect to a probability of insolvency during the coming 12 months
(during the coming year), or according to the probability of insolvency over the entire lifetime of the
instrument. The examination for the entire lifetime of the instrument is required if the credit risk increased
significantly from the date of the original recognition of the asset. Another approach applies if the financial
asset was created or purchased when it was credit-impaired.
The standard adds instructions for presentation and disclosure in connection with impairment of financial
instruments.
Effective date and possibilities for early adoption
The mandatory effective date of the standard will be for annual reporting periods commencing from January 1,
2018 or later. Early implementation is possible.
In general, the provisions of the standard with respect to financial assets and liabilities will be implemented
retroactively, with certain exceptions stipulated in the transitional provisions of the standard. It was also
stipulated that, despite the retroactive implementation, companies which apply the standard for the first time
will not be required to adjust their comparative figures for previous periods. Also, it will be possible to adjust
the comparative figures only when this adjustment does not make hindsight use of information. The provisions
relating to hedging will, in general, be implemented in a prospective manner with limited retroactive
application.
At this stage, management of the Company is unable to estimate the effect of implementation of the standard
on its financial position and operating results.
Amendment to IAS 24 "Disclosures Connected with a Related Party" (With Regard to Key
Management Personnel)
The amendment clarifies that a management company providing key management personnel services to a
reporting entity is a "related party" of the reporting entity. The amendment will be implemented retroactively
for annual reporting periods commencing on July 1, 2014 or thereafter. Early implementation is possible.
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Note 4. Judgments in Application of Accounting Policies and Key Factors for Uncertainty in Estimates
A. Overview:
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, described in Note 2 above, in certain circumstances
Group management is required to apply broad accounting discretion with regard to estimates and
assumptions related to the book values of assets and liabilities that are not necessarily available from
other sources. The estimates and assumptions are based on past experience and other factors deemed to
be relevant. The actual results may be different from these estimates.
The estimates and assumptions underlying them are reviewed by management on a regular basis.
Changes in accounting estimates are recognized only in a period when there was a change in the estimate,
if the change effects only that period, or are recognized in the stated period and in future periods, if the
change affects both the current period and future periods.
B. Critical Judgments in the Application of Accounting Policy:
The following relates to the critical judgments, other than those associated with estimates (see above),
made by management when applying the Group’s accounting policy and that have an extremely
significant affect on the sums recognized in the Financial Statements.
(1) Intangible Assets Created Internally: Research and Development Costs
The Group reviews the transfer of the entry of research and development costs from the Profit and
Loss Statement to an intangible asset created internally by Group development activities that are
displayed on the balance sheet.
As part of the review of the asset the Group examines, among other things, the technical feasibility of
completing the development of the asset, the Group’s economic ability to complete the development of
the asset, the forecast of future economic benefits from the asset, and the Group’s ability to sell the
asset.
(2) Grants by the Chief Scientist
As stated in Note 2.P.2 above, at the time of first recognition the grant will be recognized as a financial
obligation at fair value, based on the present value of the cash flows expected for repayment of the
grant, discounted by a capitalization rate that reflects the degree of risk in the research and
development project. The difference between the amount of the grant and its fair value will be treated
as a government grant. In subsequent periods that obligation will be measured at depreciated cost
using the effective interest method.
A change in the estimate of the capitalization rate or the income forecast will lead to a change in the
fair value of the obligation to the Chief Scientist.
(3) Existence of de facto control
Effective control is a situation in which a group may have control over another entity, despite that it
holds less than one half of the voting rights in that entity. According to the provisions of IFRS 10
“Consolidated Financial Statements”, at the time of examining the existence of de facto control, other
than the extent of the rate of voting rights, the Group takes additional factors into account, such as: the
size of the holding in relation to other shareholders, the number of the other votes necessary in order to
be entitled to the majority of the votes in polls being carried out and the patterns of the presence of
other investors in the general assemblies.
C. Fair Value of Financial Instruments
As described in Note 2, the Group’s management applies its judgment when selecting the appropriate
techniques for assessing financial instruments that have no quoted price on an active exchange. The
assessment techniques used by Group’s management are those that are employed by participants in the
market. The fair value of other financial instruments is set on the basis of capitalization of the cash flows to be
expected from them, based on assumptions that are supported by observed market prices and quotations.
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Estimates of the fair value of financial instruments that are not registered for trade on an active exchange
include a number of assumptions that are not supported by observed market prices and quotes.
Note 5. Cash and Cash Equivalents
Composition:
As of December 31
2014
2013
NIS thousands
NIS thousands
170
24215
14025

Cash NIS
Forex Cash

.4122
..4271
.24757

Note 6. Investments in Negotiable Securities
Composition:
As of December 31
2014
2013
NIS thousands
NIS thousands
24750
24750

Money-market fund

14715
14715

Note 7. Receivables and Debit Balances
Composition:
As of December 31
2014
2013
NIS thousands
NIS thousands
.4.17
.72
.12
.22
7.
1
.4151

Chief scientist grants, receivable
Rental fees receivable
Government agencies
Related parties
Prepaid expenses
Others

222
.4.50
.51
105
225
24252

The notes accompanying the financial statements constitute an integral part thereof
15

Note 8. Investments in Portfolio Companies
A.

Information about Consolidated Companies:

Scope of Investment in
Consolidated Company
As of December 31
2014
2013
NIS
NIS
thousands
thousands
KAHR Medical (2005) Ltd.
ProtAb Ltd. (*)
Enlivex Therapeutics, Ltd. (**)

Percentage Stage in
Capital Rights
of the Consolidated
Company
As of December 31
2014
2013
%

%

).4225(

241.1

1515.

1515.

14215
-

).54251(

15121
22152

15175
5.155

242.0

).24170(

(*) ProtAb Ltd. entered into consolidation on September 22, 2014. ProtAb was included in the section of
investment in affiliated companies.
(**) Enlivex Therapeutics Ltd. exited consolidation on May 18, 2014. As of December 31, 2014, Enlivex
Therapeutics Ltd. is presented in the context of the section of investment in affiliated companies.
(1) KAHR Medical (2005) Ltd.
General
KAHR is a private company incorporated in Israel in September 2005 that develops innovative
treatments for autoimmune diseases and cancer based on discoveries by Prof. Mark Tykocinski and
his laboratory at the University of Pennsylvania and Dr. Yaakov Rachmilevitz and his laboratory at
Hadassah Hospital-Ein Kerem.
At the end of 2008, KAHR received a license from the University of Pennsylvania for the intellectual
property that covers a number of innovative TSCP proteins. KAHR is continuing to develop its
products, including the PP14 protein for treatment of various autoimmune diseases and is completing
the negotiations with the University of Pennsylvania. The license carries a cost for milestones and
royalties from future sales at a rate of 1.5%-4% in various scenarios and in the event of sub-licensing,
royalties are in the range of 20% and 40% (depending on the stage in which the sub-license was
given).
During the first quarter of 2009, KAHR Ltd. signed an agreement to acquire a license that it believes
will be complementary to its existing intellectual property. In return for the right to use the intellectual
property, 4.9% of the issued equity of KAHR was allocated to the owners of the intellectual property.
As a result of this allocation, an intangible asset of NIS 1,850 million was recognized in the financial
statement against profit, as a result of the decline in its holdings by that amount. For further
information on accounting, see Note 2 L.
Capital Raising and Financing Sources
April 2011, KAHR signed an investment agreement (hereinafter - "Investment Round 2011) with the
Company and an investor to allocate preferred A shares.
In the Investment Round 2011, KAHR raised 3,000 thousand dollars and converted loans totaling
2,100 thousand dollars by a company value of 5,500 thousand dollars pre-money. The new investor
invested in KAHR 2,000 thousand dollars in consideration for 19% of the shares of KAHR. Similarly,
the Company invested about 1,000 thousand dollars, and additionally converted loans that the
Company had given KAHR, amounting to about 2,100 thousand dollars at a discount of about 20%30% of the investment price determined in the agreement. Following the investment, the rate of
holdings of the Company in KAHR decreased to about 69.5% (65% on a fully diluted basis).
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As a result of this transaction, the Company recognized a capital fund for the transaction with a
minority in the amount of NIS 1,094 thousand, an amount which is charged to the retained earnings.
See also Note 2.8. (2).
In the framework of the agreement, KAHR granted the new investor rights to negotiation for the
exclusive acquisition of a license to KAHR’s main development. Upon the completion of the
transaction, the board of directors of KAHR will continue in its existing composition, such that the
Company will be given the right to appoint four directors at KAHR, in addition to the additional director
appointed by KAHR. The new investor will be given the right to appoint an observer to KAHR’s board
of directors.
The shares allocated to the investors will grant certain privileges and it was determined, inter alia, that
if during the 15 months after the completion of the investment agreement, KAHR issues shares with
additional rights, the said additional rights will be granted to the investors.
In June 2012 KAHR signed an investment agreement (hereinafter - "Investment Round 2012") with a
new investor and existing investors allocating preferred shares (Preferred A Shares).
In the Investment Round 2012, KAHR raised 2,600 thousand dollars at a company value of 10,600
thousand dollars, pre-money. The new investor Flerie Invest AB has invested about 2,000 thousand
dollars for approximately - 15% of the share capital of KAHR. Additionally, Sanofi maintained its
proportion (about 20%) through an additional investment of 500 thousand dollars. During the
investment round the Company invested 100 thousand dollars, so that its holdings, after the
Investment Round 2012 are about 56% (53% fully diluted).
As a result of this transaction, the Company recognized a capital fund for a minority transaction
totaling 4,140 thousand NIS in the balance loss section. This amount is attributed to surplus. See also
Note 2. h (2).
The Investment Round 2012 stipulates that the KAHR Board of Directors shall consist of no more
than eight members.
Any shareholder holding 12% of KAHR may appoint one board member, in addition to agreements
between the parties regarding the composition of the Board and Board members of KAHR.
In September, 2013, KAHR entered into an investment agreement (hereinafter - "Investment Round
2013) with existing shareholders to allocate preferred A shares.
In the Investment Round 2013, KAHR raised 2,350 thousand dollars, by a company value of 13,189
thousand dollars pre-money. Of the total investment amount, the Company invested a total of 200
thousand dollars, Sanofi Aventis invested a total of 500 thousand dollars and Flerie Invest AB
invested 1,650 thousand dollars.
In addition, for a period of 12 months after closing the investment agreement 2013, Flerie Invest AB
(hereinafter- The owners of the option) will have the option to add to their investment a total of 150
thousand dollars (of which the Company can invest a total of 50 thousand dollars). After completing
Investment Round 2013, the Company's holding rate is about 49% (43% fully diluted).
The owners of the option did not exercise the option that it held and it expired in August 2014.
Despite the decrease in holding, in light of the holding rates of the shareholders in the Company at
the time of closing, the Company will have the right to appoint most of the board members. As of the
balance sheet date, the Company has the right to appoint the Chairman of the Board who will have
ruling rights in the event of a tie in votes (since in full dilution the Company will have the right to
appoint half of the board members).
As a result of this transaction, the Company recognized a capital reserve for the minority transaction
totaling 2,876 thousand NIS. This amount was attributed to surplus. See also Note 2.8.(2).
In February 2015, KAHR entered into an agreement with its shareholders to provide a convertible
loan in the amount of $ 1,000 thousand. See also Note 28.D.
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Chief Scientist grants
Grant type

Budget

Participation
%

Grant
period

Israel/Abroad

NIS
thousands

%

NIS
thousands

January
2012

Israel
Abroad

1,950
549

50%
30%

-1.7.11
30.6.12

Research and development of a
protein platform based on SCP
technology to treat autoimmune
diseases and various cancers.

December
2012

Israel
Abroad

3,000
1,900

50%
30%

-1.7.12
31.7.13

Continued production of the
product abroad, advanced
trials on animals and
preparations for a clinical trial.

December
2013

Israel
Abroad(*)

3,080
7,100

60%
30%

-1.8.13
31.7.13

December
2014

Israel
Abroad(**)

3,800
4,500

50%
30%

-1.8.14
31.7.15

Approval
date

Purpose of the grant

Continued development of
Company products by
conducting toxicology trials
and producing the drug under
GMP conditions for the first
human clinical trial.
Completion of the toxicity trials
on animals and production of a
clinical batch of the KAHR-102
medication towards approval of
a first clinical trial on humans

(*) In December 2014, the Chief Scientist approved an application by KAHR to extend a foreign grant through
December 31, 2015.
(**) In December 2014, KAHR received approval that the program for the foreign file will begin immediately when
the foreign file for the prior year terminates, namely February 1, 2015.
Share-Based Payment

Description of the
program

Grant date

Number
of
Options

Vesting
terms
and
addition
al terms

Vesting
addition

Share
value
at grant
date

Fair
value at
grant
date

Total
benefit
at grant
date

USD

USD

NIS
thousand

Options granted to the
CEO of KAHR and a
consultant
Warrants granted to
the CEO, employees
and Directors of the
Company to exercise
Company shares

June 2012

33,238

). (

010. NIS

2112

2112

2.2

September
2012

158,099

(2)

$2112

2112

1.57

988

Options granted to
employees and
consultants

May 2014

214250

(3)

$2112

2112

2122

112

Options granted to
directors

September
2014

29,658

(4)

$2112

2112

2122

220
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(1) Each option can be exercised into one ordinary share of KAHR with NIS 0.001 par value against the
payment of an exercise increment in the amount of NIS 0.01. The options may be exercised in full
beginning on the grant date and were allotted under the equity route according to the provisions of
Sections 102 and 3(I) of the Income Tax Ordinance.
Since the exercise price is nil compared to the share price, the value of the option is approximately
the value of the stock and, accordingly, there is no significance to the model chosen and the other
parameters that affect the value of the option have no significance.
In 2013, KAHR ended the undertaking with the consultant, and therefore, 4,310 options in his
possession expired. The value of the expired options was NIS 29 thousand.
(2) Each option can be exercised into one ordinary share of KAHR with NIS 0.001 par value against the
payment of an exercise increment in the amount of NIS 0.01. The options will vest over 3 years. 25% of
the options will vest at the end of a year from the grant date, and 75% of the remaining options, will vest
in 8 equal, quarterly portions at the end of each quarter during the subsequent two years. The options will
expire after ten years from the grant date.
The cost of the benefit incorporated in the options allotted as above, based on the fair value on the
date of their grant, was estimated at NIS 988 thousand.
The fair value of options granted was estimated as above by applying the binomial model. The
parameters used in the implementation of the model are as follows:
Component
Share price (in dollars)
Exercise price (in dollars)
Life of the stock option plan (years)
Standard Deviation (in percent)
Risk-free interest rate (percent)
Rates of employee turnover (percentages)
Early exercise factor (percent)
Expected dividend rate (percent)

2.45
3.62
10
79
1.68
0
3
0

(3) Each option can be exercised into one ordinary share of the Company with NIS 0.001 par value The
options were allotted under the equity route according to the provisions of Sections 102 and 3(I) of the
Income Tax Ordinance. The options will vest over 3 years. 33% of the options will vest at the end of the
first year and 67% of the options will vest in 8 equal, quarterly portions at the end of each quarter during
the subsequent two years. The options will expire after ten years from the grant date.
The cost of the benefit incorporated in the options allotted as above, based on the fair value on the
date of their grant, was estimated at NIS 442 thousand.
The fair value of options granted was estimated as above by applying the binomial model. The
parameters used in the implementation of the model are as follows:
Component
Share price (in dollars)
Exercise price (in dollars)
Life of the stock option plan (years)
Standard Deviation (in percent)
Risk-free interest rate (percent)
Rates of employee turnover (percentages)
Early exercise factor (percent)
Expected dividend rate (percent)

3.62
3.62
10
70
2.44
0
2.5
0

(4) Each option can be exercised into one ordinary share of the Company with NIS 0.001 par value The
options were allotted under the equity route according to the provisions of Sections 102 and 3 (I) of the
Income Tax Ordinance. The options will vest over 3 years. 33% of the options will vest at the end of the
first year and 67% of the options will vest in 8 equal, quarterly portions at the end of each quarter during
the subsequent two years. The options will expire after ten years from the grant date.
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The cost of the benefit incorporated in the options allotted as above, based on the fair value on the
date of their grant, was estimated at NIS 250 thousand.
The fair value of options granted was estimated as above by applying the binomial model. The
parameters used in the implementation of the model are as follows:
Component
Share price (in dollars)
Exercise price (in dollars)
Life of the stock option plan (years)
Standard Deviation (in percent)
Risk-free interest rate (percent)
Rates of employee turnover (percentages)
Early exercise factor (percent)
Expected dividend rate (percent)

3.62
2.32
10
70
2.44
0
2.5
0

As of the balance sheet date, 297,614 options are exercisable.
(2) ProtAb Ltd. (hereinafter - "ProtAb")
General
ProtAb is a private company incorporated in August 2005 in Israel. ProtAb is developing drugs that use
an innovative approach for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis, inflammatory bowel disease (including
Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis) and other autoimmune diseases. The development is based on
the discovery of Professor Yaakov Naparstek from Hadassah Ein Kerem hospital.
ProtAb holds an exclusive license to use the patents and patent applications for peptides and antibodies against them for treating autoimmune diseases. This exclusive license includes twenty-two
patents obtained in the U.S, Australia, Israel, Japan, Canada, and countries in Europe, and one patent
application in Israel. In addition, ProtAb has direct ownership of two patents and eighteen patent
applications in a wide variety of countries that protect, inter alia, on the monoclonal antibody,
Prozumab, which is in advanced development stages at ProtAb. In addition, in July 2013, a license
agreement was signed with Antitope Limited regarding the monoclonal human antibody, Prozumab, in
which future payments of royalties were specified to be paid to Antitope at the time of future sales of
Prozumab.
In October 2012, the board of directors of ProtAb decided to reduce the scope of the activities of
ProtAb, inter alia, by decreasing salaries and reducing the size of a position, in order to concentrate
efforts for the benefit of deciphering an operating mechanism for the leading antibody of the company
with the assistance of foreign subcontractors with expertise in the field.
Capital Raising and Financing Resources
a) In July 2012, December 2012 and August 2014, ProtAb entered into an agreement with its shareholders
for convertible loans in the amounts of $ 250 thousand (the full amount was transferred by the
Company), $ 435 thousand ($145 thousand by the Company and $ 290 thousand by two other
shareholders of ProtAb) and the amount of $ 9 thousand (the entire amount transferred by the
Company), respectively.
The loans are linked to the dollar and bear annual interest at the rate pf LIBOR+3%, and they will be
repaid on September 22, 2017, except if they will be converted to shares of ProtAb.
If ProtAb offers securities whose total amount bid at least $ 500,000, the Company may convert
the loans (plus accrued interest) into shares ProtAb, while the discount rate of 20% of the shares in
the same assignment. If ProtAb capital investment will be lower amount from $ 500,000, the
Company may give written notice ProtAb conversion of the loans into shares in a company value of
$ 500,000 (before money).
b) In September 22, 2014, a financing transaction (hereafter-“the transaction”) was completed between
ProtAb and the Company. In the context of the transaction, the Company placed a convertible loan of $
460 thousand at the disposal of ProtAb, as specified below:

The notes accompanying the financial statements constitute an integral part thereof
72

To the extent that the amount of the cumulative investment in ProtAb will stand at $ 760 thousand
within 30 days from closing the transaction, the Company will receive preferred B shares of ProtAb.
To the extent that the cumulative investment will be lower than $ 760 thousand until that date, the
above amount of $ 460 will be a loan convertible into shares, at annual cumulative interest of 5%.
The amount of the loan and accrued interest (hereafter: “the loan balance”) will be converted into
shares at the time of a future investment in ProtAb in an amount of at least one million dollars, at a
price reflecting a discount of 35% in relation to the price per share to be paid by the investors in the
next investment round. Nevertheless, the Company is permitted to convert the loan balance under
these terms also if the amount of the future investment is lower than one million dollars at a price
reflecting a discount of 35% in relation to the share price to be paid by the investors in the next
investment round, and is also permitted to convert the loan balance at any time at a price of $ 36
per preferred B share.
The loan balance will be repayable on a date which is the earlier of a “default” event (as defined in
the convertible loans agreement) or 12 months from the date of completing the transaction.
The loan balance represents the most senior debt of ProtAb, against which ProtAb has pledged all of
its assets, including intellectual property, in a first ranked floating lien in favor of the Company.
The preferred B shares have been provided with protection from dilution of the full ratchet type in the
event of allotment of securities at a price lower than $ 36. Moreover, in the bylaws of ProtAb the
preferred B shares have been granted identical rights to those existing for the preferred A shares, but
their rights take precedence over those of the preferred A shares.
In the context of this transaction, the terms of the existing loans (provided by the shareholders in the
past) of ProtAb were amended so that their balance will be positioned for repayment on the earliest
date between a “default” event or 36 months from the date of closing the transaction. Moreover, it
was clarified that to the extent that they are converted in connection with the allotment of preferred B
shares according to the terms specified above, they will be converted at the same price ($ 36 per
share) and will not be eligible for a discount in relation to the price of the allotment of these preferred
B shares.
In the context of the transaction, ProtAb changed its bylaws so that they include, inter alia, provisions
according to which the Company will have a majority of the board of directors of ProtAb, and the veto
rights were cancelled. Therefore, commencing from the date of the transaction, the Company
consolidates ProtAb in its financial statements.
Rights not providing control
The amount of the rights not providing control of ProtAb (31%), recognized as of the acquisition date,
is NIS 3,823 thousand. The rights not providing control were estimated on the basis of their fair
value.
The estimate of the fair value in the amount of NIS 3,823 thousand of the rights not providing control
of ProtAb, whose shares are not traded on the stock exchange, was made by means of
implementing the OPM approach.
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The amounts of assets and liabilities recognized on the acquisition date
NIS thousand
Cash and cash equivalents
Other current assets
Fixed assets, net
Trade payables
Other current liabilities
Shareholders’ loan
Liabilities for termination of employee employer relationships
Royalties payable
Total identifiable net assets

.4512
251
.02
)202(
)225(
)2422.(
)2.(
).4220(
).4752(

Gain from entry into consolidation of investee company
NIS thousand
Investment according to the equity method
Net assets consolidated
Rights not providing control
Excess cost created
Gain from entry into consolidation

)147.5(
)24.52(
)24522(
.24520
24227

Options to investors
In April and May 2013, ProtAb share options which were issued to the company and additional
investors expired as part of the investment round that took place at ProtAb in 2010.
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Chief Scientist grants

Approval
date

Grant type

Budget

Participation
%

Grant
period

Israel/Abroad

NIS
thousands

%

NIS
thousands

Purpose of the grant

Production of pilot batches and
completions towards GMP
production, completion of GMP
batches ,completion of
toxicology experiments on rats,
development of validation works
of analytical methods, .preparing
and filing with the regulatory
authorities toward Phase l.
beginning Phase l clinical
experiment , work on activation
mechanism.
October
2011

Israel
Abroad

December
2012

Israel
Abroad

3,900
3,900

1,900
3,800

60%
30%

-1.3.11
28.2.12

50%
30%

-1.8.12
31.7.13

GMP production, toxicology
experiments on monkeys,
development of validation works
of analytical methods, preparing
and filing with the regulatory
authorities towards Phase l
experiment , work on activation
mechanism

(*) The program was extended to July 13, 2012 at the request of ProtAb
(**) The program was extended to September 30, 2013 at the request of ProtAb
In the second quarter of 2014, ProtAb received approval from the Chief Scientist for a research and
development program carried out in 2013, As a result, during the first quarter of 2014, ProtAb recognized
the amount of approximately NIS 618 thousand as a reduction of R&D expenses (not recognized in 2013).
The Jerusalem Development Authority
During the years 2011-2014, ProtAb received grants from the Jerusalem Development Authority in a total
amount of NIS 204 thousand linked to the CPI. On December 31, 2013, a liability to return the grant at a
rate of royalties of 4% per year was presented, capitalized at a capitalization rate of 45%, and in
accordance of an estimate of the anticipated revenues. On December 31, 2014, due to non compliance of
ProtAb with the terms of the grant, the grant was classified as a short term liability and presented at a value
of NIS 210 thousand in the context of other current liabilities.
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B. Data on affiliated companies:
Detail of the affiliated companies held by the Company:
Volume of investment in
affiliated company (1)
As of December 31
2014
2013
NIS
NIS
thousands thousands
CellCure Neurosciences Ltd.
ProtAb Ltd. (2)
Enlivex Therapeutics Ltd. (3)
BioMarCare Technologies Inc. (4)

Rate of holding of rights in
equity of affiliated company
As of December 31
2014
2013

.4077
24250
24275

2475.
-

%

%

2.120
15121
22152
121.2

2.120
15121
121.2

Comprehensive loss (gain) of material affiliated companies of the Company:
For the year ended December 31
2014
2013
2012
NIS thousands
NIS thousands
NIS thousands
.24.25

22401.

74550

-

24202

24127

)2422.(

-

-

BioMarCare Technologies Inc.

-

.4555

.4515

Thrombotech Ltd. (5)

-

-

.4577

CellCure Neurosciences Ltd.
ProtAb Ltd.
Enlivex Therapeutics Ltd.

(1) The scope of the investment in the affiliated company as presented in the consolidated reports of the
Company, including goodwill and intangible assets.
(2) ProtAb entered consolidation on September 22, 2014. See also Note 8.A.2. As of December 31, 2013,
the investment in ProtAb was included in the section of investment in affiliated companies.
(3) Enlivex Therapeutics Ltd. exited consolidation on May 18, 2014, See also Note 8.B.3. As of December
31, 2014, the investment in Enlivex is included in the section of investment in affiliated companies.
(4) As of the balance sheet date, BioMarCare froze its clinical activities and focuses on an attempt to
commercialize its technology, and therefore, it is not a material affiliated company. See Note 8.B.4.
(5) In July 2012, Thrombotech was merged into D-Pharm Ltd. The investment in D-Pharm is presented in
financial assets available for sale. See also Note 8.B.1.
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Details regarding loans provided to an affiliated company directly held by the Company
Amounts of loans provided in favor
of affiliated company
As of December 31
2014
2013

Name of affiliated company

.4755

CellCure Neurosciences Ltd.

-

The loans are linked to the dollar and bears interest of 3%. See also Note 8.B.(2)(b).
Following is condensed information from the financial statements of the material affiliated companies of the
Group (adjusted to the Company’s financial statements):
BioMarCare (1)

CellCure

ProtAb (2)

Enlivex (3)

As of December 31

As of December 31

As of December 31

As of December 31

2014
2013
NIS thousands

2014
2013
NIS thousands

2014
2013
NIS thousands

2014
2013
NIS thousands

Current assets

-

24.22

24522

.24522

-

.4210

214122

-

Non-current assets

-

24152

.4525

.4521

-

54.15

11

-

Current liabilities

-

.4021

54150

24220

-

2421.

575

-

Non-current liabilities

-

.42.2

54202

.47.2

-

.4202

24217

-

Net assets

-

24015

)..4211(

74722

-

24552

224252

-

(1) As of the balance sheet date, BioMarCare froze its clinical activities and focuses on an attempt to
commercialize its technology, and therefore, it is not a material affiliated company. See Note 8.B.4.
(2) ProtAb entered consolidation on September 22, 2014. See also Note 8.A.2. As of December 31, 2013,
the investment in ProtAb was included in the section of investment in affiliated companies.
(3) Enlivex Therapeutics Ltd. exited consolidation on May 18, 2014, See also Note 8.B.3. As of December
31, 2014, the investment in Enlivex is included in the section of investment in affiliated companies.
Affiliated companies whose financial statements were attached to the Company’s reports:



Enlivex Therapeutics Ltd.
CellCure Neurosciences Ltd.

Affiliated company whose financial statements were not attached to the Company’s reports:


BioMarCare Technologies Ltd.

The reason that the financial statements of an affiliated company were not attached:
As of the balance sheet date, BioMarCare froze its clinical activities and BioMarCare focuses on an attempt to
commercialize its technology and, accordingly, the conditions stated in Section 23(B) (1) of the Securities
Regulations (Preparation of Annual Financial Statements)-2010 were present as regards attaching the reports of
an affiliated company. See Note 8.B.4.
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(1) Thrombotech Ltd. (merged into D-Pharm Ltd.)
Thrombotech was incorporated in Israel and began commercial activity in September 2000. Its field of activity is
the development of drugs to dissolve blood clots for the treatment of cerebral hemorrhages, myocardial
infarction, deep vascular thrombosis, and similar conditions. Thrombotech's leading product is THR-18.
Thrombotech owns or holds an exclusive use license for a number of patent applications and patents.
In January 2012, Thrombotech signed an additional investment agreement with existing investors in which it
was determined that in exchange for an investment of USD 1.4 million, Thrombotech will issue 25,927 Series B
Preferred Shares, at a share price of 54USD each.
The main portion of the investment amount was intended to finance the performance of clinical trials on stroke
patients - Phase IIa, in three medical centers in Israel, as well as centers in Europe and India.
Of the total amount the company invested its relative share of total investment of about 350 thousand dollars,
and maintained their share of ownership Thrombotech (about 24.8% of the issued capital, and - 22% of the
fully diluted).
In May 2012, completed negotiations between Thrombotech and Company D - Pharm Ltd. (a public company
whose shares are listed for trading on the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange Ltd.) (hereinafter - "D - Pharm"), the
purchase Thrombotech by D – Pharm.
According to the agreement signed, D - Pharm purchased from Thrombotech and the other shareholders of
Thrombotech all the issued capital of Thrombotech (actual and diluted) for the private placement of ordinary
shares of the Company D - Pharm based on share price rather - Farm of 0.85 NIS per share Thrombotic of NIS
216. At the date of completion of the transaction, after the allotment of the shares of the private placement, the
shares of the private placement represented 60% of the issued and paid up share capital and of the voting
rights of D-Pharm (not including options granted to employees, officers and service providers of Thrombotech)
and approximately 58.03% fully diluted (including options granted to employees, officers and service providers
of Thrombotech and not including shares allotted in the framework of an additional investment as detailed
below).
In July 2012, the suspended conditions were fulfilled and the transaction of the acquisition of Thrombotech by
D-Pharm was completed.
After completion of the transaction, the Company held approximately 14.9% of the issued and paid-up capital
and the voting rights of D-Pharm (approximately 14.4% fully diluted). Moreover, the Company appointed a
representative to the board of directors of D-Pharm.
In light of the aforesaid, on the date of the transaction, the Company deducted the investment in Thrombotech
and recognized a financial asset available for sale with respect to an investment in D-Pharm in the amount of
NIS 2,787 thousand and capital gain of NIS 1,779 thousand.
Thrombotech's leading product, THR-18, is progressing in the development program at D-Pharm and has even
entered into another clinical trial. In March 2014, D-Pharm reported successful interim results in a PHASE lla
trial of the THR-18 product.
On March 31, 2014, the Company utilized all of the rights according to a shelf proposal report published by DPharm Ltd. (an other company) on March 12, 2014. The Company’s investment was NIS 932 thousand, in
consideration for which the Company received 5,175,654 ordinary shares of D-Pharm Ltd
In December 2014, D-Pharm published a shelf proposal report for an issuance by way of rights. On January
21, 2015, D-Pharm published the results of the issuance of the rights. The gross immediate proceeds totaled
approximately NIS 12,775 thousand. The Company did not participate in the issuance of rights and the rate of
holding of the Company in D-Pharm after the issuance of the rights is 5.57%.
As of the balance sheet date, the balance of the investment in D-Pharm is presented at fair value and stands at
the amount of approximately NIS 1,856 thousand.
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(2) CellCure Neurosciences Ltd. (hereinafter: “CellCure”)
General
In the Company’s financial statements, its investments in CellCure, as at December 31, 2014, is presented as
follows:
NIS thousands
Company's holdings in CellCure's equity
Loans (*)
Total

.4755
.4755

(*) The loans are presented as a financial asset at fair value through profit and loss.
CellCure Neurosciences Ltd. was established in November 2005, and commenced its operations in January 2006.
The Company is engaged in research and development in the sector of neurodegenerative diseases by cell
replacement with its main target as of the date of the financial statements, to develop a product to treat
degeneration of eye retinas, including Age Related Macular Degeneration (AMD) which is based on RPE cells in
suspension, named OpRegen® (hereinafter: "OpRegen®"). On October 31, 2014, the Company received approval
for clinical trials on humans (IND) from the FDA and began the trial in February 2015 in the Hadassah Medical
Center.
ESI agreed to grant CellCure an exclusive license to use its intellectual property for the development and
production of nerve cells for cell-replacement treatment of neurodegenerative diseases in human beings
(hereinafter: the License Agreement).
On the date of the transfer of the investment to CellCure, CellCure was granted an exclusive world license for the
treatment of neurodegenerative diseases, notably Parkinson.
In August 2009, CellCure received an exclusive intellectual property license from Hadasit related to differentiation
using the Directed Differentiation method of embryonic stem cells to RPE cells.
On October 7, 2010, a new agreement was signed between CellCure and Hadasit (hereinafter - "Hadasit License
Agreement 2010"). The Hadasit License Agreement 2010 redefined the business conditions for granting a license
from Hadasit to use certain inventions developed by researchers from Hadassah hospital in the field of
development and usage of embryonic stem cells and RPE cells from embryonic stem cells to treat
neurodegenerative diseases of retina through cell replacement (including royalties, milestone payments, expenses,
etc.). In addition, the Hadasit License Agreement 2010 established special terms for granting a sub-license to
Teva.
On October 7, 20010 an agreement for research and an option for an exclusive sub-license was signed between
CellCure and Teva (hereinafter - "Teva Option Agreement") for the development and commercialization of
OpRegen. The option was effective as of October 18, 2010 and until sixty days after the IND approval for
OpRegen. As mentioned, the IND approval was received on October 31, 2014.
On December 29, 2014 and January 30, 2015, the period of the option to Teva was extended by 30 days and by 15
days, respectively, so that the option was extended through February 15, 2015.
On February 15, 2015, the option expired and, beginning from that date, CellCure is permitted to carry on
negotiations with third parties. See also Note 28.A.
During 2010, an additional agreement was signed for the provision of research services by Hadasit to CellCure for
a 5 year term, which commenced in 2011, for an aggregate amount of $ 300 thousand per year (hereafter: "the
Additional Research Agreement"). In December 2010, CellCure transferred the amount of $ 300 thousand for 2011
to a trustee appointed by the parties pursuant to the additional research agreement for this purpose.
On March 13, 2012, CellCure and Hadasit signed a new agreement, which revises the additional research
agreement. The agreement stipulates that the amount of $ 300 thousand transferred by CellCure to the trustee in
December 2010, was to be transferred to Hadasit so that $ 150 thousand will be transferred immediately upon
signing the agreement (i.e., on March 13, 2012) and the balance will be transferred in three equal quarterly
installments commencing on May 1, 2012. In addition, the rest of the payments for additional research, which
CellCure was supposed to transfer to the trustee for Hadasit in December 2011 and each year thereafter (and
decisions regarding additional work orders) pursuant to the agreement signed in 2010, were be deferred until the
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earlier of: (a) June 1, 2013; (b) the raising of funds by the Company, not including funding from the OCS or loans
which are not convertible into securities, but not including a loan from current shareholders of CellCure provided in
connection with the completion of the RPE Project; or (c) the exercise of the Teva option pursuant to the Research
and Exclusive License Option Agreement between the Company and Teva, signed on October 7, 2010, as
amended on July 8, 2012.
With the consent of Hadasit, following the completion of the 2012 investment agreement (see below), CellCure
transferred $ 75 thousand to Hadasit. CellCure has yet to transfer the balance of the payments ($ 525 thousand) to
Hadasit, and, accordingly, a liability for this amount was recorded in CellCure’s accounts. As of the balance sheet
date, the Company is conducting negotiations regarding continuation of the additional payments.
Capital Raising and Financing Resources
(1) On November 1, 2012, signed an investment agreement CellCure, and BioTime, the controlling CellCure
BioTime which has committed to invest CellCure total of $ 3.5 million (hereinafter - "the investment agreement
in 2012"). 2012 investment agreement was signed at a company value of $ 15.1 million (pre-money).
In an investment agreement in 2012, BioTime invested in CellCure total of $ 3.5 million for 87,456 ordinary
shares of Cell Cure, the proceeds of which BioTime issued to CellCure 906,735 ordinary shares of BioTime
and a value of 3.86 per share, which are records (on the NYSE: MKT) and free trade. The value was
determined by the average price of the BioTime shares on the NYSE-AMEX during a period of 10 trading days
prior to signing the agreement.
If the average value of the share-BioTime drop or rise by more than - 15% below or above 3.86 dollars for 10
trading days from May 1, 2013, will match (by issuing additional shares of CellCure to BioTime or the issuance
of additional shares of BioTime Cell Cure, the case may be), but this adjustment will only apply for the
proportion of the shares remained with the CellCure BioTime at the time, and in any case the above adjustment
does not exceed 33%.
CellCure BioTime shares issued are not protected during occlusion. Any decision regarding the sale of shares
BioTime must get approval of a committee of the Board of CellCure (in consultation with the CEO and CFO of
CellCure). CellCure appoint a professional who will be responsible for selling the shares with the understanding
that this body will coordinate the sales of shares for companies BioTime belonging to a group of BioTime and
divide the relative supply them and their sale proceeds received by the average price received for them, in
case more than one company wishes to offer shares BioTime sale that day.
In addition, the investment agreement in 2012, and as a condition to the completion of an investment
agreement in 2012, was signed between CellCure and ES Cell International Pte Ltd. (Hereinafter - "ESI")
Fourth Amendment exclusive licensing agreement between CellCure to ESI dated 22 March 2006 as amended
and updated.
Upon completion of the Investment Agreement in 2012, the Company's shareholding is 21.20% CellCure (And
20.05% fully diluted) of BioTime 42.27% (and 39.99% fully diluted), 20.26% of ESI (And 19.17% fully diluted)
and Nature's holding 16.06% (and 15.20% fully diluted). Note that with the completion of an investment
agreement in 2012, ESI and its parent company, BioTime, will jointly hold At 62.53% of the issued and paid up
capital of CellCure (and 59.16% fully diluted).
Investment Agreement in 2012 was subject to fulfillment of conditions precedent, which took place in January
2013, in February 2013 began CellCure BioTime sale of shares.
As of the balance sheet date, CellCure has realized 790,267 shares (approximately 87% of the issued shares)
for a total amount of approximately $ 3 million and holds shares of BioTime with a value of approximately $ 435
thousand (NIS 1,689 thousand) which have been classified as financial assets measured at fair value through
profit or loss.
(2) Loans from Holders of Controlling Interest
During May, June, July and August 2013, after halting the sale of BioTime shares during this period, CellCure
entered into loan agreements with BioTime, in whose framework, BioTime granted bridge loans to the
Company in the amounts of $ 350 thousand, $ 265 thousand, $ 700 thousand and $ 500 thousand,
respectively. The loan agreements stipulated that these loans will not bear interest and that CellCure will repay
each loan within three business days after it will raise the amount of $ 800 thousand, $ 1,150 thousand, $
1,850 thousand and $ 2,350 thousand, respectively, from the sale of BioTime shares and/or from any other
source, exclusive of any amounts that it will receive from the OCS and any other loan that it will receive from
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BioTime. In May 2014, BioTime approved by letter that the balance of the bridge loans which it transferred to
CellCure will be repaid solely from the sale of BioTime shares held by CellCure and not from any other source.
On the date of initial recognition, these loans were classified as equity, since the repayment of the loans is
conditional on a future event under CellCure’s control, so that CellCure has an unconditional right to avoid
payment of the loan in cash. See also Note 2.O.(1) regarding classification as a financial liability or as an equity
instrument.
In 2013, repaid CellCure the first two loans a total amount of US $ 615 thousand.
As of the balance sheet date, the last two loans in a total amount of $ 1,200 thousand (NIS 4,667 thousand)
are positioned for immediate repayment according to the above terms and, correspondingly, have been
classified from equity to liabilities in the accounts of CellCure.
At the meeting of the board of directors held by CellCure on April 30, 2014, it was decided that CellCure would
suggest that its shareholders raise equity by means of convertible loans in a total amount of $ 4,200 thousand
(“the fund”). The amount of the fund would be transferred in two stages, according to CellCure’s request, on a
“need” basis, with the understanding that the second stage will be at the discretion of the participating
shareholder. The first stage will be in the amount of $ 2,200 thousand (“the first stage”) and the second stage
will be in the amount of $ 2,000 thousand (“the second stage’). The fund will bear interest at the rate of 3% per
annum (together with the fund, “the loan”) Any part of the loan as yet unpaid and not converted to ordinary
shares of CellCure, as specified below, will be paid by CellCure within 3 years from the date of the relevant
transfer. At any time prior to the date of the relevant transfer, and subject to written notice by the shareholder,
CellCure will convert any part of the loan as yet unpaid and specified in such notice, to ordinary shares
CellCure.
CellCure has designated the convertible loans (the hybrid instrument) in their entirety as a financial liability at
fair value through profit or loss. Any gain or loss resulting from a change in the fair value is recognized in profit
or loss, except for the difference between the fair value on the date of initial recognition and the value of the
consideration (“deferred difference”). The deferred difference will be spread in a straight line over the length of
life of the loan and will be recorded to profit or loss.
As of the balance sheet date, CellCure had received convertible loans from BioTime in the amount of $ 1,634
thousand and from the Company in the amount of $ 466 thousand and from Ms. Naomi Zak (a shareholder of
CellCure) in the amount of $5 thousand.
In September 2014, the Company transferred the above amount to CellCure. The loan is presented in the
framework of the section of a financial asset at fair value through profit and loss in the amount of NIS 1,798
thousand.
On February 13, 2015, BioTime transferred $ 95 thousand and accordingly completed the first stage of the
convertible loan. BioTime transferred $ 700 thousand as part of the second stage of the convertible loan . Also,
the Company committed to transfer the amount of $ 188 thousand, reflecting the share of the Company in
these convertible loans. This amount has not yet been transferred.
On February 12, 2015, BioTime transferred a letter of intent to CellCure according to which it becomes
obligated to invest an amount in addition to the above amount in CellCure, in a volume of $ 2,200 thousand for
purposes of completing Phase l/lla. Moreover, BioTime will not demand the return of the bridge loan in the
amount of $ 1,200 thousand given to the company in 2013 until the end of the PHASE l/ll stage.
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Chief Scientist grants
Grant type

Budget

Participation
%

Grant
period

Israel/Abroad

NIS
thousands

%

NIS
thousands

May
2012

Israel
Abroad

6,131
2,110

60%
30%

-1.1.12
31.12.12

Development of safety and
efficacy tests and starting the
clinical trials in GLP labs in Israel
and abroad.

January
2013

Israel
Abroad

6,600
2,500

60%
30%

-1.1.13
31.12.13

Continued development of the
product by safety and efficacy
tests done through trials on
animals in Israel and abroad.

December
2014

Israel
Abroad

60%
30%

-1.1.14
31.12.14

Approval
date

8,252

(3)

3,815

Purpose of the grant

Submitting an IND to the FDA
and
Starting clinical trials.

Enlivex Therapeutics Ltd. (hereinafter: “Enlivex”)
Enlivex is a private company that was incorporated in Israel in September 2005.
Enlivex is developing a medication known as ApoCell for the treatment of graft versus host disease in marrow
transplants, in Cronin’s Disease and in other inflammatory and autoimmune diseases, by means of inducing
immunotolerance as a substitute for the accepted treatment of immunosupression.
On October 12, 2009, the company announced that, after completing the necessary preparations for obtaining
the required approvals, it had begun human clinical trials on patients (Phase I/IIa) for an initial study of the
safety and efficacy of a cell-based treatment for Graft vs. Host Disease.
In 2013, Enlivex successfully completed treatment on 13 patients as part of its clinical trial and signed an
agreement in principle to raise funds totaling 5-10 million dollars that will allow the continued clinical trials
(Phase II) and an IPO abroad. and in February 2014, Enlivex entered into an investment agreement with a
business group led by Shai Novik (hereafter: “the Novik transaction”. See Note 8.B.(3) for details.
On March 18, 2013, Enlivex received approval from the FDA following its request to have the drug ApoCell
recognized as an orphan drug for the treatment of GvHD.
In January 2015, Enlivex received the status of an orphan drug for the ApoCell product from the European
Medications Agency (EMA) for preventive treatment of graft versus host disease.
Capital Raising and Financing Resources
A. See Note 8.B.and 8.C. below for information regarding convertible loans provided by the Company to
Enlivex between the years 2007-2013.
B. In February 2014, Enlivex entered into a transaction with a business group led by Shai Novik (hereafter:
“the Novik group”) whose purpose, at the initial stage, was to provide a right to the Novik group, limited in
time, to invest and/or raise a sum on behalf of Enlivex that is no less than $3.5 million (and up to $ 8
million) (hereafter: “the investment”) by receipt of a convertible loan document; and at the second stage,
converting Enlivex into a public company traded in the United States. The undertaking in the transaction
consisted of: (1) a term sheet between the Novik group and Enlivex to provide sources of financing; (2) a
convertible loan agreement between the Novik group and Enlivex; (3) an agreement between the Enlivex
shareholders.
Within the framework of this transaction, in February 2014, Enlivex received a convertible loan of NIS 151
thousand from the Novik group, bearing annual interest of 8%.
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In May 2014, Enlivex completed the elicitation of the convertible loan from the Novik group in the amount of
NIS 7,051 thousand. Upon completing the transaction, the convertible loans were converted as following:


The convertible loans that the Company provided to Enlivex between the years of 2007-2013 in an
amount of approximately NIS 16,600 thousand (including interest) were converted into 7,079,722
ordinary shares of Enlivex.



The convertible loans that the Novik Group provided to Enlivex in an amount of NIS 151 thousand were
converted into 45,899,677 ordinary shares of Enlivex.

During the months of June and July 2014, the Novik group transferred a convertible loan of $ 275
thousand, in the context of the same raising of financing and under the same terms.
In December 2014, an additional agreement in the framework of the transaction was signed in the amount
of $ 674 thousand so that the funds raised from the Novik group totaled $ 8,000 thousand. This amount
was received after the balance sheet date.
Upon completion of the transaction, the Company lost control of Enlivex and it holds 25.83% of its share
capital. Moreover, since the Company has the right to appoint two out of the eight members of the board of
directors of Enlivex, the Company has significant influence in Enlivex.
As a result of the loss of control, the Company recorded a capital gain of approximately NIS 5,857
thousand in the section of other income, net.
Gain from loss of control of subsidiary
NIS thousands
24517
24122
)722(
24527

Investment at fair value
Net assets realized
Rights not providing control
Gain on realization

The excess acquisition cost created as a result of the exit from consolidation was attributed to a non amortizable
R&D asset, to an obligation to the Chief Scientist and to goodwill.
Chief Scientist grants

Approval
date
October
2011
November
2012
December
2013 (*)

Grant type

Budget

Participation
%

Grant
period

Israel/Abroad

NIS
thousands

%

NIS
thousands

Israel

Israel

Israel

3,014

3,800

3,300

Purpose of the grant

60%

1.3.1129.2.12

For R&D to develop cells for cell
treatment based on apoptic cells
GvHD ApoCell.

60%

1.3.1230.9.13

Development of the ApoCell
product for treating GvHD and
research on additional diseases.

60%

1.10.1330.9.14

Development of the ApoCell
product for treating GvHD and
research on additional diseases.

(*) Through December 31, 2014.
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(4) BioMarCare Technologies Ltd. (hereinafter - "BioMarCare")
General
In the Company's financial statements, the Company's investment in BioMarCare as of December 31, 2014 is
presented as follows:
NIS thousands
122
24251
)1.1(
)24222(
-

The Company's equity in BioMarCare
The balance of excess cost
The Company's share in BioMarCare's losses
Provision for impairment
Total

BioMarCare was up and running within incubator "Hi - Tech Har – Technology Entrepreneurship
Center"(hereinafter - the "Center"). Bio - Marker develops two unique diagnostic products colon cancer.
BioMarCare product designed for the early detection and premalignant colorectal cancer blood test based on
the product and adjust drug therapy to patients based on metastatic tissue test.
As of the date of the report, BioMarCare has frozen all of its activities, except in relation to technology
commercialization activities. Also, as of the date of the report, BioMarCare does not employ personnel and
team members. Commencing from March 2014, BioMarCare focuses principally on activities of locating
strategic partners and investors to promote development and commercialization, without additional clinical
activities. During the second quarter of 2014, BioMarCare signed an agreement with an outside consultant in
the United States for the purpose of promoting technological commercialization. As the balance sheet date,
the validity of this agreement expired.
Due to indications of impairment of the investment as specified above, the Company has created a provision
for impairment of an investment in the amount of NIS 2,255 thousand, so that the investment stands at zero in
its financial statements as of December 31, 2014.
Capital Raising and Financing Resources
On March 26, 2012 signed an investment agreement BioMarCare and MICROMEDIC. The investment
agreement undertook to invest in BioMarCare total of U.S. $ 1,000,000 against the allotment of ordinary
shares of BioMarCare (hereinafter - "Investment Shares"), representing about 33% of the issued and paid up
capital of BioMarCare (fully diluted).
In addition, MICROMEDIC was granted an option to make an additional investment in BioMarCare amount of
U.S. $ 1,000,000 (hereinafter - the "Option"), against an additional allocation of ordinary shares constituting
immediately after exercise of the option, together with the shares of the investment, about 53% up share
capital of BioMarCare (fully diluted). option, in whole or in part, may be exercised as from the date paid last
deferred payments, as described below, until the earlier of: (1) the passage of 30 months from the closing
date, (2) infringement Payment by MICROMEDIC, or (3) liquefaction events, as in the investment agreement.
This option expired in October 2014.
Following completion of the Investment Agreement MICROMEDIC entitled to appoint the majority of board
members BioMarCare.
Articles BioMarCare, which came into force parallel to the signing of the Investment Agreement were a
number of issues which required a special majority for approval decisions, including, inter alia, to confirm a
change in the articles of association, approval of transactions with interested parties and for the allocation of
securities with preferential rights to ordinary shares ( "special majority").
In the Investment agreement the investment amount will be transferred by MICROMEDIC in four installments,
against the transfer of investment shares in installments, linked to payment and payment. Upon completion of
the Investment Agreement, and against receipt of the first payment of the amount invested, allocated
BioMarCare to MICROMEDIC the first portion of the shares of the investment. The remaining shares were
allocated investment upon completion of the investment agreement negotiated Trustee ("Trust Shares"), which
states that will hold them in trust and will deliver them to MICROMEDIC closely with and subject to all payment
and payment of MICROMEDIC ("deferred payments"). In addition, the parties agreed that MICROMEDIC be

The notes accompanying the financial statements constitute an integral part thereof
52

entitled, subject to fulfillment of certain conditions; assign its right to transfer deferred payments to third
parties.
Completion of the investment agreement was subject to several conditions, among other things, converting the
convertible loans previously granted to BioMarCare on - by the shareholders (existing and existed). Fulfillment
of the conditions precedent transaction was completed on April 3, 2012, and, inter alia, in a document called
Closing Memorandum, which included new agreements and adjustments regarding the conditions precedent
set forth in the investment agreement.
As a result of the investment agreement, the Company lost control of BioMarCare, therefore, the statement of
financial position, investment in BioMarCare presented by the equity method and recorded as capital gain in
2013 and 2012 totaling of NIS 257 thousand and NIS 5,188 thousand accordingly in the statement of
comprehensive loss.
In the context of the investment agreement, Hadasit Medical Research and Development Services Ltd.
converted the loan that it had provided to BioMarCare in 2005 to 10,000 shares, and loans of Docor and the
Jerusalem Development Authority in the amount of NIS 108 thousand (hereafter-“the fund”), with the addition
of annual interest (compound) at the rate of 8% (hereafter- “the 2005 loan”), remained in effect, and at the time
of a demand for repayment of the loans, the Company will be responsible for repayment of these loans against
its right to receive the shares pursuant to the 2005 loan agreement. During the third quarter of 2013,
BioMarCare entered into an agreement with Docor and the Authority for the deferral of the repayment date of
the 2005 loan from July 1, 2013 to July 1, 2014.
On August 3, 2014, BioMarCare received a payment demand from the Docor Foundation in the amount of
approximately NIS 108 thousand in connection with the 2005 loan. During October 2014, the Company repaid
the BioMarCare debt vis-à-vis the Docor Foundation with respect to the 2005 loan, but shares have not yet
been allotted to it with respect to repayment of the loan.
The loan from the Jerusalem Development Authority has not yet been repaid and is presented in the
Company’s accounts as a current liability of approximately NIS 111 thousand in the framework of the other
current liabilities section.
Grants from the Chief Scientist and other funds
In March 2012, BioMarCare's request to the Chief Scientist program was approved per a budget of 1 million
NIS and a grant rate of 60% for research and development in Israel on the issue of the PAR-marker-based
diagnostic kit to identify cancer diseases. Royalties will be paid from all income from this kit.
During the month of February 2014, BioMarCare received approval from the OCS to close three files with
respect to the PAR project, in the amount of approximately NIS 1,995 thousand. As a result of closing these
files, BioMarCare removed the liability to pay royalties to the Chief Scientist in an amount of NIS 509
thousand.
BioMarCare will be obligated for royalties with respect to a grant of NIS 873 thousand received from the OCS
for the Colon MarCare Plex project.
In March 2012, BioMarCare received final approval from the BIRD Foundation, the Israel-U.S. bi-national
foundation (hereinafter - "the Foundation"), to finance the cooperation with Ariadne Diagnostics LLC at a
scope of about 50% of expenses in the project and a total of about 900 thousand dollars. The grant's payment
terms will be in accordance with milestones as set in the agreement between the Foundation and BioMarCare.
The duration of the project is expected to be about 30 months, and after 6 months from the end of the project
BioMarCare is expected to return the grant received with interest (American consumer price index). As of the
balance sheet date, BioMarCare received the amount of approximately $ 376 thousand. In view of the final
accounting vis-à-vis the BIRD Foundation that took place at the beginning of 2015 with respect to non
recognized patent expenses, BioMarCare is requested to refund approximately $ 6 thousand.
In the framework of a procedure for assistance to promoters of high tech and biomed in Jerusalem (hereafter“the procedure”), grants were approved for BioMarCare in a total of approximately NIS 360 thousand by the
Jerusalem Development Authority (hereafter- “the Authority”) with respect to the years of 2011-2012. Subject
to the procedure, the Authority will be entitled to receive a refund of the grants with the addition of CPI linkage,
by way of royalties to the extent of 4% of the company’s sales in the future.
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As of the balance sheet date, Bio Marker received NIS 312 thousand from the Authority. Due to noncompliance with the terms of the grant, the grant has been classified as a short-term liability in the accounts of
BioMarCare.

Description of the
program

Warrants granted to
employees, directors,
and consultants
Warrants granted to
three directors and two
consultants
Warrants granted to the
Company CEO and
directors

Grant
date

Number
of
Options

Vesting
terms and
additional
terms

Vesting
addition

Share
value
at grant
date

Fair
value at
grant
date

NIS

NIS

Total
benefit
at grant
date
NIS
thousand

February
2012

16,046

).(

010.

25157

39.97

641

February
2012

4,565

(1)

0.01

39.17

39.17

179

August
2013

90,377

(2)

0.01

2.32

2.32

210

(1) Any warrant can be exercised into one ordinary BioMarCare share of 0.01 NIS par values. The options will
vest in a number of segments over three-four years. Since the exercise price is negligible as compared
with the price of the share, the value of the option is close to the value of the share and, accordingly, there
is no importance to the model chosen and to the other parameters which affect the value of the option.
The options that will vest may be exercised over 7 years from the allotment date or 10 years from the date
that the program starts, whichever is later.
(2) Each option may be exercised into one ordinary share of BioMarCare with NIS 0.01 par value. Since the
exercise price is negligible as compared with the price of the share, the value of the option is close to the
value of the share and, accordingly, there is no importance to the model chosen and to the other
parameters which affect the value of the option.
41,123 options to directors will vest in 12 equal quarterly segments over three years commencing from
April 3, 2012.
19,880 options to the CEO which are not subject to milestones will vest in the following manner: 1/3 will
vest immediately and 2/3 in eight equal quarterly segments over two years commencing from July 1, 2012.
In addition, the CEO has been granted 29,374 options which will vest over 3 years in 12 equal quarterly
segments, beginning from the date of meeting milestones, as follows:





One third of the options will be allotted subject to the raising of equity or government support to the
extent of $ 1 million. The expectation of BioMarCare to meet the goal as of the date of the allotment is
September 30, 2014.
One third of the options will be allotted subject to the completion of a prototype.
The expectation of BioMarCare to meet the goal as of the date of the allotment is October 31, 2014.
One third of the options will be allotted subject to undertaking a transaction with a strategic partner.
The expectation of BioMarCare to meet the goal as of the date of the allotment is September 30,
2014.

During 2014, it was determined in the context of an agreement for the ending of the employment of the
CEO of BioMarCare that BioMarCare will accelerate the vesting period of the options so that each option
will be exercisable immediately. Moreover, the date of exercise of the options was extended until August
18, 2015.
(3) As of the balance sheet date, 78,333 options are exercisable.
(4) During 2014, employees whose employment was terminated exercised 11,684 options.
(5) During 2015, due to the termination of the tenure of directors in the company, 17,057 options expired/ did
not vest.
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C. Sale of subsidiaries
Upon completion of the Novik transaction, as described in Note 8.B.10, the Company lost control of
Enlivex and it holds 25.83% in share capital. Since the Company has the right to appoint two out of the
eight members of the board of directors of Enlivex, the Company has significant influence in Enlivex
As a result of the loss of control, the Company recorded a capital gain of approximately NIS 5,857
thousand in the section of other income, net.
(1) Book value of net assets realized
As of December 31
2014
2013
NIS
NIS
thousand
thousand
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Non-current assets
Fixed assets, net
Prepaid expenses
Current liabilities
Loans from investors
Trade payables
Other current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Royalties payable
Obligations with respect to employees’ benefits

Net assets realized
Rights not providing control

7.2
51
505

-

21
..
12

-

(151)
(335)
)221(
(822)

-

)24112)
(31)
)24171(

-

)24122)
722
).4550)

-

(2) Gain from loss of control of subsidiary
NIS thousand
24517
24122
)722(
24527

Investment at fair value
Net assets realized
Rights not providing control
Gain on realization
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D. Additional data
(1) Details regarding loans transferred to subsidiary
Loan amounts transferred in
favor of the subsidiary
As of December 31
2014
2013
NIS thousand
NIS thousand

Name of subsidiary

24712
24712

ProtAb Ltd. (*)
Enlivex Therapeutics Ltd. (**)

.14727
.14727

(2) Loan terms
Weighted annual
interest rates
As of December 31
2014
%
Balances in foreign currency
linked- fixed interest
Balances in foreign currency CPI
linked
Balances in NIS and foreign
currency linked-variable interest
Balances in foreign currency
linked-variable interest

As of December 31
2014
2013
NIS
NIS
thousand
thousand

5

2,005

-

-

-

963

Prime + 3%

-

542..

Libor + 3%

.4710
24712

74112
.14727

(*) Subsidiary commencing from September 22, 2014, See Note 8.A.2 regarding terms of the loans.
(**) In addition, it was agreed between the Company and Enlivex that in the event that Enlivex will allot
shares up to the repayment date in an investment round of at least $ 500,000, the Company will be
permitted to convert the loans at a discount rate of 20%-35% of the value of the shares in that
allotment. In the case that the loans will not be converted until the time that the repayment date of the
loans has passed, the Company will be permitted to convert the loans to shares of Enlivex at a
company value of $250-500 thousand (before the money).
In the framework of the transaction that was completed in May 2014, all of the convertible loans were
converted. See Note 8.B.3 for details.
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(3) Changes in the rates of the holding in KAHR Medical (2005) Ltd. which did not lead to the loss
of control
Transaction
date

2013
Issuance of 649,172
shares to the
Company and
additional investors
2012
Issuance of 718,232
shares to the
Company and
additional investors

Rate of
holding in
equity rights
prior to
transaction

Rate of
holding in
equity
rights after
transaction

%

%

Change in
equity
attributed to
owners of
parent
company
NIS thousand

September
2013

21127

1515.

24571

June 2012

1512

21127

14.10

(4) Subsidiary with material rights not providing control
Information in relation to the subsidiary, KAHR Medical (2005) Ltd.
As of December 31
2014
2013
%
%
2.105

Rate of rights not providing control

2.105

As of December 31
2014
2013

Balance of rights not providing control

2014

Loss attributed to rights not providing
control

NIS
thousand

NIS
thousand

24511

7410.

As of December 31
2013
2012

NIS
thousand

NIS
thousand

NIS
thousand

)14022(

)14011(

)24115(
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Condensed financial information

As of December 31
2014
2013

The amounts below are prior to making intercompany
eliminations:
Current assets
Non-current assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

2014
NIS thousand
Loss
Comprehensive loss
Net cash flows to current operations
Net cash flows to investment activities
Net cash flows from financing activities
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents

NIS thousand

NIS thousand

14225
.4112
.4151
2425.

..4522
.471.
.4212
24027

As of December 31
2013
2012
NIS thousand
NIS thousand

74571
74571

54121
54121

541.1
541.1

)7412.(
)225(
715

)14225(
)212(
54022

)74002(
)15(
.04221

)74122(

24122

24.2.

(5) Group’s share of losses of affiliated companies not recognized in its financial statements
For the year ended
December 31 2014
NIS thousand

As of December
31 2014
NIS thousand

24005

24005

CellCure

Note 9. Salable Financial Assets
A. As of December 31, 2014, the value of the Company’s holdings in the shares of Bioline RX Ltd., according to
the fair value of the share on the stock exchange, is approximately NIS 199 thousand (as of December 31,
2013-approximately NIS 303 thousand). During 2014, the Company recognized a decrease in a capital reserve
in the amount of NIS 104 thousand. (In 2013, the Company recognized a capital loss in the amount of NIS 73
thousand.)
In July, 2012, as part of the acquisition of Thrombotech by D - Pharm [See Note 8.F.(7)], the Company
received shares of D - Pharm worth 2,787 thousand NIS. As of December 31, 2014, the value of the holdings
of 11,386,439 shares of D – Pharm is about 1,856 thousand NIS (as of December 31, 2013, the company held
6,210,785 shares of D-Pharm worth about 1,261 thousand NIS).
As part of the acquisition transaction, inter alia, limitations were prescribed on the resale of D-Pharm shares
according to the restrictions stipulated in Section 15 C of the Securities Law- and, correspondingly, until the
end of the period of restrictions, the investment is presented in the Company’s financial statements at fair
value, namely, market value less a premium for non tradability. In July 2014, this period of restrictions ended
and as of December 31, 2014, the shares are being presented at fair value as mentioned above.
The Company measures the investments according to fair value and the differences between the book value
and their fair value are recorded to a capital reserve (see Note 2.N.4). In 2014, the Company decreased the
capital reserve with respect to financial assets available for sale in the amount of NIS 441 thousand (2013- NIS
364 thousand).
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Note 10 - Net Fixed Assets
Composition:

Cost
As of January 2014
Acquisitions
Entry into consolidation
Exit from consolidation
Cost as of December
31, 2014
Cost
As of January 2013
Acquisitions
Cost as of December
31, 2013
Accumulated
Depreciation
As of January 2014
Depreciation expenses
Entry into consolidation
Exit from consolidation
Accumulated
depreciation as of
December 31, 2014

Improvements
to leasehold
NIS thousands

Office furniture
and equipment
NIS thousands

Computers

Total

NIS thousands

NIS thousands

.4215
-

75.
25
211
)205(

.25
50
36
)5.(

24205
108
202
)100(

.4215

211

.52

240.5

1,065
201

638
.12

138
20

1,841
217

.4215

75.

.25

24205

.4022
52
-

2..
42
.51
)112(

.21
27
36
)52(

.4112
.22
220
)217(

.4.05

272

.07

.4157

Accumulated
Depreciation
As of January 2013
Depreciation expenses
Accumulated
depreciation as of
December 31, 2013

917
.05

479
22

102
21

1,498
.11

.4022

2..

.21

.4112

Amortized cost as of
December 31, 2014

.1.

251

71

22.

Amortized cost as of
December 31, 2013

211

270

22

211
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Note 11 - Net Intangible Assets
Composition:
As of December 31
2014
2013
NIS thousands
NIS thousands
24107
.24572
).4222(
.14027

Cost (1)
Entry into consolidation (2)
Deduction - accumulated depreciation
Total

24107
).4.05(
.4255

(1) In 2009, KAHR signed an agreement to license intellectual property to supplement its existing intellectual
property. In return, 4.9% of the KAHR’s share equity was allocated to the owners of the intellectual property. As
a result of this allocation, an intangible asset of NIS 1.850 million, depreciated over ten years, was recognized.
In 2010, KAHR carried additional costs as part of the license agreement, totaling 150 thousand dollars. This
amount was added to the cost of the license and is amortized over the remaining life of the license.
(2) In the context of the investment transaction in ProtAb dated September 22, 2014, the Company recognized an
intangible asset in the amount of NIS 12,975 thousand. See Note 8.B.2. for details.
Note 12 - Additional Details Concerning Current Liabilities
A. Vendors and Service Providers
Composition:
As of December 31
2014
2013
NIS thousands
NIS thousands
5..
520
52
.4521

Payable expenses
Open accounts
Checks due

.41.5
.11
.25
.470.

B. Creditors and Credit Balances
Composition:
As of December 31
2014
2013
NIS thousands
NIS thousands
Current maturities of long-term liabilities (*)
Employees and institutions on account of
salary
Related parties
Loan from outsiders
Other creditors

722
215

24555
575

271
...
2.0
.4572

.2
2475.

(*) For further details, see Note 17.B.
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C. Convertible loan from outside shareholders
Composition:
Annual
interest
rate
31/12/14
%
Loans from
shareholders of
subsidiary (*)

As of December 31
2014
2013
NIS thousands
NIS thousands

.4212

Libor + 3%

-

(*) Loan given by outside shareholders in ProtAb. See Note 8.A.2. for details.
Note 13 – Warrants
A. In February 2012, the Audit Committee of the Company, and after the Board of Directors, the extension of
the exercise period of the warrants (series 3), traded on the market so that those will be exercisable until
May 7, 2014 in place until 7 May 2012.
In March 2012, the Company submitted an application to the court to approve the extension. Due to
objections filed, in May the court ordered the convening meetings of shareholders and option holders to
vote on the extension of the exercise period. In addition, the court granted the Company's request for
temporary relief and ordered the extension of the exercise period of the warrants (series 3) until June 21,
2012.
In June 2012 expired warrants (series 3), following the settlement procedure adopted by the Company in
accordance with the distribution 350 of the Companies Law, 1999 has not received the required majority at
meetings convened by the court.
B. In September, 2012, the Company issued 12,993,582 warrants (Series 6). See also Note 14.B.
The warrants are exercisable for one ordinary share of NIS 0.01 par value each, for an exercise price of 46
cents. Options are exercisable until September 3, 2015.
C. In July 2014, the Board of Directors of the Company approved the extension of the exercise period of the
Company’s options (Series 4) traded on the stock exchange, so that they will be exercisable until February
26, 2015 (instead of August 30, 2014), and also approved the reduction of the exercise increment so that
the exercise increment for each option will stand at NIS 0.26 (instead of NIS 1.75) During July, the
Company presented a request to the Jerusalem District Court to approve the changes in the options as
above.
On September 21, 2014, the court approved the extension of the exercise period and the reduction of the
exercise price according to the request. In February 2015, 8,843,700 options of the Company expired.
D. In July 2014, the Board of Directors approved a private placement to Poalim IBI Underwriting and Issuance
Ltd. and Yair Capital Ltd. (hereafter: “the offerees”) of 1,711,054 Series 7 options (1,078,156 and 632,898
warrants, respectively), exercisable into 1,711,054 ordinary shares of the Company with NIS 0.01 par value
each at an exercise price of NIS 0.225 per share. This private placement is in accordance with a
commitment of the Company in a shelf proposal report published on May 28, 2014, to allot to the offerees a
quantity equivalent to 6% of the quantity of shares and options (Series 7) actually issued to the public
according to the shelf proposal. The above options are being granted to the offerees as part of the
consideration paid to them for the services provided to the Company in order to execute the shelf proposal.

E. In February 2015, the Audit Committee of the Company, and afterwards, the Board of Directors of the
Company approved the extension of the exercise period of the options (Series 7) that are traded on the
stock exchange so that they will be exercisable until February 26, 2016 instead of February 26, 2015. In
March 2015, 17,969,854 of options (Series 7) expired, after the arrangement proceeding made by the
Company according to the provisions of Section 350 of the Companies Law-1999 did not receive the
necessary majority required in assemblies convened by the court.
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F. Receipts on account of options

Series

Exercise
ratio

Exercise
increment

Linkage
basis

Exercise
date

NIS

Amount
received
on
issuance

Section in
statement
of financial
position

Comments

NIS 000

Series 4

.:.

21

Unlinked

Series 6

.:.

46

Unlinked

Series 7

.:.

22.5

Unlinked

Feb. 26,
2015
Sep. 30,
2015
Feb. 26,
2015

.41.0

Options

122

Options

574

Options

See also
Note 13.E.

2,231

Total

Note 14 – Equity
A.
As of December 31
2014
2013
Issued and outstanding
Regular shares at 0.01 par value

.1247524572

.2142214.72

As of December 31
2014
2013
Registered
Regular shares at 0.01 par value

27240004000

20040004000

In July 2014, the Company’s Board of Directors approved an increase in the Company’s authorized capital of
75,000,000 ordinary shares of NIS 0.01 par value each, so that the authorized capital of the Company after the
increase stood at 275,000,000 ordinary shares
Movement in share capital is fully paid up:
Ordinary shares
2014
2013
2012
Thousand Thousand Thousand
shares
shares
shares
Shares outstanding at the start of the year
Issued shares
Conversion of options to shares
Shares outstanding at the end of the year

.214221
.14225
.124752

.214221
.214221

574222
25455.
20
.214221

The new regular shares grant the right to attend and vote at meetings of the Company's General Assembly, the
right to participate in a distribution of profits, and the right to participate in the distribution of the Company's surplus
assets when it is liquidated.
B. On August 12, 2012 the Company published a shelf offer public offering of shares and warrants for shares
in a rights issue. Proposal included the issuance of up to 39,317,928 ordinary shares and 13,105,976
warrants (Series 6) by way of rights to holders of securities granting the Company, each holder on 15
securities entitle the Company will be entitled to purchase one rights unit (a total of 6,552,988 units of
credit).
Until the last date for exercising the rights, which falls on September 3, 2012, the Company received
messages utilizing the right to purchase 6,496,792 units 38,980,750 million ordinary shares of NIS 0.01 par

The notes accompanying the financial statements constitute an integral part thereof
52

value each of the Company and 12,993,582 warrants (Series 6) of the Company, representing about
99.14% of the rights units offered.
For the right units have been used, was received by the company, a total of 5,145 thousand (gross).
Proceeds net of issuance costs, amounted to 4,849 thousand.
C.

On May 28, 2014, the Company published a shelf proposal for the issuance to the public of shares and
options for shares by means of a tender on the unit price. The offer consisted of an issue of up to
20,000,000 ordinary shares.
The securities being tendered were offered to the public in 200,000 parcels, with the composition of each
parcel being 100 ordinary shares at a price of NIS 0.20 per share and 100 Series 7 options without
consideration, namely a minimum price of NIS 20 per parcel.

On June 2, 2014, the Company received notifications of the acquisition of 142,588 parcels for the purchase
of 14,258,800 ordinary shares of NIS 0.01 par value each of the Company and 14,258,800 options (Series
7) of the Company, representing approximately 71.29% of the total eligible units, for proceeds in the
amount of NIS 2,852 thousand (gross). The proceeds net of the issuance costs amounted to NIS 2,740
thousand.
D. In July 2014, the Board of Directors approved a private placement in the amount of NIS 400,000 to Ciano
Investment Ltd. (an interested party by force of its holdings in the Company) and Centaurus Investment
Ltd., as detailed below: 2,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company with NIS 0.01 par value at a price of NIS
0.20 per share (886,191 shares to Ciano and 1,113,809 shares to Centaurus), as well as 2,000,000 Series
7 options (unregistered) exercisable into 2,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company with NIS 0.01 par value
each, at an exercise price of NIS 0.225 per share. During the third quarter of 2014,, the amount of NIS 400
thousand was received and, in consideration, the shares and options as above were issued.
E. Share-Based Payment

Plan description

Warrants granted to
Hadasit
Employees
Warrants granted to six
directors
Warrants granted to the
CEO of the
Company and Hadasit
employees
Warrants granted to the
CEO of the
Company
Warrants granted to
three directors
Warrants granted to two
directors
Options granted to two
directors
Options granted to CFO,
Chairman of the Board
and a director

Grant date

No. of
options

Vesting
terms and
additional
terms

Exercise
price

Share
price at
time of
grant

Fair
value at
time of
grant

NIS

NIS

NIS

Total
benefit at
time of
grant
NIS
thousands

May 2007

360,000

(1)

712.

712.

1101

.4112

July 2009

480,000

(2)

2

1.678

0.818

393

November
2009

980,000

(2)

2

1.678

0.818

802

525,195

(3)

2

1.051

0.554

291

80,000

(4)

2

0.485

0.199

16

February
2011
September
2011
June 2012
January
2014

40,000

(5)

2

0.38

0.1344

5

1,000,000

(6)

0121

0121

01.22

.22

May 2014

1,700,000

(7)

0127

01.5

01.0

.70

(1) As of December 31, 2014, all of the options granted to employees of Hadasit in 2007 have expired. With
respect to the options expired during 2014, the Company has classified the capital reserve to premium.
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(2) The options can be converted to ordinary shares of the Company at 0.01 NIS par value each. The
options' vesting period is 3 years (vested in three equal batches) starting February 19, 2009. The vested
warrants can be exercised for 7 years from the allotment date or 10 years from the day the program
started, the later of the two.
The following parameters used in implementing the model:
Element
Share price (in NIS)
Exercise price (in NIS)
Life of the options plan (in years)
Standard deviation range (in percentages)
Risk-free interest range (in percentages)
Average life for computation (in years)
Expected dividend rate (in percentages)

1.678
2
10
59.62-60.57
1.18-1.49
5-5.78
0

As of December 31, 2014, following the termination of the tenure of two directors, and subject to the
conditions of the options program, 80,000 options expired so that 400,000 options out of 480,000 options
may be exercised.
As of December 31, 2014, following the departure of four of the Hadasit employees (including the
previous CEO of the Company), and subject to the conditions of the options program, and due to non
compliance of the option price with market conditions, 735,000 options expired, so that the quantity of
245,000 out of 980,000 options may be exercised.
(3) Any warrant can be exercised into one ordinary share of the Company at 0.01 NIS par value. The
warrants will be vested in a number of batches of 3.5 years as follows: 33% on January 1, 2012, 33% on
January 1, 2013, and 33% on June 30, 2014. The vested warrants can be exercised for 7 years from the
allotment date or 10 years from the day the program started, the later of the two.
The parameters used in implementing the model are as follows:
Element
Share price (in NIS)
Exercise price (in NIS, index-linked)
Expected volatility (in percentages) (*)
Life of options (in years) (*)
Risk-free interest range (in percentages)

1.051
2.00
63.6
2.5
2.16

(*) The expected volatility was determined on the basis of the historical five-year volatility of the share price
on the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange. The average life of the options was set on the basis of statistical studies
that point to early exercise of between 2 and 3 years on average.
(**) The risk-free interest rate was taken for each batch on the basis of the expected life of the options.
On December 31, 2013, the offereess terminated his employment with the Company. In the context of the
agreement for the termination of employment, the exercise period of 350,130 options that had vested up to
that date was extended by 12 months. On December 31, 2014, these options expired.
(4) Each option can be exercised to one regular share of the Company par value NIS 0.01 each. The
options will mature in three equal portions each year for three years. The vesting period begins
September 22, 2011. The options that will mature can be exercised during 7 years from the date of
allocation or 10 years from the beginning of the plan, the later of the two.
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The parameters used in implementing the model are as follows

:

Element
Share price (in NIS)
Exercise price (in NIS, index-linked)
Expected volatility (in percentages) (*)
Life of options (in years) (*)
Risk-free interest range (in percentages)

0.485
2.00
61.6
2.5
2.58

(*) The expected volatility was determined on the basis of the historical 5.5 year volatility of the share
price on the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange. The average life of the options was set on the basis of statistical
studies that point to early exercise of between 2 and 3 years on average.
(**)The risk-free interest rate is derived from the curve of bonds of the State of Israel of a cylinder type for
a period that matches the life of the options at the time they were granted.
As of December 31, 2014, following the termination of the tenure of two directors, and subject to the
conditions of the options program, 40,000 options expired so that 40,000 options that have vested may be
exercised.
(5) Each option can be exercised into one ordinary share of the Company at 0.01 NIS par value. Warrants
will be vested in three equally sized batches over 3 years. The vesting period begins August 1, 2012.
The vested warrants can be exercised for 7 years from the allotment date or 10 years from the day the
program started, the later of the two.
The parameters used in implementing the model are as follows:
Element
Share price (in NIS)
Exercise price (in NIS)
Life of the options plan (in years)
Standard deviation range (in percentages)
Risk-free interest range (in percentages)
Employee departure rate (in percentages)
Early exercise factor (in percentages)
Expected dividend rate (in percentages)

0.38
2 (index-linked)
10
60.1
1.97
0
2.5
0

As of December 31, 2013, a total of 26,666 vested warrants can be exercised.
(6) Each option can be exercised into one ordinary share of NIS 0.01 par value of the Company. The vesting
period of the options will be in four annual segments commencing from January 1, 2014.
The parameters which served for the implementation of the model are
Element
Share price (in NIS)
Exercise price (in NIS)
Length of life of the option program (in years)
Range of standard deviation (in %)
Range of risk free interest rate (in %)
Anticipated dividend rate (in %)

0121
0121
7
25
5.5
0

As of December 31, 2014, the quantity of 250,000 options which have vested can be exercised.
(7) Each option can be exercised into one ordinary share of NIS 0.01 par value of the Company.
The vesting period of the options will be in four annual segments commencing from May 20, 2014.
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The parameters which served for the implementation of the model are:
Element
Share price (in NIS)
Exercise price (in NIS)
Life of the options plan (in years)
Standard deviation range (in percentages)
Risk-free interest range (in percentages)
Expected dividend rate (in percentages)

01.5
0127
7
15
2172
0

(8) After the balance sheet date, the Company received the approval of the stock exchange for the allotment
of 200,000 non tradable options to the Company’s controller pursuant to the decision of the Board of
Directors of November 2014. The value of the benefit is NIS 20 thousand.
Additional details of options granted to employees, consultants and directors:
As of December 31
2014
2013
Number of options in
the thousands
Options granted to employees:
In circulation at the start of the period
Granted
Expired/forfeited due to termination of tenure (1) (2)
In circulation at the end of the period
Number of options that can be exercised

.4515
24700
).4.22(
24122

1,888
)10(
.4515

512

.4121

(1) Expiration of options of a director who terminated his tenure in the Company.
(2) Composition of expirations in 2014:


In May 2014, 112,500 options, which had been granted to Hadasit employees in the framework of a
May 2007 allotment program, expired.



In June 2014, 53,333 options granted to a director who terminated his tenure expired. Also, 6,667
options granted to a director were forfeited due to the termination of tenure before the vesting date.



On December 31, 2014. 775,130 options granted which had been granted to the previous CEO of
the Company expired. Also, 175,065 options granted to the previous CEO of the Company had not
vested due to the termination of his tenure before the vesting date.

Following the expiration of these options, the Company classified an amount of NIS 1,340 thousand in
the statement of changes in equity.
In 2014, compensation expenses of NIS 150 thousand with respect to an employees’ option program
were recorded against a capital reserve (in 2013-NIS 36 thousand).
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Note 15 - Government Grants
Composition:
Type of grant

Grant

Terms of the OCS grant

Grant of Chief Scientist

.14.22

Chief Scientist grants still to
be received

.4.17

Total

.742.5

As of December 31, 2014, subsidiaries of
the Group received loans from the OCS
in the amount of NIS 16,152 thousand
and recognized OCS grants receivable in
the amount of NIS 1,167 thousand,
linked to the dollar exchange rate and
bearing annual interest of LIBOR. The
loans will be repaid according to a rate of
royalties of sales. The Company
recognized liabilities for repayment of the
loans according to a royalties rate of 3%3.5%, a capitalization rate of 32%-45%
and according to an estimate of the
forecasted revenues.

Note 16 - Contracts and Pending Liabilities
A. Management agreement:
A management agreement was signed by the Company and Hadasit in December 2005. It relates to the
issue that took place in January 2006, in which Hadasit undertook to provide the Company with general
management services, including supervision of the R&D companies by executives with knowledge and
expertise in the medical and biotechnological fields.
On January 12, 2011, a new management fee agreement was approved and signed. For a period of 4
years starting January 1, 2011 further details, see Note 28. The Company is entitled to cancel the
agreement after a period of one, two, or three years from its starting date, and Hadasit will have no claims
against the Company on that account. The agreement stipulates that Hadasit, by means of its employees
and consultants, will provide the Company with ongoing management services related to the Company’s
activities and business, in coordination with and under the supervision of the Company’s management and
Board of Directors. In return for the provision of management services, the Company will pay Hadasit NIS
620,000 a year and will also bear the full cost of the salary of the Company’s CEO, who is employed by
Hadasit.
On February 27, 2011, the General Assembly approved the new management agreement.
On December 27 2012 the parties agreed to a reduction of management fees NIS 500 thousand for the
year.
During 2014, in the context of understandings reached by the Company and Hadasit Medical Research
and Development Ltd., it was agreed to reduce administrative services granted to the Company by
Hadasit. Due to the reduction of these services, the annual management fees will be reduced with respect
to the year of 2014 by NIS 70 thousand, so that they will stand at NIS 430 thousand.
In addition, Hadasit agreed to postpone the payment of management fees for 2014 until after the Company
raises equity. On June 2, 2014, an issuance of capital by the Company took place and the debt was
positioned for immediate repayment.
On November 17, 2014, the General Assembly approved the management agreement for 2014 and the
debt was paid on January 5, 2015.
The validity of this management agreement ended on January 1, 2015.
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B. Rental agreement:
On February 5, 2008, a rental contract was signed between the Company and another company
(hereinafter: “the other company”) for approximately 860 square meters in the biotechnology park whose
construction was completed in April 2009 (Hereinafter:"the rented property").
The rental agreement is for a period of five years, with the Company granted an option to extend it for five
more years, at an increase in the rent. The rental agreement stipulated that the Company will pay a
monthly rate of NIS 64 per square meter. In addition, throughout the rental period and the option period the
Company will pay a sum of NIS 43 (index linked) for modifications that were made by the other company.
The Company recorded a liability against recognition of a leasehold improvements asset with respect to an
obligation to pay the cost of the modification works during the option period as well.
The Company’s offices moved to the technology park in June 2009 and five of its Portfolio Companies also
transferred their activities (offices and laboratories) to the park. The part of the leasehold that is rented in a
sublease to portfolio companies was rented at identical terms, with the necessary changes, to those at
which the Company rented the leasehold from the other company.
During 2011, the Company reached an arrangement with one of the Portfolio Companies (ProtAb Ltd.)
which requested to use the “exit window” given to it in the secondary lease agreement. Following the
arrangement, ProtAb remained in its offices, under different rental terms than those it had originally agreed
to.
In addition, Enlivex utilized its exit window and left the leasehold. Thereafter, the Company entered into an
agreement with an external company which was to rent part of the leasehold of Enlivex under different
rental terms than those determined between the Company and Enlivex.
In November 2013, the Company notified the other company of its wish to terminate the rental agreement
without exercising the above option. As a result, in the financial statements as of December 31, 2013, the
liability with respect to the payment of the modification works was classified to short-term.
In August 2014, the Company signed an addendum to the rental agreement according to which it was
agreed, inter alia, on new rental terms for offices with space of 63 square meters, rented by the Company
for purposes of its operations, and for the spreading of the payments of the modification works of
approximately NIS 2,359 thousand (linked to the CPI). During 2014, the Company paid the amount of NIS
900 thousand in the framework of spreading of the payments of the modification works. Moreover, as of the
balance sheet date, the balance of the debt is in the amount of NIS 1,464 thousand. Of this amount, NIS
732 thousand is presented in the framework of other current liabilities as a current liability, and NIS 732
thousand is presented in the framework of accrued expenses in non-current liabilities. Moreover, the asset
with respect to the leasehold was fully depreciated.
Correspondingly, in August 2014, an agreement for spreading of the liability for leasehold improvements was
signed between the Company and CellCure (a portfolio company which rented space from the Company),
according to which for each payment of the Company to the other company, CellCure will pay its relative
share. As of the date of the financial statements, the liability of CellCure to the Company is in the amount of
NIS 344 thousand, of which NIS 172 thousand is presented in the framework of the section of receivables as
a current asset, and NIS 172 thousand in rental fees receivables in the section of non-current assets.
Note 17 - Noncash Transactions
During 2014, 2013, and 2012, the Group recorded royalties payable to the Chief Scientist on account of
receivables from the Chief Scientist in the amount of 340,000 NIS, 614,000 NIS, and 131,000 NIS
respectively.
In May 2014, convertible loans which the Company provided to Enlivex in the amount of approximately NIS
16,600 thousand (including interest) were converted to 7,079,722 ordinary shares of Enlivex. See also Note
8.B.(3).
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Note 18 - Financial Instruments
B. Capital Management Policy:
The group manages its capital in such a way as to guarantee that its entities will be able to continue to exist
as going concerns while increasing the return to the holders of its equity, by maintaining an optimum capitalto-debt ratio. Nevertheless, part of the companies of the Group (among them the Company) has a going
concern comment in their financial statements. In 2014, no changes took place in the Group’s capital
management policies.
C. Main Points of Accounting Policy:
Details of the main points of accounting policy and the methods adopted, including the conditions for
recognition, the measurement basis, and the basis on which income and expenses were recognized with
regard to each group of financial assets, financial liabilities, and capital instruments, can be found in Note
2.N.
D. Groups of Financial Instruments
As of December 31
2014
2013
NIS thousands
NIS thousands
Financial assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss
Salable financial assets
Loans, deposits and receivables

Financial liabilities:
Financial liabilities measured at a depreciated
cost
Financial liabilities measured at fair value
through profit and loss

14025
24750

.24757
440
14715

24022
24522
.14522

.4211
24021
224252

5421.

54172

217

70

E. The Goals of Financial Risk Management:
The Company’s Finance Department supervises and manages the financial risks associated with the
Group’s activities. These risks include market risks (including currency risks) and liquidity risks.
F. Currency Risk:
The Group conducted a number of transactions denominated in foreign currency. This created an exposure
to exchange-rate fluctuations, principally in the dollar. Exchange-rate risk stems from expenses, assets,
and liabilities that have been recognized as denominated in a currency that is not the Group’s operating
and reporting currency.
The book values of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency are as
follows:

Dollar

Liabilities
As of December 31
2014
2013
NIS
NIS
thousands thousands

Assets
As of December 31
2014
2013
NIS
NIS
thousands thousands

14515

7412.

14550

..4271
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Foreign Currency Sensitivity Analysis
The table below displays the sensitivity to a 5% decline in the relevant exchange rate. The sensitivity
analysis includes existing balances of financial items denominated in foreign currency and translates them
at the end of the period to a 5% change in exchange rates.
Influence of a 5% decline in the NIS exchange rate vs. other currencies:
Influence of the dollar
As of December 31
2014
2013
NIS thousands
NIS thousands
Profit

222

35

G. Exposure to the Price of the Capital Instruments of other Entities:
The Group is exposed to share-price risks as a result of its investments in other companies, which are
treated as salable financial assets (see Note 2.N).
The value of the investments exposed to share price risk is NIS 2,055 thousand. See Note 9 for further
information.
Share Price Sensitivity Analysis
The following sensitivity analysis was determined based on exposure to price risks in shares at the
reporting date.
If the prices of the shares owned were 50% lower, the after-tax impact would be as follows:
Effect of change in share price
As of December 31
2014
2013
NIS thousands
NIS thousands
.4025

Loss

752

H. Financial Instruments Displayed in the Financial Statement at Fair Value
As of December 31, 2014
In foreign
In NIS,
currency or
index
In NIS,
linked to it
linked
unlinked
NIS
NIS
NIS
thousands
thousands
thousands

As of December 31, 2013
In foreign
In NIS,
currency or
index
In NIS,
linked to it
linked
unlinked
NIS
NIS
NIS
thousands
thousands
thousands

24217
-

-

170
-

..4271
110

-

.4122
-

1.2
.4755

211
201
-

.4201
24.71
-

-

.4.50
-

521
14715

74750

515

24022
14207

..45.1

.4.50

.4211
.04252

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities measured
at depreciated cost

14122

.4521

.4052

145.0

24555

.4711

Financial liabilities measured
at fair value through profit and
loss

217

-

-

70

-

-

Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Receivables at cost and or
depreciated cost
Held for trade and deposits
Financial asset at fair value
Financial assets available for
sale measured at fair value
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I.

Management of Liquidity Risk

The Group manages its liquidity risk by maintaining appropriate funds and bank instruments by constant
supervision of actual and anticipated cash flows, and by modification of the maturity terms of its financial
liabilities and assets.
In addition, the Group is exposed to interest risk because the companies of the Group borrow and lend at
variable interest rates.
(2) Financial Liabilities that are not Derivatives
The tables below provide details of the Group’s outstanding contractual repayment dates on account of
financial liabilities that are not derivatives. The tables were drawn up based on the uncapitalized cash flows
of the financial liabilities and the earliest date at which the Group may be asked to repay them. The table
includes cash flows on account of interest and on account of principal.

Interest
rate
%

2014
That do not bear
interest
Instruments that
bear variable
interest
Liabilities
bearing
fixed interest
Instruments
bearing variable
interest
2013
That do not bear
interest
Instruments that
bear variable
interest

Up to one
month
NIS
thousands

One
month to
three
months
NIS
thousands

Up to one
year
NIS
thousands

1-5 years
NIS
thousands

Over 5
years
NIS
thousands

Total
NIS
thousands

24120

.52

155

722

-

14022

-

-

151

-

151

Libor +
3%
5%

...

Libor

2,731

-

-

..4221
.24512

54721
54721

204275
224.05

24.52

-

-

-

-

24.52

24.52

-

-

..4025
..4025

14112
14112

.24702
204555

Libor

...

(3) Financial Assets that Are Not Derivatives
The tables below list the expected redemption dates of the Group’s financial assets that are not derivatives.
The tables were drawn up on the basis of the uncapitalized anticipated redemption dates of the financial
assets, including interest that may be produced by these assets, except for cases in which the Group
anticipates that the cash flow will take place in a different period. The tables were prepared based on cash
payments/receipts for derivatives that are settled on a net basis and uncapitalized gross cash
receipts/payments for derivatives that require a net settlement.
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2014
Cash and cash equivalents
Financial assets at fair
value through profit and
loss
Money market fund
Salable financial assets
measured at fair value
Shares
Loans, deposits and
receivables
2013
Cash and cash equivalents
(including pledged cash)
Government bonds and other
bonds
Salable financial assets
measured at fair value
Shares
Clients and receivables

Up to one year
NIS thousands

1-5 years
NIS thousands

Total
NIS thousands

14027

-

14027

24750

-

24750

24022

-

24022

.4552
.24512

.72
172

24.21
.24027

.24227

-

.24227

14715

-

14715

.4211

-

.4211

24021
224252

-

24021
224252

Note 19 - Fair Value
A. Financial Instruments Presented in the Financial Status Report at Fair Value:
In order to measure the fair value of its financial instruments, the Group ranks the financial instruments
measured at fair value in the Statement of Financial Position on three levels:
Level 1: Prices (not adjusted) quoted on active markets for identical financial liabilities and assets
Level 2: Data other than quoted prices included in Level 1, whether observed directly (i.e., prices) or
indirectly (derived from prices), for financial liabilities and assets
Level 3: Data on financial liabilities and assets that are not based on observed market data.
The classification of financial instruments measured at fair value is based on the lowest level of which
significant use was made to measure the fair value of the overall instrument.
The table provides details on the Group’s financial instruments, measured at fair value, by level.

The notes accompanying the financial statements constitute an integral part thereof
.02

Financial instruments at fair value:

Level 1
NIS
thousands
Financial assets at fair value
through profit and Loss:
Investment in tradable
securities
Financial asset at fair value
Financial assets available for
sale
Total financial assets
Financial liabilities at fair value
through profit and loss
Total financial liabilities

As of December 31, 2014
Level 2
Level 3
NIS
NIS
thousands thousands

Total
NIS
thousands

24750

-

-

24750

-

-

.4757

.4757

24022
14512

-

.4757

24022
14112

-

-

)217(
)217(

)217(
)217(

As of December 31, 2013
Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

NIS
thousands

NIS
thousands

NIS
thousands

NIS
thousands

14715

-

-

14715

202

-

.421.

.4211

74022

-

.421.

542.2

Financial assets at fair value
through profit and Loss:
Investment in tradable
securities
Salable financial assets

According to the Group’s policies, the Group considers the date on which an event occurred, or of a
change in the relevant circumstances as to which a change should be made in the level of measurement of
fair value at the end of the period in which the event occurred or the change in circumstances took place
for which the level of measurement of fair value should be changed, as the date on which the financial
instrument being measured at fair value was transferred from a certain level to another level.
The book value of financial instruments that are not displayed at fair value in the Company’s Statement of
Financial Position is approximately equal to their fair value.
Transfers out of and into level 3:


As part of the merger transaction between Thrombotech and D-Pharm,, inter alia, limitations were
prescribed on the resale of D-Pharm shares according to the restrictions stipulated in Section 15 C of the
Securities Law- and, correspondingly, until the end of the period of restrictions, the investment is presented
in the Company’s financial statements at fair value, namely, market value less a premium for non
tradability. In July 2014, this period of restrictions ended and as of December 31, 2014, the shares are
being presented at fair value as mentioned above. See Note 8.B and Note 9 for details.



During September 2014, the Company provided convertible loans to CellCure in the amount of
approximately $ 466 thousand. The loan will bear interest at the rate of 3% per year. Each part of the loan
which has not yet been repaid and which will not be converted to ordinary shares of CellCure will be paid
by CellCure within 3 years from the date of the relevant transfer, subject to a written notice from a
shareholder. CellCure will convert any part of the loan as yet unpaid which was stated in the above notice
to ordinary shares of CellCure.
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CellCure has designated the convertible loans (the hybrid instrument) in their entirety as a financial
liability at fair value through profit or loss. Any gain or loss resulting from a change in the fair value is
recognized in profit or loss, except for the difference between the fair value on the date of initial recognition
and the value of the consideration (“deferred difference”). The deferred difference will be spread in a
straight line over the length of life of the loan and will be recorded to profit or loss. See Note 8.B.2. for
details. Correspondingly, the Company has classified the loan as a financial asset at fair value through
profit and loss in its financial statements.


Following the entry into consolidation of ProtAb during September 2014, the Company presents the loans
received by ProtAb from outsiders and as to which the conversion element is measured at fair value, in its
consolidated financial statements. See also Note 8.A.2 for details.
Financial instruments at fair value whose value is measured according to level 3:
Financial assets available for sale (holding of shares of DPharm):

For the year ended
December 31
2014
NIS thousands
.421.
).20(
).4...(
-

Balance as of January 1, 2014
Recognized profit and loss:
Other comprehensive profit
Measurement according to level 1 (*)
Balance as of December 31, 2014

(*) In July 2014, the restriction period of the D-Pharm shares ended and from that date, the investment in the
shares of D-Pharm is measured at level 1.
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss:

Balance as of January 1, 2014
Loan provided to affiliated company
Recognition of deferred difference
Revaluation to fair value
Exchange rate differences
Balance as of December 31, 2014

For the year ended
December 31
2014
NIS thousands
.4701
275
)202(
..1
.4755

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss:

For the year ended
December 31
2014
NIS thousands

Balance as of January 1, 2014
Entry into consolidation

)225(

Revaluation of fair value
Balance as of December 31, 2014

)25(
)217(

Financial instruments presented at fair value in the statement of financial position:
Losses recognized through profit and loss:

For the year ended
December 31
2014
NIS thousands
.21
.21

Financing expenses
Total
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Profits (losses) recognized through profit and loss:

For the year ended
December 31
2014
NIS thousands
.2
.2

Financing expenses
Total
Financial instruments not measured at fair value:

Other than what is itemized in the following table, the Group believes that the book value of the
financial assets and liabilities presented at amortized cost in the financial statements is nearly identical
to their fair value.
As of December 31 2014
Fair value
N I S
Royalties payable

147.2
147.2

Book value
0 0 0

142.2
142.2

Following a change in the Company's credit risk during the reporting period, a decrease occurred in the fair
value of liability to pay royalties of approximately 17 million NIS, with a book value as of December 31,
2014 of 4,512 thousand NIS, so that the fair value at the reporting date is 4,713 thousand NIS.
For purposes of estimating the fair value, the Company used a capitalization rate of 32%-45%, reflecting
the risk level of the subsidiary
Description of the
measured
instrument

Fair value as of
December 31,
2014

Convertible loans

.4757

Option element of
convertible loans

217

Estimation technique
Model B&S (Black & Scholes)
and OPM (Option Pricing Method(
(OPM( Option Pricing Method

Description of
unanticipated
data
Value of base
asset
Value of base
asset

Note 20 - R&D Expenses, Net
Composition:
For the year ended December 31
2014
2013
2012
NIS thousands
NIS thousands
NIS thousands
Consultants and sub-contractors
Salary and benefits
Depreciation and amortization
Registering a patent
Materials
Other
Scientist grants

14572
24.50
210
122
272
215
.04750
)24252(
74105

24752
242.5
222
155
212
727
54511
).45.5(
74512

24251
24272
27.
152
121
222
.04055
)2412.(
74117
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Note 21. Management and Miscellaneous Expenses
Composition:
For the year ended December 31
2014
2013
2012
NIS thousands
NIS thousands
NIS thousands
Salary and benefits
Consultants and sub-contractors
Office maintenance
Management fees
Depreciation
Other

2422.
.4755
125
120
.22
.10
24155

24.17
.4222
221
200
.25
198
5,103

24050
24012
151
111
129
67
5,479

Note 23 - Other Income, Net
Composition:
For the year ended December 31
2014
2013
2012
NIS thousands
NIS thousands
NIS thousands
Gain from exit from consolidation of
investee company
Gain from entry into consolidation
of investee company
Gain from changes in rates of
holding in investee company
Loss from impairment of
investment in investee company
Loss from impairment of financial
assets available for sale

24527

-

14150

24227

-

-

-

1411.

24257

)24227(

).5(

-

24517

).4255(
24521

14517

Note 23 - Financing Income
Composition:
For the year ended December 31
2014
2013
2012
NIS thousands
NIS thousands
NIS thousands
Exchange rate differences
Income from interest and linkage of
long term liabilities
Exchange rate differences with
respect to financial asset available
for sale
Revaluation of options
Income from interest of securities
Income from interest of short-term
bank deposits
Other

102
171

-

10
-

..1

-

-

70
25
21

.2
142
113

478
38

.4220

217

.2.
117
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Note 24 - Financing Expenses
Composition:
For the year ended December 31
2014
2013
2012
NIS thousands
NIS thousands
NIS thousands
Interest and linkage of long-term
liabilities
Convertible loan interest
Payment of interest and fees to
banks
Change in fair value of financial
assets
Exchange rate differences
Redemption of securities

552

224

169

217
.7

34

24

-

701

2,157

.4117

606
21
.4127

361
3
247.1

Note 25 - Income Tax
A. In light of tax losses accrued in the Company and its Portfolio companies, and due to the non existence of
expectation taxable income in the foreseeable future, the Company and its Portfolio companies did not opt for
benefits under the Encouragement of Capital Investments Law or other tax benefits.
B. As at December 31, 2013, the Company had a cumulative loss for tax purposes to be carried forward to
coming years of NIS 23.9 million.
C. The Company does not anticipate any taxable income in the foreseeable future. Consequently, the Company
did not impute deferred taxes on account of losses to be carried forward for tax purposes or to temporary
differentials for assets and liabilities between the tax basis and their book value.
Note 26 - Loss Per Share
The computations of the basic loss per share and the diluted loss per share allocated to regular share holders
based on the following data:
For the year ended December 31
2014
2013
2012
NIS thousands
NIS thousands
NIS thousands
Loss used for basic and diluted
loss per share

24171

.24.50

.0451.

Weighted average of number of
regular shares

.224212

.214221

574275
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For the year ended December 31

Balance as of January 1
Including the issuance of shares
Including options exercised into
shares
Weighted average of the number of
ordinary shares used to calculate
basic loss per share

2014
NIS thousands

2013
NIS thousands

2012
NIS thousands

.214221
.14225
-

.214221
-

574222
25455.
20

.124752

.214221

.214221

Instruments which could potentially dilute the basic earnings per share, but were not included in the calculation of
the diluted loss per share since their effect was anti-dilutive.
For the year ended December 31
2014
2013
2012
Tradable and non-tradable options

2242504520

2242754212

.541724001

Note 27 - Stakeholders and Related Parties
A. Liabilities of the Group to interested and related parties
Short-term liabilities
Book value
NIS thousands

Long term liabilities
Book value
NIS thousands

Parent company (A)
Executive key personnel (B)
Other (C)
Loans from related parties in
subsidiary (D)

272
272
.4.21

22
-

-

.4212

Total

.4751

.4252

Short-term liabilities
Book value
NIS thousands

Long term liabilities
Book value
NIS thousands

Parent company (A)
Executive key personnel (B)
Other (C)

.2
155
115

-

Total

550

-

As of December 31, 2014

As of December 31, 2013

a) The parent company of the Company is Hadasit Medical Research and Development Services Ltd.,
which holds 36% of the Company’s equity. The balance of the liability at the end of the year is with
respect to management fees for 2014, which have not yet been paid as of the date of the report, offset
by VAT refunds which the parent company is to transfer to the Company. See Note 16, commitments
and contingent liabilities, for details regarding the management agreement.
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b) Represents the liabilities vis-à-vis the CEO of the Company and the CEO of the subsidiaries with respect
to salary, provision for vacation and severance pay, as well as the liabilities to pay fees to the directors of
the Company.
c) With respect to foreign R&D services received by a subsidiary from a subcontractor, which is a related
party to this company.
d) Loan received from outside shareholders of a subsidiary. See also Note 8.A. for details.
B. Receivables and loans given to interested parties and related parties:
Short-term assets
As of
December
31, 2014

Interest
rate

Linkage
Basis

%
Parent
company (1)
Portfolio
Company (2)
Loan to
affiliated
company (3)
Total

Book
value
NIS
thousands

Interest
rate

-

-

-

Indexlinked
Linked
to the
dollar
-

Non

Non

.25

Non

Indexlinked

.72

-

-

Long-term assets

%

2%
-

202

Short-term assets
As of
December
31, 2013

Interest
rate

Linkage
Basis

Total

Book value
NIS
thousands
.72
.4755
.4570

Long-term assets

Book
value
NIS
thousands

Interest
rate

Non

.12

-

-

-

.4125

-

-

-

Non

Linked
to the
dollar
Non

211

-

-

-

Non

Linked

.4.50

-

-

-

-

%
Parent
company (1)
Loan to
affiliated
company (4)
Affiliated
companies
(5)
Portfolio
Company (2)

Linkage
Basis

LIBOR+
3%

Linkage
Basis

%

Book value
NIS
thousands

24017

A.

With respect to VAT refunds that Hadasit is required to transfer to the subsidiaries.

B.

Primarily with respect to debt vis-à-vis the Company for the payment of modification works. See Note
16, commitments and contingent liabilities, for details.

C.

With respect to convertible loans given to CellCure. See Note 8.B.

D.

With respect to convertible loans given to ProtAb. See Note 8.A.

E.

Current debt of the affiliated companies with respect to reimbursements of controllership and rental
expenses.
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C. Transactions with affiliated companies and joint ventures:
During the year, the Company entered into services and sublease agreements with affiliated companies in
the following volumes:
For the year ended December 31
2014
2013
2012
NIS thousands
NIS thousands
NIS thousands
Portfolio Companies
CellCure

151

121

272

ProtAb (*)

25

.2.

220

BioMarCare

252

.00

57

Enlivex (**)

-

-

-

(*) Up to September 22, 2014. Beginning from this date, ProtAb is consolidated into the financial
statements of the Company.
(**) Beginning from May 18, 2014, Enlivex became an affiliated company.
Payments of the affiliated companies are for controllership services provided by the Company as well as
with respect to reimbursement of rentals and electricity as a sub-tenant.
The following are balances existing in the statement of financial position as of the reporting date with
respect to these transactions. These balances are included with the short term receivables in the assets.
Receivables
For the year ended December 31
2014
2013
NIS thousands
NIS thousands
215
.
215

CellCure (a)
ProtAb (b)
BioMarCare (a)
Enlivex
Total

.4.77
20
225
.4111

(a) The balance is principally with respect to income receivable with respect to leasehold improvements.
See also Note 16.B.
(b) A subsidiary as of December 31, 2014.
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D. Remuneration and Benefits Granted to Stakeholders and Related Parties:
For the year ended December 31
2014
2013
2012
NIS thousands
NIS thousands
NIS thousands
Salary and benefits to
stakeholders employed in the
Company (a)
The number of people to
which the benefit refers
Remuneration of directors not
employed in the Company (b)
The number of people to
which the benefit refers
Other related parties (c)
The number of companies to
which the remuneration refers

525

511

52

.

.

.

1.5

205

272

7

2

6

120

512

.4225

.

.

.

The following is a breakdown of total remuneration granted to executive key personnel, which was
recognized as an expense during the year, by employee type:
For the year ended December 31
2014
2013
2012
NIS thousands
NIS thousands
NIS thousands
Short-term employee
benefits (a)
Post-transaction benefits (a)
Directors’ fees
Share-based payment

721
.21
27.
.22
.4275

550
217
202
22
.4.21

212
95
227

(a) Salaries and benefits of the Company CEO. Salary starting April 2013 with this being the date of the
direct transaction. Until this date, the balances are for reimbursement of car expenses and share-based
payment expenses for CEO options.
(b) Directors’ fees and expenses with respect to share based payments to directors.
(c) Management fees to Hadasit. See also Note 17.A. And the CEO's salary until April 2013, since until then
the CEO was employed through Hadasit.
Debts which the Company and its subsidiaries have guaranteed
As of December 31, 2014
Amount of
Amount of
liabilities
guaranteed
recognized in
debts
reports
NIS thousands NIS thousands
Debts of
affiliated
companies

111

As of December 31, 2013
Amount of
Amount of
liabilities
guaranteed
recognized in
debts
reports
NIS thousands
NIS thousands

111

-

-

Note 28 - Events after the Balance Sheet Date
C. On January 1, 2015, according to the decision of the board of directors of CellCure, CellCure and Teva
signed a second update to the Teva option agreement. See also Note 8.B.2.
On January 30, 2015, CellCure and Teva agreed to extend the option period through February 15, 2015.
On February 15, 2015, the date of the option period ended and the option given to Teva expired.
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D. On February 16, 2015, CellCure received approval from the Ministry of Health to carry out trials on humans
in PHASE l/lla. The Company signed a clinical trial agreement with Hadasit according to which CellCure will
carry out the clinical trials at the Hadassah Ein Kerem Medical Center.
E. On February 4, 2015, the Company approached the Jerusalem District Court in writing to convene a general
assembly of the holders of the Series 7 options and to extend the exercise period of the options until
February 26, 2016.
On February 5, 2015, the district court approved temporary relief for the extension of the exercise period of
the Series 7 options until February 26, 2016
F. In February 2015, a convertible loan agreement was signed between KAHR and the Company and an
additional investor in the amount of one million dollars.
According to the loan agreement, the additional investor will transfer $ 500 thousand to KAHR and the
Company will have the right to participate in the balance of the amount or part of it until April 3, 2015, so
that, in any event, the additional investor will supplement any deficiency in the amount of the loan which will
not be transferred by the Company, and the total loan amount will stand at one million dollars.
It was also agreed that a conversion event will be a transaction or a number of transactions in a cumulative
amount of $ 3 million (including the amount of the above loan) in the manner of a commitment to invest or
to provide a loan to the Company or a commitment by a strategic partner to pay, subject to conditions
which have been fulfilled or which will be fulfilled until the next round of raising financing.
According to the loan agreement, should a conversion event take place prior to April 30, 2015, the lenders,
on the date of conversion, will be granted a discount at the rate of 5% of the share price. Should a
conversion event take place during the period between May 1, 2015 and December 31, 2015, the lenders,
on the date of the conversion, will be granted a discount at the rate of 10% of the share price, and should
the conversion event not take place prior to December 31, 2015, the Company will repay the amount of the
loan and the accrued interest, or alternatively, and, at its discretion, the amount will be converted at a
discount of 50% of the share price.
G. On February 12, 2015 BioTime transferred a letter of intent to CellCure according to which BioTime
committed to invest another $ 2.2 million in the Company up to the end of PHASE l/ll.
In addition, BioTime will not demand the return of the bridge loan in the amount of $ 1,200 thousand given
to CellCure in 2013 until finishing PHASE l/ll. See also Note 8.B.2.
On February 13, 2015, BioTime transferred $ 95 thousand and accordingly completed the first stage of the
convertible loan. BioTime transferred $ 700 thousand as part of the second stage of the convertible loan.
The Company committed to transfer the amount of $ 188 thousand, reflecting the share of the Company in
the above convertible loans. This amount has not yet been transferred. See also Note 8.B.3.
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PERIOIDIC REPORT REGARDING EFFECTIVENESS OF THE INTERNAL
CONROLS OVER THE FINANCIAL REPORTING AND THE DISCLOSURE
PURSUANT TO REGULATION 9B.
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DECLARATION OF THE CEO PURSUANT TO REGULATION 9B(D).

I, Ms. Tamar Kfir, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed the Periodic Report of HBL Hadasit Bio Holdings Ltd. (hereafter: “the entity”) for the year of
2014 (hereafter: "the reports").

2.

To my knowledge, the reports do not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements included in them, in light of the circumstances under which
such statements were included, not misleading with respect to the period covered by the reports.

3.

To my knowledge, the financial statements and other financial information included in the reports fairly
present, in all material respects, the financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows of the entity as
of, and for, the periods to which the reports relate.

4.

I have disclosed to the entity’s outside independent auditors, to the Board of Directors and to the Audit and
Financial Statements Committee of the entity, any fraud, whether or not material, that involves the CEO or
anyone directly subordinate to her, or other employees who have a significant role in the internal controls
over financial reporting and disclosure.

There is nothing in the aforesaid to derogate from my responsibility or the responsibility of anyone else, pursuant to
any law.
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DECLARATION OF THE MOST SENIOR OFFICER IN THE FINANCIAL AREA
PURSUANT TO REGULATION 9B(D).

I, Liat Simhayoff, CPA, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed the Periodic Report of HBL Hadasit Bio Holdings Ltd. (hereafter: “the entity”) for the year of
2014 (hereafter: "the reports").

2.

To my knowledge, the reports do not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements included in them, in light of the circumstances under which
such statements were included, not misleading with respect to the period covered by the reports.

3.

To my knowledge, the financial statements and other financial information included in the reports fairly
present, in all material respects, the financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows of the entity as
of, and for, the periods to which the reports relate.

4.

I have disclosed to the entity’s outside independent auditors, to the Board of Directors and to the Audit and
Financial Statements Committee of the entity, any fraud, whether or not material, that involves the CEO or
anyone directly subordinate to her, or other employees who have a significant role in the internal controls
over financial reporting and disclosure.

There is nothing in the aforesaid to derogate from my responsibility or the responsibility of anyone else, pursuant to
any law.
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